CELLULAR STRESS AND INFLAMMATION: HOW THE IMMUNE SYSTEM DRIVES TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

EDITED BY: Fabrizio Antonangeli, Francesca Velotti, Ola Grimsholm and Marianna Nicoletta Rossi PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-753-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-753-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

CELLULAR STRESS AND INFLAMMATION: HOW THE IMMUNE SYSTEM DRIVES TISSUE HOMEOSTASIS

Topic Editors: **Fabrizio Antonangeli**, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy **Francesca Velotti**, University of Tuscia, Italy **Ola Grimsholm**, University of Gothenburg, Sweden **Marianna Nicoletta Rossi**, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Citation: Antonangeli, F., Velotti, F., Grimsholm, O., Rossi, M. N., eds. (2021). Cellular Stress and Inflammation: How the Immune System Drives Tissue Homeostasis. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-753-6

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Cellular Stress and Inflammation: How the Immune System Drives Tissue Homeostasis

Fabrizio Antonangeli, Ola Grimsholm, Marianna Nicoletta Rossi and Francesca Velotti

07 Altered Tregs Differentiation and Impaired Autophagy Correlate to Atherosclerotic Disease

Sara Mandatori, Ilenia Pacella, Vincenzo Marzolla, Caterina Mammi, Donatella Starace, Fabrizio Padula, Laura Vitiello, Andrea Armani, Carmine Savoia, Maurizio Taurino, Daniela De Zio, Claudia Giampietri, Silvia Piconese, Francesco Cecconi, Massimiliano Caprio and Antonio Filippini

23 Metabolic Reprograming of Microglia in the Regulation of the Innate Inflammatory Response

Clotilde Lauro and Cristina Limatola

31 The Multifaceted Function of Granzymes in Sepsis: Some Facts and a Lot to Discover

Marcela Garzón-Tituaña, Maykel A. Arias, José L. Sierra-Monzón, Elena Morte-Romea, Llipsy Santiago, Ariel Ramirez-Labrada, Luis Martinez-Lostao, José R. Paño-Pardo, Eva M. Galvez and Julián Pardo

43 Lung Secretoglobin Scgb1a1 Influences Alveolar Macrophage-Mediated Inflammation and Immunity

Min Xu, Wei Yang, Xuanchuan Wang and Deepak Kumar Nayak

55 Liver X Receptors: Regulators of Cholesterol Metabolism, Inflammation, Autoimmunity, and Cancer

Maria Teresa Bilotta, Sara Petillo, Angela Santoni and Marco Cippitelli

65 Granzyme B in Inflammatory Diseases: Apoptosis, Inflammation, Extracellular Matrix Remodeling, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Fibrosis

Francesca Velotti, Ilaria Barchetta, Flavia Agata Cimini and Maria Gisella Cavallo

- Granzyme B Expression in Visceral Adipose Tissue Associates With Local Inflammation and Glyco-Metabolic Alterations in Obesity
 Flavia Agata Cimini, Ilaria Barchetta, Valentina Ceccarelli,
 Caterina Chiappetta, Alberto Di Biasio, Laura Bertoccini, Federica Sentinelli,
 Frida Leonetti, Gianfranco Silecchia, Claudio Di Cristofano,
 Marco Giorgio Baroni, Francesca Velotti and Maria Gisella Cavallo
- 81 Alpha 1 Antitrypsin-Deficient Macrophages Have Impaired Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils

Jungnam Lee, Yuanqing Lu, Regina Oshins, Jesse West, Craig G. Moneypenny, Kyudong Han and Mark L. Brantly

96 *Regulation of PD-L1 Expression by NF-*κ*B in Cancer*

Fabrizio Antonangeli, Ambra Natalini, Marina Chiara Garassino, Antonio Sica, Angela Santoni and Francesca Di Rosa

108 Mechanisms of Peritoneal Fibrosis: Focus on Immune Cells–Peritoneal Stroma Interactions

Michela Terri, Flavia Trionfetti, Claudia Montaldo, Marco Cordani, Marco Tripodi, Manuel Lopez-Cabrera and Raffaele Strippoli





Editorial: Cellular Stress and Inflammation: How the Immune System Drives Tissue Homeostasis

Fabrizio Antonangeli^{1,2*†}, Ola Grimsholm^{3†}, Marianna Nicoletta Rossi^{4†} and Francesca Velotti^{5†}

¹ Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Laboratory Affiliated to Istituto Pasteur Italia - Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Rome, Italy, ² Institute of Molecular Biology and Pathology, National Research Council (CNR), Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Rheumatology and Inflammation Research, The Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ⁴ Laboratory of Immuno-Rheumatology, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Ecological and Biological Sciences (DEB), Tuscia University, Viterbo, Italy

Keywords: inflammation, immune system, tissue homeostasis, metabolism, stress response, fibrosis,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Silvano Sozzani, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Fabrizio Antonangeli fabrizio.antonangeli@uniroma1.it; fabrizio.antonangeli@cnr.it

[†]ORCID:

PD-L1, granzymes

Editorial on the Research Topic

Fabrizio Antonangeli orcid.org/0000-0002-6369-2249 Ola Grimsholm orcid.org/0000-0003-2064-2556 Marianna Nicoletta Rossi orcid.org/0000-0003-4485-7738 Francesca Velotti orcid.org/0000-0002-5462-4340

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 17 February 2021 Accepted: 26 February 2021 Published: 18 March 2021

Citation:

Antonangeli F, Grimsholm O, Rossi MN and Velotti F (2021) Editorial: Cellular Stress and Inflammation: How the Immune System Drives Tissue Homeostasis. Front. Immunol. 12:668876. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.668876

Cellular Stress and Inflammation: How the Immune System Drives Tissue Homeostasis

For a long time, the immune system (IS) has been referred to only as a defense mechanism against pathogens and external threats. Nowadays, its pivotal role in orchestrating tissue remodeling of multicellular organisms is undoubtful. Cells facing cellular stress, by expressing stress-induced molecules or through the release of a plethora of soluble factors, undertake a dialog with the IS. In this way, cells link intracellular stress to systemic homeostasis, a process that has likely evolved during the establishment of the colonial way of life.

In this *Frontiers in Immunology* Research Topic, the interaction of parenchyma cells with the IS during peculiar inflammatory processes has been addressed by leading investigators, providing different point of views on the contribution of the IS to tissue homeostasis. Fibrosis is a prototypical response of damaged tissues largely guided by the IS, here well described by Trionfetti et al. in the peritoneum. The authors highlight the complex network among stromal cells, resident and recirculating leukocytes, which sustain peritoneal fibrosis. Mesothelial cell plasticity is at the base of the fibrotic process and is mostly affected by the cytokine milieu produced by locally activated or recruited immune cells. In particular, the crosstalk between mesothelial cells and macrophages is characterized by a bidirectional mode of action.

Antonangeli et al., considering the evidence that the key inflammatory mediator NF- κ B is emerging as a positive regulator of PD-L1 expression in cancer, suggest that PD-L1 upregulation takes part in cancer biology as a maladaptive consequence of its physiological role during inflammation, namely by mirroring a process aimed at restoring tissue integrity during epithelial stress response, alike the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT). It is conceivable that tissue morphogenesis, inflammation and immune response have a common evolutionary root, with NF- κ B representing the link and the immune checkpoint PD-L1 a consequence.

The contribution by Mandatori et al. is focused on regulatory T cells (Tregs) during atherogenesis, a pathological process of the blood vessels that largely involves the IS. The authors show that autophagy sustains Treg maturation and they hypothesize that an impairment of the

5

autophagic processes, by affecting Tregs, contributes to the inflammation of the atherosclerotic plaques. The article sheds light to the intricated relationship between metabolism and the IS.

In this collection, two other peculiar aspects of the interplay between cellular metabolism and the IS are highlighted. Bilotta et al. summarize several studies showing how cholesterol and cholesterol metabolism influence immunity and inflammation. Indeed, the cholesterol receptors LXRs are able, depending on the cellular context, to act as activators or repressors of genes regulating different cellular responses including apoptosis, cytokine production, and cell cycle inhibition. These effects are particularly relevant to autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and atherosclerosis. Moreover, the cholesterol metabolism can also play a role in the regulation of tumor growth, as demonstrated in ovarian, colon, and prostatic cancers.

In the review article by Lauro and Limatola the metabolism-IS interconnection is analyzed in the context of neuroinflammation. Microglia, the sentries of the central nervous system, undergo a metabolic switch depending on the activation status. It is emerging that homeostatic microglia are characterized by an oxidative metabolism, while reactive microglia (similarly to activated macrophages) switch towards a glycolytic and pentose phosphate metabolism to support cell proliferation. This finding is mostly important because reactive microglia release cytokines and free radicals contributing to brain neurodegeneration and inflammation, while homeostatic microglia promote brain repair and has anti-inflammatory properties. Thus, targeting microglia metabolism represents an intriguing opportunity for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases.

Macrophages are crucial in tissue homeostasis by catching apoptotic cells, removing cellular debris, and secreting cytokines. Two studies in this Research Topic pay attention to alveolar macrophages (AMs). AMs from pulmonary surfactant secretoglobin family 1A member 1 (SCGB1A1) deficient mice show alterations in different inflammatory pathways as evaluated by high-throughput RNA-sequencing and gene expression analysis. Xu et al. suggest that SCGB1A1 is necessary for AMs to stimulate an appropriate adaptive immune response and that SCGB1A1 supplementation could reduce cytokine surge during airway infections.

AMs control neutrophil homeostasis in pulmonary alveoli by expressing neutrophil chemotactic factors and by clearing apoptotic neutrophils (a process called efferocytosis). Alpha 1 antitrypsin deficiency (AATD) is a genetic disorder characterized by neutrophil accumulation in the lungs. Lee et al. propose a mechanism by which the mutated allelic variant of AAT, Z-AAT, is retained intracellularly and induces the expression of CXCL8 and TNF- α by AMs. CXCL8 is responsible for the increased neutrophil recruitment while TNF- α , by affecting CD14, CD36, and RAR α , reduces AM efferocytosis ability, thus contributing to the pulmonary disease in AATD individuals.

Innovative considerations come from three articles included in the present collection that are all focused on the multifunctional pro-inflammatory role of granzymes (Gzms), a family of serine proteases expressed by immune, non-immune, and tumor cells. In particular, the involvement of Gzms in the pathogenesis of serious inflammatory diseases highlights the potential therapeutic effect of targeting Gzms to reduce organ damage. Garzòn-Tituaña et al. present evidence suggesting the relevant role of Gzms in sepsis pathophysiology. The authors show the role of GzmA and GzmM in regulating the inflammatory cytokine network, contributing to the cytokine storm, as well as in the regulation of the coagulation cascade, platelet function and endothelial barrier permeability, during the hyper-inflammatory initial-stage sepsis. Furthermore, a possible role of GzmB in the immunosuppressive late-stage sepsis is discussed.

In a research article, Cimini et al. nicely describe the expression of GzmB in both visceral adipose tissue (VAT) and serum of obese patients and report its association with VAT inflammation and glucose homeostasis dysregulation, suggesting that GzmB proapoptotic and extracellular proteolytic activities contribute to obesity-related VAT inflammatory remodeling and fibrosis, leading to adipose tissue dysfunction in metabolic diseases.

Finally, Velotti et al. provide an overview on recent data concerning the multifunctional pro-inflammatory activity of GzmB, consisting of perforin-dependent and perforinindependent (anoikis) apoptosis, IL-1 cytokine family activation, extracellular matrix remodeling, induction of EMT and fibrosis, that might underlie inflammaging and the pathogenicity and/or severity of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases, such as cardiovascular, pulmonary, metabolic diseases, and cancer.

Altogether, the articles included in the present Research Topic provide a fascinating view of the IS as a key player of tissue homeostasis, hopefully inspiring new developments in this challenging field. The articles well describe the plasticity of the IS in both physiological and pathological conditions. As a result, the idea of exploiting the plasticity of the IS, by altering cell metabolism and cell polarization or by targeting specific component, is emerging, with the aim of counteracting pathologies characterized by tissue homeostasis dysregulation such as cancer, neurodegenerative, and metabolic diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FA, OG, MNR and FV edited the topic and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Antonangeli, Grimsholm, Rossi and Velotti. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Altered Tregs Differentiation and Impaired Autophagy Correlate to Atherosclerotic Disease

Sara Mandatori¹, Ilenia Pacella^{2,3}, Vincenzo Marzolla⁴, Caterina Mammi⁴, Donatella Starace⁵, Fabrizio Padula¹, Laura Vitiello⁶, Andrea Armani⁴, Carmine Savoia⁷, Maurizio Taurino⁸, Daniela De Zio⁹, Claudia Giampietri¹⁰, Silvia Piconese^{2,3*}, Francesco Cecconi^{9,11,12†}, Massimiliano Caprio^{4,13†} and Antonio Filippini^{1†}

¹ Unit of Histology and Medical Embryology, Department of Anatomy, Histology, Forensic Medicine and Orthopaedics, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Laboratory of Cellular and Molecular Immunology, Department of Internal Clinical Sciences, Anaesthesiology and Cardiovascular Sciences, Sapienza Università di Roma, Rome, Italy, ³ Laboratory Affiliated to Istituto Pasteur Italia - Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Laboratory of Cardiovascular Endocrinology, IRCCS San Raffaele Pisana, Rome, Italy, ⁵ UOC, Clinical Pathology, San Giovanni Addolorata Hospital, Rome, Italy, ⁶ Flow Cytometry Unit, IRCCS San Raffaele Pisana, Rome, Italy, ⁷ Cardiology Unit, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁸ Unit of Vascular Surgery, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁹ Cell Stress and Survival Unit, Center of Autophagy, Recycling and Disease (CARD), Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark, ¹⁰ Unit of Human Anatomy, Department of Anatomy, Histology, Forensic Medicine and Orthopaedics, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ¹¹ Department of Paediatric Haematology and Oncology, IRCCS Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital, Rome, Italy, ¹² Department of Biology, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy, ¹³ Department of Human Sciences and Promotion of the Quality of Life, San Raffaele Roma Open University, Rome, Italy

Atherosclerosis is a progressive vascular disease representing the primary cause of morbidity and mortality in developed countries. Formerly, atherosclerosis was considered as a mere passive accumulation of lipids in blood vessels. However, it is now clear that atherosclerosis is a complex and multifactorial disease, in which the involvement of immune cells and inflammation play a key role. A variety of studies have shown that autophagy-a cellular catalytic mechanism able to remove injured cytoplasmic components in response to cellular stress-may be proatherogenic. So far, in this context, its role has been investigated in smooth muscle cells, macrophages, and endothelial cells, while the function of this catabolic protective process in lymphocyte functionality has been overlooked. The few studies carried out so far, however, suggested that autophagy modulation in lymphocyte subsets may be functionally related to plaque formation and development. Therefore, in this research, we aimed at better clarifying the role of lymphocyte subsets, mainly regulatory T cells (Tregs), in human atherosclerotic plaques and in animal models of atherosclerosis investigating the contribution of autophagy on immune cell homeostasis. Here, we investigate basal autophagy in a mouse model of atherosclerosis, apolipoprotein E (ApoE)-knockout (KO) mice, and we analyze the role of autophagy in driving Tregs polarization. We observed defective maturation of Tregs from ApoE-KO mice in response to tumor growth factor-β (TGFβ). TGFβ is a well-known autophagy inducer, and Tregs maturation defects in ApoE-KO mice seem to be related to autophagy impairment. In this work, we propose that autophagy underlies Tregs maturation, advocating that the study of this process in atherosclerosis may open new therapeutic strategies.

Keywords: atherosclerosis, autophagy, ApoE-KO, regulatory T cells, plaques

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marianna Nicoletta Rossi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Cristina M. Failla, Institute of Dermatology Immaculate (IRCCS), Italy Emiliano Marasco, University of Pavia, Italy

*Correspondence:

Silvia Piconese silvia.piconese@uniroma1.it

[†]These authors have jointly supervised this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 11 October 2019 Accepted: 13 February 2020 Published: 13 March 2020

Citation:

Mandatori S, Pacella I, Marzolla V, Mammi C, Starace D, Padula F, Vitiello L, Armani A, Savoia C, Taurino M, De Zio D, Giampietri C, Piconese S, Cecconi F, Caprio M and Filippini A (2020) Altered Tregs Differentiation and Impaired Autophagy Correlate to Atherosclerotic Disease. Front. Immunol. 11:350. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00350

7

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory and multifactorial disease affecting the cardiovascular system and one of the leading causes of mortality in industrialized countries. Smoking, unhealthy diet, aging population, lack of physical activity, arterial hypertension, and diabetes promote atherosclerosis and possibly cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction or stroke (1, 2). The early steps of atherosclerosis are characterized by the adhesion of blood leukocytes to the endothelial monolayer, the migration of the bound leukocytes into the intima, the maturation of monocytes into macrophages, and the subsequent enhanced uptake of lipids leading to their transformation into foam cells. Lesion progression involves the migration of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) from tunica media to intima. In advancing lesions, it has been reported that plaque macrophages and SMCs undergo cell death and contribute to the progression of the plaque (3-5). Extracellular lipids accumulate in the central region of the plaque, forming the lipid or necrotic core, thus promoting the progression of the lesion and, eventually, the plaque rupture, thrombus formation, and the subsequent myocardial infarction or stroke (6, 7).

Although a strong involvement of immune system response has been reported in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved and the crosslink between immune cells during atherogenesis remain unclear (8, 9).

It is commonly known that preserving tolerance, while preventing autoimmunity and chronic inflammation, is decisive for slowing down the onset of atherosclerosis (10, 11). Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are the main CD4 T-cell subpopulation responsible for the maintenance of immunologic tolerance by suppressing T-cell responses, preventing autoimmunity, and suppressing inflammatory and proatherogenic immune response (12-14). T-cell differentiation into Tregs is driven by the lineagedetermining transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) (15). The tumor growth factor- β (TGF β), a cytokine secreted by many cell types, including macrophages, promotes FOXP3 expression in naïve peripheral CD4+ T cells and converts them into FOXP3expressing Tregs (16, 17). Recently, it has been reported that Tregs deletion of autophagy-related gene 7 (Atg7) or autophagyrelated gene 5 (Atg5) alters immune homeostasis, establishing autophagy as a central and intrinsic regulator of Tregs (18). Autophagy, a self-protecting cellular catabolic process appointed to the recycling of biomolecules, is interestingly one of the molecular processes involved in the pathology of atherosclerosis (19, 20). So far, three forms of autophagy have been described: macroautophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy; hereafter, we refer to macroautophagy as autophagy (21, 22). In early atherosclerotic plaques, autophagy preserves normal cellular function to protect cells against oxidative injury, metabolic stress, and inflammation (23-25). Conversely, autophagy defects in macrophages, SMCs and endothelial cells, lead to cell senescence and apoptosis and promote atherosclerosis onset and progression (26).

Based on this evidence showing that autophagy is a relevant factor in the function and homeostasis of cells in the immune

system and that chronic inflammation leads to the progression of atherosclerotic plaque, we hypothesized that an altered autophagic flux during Tregs differentiation might contribute to altering the inflammatory state of the lesions, promoting atherosclerotic plaque progression. Apolipoprotein E (ApoE)knockout (KO) mice are the elective animal model to study atherosclerosis (27). ApoE is a component of lipoproteins (LPs), a biochemical assembly whose primary purpose is to transport lipids, fat-soluble vitamins and cholesterol into the lymph system and then into the blood. Mice lacking ApoE show a significant increase in total plasma cholesterol compared to wild-type animals and display atherosclerotic plaque development (28). In ApoE-KO mice, the progression of atherosclerotic disease is accelerated by treatment with aldosterone, a hormone which regulates blood pressure and promotes vascular function (29, 30). In this research, we characterize lymphocyte populations in human and murine atherosclerotic plaque, and we investigate the role of autophagy in Tregs differentiation.

RESULTS

Characterization of Human Atherosclerotic Plaques: Tregs Accumulation in AP and APR

As a starting point, we characterized lymphocyte populations in human atherosclerotic plaques obtained by endarterectomy, a surgical procedure to remove the atheromatous plaque from carotids (31). Donor's characteristics are presented in **Table 1** (section Materials and Methods). As shown in **Figure 1A**, in order to better characterize Tregs diversity, each carotid artery has been divided into an adjacent atherosclerotic plaque region (APR) and atherosclerotic plaque (AP), using peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) as a control of circulating immune cells. We performed a multiparameter flow cytometry analysis as described in **Supplementary Table 1**.

We estimated the frequency (%) of leukocyte populations (CD45+), CD4+ T cells (CD4+CD8-), CD8+ T cells (CD8+CD4-), conventional T (Tconv) cells (CD127+/-FOXP3-/CD4+ T cells), and Tregs (CD127^{low}FOXP3+/CD4+ T cells) by flow cytometry using the gating strategy shown in Supplementary Figure 1. We observed a significant decrease of CD45+ cells in APR compared to PBMC and a significant decrease of CD8+ T cells in AP compared to APR, while CD4+ cells were comparable among the experimental groups. Interestingly, the frequency of Tregs was significantly increased in APR and in AP, when compared to PBMC, suggesting a higher frequency of Tregs in the atherosclerotic plaque microenvironment (Figure 1B). We did not observe any differences in Tregs frequency between AP and APR, indicating that infiltration of Tregs takes place also in the adjoining plaque region.

Recent observation highlighted the pivotal role of the expression of OX40, a member of the TNFR/TNF superfamily, on activated CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (32), in supporting Tregs fitness in mouse models of homeostatic proliferation and colitis and in promoting the expansion of stable and

TABLE 1 Characteristics of all carotid endarterectomy (CEA) patients included in the study (n = 9).

Pt	Sex	Stenosis		Diseases							
		Surgery side	Opposite surgery side	Hypertension	Diabetes	Mi	POA	Dyslipidemia	COPD	Smoke	Statins
1	F	Left	80%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
2	Μ	Left	90%	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
3	М	Right	80%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
4	М	Right	90%	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No
5	F	Right	70%	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
6	F	Right	80%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
7	F	Right	70%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
8	М	Right	70%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
9	М	Left	80%	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

The surgery side represents carotid occlusion (%); the opposite surgery side represents the condition of the opposite carotid artery. MI, Myocardial infarction; POA, Peripheral obliterant arteriopathy; COPD, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

suppressive Tregs in human cancers (33–35). Based on these findings, we investigated whether Tregs and Tconv in AP were characterized by higher levels of OX40 expression (**Figure 1C**). The geometric mean fluorescence intensity (gMFI) of Tconv-OX40+ was significantly increased in AP if compared to PBMC. Furthermore, we found a significant increment of the frequency and the gMFI of Tregs-OX40+ in AP and APR when compared to PBMC (**Figure 1C**). These results suggest that Tregs in the atherosclerotic plaque microenvironment expressed higher levels of OX40, possibly contributing to Tregs expansion.

It has been recently demonstrated that, besides inducing a huge frequency of Tregs, OX40 expression was associated with fatty acid accumulation and with the promotion of selective proliferation of lipid-laden Tregs (36). Based on this evidence, we stained the cells with BODIPY, a cell-membrane-permeable fluorophore specific for neutral lipid stores; however, we did not find any significant difference in the intracellular lipid content of CD8+ T cells, Tconv, and Tregs derived from both APR and AP when compared to PBMC (**Figure 1D**).

Overall, these results show that a significant fraction of Tregs are found in APR and even more in the AP site when compared to PBMC, suggesting Tregs-mediated modulation of inflammation at the atherosclerotic plaque and its associated region.

Characterization of Atherosclerotic Plaques in ApoE-KO Mice Treated With Aldosterone

To confirm our results *in vivo*, we took advantage of the ApoE-KO mouse, one of the most widely used models to study atherosclerosis (37). ApoE is a glycosylated protein, mainly bound to plasma lipoproteins but also expressed in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPC) (37–39). In order to better resemble the human cardiovascular disease and to speed up plaque progression, we treated ApoE-KO mice with aldosterone at a dose of 6 μ g/kg/day. Such concentration is able to raise serum aldosterone levels to a range which promotes atherosclerosis, without inducing hypertension (27, 30, 40). Aldosterone promotes rapid lipid

accumulation in the aortic arch section of ApoE-KO mice, as shown in **Figure 2A**. In order to estimate the frequency of leukocytes (CD45+), CD4T cells (CD4+CD3+CD45+), Th1 (CXCR3+CCR6-CD4+), Th17 (CCR6+CXCR3-CD4+), and Tregs (FOXP3+CD4+), we performed multiparameter flow cytometry (**Supplementary Table 2**) on splenocytes and aortic arches obtained from 8-week-old ApoE-KO mice treated with aldosterone or vehicle for 4 weeks (the gating strategy is shown in **Supplementary Figure 2A**).

We first observed a significant increase of CD45+ cells and a significant decrease of CD4+ T cells in splenocytes of ApoE-KO mice treated with aldosterone (Figure 2B). Gated on CD4+ T cells, we checked the frequency of Th1 cells (CD4+CXCR3+), Th17 cells (CD4+CCR6+), and Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+), and we found a significant decrease of Th17 and a significant increase of Tregs in ApoE-KO mouse spleens treated with aldosterone (Figure 2B). However, we did not observe significant differences of Th17 and Tregs percentages in aortic arches. The calculation of the absolute cell numbers (%Cells of interest \times CD4 \times 100) of different T-cell populations revealed a statistically significant decrease in Th1 cells and Th17 and a significant increase of Tregs in spleens of ApoE-KO mice treated with aldosterone (Figure 2C). In agreement with previous results, the absolute cell number in aortic arches does not show any significant difference. Overall, these data show that Tregs accumulate in the spleens of ApoE-KO mice under the atherosclerotic development condition (with aldosterone treatment), whereas no changes in the presence of Tregs were observed in ApoE-KO mouse atherosclerotic plaque.

In order to investigate the possible role played by autophagy in lymphocyte homeostasis and in T-cell polarization, we analyzed the levels of microtubule-associated proteins 1A/1B light chain 3B (LC3), as a marker of autophagy in splenocytes and aortic arches obtained from 8-week-old ApoE-KO mice in the presence or absence of aldosterone. In particular, we detected the phosphatidylethanolamine-conjugated form of LC3, named LC3-II, which is closely correlated with the number of autophagosomes and serves as a good indicator of autophagosome formation (41). We then calculated gMFI







FIGURE 2 | of CD45, CD4, CD8 Th1, Th17, and Tregs (in gated CD4+ T cells) in spleens and aortic arches from ApoE-KO mice treated or not with aldosterone (n = 8, four mice each group). **(C)** Absolute number of Th1, Th17, and Tregs calculated on the percentage in **(B)**. **(D)** gMFI of LC3 in Th1, Th17, and Tregs. In all figures, Th1, Th17, and Tregs have been identified as CXCR3+CCR6-CD4+, CCR6+CXCR3-CD4+, and FOXP3+CD4+, respectively, within the CD8-CD4+ gate. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, by unpaired *t*-test, two-tailed.

LC3-II by flow cytometric analysis, and we observed a significant decrease of LC3-II in Th1 and Tregs in ApoE-KO mouse spleens treated with aldosterone (**Figure 2D**); however, similar to what was observed before, we did not find any difference in aortic arches of ApoE-KO mice in the presence or absence of aldosterone. A decrease in LC3-II levels could be an indication of (i) impaired autophagy, (ii) enhanced autophagic flux, or (iii) decreased LC3 transcription. We performed additional experiments on isolated lymphocytes to investigate this aspect.

Impaired Tregs Polarization in ApoE-KO Mice After TGFβ Stimulus

Based on our results and previous studies about Tregs differentiation during atherosclerotic plaque progression, we estimated the frequency of Tregs (FOXP3+CD4+ T cells) by flow cytometry in splenocytes derived from 8-week-old C57BL/6 wildtype (wt) and ApoE-KO mice treated or not with aldosterone. In line with previous literature (42), we observed a reduction of the percentage of Tregs in ApoE-KO mice compared with wt mice (Figure 3A). Surprisingly, we found that the frequency of Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+ gated on CD4+ T cells) in splenocytes was significantly increased in ApoE-KO mice when treated with aldosterone (Figure 3A). To clarify if the differences observed derive from aldosterone treatment itself or from the atherogenic-prone background, naïve CD4 T cells from wt mice were cultured in the presence of aldosterone for 96 h and with TGFβ to stimulate Tregs differentiation. However, as shown in Supplementary Figures 2B-D, no significant differences have been observed upon aldosterone treatment either in %CD4T cells or in %Tregs, suggesting that the genetic background of ApoE-KO mice, rather than aldosterone treatment, is the determinant of the differential percentage of circulating Tregs. Although this is an interesting result, for subsequent in vitro experiments, we isolated cells from ApoE-KO mice that were not treated with aldosterone, in order to focus only on the genetic background. Our data, indeed, suggest that the aldosterone effect is presumably not directly interfering with immune cells but rather with the hormonal response in the animal that we exploited solely to speed up plaque formation (43). Hereby, we focused on the differences in Tregs frequencies between wt and ApoE-KO genetic background.

Tregs differentiation and expansion can occur extrathymically from naïve CD4+ T-cell precursors upon antigenic stimulation (44). Given the differences between *wt* and ApoE-KO mice in the frequency of Tregs, we first investigated the differences either in expanding Tregs starting from total CD4+ T cells or in the differentiating Tregs starting from naïve CD4+ T cells obtained from *wt* and ApoE-KO mice. Total CD4+ T cells (>5% FOXP3+), taken as a heterogeneous population derived from *wt* and ApoE-KO mouse spleens, were cultured for different times (24, 48, and 96 h) with interleukin-2 (IL2) in the presence or absence of TGFB. Since CD4+ T cells include naïve CD4+ T cells, the precursors of Tregs, we could not determine the difference in proliferating Tregs or in induced Tregs. However, we observed a significant Tregs expansion in wt mice, already detected after 24 h of TGF^β treatment, reaching a higher extent after 96 h in culture (Figures 3B,C). In contrast, the treatment with TGFβ of ApoE-KO CD4+ T cells did not show any Tregs expansion. In line with this observation, the frequency of Tregs induced by TGF β in *wt* was significantly much higher with respect to ApoE-KO cells. Calculation of Tregs absolute cell number (%Tregs \times %CD4 \times 100) shows how Tregs derived from wt animals were responsive to TGFB stimulus differently from ApoE-KO cells (Supplementary Figure 3A). In order to quantify flow cytometry data, we also evaluated the geometric mean of FOXP3 which showed a significant reduction of intensity in ApoE-KO mice at 48 and 96 h, in agreement with the previous results (Supplementary Figure 4).

Considering that naïve CD4+ T cells are the precursors of both effector and memory T-cell subsets and that Tregs can be generated in the thymus or can differentiate from peripheral naïve CD4+ T cells (45), we stimulated Tregs polarization by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells obtained from wt and ApoE-KO mouse spleens (46). In particular, we cultured naïve CD4+ T cells in the presence of IL2 for 24 and 96 h, adding or not TGF β and maintaining the same conditions used for CD4+ T cells. We found that TGF^β treatment did not induce ApoE-KO CD4+ Tregs differentiation, while wt cells respond to the treatment at both 24 and 96 h (Figures 3D,E). Thus, the frequency of Tregs induced by TGFB in wt was significantly much higher with respect to ApoE-KO cells. To better appreciate the differences between wt and ApoE-KO, we calculated the Tregs absolute cell number. In accordance with the data previously shown, Tregs differentiation from wt mice cells was detectable after 24 h of TGF β treatment, reaching the highest levels after 96 h. Although the absolute cell number of Tregs differentiation in ApoE-KO mice increased upon TGF β treatment at both 24 and 96 h, the extent was much lower with respect to wt counterparts, thus suggesting a deficiency in TGFβ-induced maturation of ApoE-KO Tregs (Supplementary Figure 3B). In summary, our results show that Tregs differentiation in ApoE-KO is significantly impaired compared to wt counterparts.

TGFβ Modulates Autophagy in Tregs

Since autophagy is an important mechanism protecting Tregs lineage and survival integrity, we tested the hypothesis that autophagy might affect Tregs differentiation in ApoE-KO mice (18). In order to determine if autophagy was related to Tregs differentiation and to analyze its contribution in the defective Tregs differentiation observed in ApoE-KO mice, we first



FIGURE 3 (A) Percentage of Tregs (FOXP3+CD4+) in splenocytes obtained from wt (n = 3), ApoE-KO (n = 3), and ApoE-KO + aldosterone (n = 3). (B) Expanded Tregs treated with TGF β (2 ng/ml) and IL2 (100 U/ml) in wt (n = 5) and ApoE-KO mice (n = 5) started from CD4+ T cell. The histograms represent % of Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+) analyzed by flow cytometry. The experiments were conducted at different times, 24, 48, and 96 h, by culturing CD4+ T cells isolated from spleens of wild type (wt) mice and ApoE-KO mice, in the presence of IL2, treated or not with TGF β and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. (C) Representative dot plots of expanded Tregs from five independent experiments in wt and ApoE-KO mice. (D) Differentiated Tregs with TGF β (2 ng/ml) and IL2 (100 U/ml) in wt (n = 4) and ApoE-KO mice (n = 4). The bar graph indicates % of Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+) at two different times, 24 and 96 h, by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from spleens of wt mice and ApoE-KO mice, in the presence of IL2, treated or not with TGF β and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. (E) Representative dot plots of expanded Tregs from five independent experiments in wt and ApoE-KO mice. (D) Differentiated Tregs with TGF β (2 ng/ml) and IL2 (100 U/ml) in wt (n = 4) and ApoE-KO mice (n = 4). The bar graph indicates % of Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+) at two different times, 24 and 96 h, by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from spleens of wt mice and ApoE-KO mice, in the presence of IL2, treated or not with TGF β and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. (E) Representative dot plots of differentiated Tregs from four independent experiments. "P < 0.05, "P < 0.01, "***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.0001, by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA).

investigated the kinetics of autophagy in TGF β -induced Tregs derived from naïve CD4+ T cells. Cells were cultured in Tregs-polarizing conditions (IL2 treatment with or without TGF β)

and analyzed at two time points: 24 and 96 h. The autophagy flux has been analyzed by flow cytometry comparing the LC3-II amount in the presence and absence of the lysosomal inhibitor

bafilomycin (Baf), added 4 h before the end of the experiment (47). In order to evaluate the autophagic flux of CD4+ T cells, we calculated the LC3-II ratio between Baf-treated and untreated cells. On expanded Tregs gated on CD4, we did not observe any significant difference in the LC3-II ratio analyzed at two different time points: 24 and 96 h (data not shown). We therefore repeated the analysis during Tregs differentiation induced from naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from wt and ApoE-KO mice. We observed that the LC3-II ratio significantly increased in wt Tregs upon TGFB treatment at 24 h, while no difference was observed in ApoE-KO Tregs (Figure 4A). These results indicate that TGF β induces autophagy in *wt* but not in ApoE-KO Tregs. In particular, by blocking the autophagosomelysosome fusion by Baf, 4h before the end of the experiment, ApoE-KO mice did not show any significant increase in LC3-II ratio when challenged with TGFB, suggesting a block of autophagic machinery during Tregs differentiation in ApoE-KO mice (Figure 4A).

We previously showed a reduction in LC3-II signal in ApoE-KO mouse spleen treated with aldosterone (**Figure 2A**). In order to exclude any commitment of aldosterone in LC3 lipidation in Tregs, we analyzed LC3-II-positive cells during Tregs differentiation by treating cells in the presence or absence of aldosterone at the same dose used for the *in vivo* experiment. After 96 h of Tregs differentiation, aldosterone did not interfere with LC3 lipidation (**Supplementary Figure 5**), suggesting that all the differences that we observed in the ApoE-KO mouse spleen, derived from the genetic background and not from the aldosterone treatment.

Due to the fact that Tregs derived from ApoE-KO mice seem to be autophagy impaired, we pharmacologically modulated autophagy in sorted wt naïve CD4+ T cells (CD4+CD62L+CD25-) under a TGFβ stimulus for the subsequent experiments. TGF_β has been reported to induce autophagy through the SMAD 2/3 pathway in different cell lines and by the increase in the mRNA levels of autophagic genes such as BECLIN1, ATG5, and ATG7 (48, 49). Based on this knowledge, we performed RTqPCR at either 24 or 96 h by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells in IL2 in the presence or absence of TGFB, in order to evaluate the mRNA levels of Foxp3 and autophagic genes such as p62, LC3A, and LC3B. The obtained results showed an increase of mRNA levels of Foxp3 after TGF β and IL2 treatment at both 24 and 96 h (Figure 4B). As expected, the inhibition of autophagy by Baf or chloroquine, a lysosome acidification inhibitor, does not interfere with the transcriptional activation of *Foxp3* induced by TGFβ. We then investigated the mRNA levels of autophagic genes after 24 h of TGFB and IL2 treatment; we did not observe any significant increase of p62, LC3A, and LC3B. Interestingly, at 24 h, the addition of Baf and chloroquine led to a significant increase of LC3A mRNA (Figure 4B, top), probably due to feedback mechanism of cells trying to overcome autophagy inhibition. The mRNA expression of Foxp3, already boosted by TGFB at early time points, was remarkably increased at 96 h, as well as the mRNA expression of autophagy-related genes (p62 and LC3A), confirming the transcriptional activation of autophagy by TGF^β (Figure 4B, bottom).

FOXP3 Accumulates Upon Autophagy Inhibition

Autophagy is a crucial process controlling the turnover of proteins and organelles. In our experiments, we noticed that the percentage of Tregs (CD4+FOXP3+) was significantly increased after Baf treatment when added during the last 4 h of differentiation (Figures 5A,B) even if the same treatment did not affect the transcription of Foxp3 gene. Therefore, we investigated whether FOXP3 levels were affected by autophagy. The main pathway through which FOXP3 is degraded relies on the ubiquitination on lysine-48 and its subsequent proteasome degradation. However, several evidence reported that the natural p300 inhibitor, garcinol, can induce FOXP3 degradation via a lysosome-dependent pathway (50, 51). In order to investigate more in depth the potential autophagy-mediated FOXP3 degradation, we cultured sorted wt naïve CD4+ T cells (CD4+CD62L+CD25-) obtained from mouse spleens in the presence or absence of TGFB and IL2 for 96 h, and we treated them with Baf or chloroquine for the last 4 h, in order to block the last steps of the autophagic flux. By flow cytometry analysis, we observed that the treatment with autophagy inhibitors led to an increase of FOXP3 in unstimulated cells after 96 h in culture upon 4-h treatment with Baf or chloroquine (Figure 5C), while the differences were abolished after TGFB treatment, presumably because, after 96 h of stimulation, the differentiation was complete, autophagy shut down, and Foxp3 gene upregulated hundred-folds by the effect of the cytokine (as shown in Figure 4B). Although further experiments are needed to confirm the autophagy-mediated FOXP3 turnover, these data suggest that this transcription factor can be an autophagy target.

We additionally investigated this aspect in ApoE-KO mice, particularly by culturing mechanically sorted naïve CD4+ T cells in the presence or absence of Baf and TGF β . However, we did not observe any FOXP3 accumulation with only Baf treatment (data not shown) probably due to both lack of Tregs differentiation upon TGF β treatment and, as previously shown in **Figure 4A**, autophagy being blocked in ApoE-KO mice at both 24 and 96 h.

Autophagy Affects Tregs Differentiation

Finally, we modulated autophagy on sorted wt naïve CD4+ T cells (CD4+CD62L+CD25-) under a TGFβ stimulus in order to ascertain the involvement of autophagy in Tregs differentiation. We used for 24 h Baf or 3-methyladenine (3MA) (a PI3 kinase inhibitor) to inhibit autophagy or, alternatively, rapamycin (RAPA) [the inhibitor of the main physiological autophagy suppressor mammalian target of RAPA (mTOR)] to boost autophagic flux (52, 53). As shown in Figures 6A,B, both Baf and 3MA were able to inhibit differentiation of Tregs induced by TGFβ, while autophagy activation by RAPA has no effects on Tregs differentiation, presumably because autophagy was already activated by TGF β . We obtained the same results by quantifying the percentage of FOXP3+ cells (Figure 6A) or the absolute Tregs cell number (Figure 6B). Finally, to better appreciate the results, we normalized the percentage of FOXP3 in TGF\beta-treated or untreated samples, and we



FIGURE 4 | (A) Autophagic flux during Tregs differentiation in *wt* (n = 4) and ApoE-KO mice (n = 4). Tregs were induced by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from splenocytes, in the presence of IL2 (100 U/ml) treated or not with TGF β (2 ng/ml) and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. The histograms show flow cytometry analysis for 24 and 96 h with and without bafilomycin (represented as LC3-II ratio: Baf-untreated) during the last 4 h of stimulation. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). **(B)** Quantitative RTqPCR analysis of TGF β -induced Tregs from naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from *wt* mice, in the presence of IL2 and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 for 24 h (n = 3, 2 mice per experiment) and 96 h (n = 2, 8 mice per experiment). All the experiments were performed with and without bafilomycin (100 nM) or chloroquine (40 μ M) during the last 4 h of differentiation. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001, by unpaired *t*-test, two-tailed.

observed that autophagy inhibition by 3MA led to a significant decrease of Tregs differentiation (**Figure 6C**). Altogether, these results suggest that the modulation of autophagy impacts Tregs differentiation.

DISCUSSION

For many years, the therapy for the treatment of atherosclerosis has focused on lipid reduction methods. However, increasing



evidence shows a strong involvement of the immune system in its pathogenesis and the idea of atherosclerosis as an autoimmune disease arose, paving the way toward new therapeutic approaches (54). A correlation between atherosclerosis and inflammation has been recognized in many studies, implying that immune cells and inflammatory signals are essential contributors to cardiovascular diseases (10, 55). In this scenario, it has been reported that Tregs exert atheroprotective properties by secretion of antiinflammatory cytokines and suppression of T-cell proliferation (56). Coherently, atherosclerosis-prone mice harbor systemically less Tregs and a general imbalance of immune cells, potentially leading to atherogenesis (56). To add a further layer of complexity, it has been revealed that autophagy, the catabolic process responsible for the recycling of cellular components, when activated in immune cells within the atherosclerotic plaque preserves normal cellular function and protects plaque cells against oxidative injury, metabolic stress, and inflammation (26).

Although the role of immune cells in regulating atherosclerosis onset and progression has been confirmed by many scientists, the contribution of autophagy in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis within atherosclerotic plaques is still neglected. With this research, we aimed at characterizing lymphocyte populations in human and murine plaques and addressing the effects of autophagy on Tregs differentiation in the context of atherosclerosis.

We started our study by characterizing human and mouse atherosclerotic plaques from an immunological point of view. The relative content of different lymphocyte subpopulations in the plaques, especially the frequency of the immunosuppressive Tregs, is crucial to understanding how the atherosclerotic disease progresses. Moreover, the establishment of immuno-profiles is of major importance in clinical practice as they could be used as predicting factor for cardiovascular atherosclerosis risk and therapy efficiency (57). Our initial characterization indicates that



plaques from both human and animal models display more infiltrating Tregs. Notably, since the structural integrity of the artery wall is compromised also in the surrounding area of atherosclerotic plaques, we analyzed the regions adjacent to the lesion, and also in this case, we observed high frequencies of Tregs. In order to obtain fresh murine atherosclerotic plaques for our studies, we took advantage of ApoE-KO mice treated with aldosterone-so far, the elective mouse model for this disease (58). Our aim, using this experimental model of atherosclerosis, was merely to obtain samples to analyze from an immunologic point of view, and therefore, we did not compare our results with wt non-atherosclerosis vessels, from which we could not extract any infiltrating cells to relate. Remarkably, wt mice do not develop atherosclerosis either during aging or under aldosterone treatment. Our research did not aim to dissect the etiological mechanism giving rise to the plaque or the pathologies (e.g., hypertension) leading to atherosclerosis.

In line with other studies, our results corroborate evidence that the frequency of Tregs is decreased in splenocytes of ApoE-KO mice, suggesting that the development of atherosclerotic plaques in the mouse could be related to depletion of a peripheral Tregs pool (42). Surprisingly, we also revealed that ApoE-KO mice treated with aldosterone display instead an increase of peripheral Tregs, presumably due to their recruitment at the plaque region to suppress the inflammation promoted by aldosterone. It is well-known, indeed, that this hormone is associated with vascular infiltration of immune cells, reactive oxidative stress, and pro-inflammatory cytokine production (59). Here, we also demonstrate that, differently from wt, ApoE-KO mouse-derived CD4+ T cells are unable to differentiate in Tregs when stimulated with IL2 and TGF^β. This result clearly indicates that ApoE-KO mice show a defect in Tregs maturation that could, potentially, contribute to atherosclerosis progression.

In order to characterize mechanisms responsible for the defects of Tregs maturation in atherosclerotic plaque, we directed

our studies toward the investigation of autophagy, due to its crucial role in sustaining the survival of immune cells at the level of atherosclerotic lesions. Although it is well-established that autophagy is essential for CD4+ T-cell proliferation, survival, cytokine production, and homeostasis in response to T-cell receptor activation (18, 60), the role of this catabolic process in Tregs maturation has been poorly dissected. Although far from being exhaustive, our experiments point toward a pivotal role of autophagy in Tregs differentiation that could inspire other researchers in this direction. We here show that TGF^β treatment in the presence of IL2, while inducing Tregs differentiation through FOXP3 transcription, triggers autophagy by inducing LC3 lipidation. At a later time point of stimulation, TGF β is also responsible for the induction of the transcription of autophagic genes such as p62 and LC3A. In order to functionally correlate autophagy induction with Tregs differentiation, we incubated naïve CD4+ T cells with autophagy pharmacological inhibitors (Baf or 3MA) for 24 h together with the differentiation mixture (IL2+TGFβ), and we observed an inhibition of the TGFB-induced differentiation though autophagy induction, per se, with RAPA was not able to induce Tregs maturation. Overall, these data indicate that autophagy contributes to TGF_β-induced differentiation, but it is not the only driving force. In our experiments, we also noticed that short treatments with autophagic inhibitors lead to an accumulation of FOXP3, the main transcription factor driving Tregs differentiation, indicating it as a possible autophagy target and linking Tregs differentiation to autophagy.

Finally, and even more interestingly, we found that ApoE-KO mouse-derived CD4+ T cells that are unable to differentiate are also unable to activate autophagy upon TGF^β treatment. In this regard, we specify that lymphocytes derived from wt and ApoE-KO mice are phenotypically the same (ApoE expression in Tregs is virtually absent); however, they respond differently probably because of defects accumulated during the development in the mouse which persist even after we grow the cells in culture under controlled conditions. Dyslipidemia could, for instance, account for these lymphocyte defects, but this aspect was not investigated here. Moreover, the mechanism(s) leading to autophagy impairment in ApoE-KO mice is still unknown. However, with the data here provided, we can speculate that autophagy impairment (similarly to what is seen in other lymphocyte populations), by inhibiting Tregs maturation in ApoE-KO mice, enhances the inflammatory process at the level of atherosclerotic plaques.

In addition, seeking to analyze the autophagic flux in Tregs of human plaques, we checked the levels of phospho-S6 ribosomal protein kinase (p-S6)—a marker of mTOR pathway activation and autophagy inhibition—in Tregs cells derived from human plaques (61, 62). Although we observed an increase of p-S6 in a limited number of samples (data not shown), our knowledge regarding autophagy in Tregs of human plaques is still, unfortunately, not exhaustive.

Taken together, our results indicate that autophagy is a necessary process for Tregs differentiation and that the defective Tregs maturation in ApoE-KO mice could be connected to autophagy blockade. The present work underlines the complexity of the autophagy–Tregs–atherosclerosis axis and enlightens some important connections between immune cells and this catabolic process that could be exploited during the development of new prognostic and therapeutic strategies, which could be useful in rehabilitation programs for atherosclerotic patients. In conclusion, we suggest that, by enforcing the functional integrity of Tregs, the manipulation of autophagy may be exploited as a useful tool for the development of a novel therapeutic approach aimed at increasing functional Tregs in atherosclerosis therapy (18).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients

Peripheral blood (PB), adjacent APR, and AP samples were obtained from nine patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy (CEA) (63) affected by different pathologies representing atherosclerosis risk factors. Patient's characteristics are shown in **Table 1**, displaying the percentage of occlusion (surgery-side) and associated pathologies.

PBMC were isolated from the PB of CEA patients by density gradient centrifugation with Lympholyte (Cedarlane Laboratories USA, cat. #CL5020) and collected in complete RPMI Dutch-modified medium containing 10% FBS (Gibco), 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich), penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco), non-essential amino acids, sodium pyruvate (EuroClone), and 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich).

Mononuclear cells were extracted from APR and AP. Fragments of APR and AP were digested with Collagenase IV (C5138 Sigma) (2 mg/ml) + DNase I (0.1 mg/ml) in RPMI for 1– 2 h at 37°C. Single-cell suspensions were obtained by disrupting the fragments with a syringe plunger over a cell strainer and pelleted through a 40% isotonic Percoll solution. Human studies were performed in accordance with the General Data Protection and Regulation (GDPR) and ethical guidelines of the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Institutional Ethical Committee of the University of Rome "La Sapienza" (authorization: RIF. 3720_2015/23.07.2015 Prot. 2372/2015).

Mice

ApoE-KO mice were kindly provided by the Laboratory of Cardiovascular Endocrinology, IRCCS San Raffaele (Rome, Italy), maintained at Animal Facility Castel Romano (Rome) under protocols approved by the Italian Ministry of Health (493/2016-PR).

In 9-week-old male mice deficient for ApoE (ApoE-KO), osmotic minipump (Alzet model 1004) containing vehicle (ethanol/saline) or aldosterone (6 μ g/mouse/day) was subcutaneously placed, and mice were fed with a proatherogenic HF diet (Harlan Teklad TD.88137) for 4 weeks (43). This dose of aldosterone was chosen on the basis of published studies demonstrating resultant serum aldosterone levels in physiologically relevant range, no change in blood pressure, and reproducible increases in atherosclerosis (30). At the time of sacrifice, animals were perfused with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and aortic valves were embedded in an optimal cutting compound (OCT) and collected at -80° C.

Cryosections of embedded aortic roots at the site where all three aortic valve leaflets could be visualized were taken at 10- μ m intervals. Sequential sections were stained with Oil-Red O (ORO) in the aortic root at the level of the aortic valve.

To study the autophagy process, 8- to 12-weeks-old male C57BL/6J mice (Charles River Laboratories) housed at the animal facility of the Department of Anatomy, Histology, Forensic Medicine and Orthopaedics (DAHFMO), Unit of Histology and Medical Embryology (Sapienza University of Rome), were used. C57BL/6J mice were killed by CO₂ euthanasia.

Eight- to ten-weeks-old male C57BL/6N mice (Taconic), housed at the animal facility at the Danish Cancer Society Research Center (Copenhagen, Denmark), were used to study autophagy modulation (e.g., Baf, 3MA, and RAPA treatments) and FOXP3 accumulation (RTqPCR and cytofluorometry analyses).

Splenocyte Isolation and Aortic Arch Dissection From Murine Spleens

Characterization of ApoE-KO mouse spleens was performed in collaboration with the Laboratory of Cardiovascular Endocrinology, IRCCS San Raffaele (Rome, Italy). Splenocytes were obtained by spleen mechanical rupture with a syringe plunger followed by incubation with ACK (Lonza, Alpharetta, GA, USA, cat. no. 10-548E) for 5 min at room temperature (RT), and after washing, cells were filtered on a 70- μ m cell strainer. The aortic arches were separated from the apical portion of the heart and were digested with collagenase IV (C5138 Sigma) (2 mg/ml) + DNase I (0.1 mg/ml) in RPMI 1640 for 1 h at 37°C.

In vitro Analysis of Tregs Differentiation

Splenocytes were obtained by spleen mechanical rupture with a syringe plunger followed by incubation with sterile ddH₂O for 10 s, blocking and washing with PBS 10×. CD4+ T cells were purified from splenocytes by using a CD4+ T-cell isolation kit (130-104-454 Miltenyi Biotec) and naïve CD4T cells purified from splenocytes by using a naïve CD4+ T-cell isolation kit (130-104-453 Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Naïve CD4+ T cells and CD4+ T cells purified were cultured on 3µg/ml of anti-CD3 (145-2C11) precoated wells (96-u bottom multiwell) at 37°C, at different time points (24, 48, and 96 h). Cells were plated in RPMI 1640 (R0883 Sigma) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 10 mM HEPES, 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM pyruvate, and 15 µg/ml gentamicin, in the presence of 2 µg/ml soluble anti-mouse CD28 (37.51 monoclonal antibody) and of human recombinant IL2 (354043 BD Bioscience) at 100 U/ml in the presence or absence of 2 ng/ml mouse recombinant TGFB (14-8342 Affymetrix eBioscience). In some sets of experiments, cell cultures were treated with modulators of autophagy: Baf A1 (100 nM) (B1793 Sigma), chloroquine (40 µM) (C6626 Sigma), 3-methyladenine (5 mM) (M9281 Sigma), RAPA (100 nM) (R0395 Sigma). Aldosterone (10^{-8} M) treatment was used, maintaining the same conditions of the in vitro experiment (64).

Flow Cytometry

Cells obtained from human atherosclerotic plaques and ApoE-KO mice were analyzed following the complete panel of antibodies (**Tables S1, S2**). Surface staining was performed by incubating the cells with selected antibodies at 4°C for 30 min in PBS. Intracellular staining of cytokines and transcription factors was performed with Foxp3 Transcription Factor Staining Buffer (eBioscience) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Dead cells were excluded using Fixable Viability Dye eFluor[®] 780 (eBioscience). Human samples were acquired on the BD LSRFortessa cell analyzer (BD Biosciences), while mouse samples were run on the BD LSRFortessa X20 (BD Bioscience).

Regarding *in vitro* experiments, intracellular FOXP3 and LC3-II staining was performed using PFA 4% and 90–100% Met-OH for fixation and permeabilization, according to Cell Signaling protocol. Dead cells were excluded by staining with NIR (Live Dead Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell stain kit; Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were run on a Cyan cytometer (Beckman Coulter).

Autophagic flux was measured by FACS analysis using antibody against LC3-II-PE (Cell Signaling clone D-11), in the presence or absence of the modulators of autophagy as described above.

Samples were analyzed with FlowJo software, version 10.5.3.

Cell Sorting and RTqPCR

Naïve CD4+ T cells were stained with the antibodies CD4 eFluor-450, CD25 APC, and CD62L PECy7 and were sorted by using FACS Melody (BD).

Total RNA was extracted using the NucleoSpin RNA kit (740955.250 Macherey-Nagel). RNA concentration and purity were measured by NanoDrop (NanoDropTM 2000/2000c spectrophotometers). Quantitative PCR was performed with 2 μ l of cDNA, 0.4 μ l of each primer (10 μ mol/ μ l), and 10 μ l of PowerUp SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and analyzed with the QuantStudio software (Applied Biosystems).

The cycle threshold values were used to calculate the normalized expression of FOXP3, LC3A, LC3B, and p62 against β -actin.

The sequences of primer pairs are listed below: mFOXP3f: AAT AGT TCC TTC CCA GAG TTC mFOXP3r: GGT AGA TTT CAT TGA GTG TCC mLC3Af: TTG GTC AAG ATC ATC CGG C mLC3Bf: CCC ACC CAT GCT GTG CTG G mLC3Bf: CCC ACC AAG ATC CCA GTG AT mLC3Br: CCA GGA ACT TGG TCT TGT CCA mSqstm1f: AAT GTG ATC TGT GAT GGT TG mSqstm1r: GAG AGA AGC TAT CAG AGA GG mActinf: CAC ACC CGC CAC CAG TTC GC mActinr: TTG CAC ATG CCG GAG CCG TT.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the version 7.0 Prism software (GraphPad). A two-tailed paired Student's *t*-test was used to analyze human data to compare PBMC, APR, and AP in the same sample. The two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test was applied to compare data from Th1, Th17, and Tregs in ApoE-KO vs. aldosterone. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed for *in vitro* analysis in which we compared *wt* vs. ApoE-KO mice upon TGF β treatment. The two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test was applied to compare treatment with autophagy modulators when only one group was analyzed (*wt*). One-way ANOVA was performed for the *in vitro* experiment to analyze autophagic flux upon aldosterone treatment during Tregs differentiation. Every *in vitro* assay was performed in duplicate or triplicate, when possible. The number of repetitions is indicated in the figure legend for all experiments. In all graphs, bars show means ± SEM. In all tests, *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Azienda Ospedaliera S. Andrea, Sapienza University of Rome—Rif. 3720_2015/23.07.2015. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The animal study was reviewed and approved by IRCCS San Raffaele (Rome, Italy), maintained at Animal Facility Castel Romano (Rome) under protocols approved by the Italian Ministry of Health (493/2016-PR).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF, SP, FC, CG, and DS conceived the study. SM designed and performed the majority of the experiments and analyzed the data. FP contributed to the design of the multiparameter flow cytometry analysis. IP contributed to the experiments on human plaques. SM wrote the manuscript supported by SP and CG, and supervised by AF, MC, DD, and FC. FC and DD have hosted SM at the Danish Cancer Society Research Center (Denmark, DK) and contributed to the design of the experiments on autophagy. DD has supported SM to investigate autophagy and supervised the experiments regarding autophagy investigation. LV contributed to the design of the multiparameter flow cytometry in the murine model. MC, VM, CM, and AA provided the ApoE-KO mouse models and contributed to the experimental plan on the murine model. CS and MT provided the human atherosclerotic plaque and clinical characteristics of the patients. The manuscript was reviewed, revised, and edited by all authors.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Fondazione Roma (NCDs-2013-00000345) to AF and by Progetti di Ricerca di Ateneo, La Sapienza University of Rome (Italy), by funding of the Italian Ministry of Health (Ricerca Corrente) to IRCCS San Raffaele Pisana, and by funding of Istituto Pasteur Italia -Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti to SP. DD is supported by the Danish Cancer Society (R204-A12424), LEO foundation (LF-OC-19-000004) and the Melanoma Research Alliance. DD and FC are part of the Center of Excellence for Autophagy, Recycling and Disease (CARD), funded by the Danmarks Grundforskningsfond (DNRF125).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Shona Wills for English proofreading and Salvatore Rizza for helpful insights in the revision process.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.00350/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Gating strategy for Tregs identification in PBMC, APR, AP by flow cytometry. Flow cytometry analysis was performed on lymphocytes extracted from (A) human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC), (B) adjacent Atherosclerotic Plaque Region (APR), (C) Atherosclerotic Plaque (AP). In gated CD4+ T cells, Tregs and Tconv were selected as FOXP3+ CD127^{low} within the CD14- CD8- viability dye- CD4+ CD25+ gate.

Supplementary Figure 2 | (A) Gating strategy for Tregs identification in spleens and aortic arches obtained from ApoE-KO \pm aldosterone (6 μ g/mouse/day). In gated CD4+ T cells, Tregs, Th1 and Th17 were selected as CXCR3+CCR6-CD4+, CCR6+CXCR3-CD4+, FOXP3+CD4+, respectively, within the CD8- CD4+ gate. **(B)** Gating strategy for Tregs differentiation by culturing naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from *wt* mice (*n* = 4) and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD28 for 96 h in presence of IL2 (100 U/ml), treated or not with TGF β (2 ng/ml). In some set of experiment aldosterone [10⁻⁹ M] was added for 96 h. The histograms show the frequency of CD4+ T cells **(C)**, the frequency of Tregs represented as FOXP3+CD4+ cells (**D** left) and as TGF β /Ctr fold change (**D** right).

Supplementary Figure 3 Absolute cell number of Tregs, calculated on percentage of expanded Tregs at different times (24, 48, and 96 h) (**A**) and differentiated Tregs at two timepoints (24 and 96 h) (**B**), starting from CD4+ T cells of *wt* and ApoE-KO mice, in presence of IL2 (100 U/ml), treated or not with TGFβ (2 ng/ml) and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28.

Supplementary Figure 4 | The bar graphs represent gMFI FOXP3 in Tregs analyzed by flow cytometry. The experiments were conducted at different times: 24, 48, and 96 h, by culturing CD4+ T cells in presence of IL2 (100 U/ml), treated or not with TGF β (2 ng/ml) and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28.

Supplementary Figure 5 | Autophagic flux during Tregs differentiation under aldosterone treatment in *wt* (*n* = 4) mice for 96 h. Tregs were induced by culturing naive CD4+ T cells isolated from splenocytes, in presence of IL2 (100 U/ml) treated or not with TGFβ (2 ng/ml) and stimulated with plate-bound anti-CD3 and anti-CD28. In some set of experiments aldosterone was added for 96 h. The histogram shows the frequency of Tregs-LC3-II+ (FOXP3+LC3-II+) cells gated on CD4+ T cells during 96 h of aldosterone [10⁻⁹ M] treatment. To analyze autophagic flux in some sets of experiments bafilomycin was added for during the last 4 h of stimulation. One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was performed without showing any significant differences.

Supplementary Table 1 | The multiparameter flow cytometry analysis was used to characterize human atherosclerotic plaque.

Supplementary Table 2 | The multiparameter flow cytometry analysis was used to characterize mice spleens and aortic arches.

REFERENCES

- Pescetelli I, Zimarino M, Ghirarduzzi A, De Caterina R. Localizing factors in atherosclerosis. J Cardiovasc Med. (2015) 16:824–30. doi: 10.2459/JCM.00000000000224
- Rodgers JL, Jones J, Bolleddu SI, Vanthenapalli S, Rodgers LE, Shah K, et al. Cardiovascular risks associated with gender and aging. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis. (2019) 6:E19. doi: 10.3390/jcdd6020019
- Clarke MC, Talib S, Figg NL, Bennett MR. Vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis induces interleukin-1-directed inflammation. *Circ Res.* (2009) 106:363–72. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.208389
- Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. *Nature*. (2011) 473:317–25. doi: 10.1038/nature10146
- Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature. (1993) 362:801–9. doi: 10.1038/362801a0
- Badimon L, Vilahur G. Thrombosis formation on atherosclerotic lesions and plaque rupture. J Intern Med. (2014) 276:618–32. doi: 10.1111/joim.12296
- Osborn EA, Jaffer FA. Imaging atherosclerosis and risk of plaque rupture. Curr Atheroscler Rep. (2013) 15:359. doi: 10.1007/s11883-013-0359-z
- Wigren M, Nilsson J, Kolbus D. Lymphocytes in atherosclerosis. *Clin Chim* Acta. (2012) 143:1562–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2012.04.031
- Witztum JL, Lichtman AH. The influence of innate and adaptive immune responses on atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2014) 9:73– 102. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-020712-163936
- Buttari B, Profumo E, Riganò R. Crosstalk between red blood cells and the immune system and its impact on atherosclerosis. *BioMed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:616834. doi: 10.1155/2015/616834
- Castellon X, Bogdanova V. Chronic inflammatory diseases and endothelial dysfunction. *Aging Dis.* (2016) 7:81–9. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0803
- Abbas AK, Benoist C, Bluestone JA, Campbell DJ, Ghosh S, Hori S, et al. Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:307–8. doi: 10.1038/ni.2554
- Dai Z, Li Q, Wang Y, Gao G, Diggs LS, Tellides G, et al. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress allograft rejection mediated by memory CD8+ T cells via a CD30-dependent mechanism. J Clin Invest. (2004) 113:310– 7. doi: 10.1172/JCI19727
- Walsh PT, Taylor DK, Turka LA. Tregs and transplantation tolerance. J Clin Invest. (2004) 144:1398–403. doi: 10.1172/JCI200423238
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:986– 92. doi: 10.1038/ni904
- Kitagawa Y, Ohkura N, Sakaguchi S. Molecular determinants of regulatory T cell development: the essential roles of epigenetic changes. *Front Immunol.* (2013) 4:106. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00106
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Masanao A, Misako I, Masaaki T. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained. J Immunol. (1995) 155:1151–64.
- Wei J, Long L, Yang K, Guy C, Shrestha S, Chen Z, et al. Autophagy enforces functional integrity of regulatory T cells by coupling environmental cues and metabolic homeostasis. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:277–85. doi: 10.1038/ni.3365
- Gatica D, Chiong M, Lavandero S, Klionsky DJ. Molecular mechanisms of autophagy in the cardiovascular system. *Circ Res.* (2015) 116:456– 67. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303788
- Wen X, Klionsky DJ. An overview of macroautophagy in yeast. J Mol Biol. (2016) 428:1681–99. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2016.02.021
- Mizushima N. A brief history of autophagy from cell biology to physiology and disease. Nat Cell Biol. (2018) 20:521–7. doi: 10.1038/s41556-01 8-0092-5
- 22. Tomaipitinca L, Mandatori S, Mancinelli R, Giulitti F, Petrungaro S, Moresi V, et al. The role of autophagy in liver epithelial cells and its impact on systemic homeostasis. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:E827. doi: 10.3390/nu11040827
- Liu HH, Cao YJ, Tong T, Shi JJ, Zhang YL, Yang YP, et al. Autophagy in atherosclerosis: a phenomenon found in human carotid atherosclerotic plaques. *Chin Med J.* (2015) 128:69–74. doi: 10.4103/0366-6999.147815
- De Meyer GRY, Grootaert MOJ, Michiels CF, Kurdi A, Schrijvers DM, Martinet W. Autophagy in vascular disease. *Circ Res.* (2015) 116:468– 79. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303804

- Zhang T, Tian F, Wang J, Jing J, Zhou SS, Chen YD. Endothelial cell autophagy in atherosclerosis is regulated by miR-30-mediated translational control of ATG6. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2015) 37:1369–78. doi: 10.1159/000430402
- 26. Grootaert MOJ, da Costa Martins PA, Bitsch N, Pintelon I, de Meyer GRY, Martinet W, et al. Defective autophagy in vascular smooth muscle cells accelerates senescence and promotes neointima formation and atherogenesis. *Autophagy*. (2015) 11:2014–32. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2015.1096485
- Lo Sasso G, Schlage WK, Boué S, Veljkovic E, Peitsch MC, Hoeng J. The Apoe-/- mouse model: a suitable model to study cardiovascular and respiratory diseases in the context of cigarette smoke exposure and harm reduction. J Transl Med. (2016) 14:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-0901-1
- Oppi S, Lüscher TF, Stein S. Mouse models for atherosclerosis research—which is my line? *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2019) 6:46. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2019.00046
- Feraco A, Marzolla V, Scuteri A, Armani A, Caprio M. Mineralocorticoid receptors in metabolic syndrome: from physiology to disease. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* (2019) 31:205–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2019.11.006
- 30. McGraw AP, Bagley J, Chen WS, Galayda C, Nickerson H, Armani A, et al. Aldosterone increases early atherosclerosis and promotes plaque inflammation through a placental growth factor-dependent mechanism. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2013) 2:e000018. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.000018
- Lanza G, Setacci C, Ricci S, Castelli P, Cremonesi A, Lanza J, et al. An update of the Italian Stroke Organization–stroke prevention awareness diffusion group guidelines on carotid endarterectomy and stenting: a personalized medicine approach. Int J Stroke. (2017) 12:560–7. doi: 10.1177/1747493017694395
- Webb GJ, Hirschfield GM, Lane PJL. OX40, OX40L and autoimmunity: a comprehensive review. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol.* (2016) 50:312– 32. doi: 10.1007/s12016-015-8498-3
- Croft M, So T, Duan W, Soroosh P. The significance of OX40 and OX40L to T-cell biology and immune disease. *Immunol Rev.* (2009) 229:173– 91. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00766.x
- Griseri T, Asquith M, Thompson C, Powrie F. OX40 is required for regulatory T cell-mediated control of colitis. J Exp Med. (2010) 207:699– 709. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091618
- Piconese S, Pittoni P, Burocchi A, Gorzanelli A, Carè A, Tripodo C, et al. A non-redundant role for OX40 in the competitive fitness of Treg in response to IL-2. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:2902–2913. doi: 10.1002/eji.201040505
- Pacella I, Procaccini C, Focaccetti C, Miacci S, Timperi E, Faicchia D, et al. Fatty acid metabolism complements glycolysis in the selective regulatory t cell expansion during tumor growth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E6546– 55. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1720113115
- Pendse AA, Arbones-Mainar JM, Johnson LA, Altenburg MK, Maeda N. Apolipoprotein E knock-out and knock-in mice: atherosclerosis, metabolic syndrome, and beyond. *J Lipid Res.* (2008) 50(Suppl. S178–82). doi: 10.1194/jlr.R800070-JLR200
- Bellosta S, Mahley RW, Sanan DA, Murata J, Newland DL, Taylor JM, et al. Macrophage-specific expression of human apolipoprotein E reduces atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic apolipoprotein E-null mice. J Clin Invest. (1995) 96:2170–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI118271
- Murphy AJ, Akhtari M, Tolani S, Pagler T, Bijl N, Kuo CL, et al. ApoE regulates hematopoietic stem cell proliferation, monocytosis, and monocyte accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions in mice. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:4138–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI57559
- Concistrè A, Petramala L, Bisogni V, Mezzadri M, Olmati F, Saracino V, et al. Subclinical atherosclerosis due to increase of plasma aldosterone concentrations in essential hypertensive individuals. J Hypertens. (2019) 37:2232–9. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000002170
- Tanida I, Ueno T, Kominami E. LC3 and autophagy. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2008) 445:77–88. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-157-4_4
- Mor A, Planer D, Luboshits G, Afek A, Metzger S, Chajek-Shaul T, et al. Role of naturally occurring CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in experimental atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2007) 27:893– 900. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000259365.31469.89
- Marzolla V, Armani A, Mammi C, Feraco A, Caprio M. Induction of atherosclerotic plaques through activation of mineralocorticoid receptors in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. J Vis Exp. (2018) 139:e58303. doi: 10.3791/58303

- 44. Josefowicz SZ, Niec RE, Kim HY, Treuting P, Chinen T, Zheng Y, et al. Extrathymically generated regulatory T cells control mucosal Th2 inflammation. *Nature*. (2012) 482:395–9. doi: 10.1038/nature 10772
- Fantini MC, Dominitzki S, Rizzo A, Neurath MF, Becker C. *In vitro* generation of cd4+cd25+ regulatory cells from murine naive t cells. *Nature Protocols*. (2007) 2:1789–94. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.258
- 46. Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei K, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4 + CD25 – naive T cells to CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells by TGF-β induction of transcription factor foxp3. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:1875–86. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030152
- Klionsky DJ, Abdelmohsen K, Abe A, Abedin MJ, Abeliovich H, Arozena AA, et al. Guidelines for the use and interpretation of assays for monitoring autophagy (3rd edition). *Autophagy*. (2016) 12:1–222. doi: 10.1080/15548627.2015.1100356
- Kiyono K, Suzuki HI, Matsuyama H, Morishita Y, Komuro A, Kano MR, et al. Autophagy is activated by TGF-β and potentiates TGF-β-mediated growth inhibition in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:8844–52. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4401
- Pokharel SM, Shil NK, Bose S. Autophagy, TGF-β, and SMAD-2/3 signaling regulates interferon-β response in respiratory syncytial virus infected macrophages. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2016) 6:174. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00174
- Mizushima N, Klionsky DJ. Protein turnover via autophagy: implications for metabolism. Annu Rev Nutr. (2007) 27:19– 40. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.27.061406.093749
- Nagai Y, Lam L, Greene MI, Zhang H. FOXP3 and its cofactors as targets of immunotherapies. *Engineering.* (2019) 5:115–21. doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2019.01.001
- Sotthibundhu A, McDonagh K, Von Kriegsheim A, Garcia-Munoz A, Klawiter A, Thompson K, et al. Rapamycin regulates autophagy and cell adhesion in induced pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2016) 7:116. doi: 10.1186/s13287-016-0425-x
- Tran AT, Ramalinga M, Kedir H, Clarke R, Kumar D. Autophagy inhibitor 3-methyladenine potentiates apoptosis induced by dietary tocotrienols in breast cancer cells. *Eur J Nutr.* (2015) 54:265–72. doi: 10.1007/s00394-01 4-0707-y
- Sima P, Vannucci L, Vetvicka V. Atherosclerosis as autoimmune disease. Ann Transl Med. (2018) 6:5–10. doi: 10.21037/atm.2018.02.02
- Grivel JC, Ivanova O, Pinegina N, Blank PS, Shpektor A, Margolis LB, et al. Activation of T lymphocytes in atherosclerotic plaques. *Arterioscler Thromb* and Vasc Biol. (2011) 31:2929–37. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.237081

- Spitz C, Winkels H, Bürger C, Weber C, Lutgens E, Hansson GK, et al. Regulatory T cells in atherosclerosis: critical immune regulatory function and therapeutic potential. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2016) 73:901– 22. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-2080-2
- Gong S, Gao X, Xu F, Shang Z, Li S, Chen W, et al. Association of lymphocyte to monocyte ratio with severity of coronary artery disease. *Medicine*. (2018) 97:e12813. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000012813
- Lee YT, Lin HY, Chan YWF, Li KHC, To OTL, Yan BP, et al. Mouse models of atherosclerosis: A historical perspective and recent advances. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2017) 16:12. doi: 10.1186/s12944-016-0402-5
- Muñoz-Durango N, Vecchiola A, Gonzalez-Gomez LM, Simon F, Riedel CA, Fardella CE, et al. Modulation of immunity and inflammation by the mineralocorticoid receptor and aldosterone. *BioMed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:652738. doi: 10.1155/2015/652738
- Jacquin E, Apetoh L. Cell-Intrinsic roles for autophagy in modulating CD4 T cell functions. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1023. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01023
- Blommaart EFC, Luiken JJFP, Blommaart PJE, Van Woerkom GM, Meijer AJ. Phosphorylation of ribosomal protein S6 is inhibitory for autophagy in isolated rat hepatocytes. J Biol Chem. (1995) 270:2320– 6. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.5.2320
- Ruvinsky I, Meyuhas O. Ribosomal protein S6 phosphorylation: from protein synthesis to cell size. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2006) 31:342– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2006.04.003
- Al Sultan AA, Alsubhi AA. Anesthetic considerations for carotid endarterectomy: a postgraduate educational review. *Anesth Essays Res.* (2018) 12:1–6. doi: 10.4103/aer.AER_217_17
- Marzolla V, Armani A, Mammi C, Moss ME, Pagliarini V, Pontecorvo L, et al. Essential role of ICAM-1 in aldosterone-induced atherosclerosis. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 232:233–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.01.013

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mandatori, Pacella, Marzolla, Mammi, Starace, Padula, Vitiello, Armani, Savoia, Taurino, De Zio, Giampietri, Piconese, Cecconi, Caprio and Filippini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Metabolic Reprograming of Microglia in the Regulation of the Innate Inflammatory Response

Clotilde Lauro^{1*} and Cristina Limatola^{2,3}

¹ Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Laboratory Affiliated to Istituto Pasteur Italia– Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³ IRCCS NeuroMed, Pozzilli, Italy

Microglia sustain normal brain functions continuously monitoring cerebral parenchyma to detect neuronal activities and alteration of homeostatic processes. The metabolic pathways involved in microglia activity adapt at and contribute to cell phenotypes. While the mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is highly efficient in ATP production, glycolysis enables microglia with a faster rate of ATP production, with the generation of intermediates for cell growth and cytokine production. In macrophages, pro-inflammatory stimuli induce a metabolic switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis, a phenomenon similar to the Warburg effect well characterized in tumor cells. Modification of metabolic functions allows macrophages to properly respond to a changing environment and many evidence suggest that, similarly to macrophages, microglial cells are capable of a plastic use of energy substrates. Neuroinflammation is a common condition in many neurodegenerative diseases and the metabolic reprograming of microglia has been reported in neurodegeneration. Here we review the existing data on microglia metabolism and the connections with neuroinflammatory diseases, highlighting how metabolic changes contribute to module the homeostatic functions of microglia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ola Grimsholm, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Kyoungho Suk, Kyungpook National University, South Korea Zhen Wang, Shandong University, China

*Correspondence:

Clotilde Lauro clotilde.lauro@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 28 December 2019 Accepted: 04 March 2020 Published: 20 March 2020

Citation:

Lauro C and Limatola C (2020) Metabolic Reprograming of Microglia in the Regulation of the Innate Inflammatory Response. Front. Immunol. 11:493. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00493 Keywords: microglia, metabolism, neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, homeostasis

INTRODUCTION

Microglia Phenotypes and Metabolic States

Microglia are the resident immune cells of the central nervous system (CNS) and, depending on the brain region, they can represent from 5 to 12% of total cell population (1). Microglial cells continuously monitor the surrounding parenchyma to sense alteration of brain functions (2, 3) and are involved in controlling neuronal excitability, synaptic activity, neurogenesis, and clearance of apoptotic cells in the healthy adult brain (4). Microglia interact with the cerebral microenvironment through different molecules such as chemokines, cytokines, and trophic factors which, in turn, modulate microglia activities converting the homeostatic microglia into reactive microglia and *viceversa* (5). Alterations of functional phenotype are accompanied by dynamic changes of shape of cell body and processes, although no unique correlation among microglial cell morphology and functional phenotype has been identified (6). However, in early stages of brain development, and upon *in vitro* activation with pro-inflammatory stimuli, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), microglial cells display an ameboid profile, with large and round cell bodies, short and thick branches; this morphology is often accompanied by an increased phagocytic activity, production of specific molecules and gene expression signatures. At more mature stages

23

of development, microglia have usually a highly ramified morphology, dynamically reacting to brain parenchymal alterations and injuries (3) and changing phenotype from surveillant to pro- or anti-inflammatory in response to pathological conditions (7, 8). Under pathological conditions, it was shown that microglia comprise cells with diverse phenotypes (9). In fact, microglial-activated cells can be roughly divided into classically activated M1 cells, with cytotoxic and pro-inflammatory properties and alternatively activated M2 cells, with phagocytic activities. The M2 condition can be further divided into three classes: M2a, involved in repair and regeneration; M2b, an immune-regulatory phenotype; M2c, an acquired-deactivating phenotype (10, 11). Indeed, more recent transcriptomic analysis of microglia in different brain area and different disease conditions, reveal a much higher complexity, with several overlapping genes and few signature genes specifically expressed by microglia subgroups (12, 13). Upon aging, microglia phenotype changes further, and it was recently demonstrated an age-related senescent microglial phenotype in humans, possibly involved in pathological processes associated with brain aging (14). Like other cells, in order to perform their functions, microglia require a large amount of energy and it has been recently shown that different microglia phenotypes are associated with distinct metabolic pathways (15-18). Under normal oxygen supply, cells produce energy in the mitochondria, in the glycolytic pathway, through the oxidative phosphorylation (19); in hypoxic conditions, the anaerobic glycolysis converts pyruvate into lactate in the cytoplasm (20, 21). The bioinformatics analysis of a transcriptome database of mouse brain cells (22) showed that microglia express all the genes required for the glycolytic and the oxidative energy metabolism (16). It has been proposed that glucose metabolism exerts transcriptional control over microglial activation, and that the homeostatic phenotype of (cultured) microglia preferentially utilize oxidative metabolism (23-26). An essential fuel for microglia is glucose, which enters the cell through different transporters (GLUTs) (27). Microglia predominantly express GLUT3 (28) and the fructose transporter GLUT5 (29, 30), but under inflammatory conditions, GLUT1 expression is upregulated to increase glucose uptake and promote glycolysis (31). In the absence of glucose, microglia are able to use free fatty acids as alternative energy source, as also suggested by the accumulation of lipid droplets in glucose-deprived microglial cells (32). Microglia also express the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase NOX2 and the superoxide is used to kill pathogens (33, 34). Glucose metabolism controls NOX activation by the NADH-dependent transcriptional co-repressor C-terminal binding protein (CtBP) that affects nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cell (NF-KB) signaling and the expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (35, 36). Interestingly, microglia also express the monocarboxylic transporter (MCT) 1 and 2 and absorb lactate and ketons (37) and it has been demonstrated that a ketogenic diet is correlated with a suppression of microglia activation (38-40) likely due to the inhibition of histone deacetylases (HDACs) by ketonic bodies, which decreases NK-kB signaling (41-43). Moreover, silencing HDAC activity affects microglia during development and in adulthood, as a function of the activation state, suggesting that epigenetic changes affect cellular metabolism in activated microglia, modulating microglia function (44). Microglial activity, together with glucose availability and glycolytic rate, influences pro-inflammatory gene and protein expression (45). The oxidative phosphorylation occurs within the mitochondria and produces more ATP molecules; on the other hand, glycolysis permits a faster ATP production in activated microglia (46) allowing a rapid metabolism for cell growth, and the production of cytokines and reactive oxygen species (47). These pathways of energy production are both of primary importance for microglia to maintain their homeostatic functions and are critical for the progression and repair mechanisms upon CNS injury and neurodegeneration.

The "Warburg Effect" in Microglia

It is well-established that peripheral immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs), switch from the oxidative phosphorylation to the aerobic glycolytic pathway when activated (48-50), similarly to what described in tumor cells (Warburg effect) (51-53), to foster cell proliferation. Even if microglia originate from a distinct embryological lineage, they share many characteristics with macrophages (54), as concern cell plasticity and the adaptable use of energy substrates. Several reports recently marked the metabolic similarity of microglia with DCs and macrophages: microglia exposed to inflammatory stimuli exhibit a transient upregulation of specific metabolic pathway's genes (45), indicating that energy metabolism is modulated during brain inflammation. Many studies have been performed with microglia cell lines: in particular, it was observed that upon activation, microglia alter the mitochondrial metabolism in a nitric oxide (NO)dependent manner (24, 25). Another study demonstrated that lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) stimulates alteration in glycolysis, morphology and motility of C13NJ microglia cells (23). Furthermore, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation of the murine microglial cell line BV-2 increased lactate production, reduced the mitochondrial oxygen consumption and ATP production, with the resulting increase of glycolysis and decrease of oxidative phosphorylation (15), ultimately increasing nucleic acid production for gene transcription (55). It has also been observed that treatment of primary microglia with Deoxy-Dglucose (2-DG), a blocker of glycolytic pathway, reduced tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) production through NF-kB inhibition, leading to microglia death (56, 57). On the other hand, primary rat microglia cultured with increasing glucose concentration (from 10 to 50 mM) boosted TNFa secretion (58, 59). More recently, Rubio-Araiz et al. showed that primary microglia exposure to LPS and amyloid-β $(A\beta)$ induced an inflammatory state associated with the increase of the glycolytic enzyme 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 3 (PFKFB3), with a boost in extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) (60). IFNy and AB also increased microglia glycolysis together with an increase in PFKFB3, hexokinase II and Pyruvate kinase isozymes M2 (PKM2) (61), suggesting that inflammation affects microglia metabolism,

driving the glycolysis pathway through increased PFKFB3 activation. Consistently, classic anti-inflammatory stimuli, such as interleukin-4 (IL-4), decreased glucose consumption and lactate production (55) in BV2, and this was confirmed in primary microglia, where IL-4 increased oxygen consumption rate (OCR), basal respiration and ATP production (62); in addition, IL-4/IL-13 stimulation maintained an oxidative metabolic state (16), suggesting that this metabolic shift was associated with a reduced need for anabolic reactions. Proinflammatory activation of microglia leads to changes in mitochondrial dynamics and in particular to the metabolic switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis. It has been recently demonstrated that in inflammatory conditions, microglia upregulate GLUT1 to facilitate glucose uptake and promote glycolysis and that the blockade of GLUT1 reprogrammed back microglia from glycolysis to mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, thus altering microglial activation and reducing retinal neurodegeneration in a mouse model (31). These changes represent an adaptive mechanism, since the conversion of microglia from surveying to reactive is accompanied by increased energy consumption. In line with this view, Nair et al. showed that LPS-treated primary microglia increased mitochondrial fragmentation together with a reduction in oxidative phosphorylation and an increase in both oxygen consumption rate, glycolysis and cytokine production (63). In fact, fragmented mitochondria represent the preferred morphofunctional state when the respiratory activity is low (64). Moreover, when mitochondrial fragmentation increases, due to overmuch fission, it can increase the inflammatory response of microglia modulating DRP1 de-phosphorylation and ROS elimination, as already demonstrated for macrophages (65, 66). The same authors also demonstrated that normalizing mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS production with a putative mitochondrial division inhibitor (Mdivi-1) abolished the release of pro- and anti- inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (63). It fact, it has been shown that LPS induces an increase in proton leak and in membrane potential of primary microglia, partially mediated by the uncoupling proteins (UCPs) present in the mitochondrial inner membrane (67).

Microglia Dysfunction and Neurodegenerative Diseases

When exerting homeostatic activities, microglia rely on several membrane proteins: the Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) and immune receptors such as the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2 (TREM2), the signal regulatory protein 1A (SIRP1A), the fractalkine receptor (CX3CR1), the cell surface transmembrane glycoprotein receptor CD200 (CD200R) and the colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (CSF-1R) (68–70) that recognize Damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) or Neurodegeneration-associated molecular patterns (NAMPs) (71). Upon stimulation by potentially dangerous molecules, microglia assume a neurodegenerative phenotype (MGnD) or disease-associated microglia (DAM), also recently identified as "dark microglia" (72) in several neurodegenerative diseases such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), multiple sclerosis

(MS), and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (71, 73, 74). It was shown that an aberrant microglia activation may result in a loss or alteration of their physiological functions with possible implications on the emergence or maintenance of pathological conditions; moreover, neuro-inflammation caused by microglia hyperactivity has been associated with several neurodegenerative diseases (12, 75-77) and many evidence support a metabolic reprograming of microglia in neurodegeneration (17). A possible mechanism explaining this microglial metabolic reprogramming has been described in a mouse model of AD, where AB directly triggers microglial inflammation together with a metabolic reprogramming from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis, in mTOR-HIF-1a pathwaydependent manner (78). Upon activation, microglia enter in a tolerant state with defects in cellular metabolism and reduced responses to inflammatory stimuli, including cytokine secretion and phagocytosis, suggesting that Aβ-induced microglial tolerance might represent a critical cue for AD progression (78). Nonetheless, when microglial glycolytic metabolism was reactivated by interferon- γ (IFN- γ) treatment, which is a known regulator of the mTOR (79) and glycolysis pathway (80), the phagocytic activity of microglia was restored, AB plaques and neuronal losses were reduced and cognitive impairment was rescued (78) indicating a (close) relation between the cellular metabolic pathways and functional phenotypes of microglia. The involvement of mTOR pathway in modulating microglial metabolism in AD was also previously suggested by Ulland et al., that identified TREM2 and the downstream mTOR signaling as mediators in maintaining microglial metabolic homeostasis (17). In particular they found that in AD patients carrying a TREM risk variant (81, 82) and in TREM2-deficient mice with AD-like pathology, microglia have an anomalous autophagy activity due to defective mTOR signaling. They demonstrated that upon AD development, TREM2 deficiency affects the mTOR pathway and the energetic metabolism in microglia: TREM2 deficiency was associated with decreased expression of genes for glucose transporters, glycolytic enzymes, and the transcription factor HIF1 α , all involved in glycolysis (17). The role of TREM2 in microglial metabolic function was also confirmed in microglia produced by patient-derived iPSC expressing loss of function variants of TREM2: TREM2 variants could not perform the immune-metabolic switch toward glycolysis due to altered PPARg-p38MAPK-PFKFB3 signaling (83). Of note, in AD as well as in other diseases such as traumatic brain injury and ischemia, microglia phenotype changes from anti- to proinflammatory upon disease progression (84-86). In particular, in brain ischemia, a phenotypic change is well-documented (87, 88): few minutes after the ischemic attack, resident microglial cells, mainly in the peri-infarct region, acquire an anti-inflammatory phenotype in order to restrain brain damage. Few days after the ischemic insult, pro-inflammatory microglia predominate in the region adjacent the infarct zone (89, 90) and release ROS and pro-inflammatory cytokines that induce the activation of cerebrovascular endothelial cells and sustain the adhesion and transmigration of leukocytes into the injured tissue, contributing to further brain damage (91-94). It was recently demonstrated that upon permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (pMCAO), the expression profiles of anti- and proinflammatory genes in microglia correlates with the expression of genes related to the oxidative and glycolytic pathway, respectively (18), suggesting that a targeted modulation of microglia could be used to reduce the extent of tissue damage in brain ischemia. All these data indicate that a metabolic reprogramming is crucial for microglial function in several neuropathologies and the identification of tools to modulate microglial bioenergetics pathways might be a promising therapeutic strategy.

Microglia Metabolic Remodeling as Therapeutic Approach

Considering the heterogeneity of microglia phenotypes present in specific time windows in different CNS regions in pathophysiological conditions (87, 88, 95), studies based on general microglial depletion cannot be considered effective therapeutic strategies to eliminate potentially dangerous microglia phenotypes. Accordingly, since a given microglia subpopulation can plastically modify its phenotype and function in response to signals from the microenvironment (10), the

targeting of specific microglial phenotypes in a proper time window could represent a more selective and efficacious approach and represent the current challenge of this field of research. One recent experimental approach proposes to induce a ketogenic state in microglia, suppressing glucose utilization to reduce inflammation, tissue loss and functional impairment after brain injury (41-43). The activation of the G-proteincoupled receptor 109A (GPR109A) with b-hydroxybutyrate (41, 43, 96) on microglial cells attenuates the NF-kB signaling and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, promoting a microglial neuroprotective phenotype in a mouse model of PD (42). Also, a metabolic switch toward oxidative metabolism might contribute to promote a protective microglia in some pathophysiological conditions, resulting in the production of metabolites beneficial for neurons (18, 97). Starting from the observation that in animal models of cerebral ischemia the increased anti-inflammatory polarization of microglia is associated with a smaller infarct area and the resolution of inflammation (98) it could be useful to identify a number of factors able to induce a metabolic switch in favor of an antiinflammatory state of microglia. Among the possible candidates



FIGURE 1 Microglia phenotype and metabolic state: in response to appropriate signals, reactive microglia can switch from a pro-inflammatory to an anti-inflammatory phenotype and vice versa, reorganizing their structure and functions. In particular, pro-inflammatory microglia release cytokines and free radicals that impair brain repair and regeneration while anti-inflammatory microglia resolve cerebral inflammation and promote brain repair increasing phagocytosis and release of trophic factors. Different phenotypes of microglia are associated to distinct metabolic pathways, in order to perform their different functions and their activation leads to changes in mitochondrial dynamics and switch among oxidative phosphorylation and glycolytic metabolism. Several neurodegenerative diseases have been associated with neuro-inflammation related to microglia hyperactivity or mitochondrial dysfunction. Factors able to promote an anti-inflammatory microglia, such as a ketogenic diet, 2-DG and CX3CL1, may represent an intriguing approach to counteract some aspect of neurodegenerative diseases.

is CX3CL1, a chemokine released from neurons in response to ischemic insult that has neuroprotective properties in permanent focal cerebral ischemia (99), able to modulate the activation state of microglia and its metabolism, down-modulating the expression of several pro-inflammatory and glycolytic pathwayrelated genes and inducing an increase in the expression of several anti-inflammatory and oxidative pathway-related genes after the ischemic insult (18). CX3CL1 thus acts potentiating the anti-inflammatory function of microglia, prolonging this phenotype to limit neuro-inflammation and gaining time used by parenchymal cells to organize a neuroprotective response. Another possibility could be to regulate the dynamic of microglial mitochondria to prevent neurological disorders caused by aberrant microglial activation: as discussed above, microglia mitochondrial functions correlate with neuronal survival, as a function of microglial ROS production, but also indirectly affecting the activation state and cytokine production (63, 65). Therefore, targeting cytokines that promote the antiinflammatory phenotype of microglia may result in protecting mitochondrial homeostasis and, on the other hand, direct approaches to enhance microglial mitochondrial function may promote the activation of the microglia anti-inflammatory state (Figure 1).

CONCLUSION

Many brain disorders are accompanied by changes in energy metabolism (100–105). While the mechanisms connecting inflammation to cell energy metabolism have been addressed (106), few information are available on how energy metabolism

REFERENCES

- Lawson LJ, Perry VH, Dri P, Gordon S. Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience*. (1990) 39:151–70. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(90)90229-W
- Davalos D, Grutzendler J, Yang G, Kim JV, Zuo Y, Jung S, et al. ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury *in vivo. Nat Neurosci.* (2005) 8:752–8. doi: 10.1038/nn1472
- Nimmerjahn A, Kirchhoff F, Helmchen F. Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma *in vivo. Science.* (2005) 308:1314–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1 110647
- Lenz KM, McCarthy MM. A starring role for microglia in brain sex differences. *Neuroscientist.* (2015) 21:306–21. doi: 10.1177/1073858414536468
- Li Q, Barres BA. Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. (2018) 18:225–42. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.125
- Kettenmann H, Hanisch UK, Noda M, Verkhratsky A. Physiology of microglia. *Physiol Rev.* (2011) 91:461–553. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00011.2010
- Greter M, Lelios I, Croxford AL. Microglia versus myeloid cell nomenclature during brain inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2015) 26:249. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00249
- Tay TL, Savage JC, Hui CW, Bisht K, Tremblay MÈ. Microglia across the lifespan: from origin to function in brain development, plasticity and cognition. J Physiol. (2017) 595:1929–45. doi: 10.1113/JP272134
- Schwartz M, Butovsky O, Brück W, Hanisch UK. Microglial phenotype: is the commitment reversible? *Trends Neurosci.* (2006) 29:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2005.12.005

affects the inflammatory responses. Since microglia represent the sentries of the CNS, consistently, they respond to changes in brain metabolism; however, very little is known about their own metabolism, especially because most of the metabolic studies in microglia were conducted in dissociated populations of primary cultures, which do not mirror the complexity and diversity of multiple cell types which interact with other cells and external cues to adapt to bioenergetics changes. For this reason, it is essential to identify experimental approaches to study microglia metabolism in in vivo systems, in pathophysiological conditions. Moreover, most of our knowledge on microglia biology derives from rodents and, even if some in vitro studies suggest that polarization of human microglia might resemble that observed in rodents cells (107), there are several important differences between rodent microglia and their human counterparts (108) and additional studies using human biological systems, such as induced pluripotent stem cells, will be useful in the effort to translate the studies on microglia phenotype into preclinical biomedical research. However, despite these limitations, microglia represent an intriguing target for the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases and targeting their metabolism in order to change their immunological phenotype could represent a promising future therapeutic approach.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CLa made substantial contributions to conception and design of the review. CLi contributed to the manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

- Chhor V, Le Charpentier T, Lebon S, Oré M-V, Celador IL, Josserand J, et al. Characterization of phenotype markers and neuronotoxic potential of polarised primary microglia *in vitro*. *Brain Behav Immun*. (2013) 32:70–85. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2013.02.005
- Boche D, Perry VH, Nicoll JA. Review: activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*. (2013) 39:3–18. doi: 10.1111/nan.12011
- Salter MW, Stevens B. Microglia emerge as central players in brain disease. Nat Med. (2017) 23:1018–27. doi: 10.1038/nm.4397
- Tan YL, Yuan Y, Tian L. Microglial regional heterogeneity and its role in the brain. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2020) 25:351–67. doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0609-8
- Fyfe I. Neurodegenerative disease: gene expression in aged microglia is related to neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2018) 14:193. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2018.21
- Voloboueva LA, Emery JF, Sun X, Giffard RG. Inflammatory response of microglial BV-2 cells includes a glycolytic shift and is modulated by mitochondrial glucose-regulated protein 75/mortalin. *FEBS Lett.* (2013) 587:756–62. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2013.01.067
- Orihuela R, McPherson CA, Harry GJ. Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. Br J Pharmacol. (2016) 173:649–65. doi: 10.1111/bph.13139
- Ulland TK, Song WM, Huang SC, Ulrich JD, Sergushichev A, Beatty WL, et al. TREM2 maintains microglial metabolic fitness in Alzheimer's disease. *Cell*. (2017) 70:649–63.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.023
- Lauro C, Chece G, Monaco L, Antonangeli F, Peruzzi G, Rinaldo S, et al. Fractalkine modulates microglia metabolism in brain ischemia. *Front Cell Neurosci*. (2019) 13:414. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2019.00414
- Dashty M. A quick look at biochemistry: carbohydrate metabolism. Clin Biochem. (2013) 46:1339–52. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2013.04.027

- Murray PJ. Understanding and exploiting the endogenous interleukin-10/STAT3-mediated anti-inflammatory response. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2006) 6:379–86. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2006.01.010
- Hardie DG. Biochemistry. Balancing cellular energy. Science. (2007) 315:1671–2. doi: 10.1126/science.1140737
- Zhang Y, Chen K, Sloan SA, Bennett ML, Scholze AR, O'Keeffe S, et al. An RNA-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:11929–47. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1860-14.2014
- Bernhart E, Kollroser M, Rechberger G, Reicher H, Heinemann A, Schratl P, et al. Lysophosphatidic acid receptor activation affects the C13NJ microglia cell line proteome leading to alterations in glycolysis, motility, and cytoskeletal architecture. *Proteomics*. (2010) 10:141–58. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200900195
- Chénais B, Morjani H, Drapier JC. Impact of endogenous nitric oxide on microglial cell energy metabolism and labile iron pool. *J Neurochem*. (2002) 81:615–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00864.x
- Moss DW, Bates TE. Activation of murine microglial cell lines by lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma causes NO-mediated decreases in mitochondrial and cellular function. *Eur J Neurosci.* (2001) 13:529–38. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2001.01418.x
- Won SJ, Yoo BH, Kauppinen TM, Choi BY, Kim JH. Recurrent/moderate hypoglycemia induces hippocampal dendritic injury, microglial activation, and cognitive impairment in diabetic rats. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2012) 9:182. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-9-182
- Aldana BI. Microglia-specific metabolic changes in neurodegeneration. J Mol Biol. (2019) 431:1830–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2019.03.006
- Kalsbeek MJ, Mulder L, Yi CX. Microglia energy metabolism in metabolic disorder. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2016) 438:27–35. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2016.09.028
- Payne J, Maher F, Simpson I, Mattice L, Davies P. Glucose transporter Glut 5 expression in microglial cells. *Glia*. (1997) 21:327–31. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1098-1136(199711)21:3<327::aid-glia7>3.0.co;2-1
- Douard V, Ferraris RP. Regulation of the fructose transporter GLUT5 in health and disease. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. (2008) 295:E227–37. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.90245.2008
- Wang L, Pavlou S, Du X, Bhuckory M, Xu H, Chen M. Glucose transporter 1 critically controls microglial activation through facilitating glycolysis. *Mol Neurodegener*. (2019) 14:2. doi: 10.1186/s13024-019-0305-9
- Churchward MA, Tchir DR, Todd KG. Microglial function during glucose deprivation: inflammatory and neuropsychiatric implications. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2018) 55:1477–87. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0422-9
- Kauppinen TM, Higashi Y, Suh SW, Escartin C, Nagasawa K, Swanson RA. Zinc triggers microglial activation. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:5827–35. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1236-08.2008
- 34. Schieber M, Chandel NS. ROS function in redox signaling and oxidative stress. *Curr Biol.* (2014) 24:R453–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2014.03.034
- Ghosh S, George S, Roy U, Ramachandran D, Kolthur-Seetharam U. NAD: a master regulator of transcription. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2010) 1799:681–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2010.08.002
- 36. Shen Y, Kapfhamer D, Minnella AM, Kim JE, Won SJ, Chen Y, et al. Bioenergetic state regulates innate inflammatory responses through the transcriptional co-repressor CtBP. Nat Commun. (2017) 8:624. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00707-0
- Moreira TJ, Pierre K, Maekawa F, Repond C, Cebere A, Liljequist S, et al. Enhanced cerebral expression of MCT1 and MCT2 in a rat ischemia model occurs in activated microglial cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2009) 29:1273–83. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.50
- Gasior M, Rogawski MA, Hartman AL. Neuroprotective and diseasemodifying effects of the ketogenic diet. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2006) 17:431–9. doi: 10.1097/00008877-200609000-00009
- Fann DY, Santro T, Manzanero S, Widiapradja A, Cheng YL, Lee SY, et al. Intermittent fasting attenuates inflammasome activity in ischemic stroke. *Exp Neurol.* (2014) 257:114–9. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.04.017
- Longo VD, Mattson MP. Fasting: molecular mechanisms and clinical applications. Cell Metab. (2014) 19:181–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.12.008
- Newman JC, Verdin E. Ketone bodies as signaling metabolites. Trends Endocrinol Metab. (2014) 25:42–52. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2013.09.002

- Fu SP, Wang JF, Xue WJ, Liu HM, Liu BR, Zeng YL, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of BHBA in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* Parkinson's disease models are mediated by GPR109A-dependent mechanisms. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2015) 12:9. doi: 10.1186/s12974-014-0230-3
- 43. Huang C, Wang P, Xu X, Zhang Y, Gong Y, Hu W, et al. The ketone body metabolite β-hydroxybutyrate induces an antidepressionassociated ramification of microglia via HDACs inhibition-triggered Aktsmall RhoGTPase activation. *Glia*. (2018) 66:256–78. doi: 10.1002/glia.23241
- 44. Datta M, Staszewski O, Raschi E, Frosch M, Hagemeyer N, Tay TL, et al. Histone deacetylases 1 and 2 regulate microglia function during development, homeostasis, and neurodegeneration in a context-dependent manner. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:514–29. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.02.016
- Ghosh S, Castillo E, Frias ES, Swanson RA. Bioenergetic regulation of microglia. Glia. (2018) 66:1200–12. doi: 10.1002/glia.23271
- 46. Schuster S, Boley D, Möller P, Stark H, Kaleta C. Mathematical models for explaining the warburg effect: a review focussed on ATP and biomass production. *Biochem Soc Trans.* (2015) 43:1187–94. doi: 10.1042/BST20150153
- Everts B, Amiel E, Huang SC, Smith AM, Chang CH, Lam WY, et al. TLRdriven early glycolytic reprogramming via the kinases TBK1-IKK*e* supports the anabolic demands of dendritic cell activation. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:323–32. doi: 10.1038/ni.2833
- Krawczyk CM, Holowka T, Sun J, Blagih J, Amiel E, DeBerardinis RJ, et al. Toll-like receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood.* (2010) 115:4742–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-249540
- Kelly B, O'Neill LA. Metabolic reprogramming in macrophages and dendritic cells in innate immunity. *Cell Res.* (2015) 25:771–84. doi: 10.1038/cr.2015.68
- De Santa F, Vitiello L, Torcinaro A, Ferraro E. The role of metabolic remodeling in macrophage polarization and its effect on skeletal muscle regeneration. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2018). doi: 10.1089/ars.2017.7420. [Epub ahead of print].
- Warburg O. On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science. (1956) 124:269-70. doi: 10.1126/science.124.3215.267
- Griffin JL, Shockcor JP. Metabolic profiles of cancer cells. Nat Rev Cancer. (2004) 4:551–61. doi: 10.1038/nrc1390
- Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science*. (2009) 324:1029–33. doi: 10.1126/science.1160809
- Butovsky O, Weiner HL. Microglial signatures and their role in health and disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2018) 19:622–35. doi: 10.1038/s41583-018-0057-5
- Gimeno-Bayón J, López-López A, Rodríguez MJ, Mahy N. Glucose pathways adaptation supports acquisition of activated microglia phenotype. *J Neurosci Res.* (2014) 92:723–31. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23356
- Vilalta A, Brown GC. Deoxyglucose prevents neurodegeneration in culture by eliminating microglia. J Neuroinflammation. (2014) 11:58. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-11-58
- Wang Q, Zhao Y, Sun M, Liu S, Li B, Zhang L, et al. 2-Deoxy-dglucose attenuates sevoflurane-induced neuroinflammation through nuclear factor-kappa B pathway *in vitro*. *Toxicol in Vitro*. (2014) 28:1183–9. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2014.05.006
- Quan Y, Jiang CT, Xue B, Zhu SG, Wang X. High glucose stimulates TNFα and MCP-1 expression in rat microglia via ROS and NF-κB pathways. *Acta Pharmacol Sin.* (2011) 32:188–93. doi: 10.1038/aps.2010.174
- Zhang X, Dong H, Zhang S, Lu S, Sun J, Qian Y. Enhancement of LPSinduced microglial inflammation response via TLR4 under high glucose conditions. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. (2015) 35:1571–81. doi: 10.1159/000373972
- Rubio-Araiz A, Finucane OM, Keogh S, Lynch MA. Anti-TLR2 antibody triggers oxidative phosphorylation in microglia and increases phagocytosis of β-amyloid. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2018) 15:247. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1281-7
- McIntosh A, Mela V, Harty C, Minogue AM, Costello DA, Kerskens C, et al. Iron accumulation in microglia triggers a cascade of events that leads to altered metabolism and compromised function in APP/PS1 mice. *Brain Pathol.* (2019) 29:606–21. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12704
- 62. Holland R, McIntosh AL, Finucane OM, Mela V, Rubio-Araiz A, Timmons G, et al. Inflammatory microglia are glycolytic and iron retentive and typify

the microglia in APP/PS1 mice. Brain Behav Immun. (2018) 68:183-96. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.10.017

- 63. Nair S, Sobotka KS, Joshi P, Gressens P, Fleiss B, Thornton C, et al. Lipopolysaccharide-induced alteration of mitochondrial morphology induces a metabolic shift in microglia modulating the inflammatory response *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Glia*. (2019) 67:1047–61. doi: 10.1002/glia.23587
- Westermann B. Bioenergetic role of mitochondrial fusion and fission. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2012) 1817:1833–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.02.033
- Park J, Choi H, Kim B, Chae U, Lee DG, Lee SR, et al. Peroxiredoxin 5 (Prx5) decreases LPS-induced microglial activation through regulation of Ca²⁺/calcineurin-Drp1-dependent mitochondrial fission. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2016) 99:392–404. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.08.030
- Wang Z, Jiang H, Chen S, Du F, Wang X. The mitochondrial phosphatase PGAM5 functions at the convergence point of multiple necrotic death pathways. *Cell.* (2012) 148:228–43. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.030
- De Simone R, Ajmone-Cat MA, Pandolfi M, Bernardo A, De Nuccio C, Minghetti L, et al. The mitochondrial uncoupling protein-2 is a master regulator of both M1 and M2 microglial responses. J Neurochem. (2015) 135:147–56. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13244
- Wright GJ, Cherwinski H, Foster-Cuevas M, Brooke G, Puklavec MJ, Bigler M, et al. Characterization of the CD200 receptor family in mice and humans and their interactions with CD200. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:3034–46. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.6.3034
- Kierdorf K, Prinz M. Factors regulating microglia activation. Front Cell Neurosci. (2013) 7:44. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2013.00044
- Labzin LI, Heneka MT, Latz E. Innate immunity and neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Med. (2018) 69:437–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-050715-104343
- Deczkowska A, Keren-Shaul H, Weiner A, Colonna M, Schwartz M, Amit I. Disease-associated microglia: a universal immune sensor of neurodegeneration. *Cell.* (2018) 173:1073–81. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.003
- Bisht K, Sharma KP, Lecours C, Sánchez MG, El Hajj H, Milior G, et al. Dark microglia: a new phenotype predominantly associated with pathological states. *Glia*. (2016) 64:826–39. doi: 10.1002/glia.22966
- Krasemann S, Madore C, Cialic R, Baufeld C, Calcagno N, El Fatimy R, et al. The TREM₂-APOE pathway drives the transcriptional phenotype of dysfunctional microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:566–81.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.008
- Keren-Shaul H, Spinrad A, Weiner A, Matcovitch-Natan O, Dvir-Szternfeld R, Ulland TK, et al. Unique microglia type associated with restricting development of Alzheimer's disease. *Cell.* (2017) 169:1276–90.e17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.018
- Cartier N, Lewis CA, Zhang R, Rossi FM. The role of microglia in human disease: therapeutic tool or target? *Acta Neuropathol.* (2014) 128:363–80. doi: 10.1007/s00401-014-1330-y
- Colonna M, Butovsky O. Microglia function in the central nervous system during health and neurodegeneration. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2017) 35:441– 68. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-051116-052358
- Prinz M, Priller J. The role of peripheral immune cells in the CNS in steady state and disease. *Nat Neurosci.* (2017) 20:136–44. doi: 10.1038/ nn.4475
- Baik SH, Kang S, Lee W, Choi H, Chung S, Kim J-IL et al. A breakdown in metabolic reprogramming causes microglia dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Cell Metab.* (2019) 30:493–507.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019. 06.005
- 79. Kroczynska B, Rafidi RL, Majchrzak-Kita B, Kosciuczuk EM, Blyth GT, Jemielity J, et al. Interferon γ (IFN γ) signaling via mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 2 (mTORC2) and regulatory effects in the generation of type II interferon biological responses. *J Biol Chem.* (2016) 291:2389–96. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.664995
- Cheng SC, Scicluna BP, Arts RJ, Gresnigt MS, Lachmandas E, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, et al. Broad defects in the energy metabolism of leukocytes underlie immunoparalysis in sepsis. *Nat Immunol.* (2016) 17:406–13. doi: 10.1038/ni.3398
- Guerreiro R, Wojtas A, Bras J, Carrasquillo M, Rogaeva E, Majounie E, et al. TREM2 variants in Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:117–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1211851

- Jonsson T, Stefansson H, Steinberg S, Jonsdottir I, Jonsson PV, Snaedal J, et al. Variant of TREM2 associated with the risk of Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. (2013) 368:107–16. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1211103
- Piers TM, Cosker K, Mallach A, Johnson GT, Guerreiro R, Hardy J, et al. A locked immunometabolic switch underlies TREM2 R47H loss of function in human iPSC-derived microglia. *FASEB J.* (2020) 34:2436–50. doi: 10.1096/fj.201902447R
- Varnum MM, Ikezu T. The classification of microglial activation phenotypes on neurodegeneration and regeneration in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp.* (2012) 60:251–66. doi: 10.1007/s00005-012-0181-2
- Wang H, Guo W, Liu H, Zeng R, Lu M, Chen Z, et al. Inhibition of inflammatory mediator release from microglia can treat ischemic/hypoxic brain injury. *Neural Regen Res.* (2013) 8:1157–68. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-5374.2013.13.001
- Suenaga J, Hu X, Pu H, Shi Y, Hassan SH, Hassan SH, et al. White matter injury and microglia/macrophage polarization are strongly linked with agerelated long-term deficits in neurological function after stroke. *Exp Neurol.* (2015) 272:109–19. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.03.021
- Fumagalli S, Perego C, Pischiutta F, Zanier ER, De Simoni MG. The ischemic environment drives microglia and macrophage function. *Front Neurol.* (2015) 8:6–81. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2015.00081
- Ma Y, Wang J, Wang Y, Yang GY. The biphasic function of microglia in ischemic stroke. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2017) 157:247–72. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2016.01.005
- Schroeter M, Jander S, Huitinga I, Witte OW, Stoll G. Phagocytic response in photochemically induced infarction of rat cerebral cortex. *Stroke*. (1997) 28:382–6. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.28.2.382
- Perego C, Fumagalli S, De Simoni MG. Temporal pattern of expression and colocalization of microglia/macrophage phenotype markers following brain ischemic injury in mice. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2011) 8:174. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-174
- Kriz J. Inflammation in ischemic brain injury: timing is important. Crit Rev Neurobiol. (2006) 18:145–57. doi: 10.1615/CritRevNeurobiol.v18.i1-2.150
- Ceulemans AG, Zgavc T, Kooijman R, Hachimi-Idrissi S, Sarre S, Michotte Y. The dual role of the neuroinflammatory response after ischemic stroke: modulatory effects of hypothermia. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2010) 7:74. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-7-74
- 93. Jin AY, Tuor UI, Rushforth D, Kaur J, Muller RN, Petterson JL, et al. Reduced blood brain barrier breakdown in P-selectin deficient mice following transient ischemic stroke: a future therapeutic target for treatment of stroke. *BMC Neurosci.* (2010) 11:12. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-11-12
- Grønberg NV, Johansen FF, Kristiansen U, Hasseldam H. Leukocyte infiltration in experimental stroke. J Neuroinflammation. (2013) 10:115. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-115
- Morrison HW, Filosa JA. A quantitative spatiotemporal analysis of microglia morphology during ischemic stroke and reperfusion. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2013) 10:4. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-4
- 96. Rahman M, Muhammad S, Khan MA, Chen H, Ridder DA, Müller-Fielitz H, et al. The β -hydroxybutyrate receptor HCA2 activates a neuroprotective subset of macrophages. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3944. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4944
- Cherry JD, Olschowka JA, O'Banion MK. Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: the good, the bad, and the inflamed. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2014) 11:98. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-11-98
- Iadecola C, Anrather J. The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:796–808. doi: 10.1038/nm.2399
- Cipriani R, Villa P, Chece G, Lauro C, Paladini A, Micotti E, et al. CX3CL1 is neuroprotective in permanent focal cerebral ischemia in rodents. *J Neurosci.* (2011) 31:16327–35. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3611-11.2011
- Beal MF. Metabolic disorders and neurotoxicology. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (1995) 8:467–8. doi: 10.1097/00019052-199512000-00013
- Bergsneider M, Hovda DA, Shalmon E, Kelly DF, Vespa PM, Martin NA, et al. Cerebral hyperglycolysis following severe traumatic brain injury in humans: a positron emission tomography study. *J Neurosurg.* (1997) 86:241–51. doi: 10.3171/jns.1997.86.2.0241
- 102. Ding F, Yao J, Rettberg JR, Chen S, Brinton RD. Early decline in glucose transport and metabolism precedes shift to ketogenic system in female aging

and Alzheimer's mouse brain: implication for bioenergetic intervention. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e79977. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079977

- Dusick JR, Glenn TC, Lee WN, Vespa PM, Kelly DF, Lee SM, et al. Increased pentose phosphate pathway flux after clinical traumatic brain injury: a [1,2-13C2]glucose labeling study in humans. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. (2007) 27:1593–602. doi: 10.1038/sj.jcbfm.9600458
- 104. Orth M, Schapira AH. Mitochondrial involvement in Parkinson's disease. Neurochem Int. (2002) 40:533–41. doi: 10.1016/S0197-0186(01)00124-3
- Robbins NM, Swanson RA. Opposing effects of glucose on stroke and reperfusion injury: acidosis, oxidative stress, and energy metabolism. *Stroke*. (2014) 45:1881–6. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.004889
- Hotamisligil GS. Inflammation and metabolic disorders. Nature. (2006) 444:860–7. doi: 10.1038/nature05485
- 107. Durafourt BA, Moore CS, Zammit DA, Johnson TA, Zaguia F, Guiot MC, et al. Comparison of polarization properties of human adult microglia

and blood-derived macrophages. Glia. (2012) 60:717-27. doi: 10.1002/glia. 22298

 Smith AM, Dragunow M. The human side of microglia. *Trends Neurosci.* (2014) 37:125–35. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.12.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lauro and Limatola. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Multifaceted Function of Granzymes in Sepsis: Some Facts and a Lot to Discover

Marcela Garzón-Tituaña ^{1†}, Maykel A. Arias ^{2†}, José L. Sierra-Monzón ^{1,3}, Elena Morte-Romea ^{1,3}, Llipsy Santiago ¹, Ariel Ramirez-Labrada ⁴, Luis Martinez-Lostao ^{1,3,5}, José R. Paño-Pardo ^{1,3}, Eva M. Galvez ² and Julián Pardo ^{1,5,6,7,8*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Velotti, University of Tuscia, Italy

Reviewed by:

David J. Granville, University of British Columbia, Canada Vanessa Pinho, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Julián Pardo pardojim@unizar.es

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 11 March 2020 Accepted: 30 April 2020 Published: 17 June 2020

Citation:

Garzón-Tituaña M, Arias MA, Sierra-Monzón JL, Morte-Romea E, Santiago L, Ramirez-Labrada A, Martinez-Lostao L, Paño-Pardo JR, Galvez EM and Pardo J (2020) The Multifaceted Function of Granzymes in Sepsis: Some Facts and a Lot to Discover. Front. Immunol. 11:1054. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01054 ¹ Fundación Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón (IIS Aragón), Biomedical Research Centre of Aragón (CIBA), Zaragoza, Spain, ² Instituto de Carboquímica ICB-CSIC, Zaragoza, Spain, ³ Hospital Clínico Universitario Lozano Blesa, Zaragoza, Spain, ⁴ Nanotoxicology and Immunotoxicology Unit (UNATI), Fundación Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Aragón (IIS Aragón), Zaragoza, Spain, ⁵ Nanoscience Institute of Aragon (INA), University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain, ⁶ Aragon I + D Foundation (ARAID), Zaragoza, Spain, ⁷ Department of Biochemistry and Molecular and Cell Biology and Department of Microbiology, Preventive Medicine and Public Health, University of Zaragoza, Zaragoza, Spain, ⁸ Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Bioingeniería, Biomateriales y Nanomedicina (CIBER-BBN), Madrid, Spain

Sepsis is a serious global health problem. In addition to a high incidence, this syndrome has a high mortality and is responsible for huge health expenditure. The pathophysiology of sepsis is very complex and it is not well-understood yet. However, it is widely accepted that the initial phase of sepsis is characterized by a hyperinflammatory response while the late phase is characterized by immunosuppression and immune anergy, increasing the risk of secondary infections. Granzymes (Gzms) are a family of serine proteases classified according to their cleavage specificity. Traditionally, it was assumed that all Gzms acted as cytotoxic proteases. However, recent evidence suggests that GzmB is the one with the greatest cytotoxic capacity, while the cytotoxicity of others such as GzmA and GzmK is not clear. Recent studies have found that GzmA, GzmB, GzmK, and GzmM act as pro-inflammatory mediators. Specially, solid evidences show that GzmA and GzmK function as extracellular proteases that regulate the inflammatory response irrespectively of its ability to induce cell death. Indeed, studies in animal models indicate that GzmA is involved in the cytokine release syndrome characteristic of sepsis. Moreover, the GZM family also could regulate other biological processes involved in sepsis pathophysiology like the coagulation cascade, platelet function, endothelial barrier permeability, and, in addition, could be involved in the immunosuppressive stage of sepsis. In this review, we provide a comprehensive overview on the contribution of these novel functions of Gzms to sepsis and the new therapeutic opportunities emerging from targeting these proteases for the treatment of this serious health problem.

Keywords: sepsis, inflammatory cytokine, granzymes, coagulopathy, endothelial (dys)function, immunosuppression

31

INTRODUCTION

The immune system is the most important line of defense against pathogens. The immune response to infection is initiated after the recognition of pathogen derived molecules known as Pathogen Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) by specific receptors known as PAMP receptors. This process triggers the production of inflammatory, angiogenic, and chemotactic factors involved in the activation of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms leading to pathogen clearance, tissue repair, and resolution of the inflammatory response. However, if not properly regulated, inflammation may act as a double-edged sword that can trigger serious complications like sepsis. This syndrome is an important health problem, defined as "a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection" (1). Recent epidemiological studies estimate an annual incidence of 48.9 million sepsis cases with 11 million sepsis-related deaths representing 20% of all global deaths (2).

The pathophysiology of sepsis is very complex and it is not well-understood yet. Simultaneous and interrelated inflammatory and anti-inflammatory responses are developed (3, 4), although it is widely accepted that the initial phase of sepsis is characterized by a hyperinflammatory response while the late phase is characterized by immunosuppression and immune anergy that increases the risk of other opportunistic infections, specially bacterial and fungal. These opposite reactions hamper the development of effective treatments to reduce the inflammatory damage, and, at the same time, do not increase the risk or even help to prevent secondary infections. Indeed, most experimental trials to reduce the inflammatory response with general or specific anti-inflammatory molecules targeting PAMPs like endotoxin, PAMPRs like TLR4, complement, cytokines, or coagulation factors have not positively impacted on patient survival (5).

The reasons for the low efficacy of anti-inflammatory therapy are not clear since reduction of tissue damage and coagulation syndrome together with an effective antimicrobial therapy should be beneficial to improve disease outcome. One reason could be that anti-inflammatory therapy might reduce host pathogen clearance due to inhibition of inflammatory pathways important for the protective immune response against the infection responsible of sepsis (5). In addition, it is not clear yet whether the anti-inflammatory therapies tested up to now are able to prevent immunosuppression and anergy during sepsis. Thus, although molecules involved in exacerbated inflammation and coagulation like inflammatory cytokines (i.e., IL6, IL1, TNFa) have shown a good prognostic value for sepsis progression and severity, targets to regulate inflammation without compromising host immune response against the sepsis-inducing pathogen or against secondary infections have not been found yet. Recently, some members of a family of serine-proteases named granzymes (Gzms), that are expressed by immune and non-immune cells (6), have been found in extracellular human fluids of different inflammatory disorders like sepsis. In addition, they have been found to regulate the inflammatory response in vitro and in vivo during different inflammatory disorders related to infections like sepsis.

The granule exocytosis pathway is a specialized form of intracellular protein delivery by which lymphocytes release perforin and Gzms. Perforin exerts its action allowing the passage of granzymes into the cytosol of target cells to carry out their effector functions, including cytotoxic and noncytotoxic functions (7). On the other hand, Gzms can be released into the extracellular milieu where they will exert some extracellular functions including regulation of inflammation, pathogen inactivation, or extracellular matrix remodeling (6, 8). Gzms are a family of serine proteases classified according to their cleavage specificity. Five Gzms in humans (A, B, H, K, and M) and 10 in mice (A, B, C, D, E, F, G, K, M, and N) have been described. GzmA and GzmB are the most abundant and best characterized (6). Traditionally, it was assumed that all Gzms acted as cytotoxic proteases. However, recent evidence suggests that intracellulary-delivered GzmB is the one with the greatest cytotoxic capacity, while the cytotoxicity of others such as GzmA and GzmK is in controversy (7, 9-13). A recent study has shown that GzmA might mediate pyroptotic cell death in human and mouse tumor cells (14), although the relevance of this finding needs to be confirmed in different experimental models, since it has been previously reported that the cytotoxic potential of intracellulary-delivered GzmA might differ between mouse and human (15). Regarding human GzmH, a few studies have shown that it can induce cell death and inactivate viral proteins (7). However, at present there is not any study correlating GzmH with the regulation of the inflammatory response or sepsis, and, thus, GzmH will not be further discussed in this review.

Recent studies have found that GzmA, GzmB, GzmK, and GzmM act as pro-inflammatory mediators and could be involved in the pathophysiology of sepsis (7, 10–12) (**Table 1** and **Figure 1**). Thus, a detailed study of Gzms in different sepsis models as well as in patients undergoing different types of sepsis might provide new prognostic factors and therapeutic targets to overcome some of the limitations observed for other inflammation-related targets. This hypothesis is supported by different previous experimental findings indicating that deficiency in any single Gzm does not significantly reduce pathogen clearance, and, thus, their inhibition during sepsis would reduce inflammation without compromising host antipathogen immunity (6).

In this review, we will present the available evidence in animal models and humans that suggests that Gzms might have a relevant role in sepsis pathophysiology. In addition, we will discuss the potential advantages of using Gzms as therapeutic targets to reduce organ damage without compromising pathogen clearance and to prevent immunosuppression-associated secondary infections. Since novel functions of Gzms, non-related with its ability to induce cell death, have emerged in the last years, we will focus on the potential impact of these non-cytotoxic functions in the pathophysiology of sepsis. Some of them are originated in in vitro studies in non-sepsis models. However, since several of these non-cytotoxic functions (explained in more detail in the following sections) form part of the pathophysiology of sepsis, we think that it will be useful to discuss its potential impact on sepsis, indicating when appropriate the needed to specifically confirm their relevance in sepsis.

GRANZYMES ARE ELEVATED IN PATIENTS SUFFERING FROM SEPSIS

Some studies have analyzed the presence of soluble Gzms in fluids from patients suffering from sepsis. These data show an increase in cellular and serum levels of some Gzms like GzmA, GzmB, and GzmK. Increased levels of GzmA and GzmB have been found in patients with severe gram negative bacterial infections as well as in healthy volunteers with an experimental endotoxemia with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (31). GzmM and GzmK were also found in serum from volunteers with experimental endotoxemia (32) and GzmM was also elevated in serum from meningococcal

inzyme Species ubstrate pecificity		Cell type	Effect	Receptor involved	References	
GzmA Tryptase _ys, Arg	Н	Monocytes	Induce expression of IL-6, IL-8, and TNF- α	-	(16)	
, , ,		Monocytes	Induce expression of IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α	Inflammasomes/caspase-1	(17)	
		Monocytes	Induce expression of IL-8 and MCP-1	Inflammasomes/caspase-1 TLR4	(18)	
		Monocytes	Inactive gzmA potentiates the effect of LPS	TLR	(19)	
		Lung Fibroblast	Induce expression of IL-6 and IL-8	-	(20)	
		Intestinal Fibroblast	Induce expression of IL-6 and IL-8	-		
		Skin fibroblast	Induce expression of IL-8	-		
		Intestinal epithelial cells	Induce expression of IL-6 and IL-8	-		
	m	Neurons	Neurite retraction	PAR-1	(21)	
		Macrophages	Induce expression of IL-1 β	-	(17)	
		Dendritic cells	Induce IFN-α and cell maturation	TLR-9	(22)	
GzmB Aspartase Asp	Н	Neurons	Neurotoxicity	PAR-1	(23)	
		Smooth muscle cells	Cell death		(24)	
	m	Endothelial cells	Cell death	-	(25)	
		Endothelial cells	Disruptions of endothelial cell layer integrity by degrading proteins involved in tight junctions (Zonulin-1, PECAM, JAM, or cadherins)	-	(26)	
GzmK Lys, Arg	Н	Lung fibroblast	Induce the expression of IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1	PAR-1	(27)	
		Endothelial cells	Induce the expression of IL-6 and MCP-1	PAR-1	(28)	
	m	Macrophages	Induce expression of IL-1 β	-	(29)	
AzmM ^b Netase Net	Н	Endothelial cells	Cleaves vWF and avoid plasma FVIII activation	-	(30)	
àzmC-G Chymase Phe	m	-	-	-		
AzmH Chymase Phe	h	_	-	-		

m, mouse; h, human; PAR, protease activated receptor; TLR, Toll like receptor. ^b Extracellular GzmM cleaves vWF, releasing it from endothelial cell membrane and regulating its procoagulatory activity.



FIGURE 1 The potential contribution of the non-cytotoxic functions of granzymes to the pathophysiology of sepsis. Gzms can be released to the extracelular millieu by different cell types including NK cells, T cells, mast cells, platelets, or other cells stimulated by molecules presented in pathogens (fungal, bacterial, or viral PAMPs) or released by damaged cells (DAMPs) during sepsis. There different Gzms could contribute to different alterations found during sepsis like the inflammatory cytokine storm, blood clotting, cardiovascular disorders (coagulation and endotelial permeability), or immunosuppresion as described in the text. Abbreviations: Breg, regulatory B cell; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cell; NK, natural killer; Tc, cytotoxic T cell; Th1, type 1 T helper cell; Treg, regulatory T cell; VWF, Von Willebrand factor; proUK, prourokinase; Fn, fibrin.

sepsis (30). In contrast, GzmA levels were reduced in plasma during sepsis in burned patients (33). This result suggests that the level of GzmA in septic patients might depend on the underlying cause of sepsis. Supporting this hypothesis, Wensink et al. also showed that the release of GzmK and GzmM from human peripheral blood lymphocytes depended on the bacteria used for the stimulation (32). GzmK has also been found in the plasma of patients with sepsis as well as in bronchioalveolar fluid of patients with viral pneumonia (34, 35). However, the clinical significance of all these observations remains unknown.

A key question to understand the potential significance of soluble Gzms in sepsis is the regulation of its activity at the extracellular milieu. Like other proteases intracellular and extracellular Gzms might be tightly regulated to avoid unregulated proteolysis and cell/tissue damage. The main natural inhibitors that control Gzm activity are members of the Serpin (Serineprotease inhibitor) family. Different serpins have been found to inhibit extracellular Gzms like Inter-alpha-trypsin inhibitors (IaIs) (GzmA and GzmK), antithrombin III (GzmA), or bikunin (GzmK) (36). Thus, if extracellular Gzms are expected to play any role during sepsis it should be expected that they are not counteract by those inhibitors. Confirming this hypothesis and supporting a role for extracellular Gzms in sepsis it has been described that the levels of these inhibitors in plasma are reduced during sepsis. Indeed its concentration inversely correlated with mortality (37, 38).

Regarding the clinical utility of Gzms in sepsis prognosis, it was found that increased levels of GzmA and GzmB in $CD8^+T$ cells were associated with a worse prognosis in severe sepsis patients (39). Pending of validating the clinical significance of the presence of soluble Gzms in septic patients, studies in animal models *in vivo* indicate a key role for some Gzms like GzmA and GzmM in inflammation and sepsis. GzmA deficiency has been shown to protect against LPS-induced endotoxicosis (17, 40) as well as against sepsis induced by different bacterial pathogens including gram negative *Brucella microti* (41) or gram positive *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (42). These results suggest that the involvement of GzmA in sepsis is not related with Gram bacterial characteristics. Similarly, GzmM deficiency protects against LPSinduced endotoxicosis (40). In contrast, GzmB deficiency did not affect LPS-induced endotoxicosis (17, 40) or bacterialinduced sepsis (41). Importantly, increased survival in GzmA or GzmM deficient mice correlated with a reduction of the cytokine storm as measured by the levels of inflammatory cytokines in serum, organ damage, and coagulation activity confirming amelioration of the main sepsis pathological consequences. The course of sepsis in GzmK deficient mice remains to be elucidated.

The activity of Gzms during infectious diseases and sepsis seems to differ between anatomical site as well as the type of pathogen involved. For instance, a study showed that there was low level of GzmA in peritoneal lavage fluid of healthy mice while this level increased overtime during sepsis induced by E. coli (43). On the other hand, in a pneumonia-induced sepsis using a gram positive bacteria (Streptococcus pneumoniae) model the opposite was found (42). Here a small remark between the differences found in the pathophysiology of sepsis induced by gram negative and gram positive bacteria should be included. The onset and severity of sepsis may be defined by the molecular pathway involved in the activation of the immune system and the cytokines that can be induced in each case, both of which depend on the PAMPs expressed by the pathogen. Traditionally, the main responsible pathogens of sepsis have been considered gram negative bacteria. Nevertheless, it has been reported that gram positive bacteria are responsible for an ever-increasing number of septic events and have become the most frequent cause of sepsis, matching or even exceeding the sepsis caused by gram negative bacteria (44). It is known that the main receptors involved in the recognition of gram positive and negative bacteria are TLRs 2 and 4, respectively. This may be helpful for future studies and developments of sepsis treatments (44) and might help to explain the differences found regarding GzmA. For instance, a higher expression of IL-1β and IL-18 may indicate that the infection is due to a gram + bacteria while IL-6 and TNF would have a higher expression in gram negative infections (44). Indeed, GzmA has been found to produce very high levels of IL6 and TNF (Santiago et al. Cell Reports, Under review).

The inflammatory effect of GzmA does not seem to regulate bacterial control as GzmA deficient mice efficiently control infections like *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, *Brucella microti*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, or *Escherichia coli* (6). Based on these experimental evidences it could be hypothesized that by targeting GzmA, bacteria-associated sepsis could be ameliorated without compromising the ability of the immune system to control infection. Thus, these findings open the opportunity to treat sepsis without causing immunosuppression and provide a new opportunity to overcome some of the limitations of other inflammatory targets unsuccessfully tested in clinical trials up to now.

WHICH COULD BE THE MECHANISMS BEHIND THE INFLAMMATORY ACTION OF Gzms IN SEPSIS?

Several biological functions of Gzms that could contribute to the different alterations found in sepsis have been described. Mainly those related with the regulation of inflammatory responses, the coagulation cascade, and changes in vascular permeability (summarized in **Figure 1**). In this section we will describe the mechanisms activated by Gzms that could potentially contribute to the pathophysiology of sepsis with a special focus on the hyperinflammatory stage.

Regulation of Inflammatory Cytokine Networks and Cytokine Storm

The hyperinflammatory response in sepsis is characterized by high levels of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-1β, IL-1α, IL-18, IL-17, TNFα, IL-6, MIF, HMGB1, IL-10, IL-4, and IL-13 (3, 45). This stage is also characterized by coagulation disorders, interstitial edema, hypotension, reduced perfusion, tissue hypoxia, mitochondrial dysfunction, and cell death (3, 4). It has been shown that extracellular GzmA is able to induce the production of different inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , TNF- α IL-6, or IL-8 in both mouse and human cells like monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells (17, 20) (Table 1) which might contribute to the cytokine storm observed during sepsis. Indeed, most cytokines are reduced in GzmA deficient mice suffering from sepsis as indicated above. One of the first described substrates for GzmA is pro-interleukin 1 β (pro IL-1 β), which after removal of the N-terminal part, generates the active inflammatory form IL-1β (46). However, direct cleavage of proIL1ß and activation of IL1ß has not been subsequently confirmed by different authors. Alternatively it has been reported that GzmA regulate the generation of inflammatory cytokines in human monocytes by caspase-1 and TLR4 dependent pathways (17, 18). Some other studies have reported that mouse GzmA is able to activate PAR1, a member of the Protease Activated Receptor (PAR) family, in mouse neurons (21). Since PARs are involved in platelet activation and thrombosis it could be suggested that PARs are involved in GzmA-mediated inflammation and coagulation alterations. However, as discussed below, the roles of PAR1 and 2 in sepsis are not clear yet and thus, in vivo extrapolation of all these results generated in vitro should be done with caution (47).

Alternatively, GzmA has been proposed to potentiate the effects of LPS on human monocytes by a mechanism dependent on TLR4 (19). Here authors showed that enzyme activity was not required for this effect, albeit the underlying mechanism was not clarified. This result contradicts previous findings that showed that human inactive GzmA was not able to induce the production of inflammatory cytokines in human monocytes (17). In addition, it has been shown that the inflammatory activity of mouse GzmA *in vivo* is significantly affected when GzmA inactivated with an inhibitor is used (48). The reasons for this discrepancy are not clear yet and will require further investigation.
GzmK displays a tryptase-like activity similar, but not identical (49, 50) to GzmA, and it might also induce the production of proinflammatory cytokines (**Table 1**). Nanomolar concentrations of GzmK induce the maturation and secretion of IL-1 β suggesting that GzmK may augment GzmA-induced proinflammatory processes by differentially cleaving the same or different specific substrates (29). GzmK has also been found to activate PAR-1 in endothelial and fibroblast cells and to induce the generation of inflammatory cytokines (27, 28). However, as indicated above, its role in sepsis remains to be elucidated. Finally, as it has been previously discussed, GzmM is involved in endotoxicosis (40) although it is not known if GzmM is able to directly modulate inflammation on target cells (51).

The Coagulation Cascade

Systemic inflammation activates coagulation and inhibits anticoagulant and fibrinolytic mechanisms which leads to a dysregulated procoagulant state (52). The tissue factor (TF), expressed in monocytes and microparticles from living or apoptotic cells, is the responsible of the coagulation cascade activating factor VII forming the FT/VIIa complex which activates complexes IX and X. All of these play an important role in platelet activation (53, 54). TF is the main initiator of in vivo coagulation and it is not expressed in circulation under healthy conditions. Nevertheless, under inflammatory conditions, TF is expressed in endothelial and fibroblast cells and released to the circulatory system due to the action of proinflammatory cytokines, C reactive protein, and final products of advanced glycation (55-57). GzmA and GzmK could contribute to enhanced activation of the coagulation cascade in sepsis by generating cytokines involved in endothelial cell activation and coagulation like TNF- α or IL6 (58–60). GzmB is able to enhance the proinflammatory activity of IL-1 α by proteolytic cleavage (61), although as indicated above, GzmB deficiency does not protect from sepsis.

Gzms can also modulate the coagulation cascade irrespectively of its ability to induce inflammatory cytokines. It has been reported that GzmB and GzmM can degrade coagulationrelated substrates such as Von Willebrand factor (VWF) (30) or fibrinogen (only GzmB) (62). VWF is a homeostatic plasma protein that promotes platelet adhesion. Furthermore, VWF stabilizes coagulation factor VIII (FVIII) in plasma protecting it from proteolytic degradation and prolonging FVIII halflife. In septic patients, increased levels of VWF have been reported, so this protein could be a link between inflammation and thrombosis (63). VWF is regulated by the metalloprotease ADAMTS13, which specifically cleaves VWF in its A2 domain (64). It has been reported that GzmB and GzmM could mimic the action of ADAMTS13 by cleaving VWF regulating its adhesive function and preventing its binding to FVIII although did not affect platelet aggregation (30, 62). If these processes are relevant in vivo during sepsis, GzmB and GzmM would be expected to attenuate coagulation, preventing systemic coagulation and organ failure. This would explain why GzmB deficiency does not protect from sepsis, but would not explain the increased resistance of GzmM deficient mice to endotoxicosis and the reduced coagulation activity observed in these mice. It should be expected that VWF lost procoagulatory activity after cleavage and, thus, GzmM would protect from systemic coagulation disorders. A similar paradox has been found for GzmA. GzmA has been found to activate pro-urokinase, an enzyme that presents anticoagulant activity (65). However, the detrimental role of GzmA in sepsis has been confirmed by several independent groups, suggesting that the *in vitro* function of Gzms in regulating proteins involved in coagulation might not be relevant during sepsis *in vivo*. However, this hypothesis should be clarified by analyzing specifically the role of Gzms in regulating the coagulation system *in vivo*.

Regulation of Platelet Function

Platelets also play an important role in sepsis pathophysiology since the presence of thrombocytopenia is frequent in these patients. The role of platelets in sepsis is very complex as they can contribute to sepsis pathophysiology at different levels beyond regulation of haemostasis (66). Platelets can be directly activated by endotoxins, proinflammatory cytokines, or proteases such as thrombin (52, 67, 68). They contribute to the generation of inflammatory responses and, among other mediators, it has been shown that platelets can express GzmA and GzmB (18, 69, 70). Platelets can form clots on the endothelial damaged surface which produces elevated levels of VWF which is used as a marker for endothelial damage. It has been reported that the presence of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, and TNF-a (all of them induced by GzmA) are capable of induce the liberation of large VWF multimers that is a potent platelet aggregator. In septic patients, it has been observed elevated levels of VWF antigen which is related to a poor sickness prognosis (71). Here, as indicated above, since GzmB and GzmM have been found to cleave VWF and interfere with its procoagulant activity, it is tempting to speculate that these Gzms might have regulatory activities to prevent excessive VWF activity and clotting.

Curiously, GzmA was found to interact with the thrombin receptor (PAR1) in platelets and block thrombin-mediated responses (72). Although this interaction was not sufficient to induce *per se* platelet activation and aggregation, it might be possible that it can potentiate the effect of other ligands like endotoxin, a suggestion that has not been experimentally validated.

More recently it has been shown that during aging human platelets acquire GzmA expression which contributes to the generation of proinflammatory cytokines in monocytes (18). In light of these recent findings it will be interesting to analyse if Gzm expression is increased in older patients suffering from sepsis and its correlation with disease severity. Finally, as it will be discussed in the next section, it has been found that GzmB is expressed in platelets during sepsis using a mouse polymicrobial peritoneal sepsis model and might contribute to some of the alterations in vascular biology observed during sepsis (70).

Endothelial Barrier Permeability: Any Role for Protease Activating Receptors (PARs)?

The fluid redistribution to the extravascular space observed during sepsis is a consequence of an increase in the endothelial permeability or of the barrier function loss. Previous studies suggest that the change in the membrane permeability is a consequence of the enzymatic cleavage of intercellular junction proteins, which results in a structural damage of endothelial cells. *In vivo* and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated that TNF- α is one of the responsible cytokines of this disorder and also that thrombin could potentiate them (73). Since some Gzms like GzmA and GzmM seem to be inflammatory mediators responsible of the detrimental effects of LPS in sepsis, including TNF- α production, they also could contribute to altered endothelial permeability.

The link between coagulation and inflammation has shown that the family of PARs play an important role because various proteases activated in the coagulation cascade will induce inflammation through PAR receptors. Activation of these receptors in endothelial cells critically contributes to the regulation of endothelial permeability. This family consists of four members, PAR-1,-2,-3,-4, that are expressed in cells present in the vasculature such as endothelial cells, monocytes, macrophages, platelets, fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells. PAR-1 is activated by thrombin, FXa (Activated factor X), trypsin and APC (Activated Protein C). It has also been reported that GzmA, B, and K are able to activate PAR1 in different cell types (21, 23, 27, 28). In contrast, PAR-2,-3 or-4 have not been found to be activated by any Gzm, albeit PAR2 participation in colitis has been indirectly proposed (74). Here it should be noted that neither activation of PAR2 by GzmA nor GzmA contribution to colitis were analyzed in the later study. Thus, it is not clear yet if PAR2 is activated by GzmA and the role of PAR2 in GzmAmediated cytokine induction. A recent study found that a PAR-2 inhibitor (I-343) inhibited foot swelling induced by in vivo administration of GzmA (48). This result suggests that PAR-2 could be directly or indirectly involved in some of the biological functions of GzmA, but its specific role in the regulation of GzmA-mediated inflammatory cytokine production will require further experimental validation.

Despite the role of PAR-1 and 2 in the regulation of vascular biology and endothelial cell activation, its contribution to the pathophysiology of sepsis is complex and not completely clarified (47). Some data suggest that multiple activation of PAR receptors by coagulation proteases may contribute to inflammation in endotoxemia and in sepsis (75). However, it was found that PAR1 and/or PAR2 deficiency neither reduce the inflammatory response nor increase survival in a mouse model of endotoxemia, indicating that PAR1 and PAR2 are dispensable for LPS-induced sepsis (76, 77). In a later study, using PAR antagonists in wild type mice, it was shown that the role of PAR1 and PAR2 in sepsis is reversal, being detrimental in the early phase of sepsis and beneficial in later stages and thus, the net balance of PAR deficiency during sepsis was indistinguishable between wild type and PAR deficient mice (78). In contrast to PARs deficient mice, GzmA deficient mice are protected from endotoxemia and sepsis and, thus, PAR1 and 2 should not play an important role in GzmA-induced inflammation during sepsis.

PARs are expressed by a variety of cells and the function in each cell type might differ, which would explain the differences between the *in vitro* and the *in vivo* observations regarding PAR-1, GzmA, and sepsis. GzmA has been shown to activate PAR1 in neurons (21), but not in platelets (72) or monocytes (16). We have found that albeit a PAR-1 inhibitor, Vorapaxar, reduced IL6 production in mouse macrophages stimulated with GzmA, the protease was able to induce the same level of IL6 in macrophages from wt or PAR1 deficient mice (Santiago et al. Cell Reports, Accepted), indicating that PAR1 is dispensable for GzmA-induced inflammation in macrophages. This apparent contradictory result might be explained by the potential unspecific effects of Vorapaxar including toxicity (79). Whatever it is, it supports the previous findings suggesting that PAR1 is not activated by GzmA in platelets or monocytes (16, 72). In addition, it should be taken into account that even PAR1 could be activated inflammation should be validated by using adequate inhibitors or genetic deficient cell models (KO or siRNA).

Regarding PAR-3 and -4, although they can be activated by thrombin and other proteases its role during sepsis has not been confirmed yet (80) and in addition there is not any evidence relating Gzms and them.

It seems that in light of the different results pointing to a complex regulation of PARs during sepsis, the involvement of PARs in the detrimental effects of GzmA on vascular permeability during sepsis will require further clarification and specific experimental validation.

Endothelial Barrier Permeability: Extracellular Matrix Degradation, Matrikines and More

In addition to inflammatory cytokines and direct endothelial cell activation, other factors involved in the maintenance of vascular permeability could contribute to the loss of endothelial barrier function during sepsis. Some of these biological processes have been shown to be activated by Gzms *in vitro* like extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation, generation of products from ECM degradation with biological activity (matrikines) or killing of endothelial and smooth muscle cells (**Table 1**). Although the involvement of these processes in the mechanisms activated by Gzms during sepsis has not been directly analyzed, we would like to speculate on the potential implications of some of them.

Although GzmB deficiency does not increase survival during endotoxemia (40) or bacterial sepsis (41, 81), some of the biological functions of this protease might contribute to some of the vascular alterations observed in sepsis. For example, it has been shown that extracellular GzmB is able to directly kill cells involved in the maintenance of vascular architecture like endothelial and smooth muscle cells (25).

Gzm B Induces Smooth Muscle Cell Apoptosis in the Absence of Perforin. This process is based in its ability to induce ECM degradation and cell detachment (82, 83), which might activate cell death by anoikis (26, 82). Alternatively GzmB could disrupt endothelial cell barrier integrity by degrading proteins involved in tight junctions like Zonulin-1, PECAM, JAM, or Cadherins as previously shown (26). Later on it was found a role for GzmB in VE-cadherin cleavage and endothelial permeability *in vitro* and *in vivo* (84). In addition, ECM degradation by GzmB has been shown to release vascular endothelial growth factor which could affect vascular permeability (85). GzmB has also been found to affect wound healing, which was related to the ability of this protease to degrade fibronectin (86). Last but not least, it has been reported that GzmB may act on some of components of the EC involved in fibrillogenesis such as fibrillin-1 or decorin, increasing vascular permeability (87, 88), one of the most important pathological events that occur in sepsis.

Among other cell sources, platelets (70) and mast cells (26) have been found to express GzmB, but not perforin or GzmA, and thus, these cells could be the source of extracellular GzmB leading to its detrimental functions related with ECM degradation. In addition, it was found that GzmB of CD8⁺T and NK cells could modulate endothelial cell permeability and immune cells transmigration as a mechanism involved in host protection against viral infections (89). NK cells have been involved in sepsis (90, 91) and thus unregulated NK cells responses leading to a high release of GzmB due to PAMP-induced activation of NK cell receptors could transform a physiological protective mechanism into a pathological insult affecting endothelial cell permeability.

We would like to reiterate that the roles of GzmB in coagulation or in vascular permeability have not been studied yet in the context of a septic response and thus, all these hypotheses will require experimental validation.

Regarding GzmA, this protease can also degrade some proteins of the ECM like fibronectin or collagen IV (92, 93) and also could be released by NK cells during sepsis (41), although the biological functions of these processes remain unexplored.

GRANZYMES AT THE IMMUNOSUPPRESSIVE EDGE

With the improvement of intensive care services, the majority of patients with sepsis are able to survive the hyperinflammatory phase but enter a prolonged immunosuppression stage that has been called "immunoparalysis" in which they will be susceptible to secondary infections (94).

In the late stages of sepsis, murine studies reveal a relatively constant balance in proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines, although with a smaller magnitude when compared to the acute phase. One of the key features of immunosuppression in sepsis is the state of cellular anergy that can begin to occur even in the early stages of the disease (3, 95, 96). This immunosuppression stage is characterized by a decrease in antigen presentation, alteration in the expression of costimulatory molecules, and changes in lymphocytes populations. Here some experimental evidences acquired in different disease models suggest that some Gzms might also contribute to the different alterations leading to immunosuppression.

One of the causes of anergy is the decrease in antigen presentation and dendritic cell maturation leading to impaired protective cellular responses (97, 98). The function (expression for HLA-II and co-stimulatory molecules) and number of several antigen presenting cells has been found to be compromised in sepsis correlating with reduced survival like dendritic cells or monocytes (99–103). These alterations contribute to changes in the cytokine profiles and alterations in lymphocyte populations.

Although a direct impact of Gzms on antigen cell presentation has not been reported, GzmB might contribute to T cell immunosuppression by different means. All the hypotheses proposed below will require experimental validation in order to show if Gzms can contribute to the immunosuppressive stage in sepsis.

GzmB has been found to be expressed by human and mouse Treg cells (104, 105) and contribute to immunosuppression and cancer immune-evasion by inhibiting Tc and NK cell responses in tumor models (106) or to control viral-induced lung inflammation (107). Thus, it could be speculated that GzmB of Treg cell could contribute to the cellular immunosuppression observed in sepsis patients. T regulatory cells are known to contribute to immune homeostasis preventing reactions against self-healthy tissue and commensal microbiota. They inhibit the immune response at different levels like B, CD4 Th1, CD8 T cell, and NK cell activation or dendritic cell maturation and it has been found that sepsis patients present reduced numbers of CD4 Th1, CD8 T cell, and NK cell (108) and increased Treg cell number and activity (109–111), which contributes to secondary infection.

Alternatively, GzmB is able to cleave the zeta chain of the T cell antigen receptor (TCR) which renders un-functional T cells (112), being another potential mechanism by which GzmB could contribute to immunosuppression in septic patients.

More direct evidence on the role of Gzms in immunosuppression was recently provided by Freishtat et al., who reported that acute sepsis-induced alterations in the megakaryocyte-platelet transcriptional axis result in strongly cytotoxic platelets expressing GzmB. These platelets used GzmB to kill CD4⁺T cells contributing to lymphodepletion (69). Later on the same group reported that the mechanism of plateletmediated GzmB-dependent lymphotoxicity required cell to cell contact and was perforin-independent (70).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Sepsis is a global serious health problem for which early specific diagnosis and optimized treatment is crucial in order to reduce organ damage and improve survival. It is well-known the importance and influence of inflammation in the development and pathogenesis of sepsis (3, 5). However, the molecular bases to understand the dysregulated inflammatory response during sepsis are complex and often not well-understood. Indeed, most experimental trials to reduce inflammation during sepsis have not been successful and a positive impact on patient survival has not been reported. Among other reasons the impact of anti-inflammatory therapy on pathogen control by host immune response and the risk of secondary infections could contribute to the low efficacy observed during the trials with these therapies. During the last years, cumulative experimental evidences indicate that some members of the Gzm family, especially GzmA, have a key role in modulating inflammation and contribute to sepsis. Indeed, elevated levels of Gzms have been found in patients suffering from sepsis albeit the clinical significance remains unclear. In addition, *in vivo* mouse models show that GzmA deficiency protects from bacterial sepsis and endotoxemia indicating that GzmA have the potential to be used as biomarker and/or therapeutic target in sepsis (17, 40, 41). A current limitation of these studies is that the therapeutic potential of GzmA should be validated using a GzmA inhibitor in animal models expressing the protease. In addition, all *in vivo* studies have been performed using purified endotoxin or a single bacterial agent, and sepsis is often induced by more than a single microbial agent like peritoneal sepsis, one of the most common causes of sepsis. Moreover, the model of endotoxemia induced by LPS, albeit useful to study septic shock, does not provide information on the impact of regulation of inflammation on microbial infection.

Most studies in this field has been focused on the ability of some Gzms like GzmA, GzmK, and GzmM to induce the production of inflammatory cytokines in different cell types in vitro including monocytes, macrophages, endothelial cells, or fibroblasts. However, the role of GzmK in vivo has not been analyzed yet and GzmM has only been validated in the LPSinduced endotoxemia in vivo model. Apart from the ability to regulate the generation of the cytokine storm associated to the septic process and the consequences of this response to coagulation disorders and organ damage, in vitro evidences suggest that Gzms might also directly regulate other alterations found in sepsis like coagulation cascades, platelets function, or vascular permeability. Further experimental studies will be required to find out the relevance of these results in animal models in vivo, although it can be anticipated that it will not be easy to separate the effects due to Gzm-induced inflammatory cytokines from those that could be directly regulated by these proteases.

Apart from the disorders related with the inflammatory response leading to disseminated coagulation and organ damage, as discussed above, Gzms might also contribute to the immunosuppressive stage commonly observed in septic patients, responsible for a high morbidity/mortality due to secondary infections. Indirect evidences from other experimental models

REFERENCES

- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, et al. The third international consensus definitions for sepsis and septic shock. (sepsis-3). *JAMA*. (2016) 315:801–10. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2016.0287
- Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, et al. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990-2017: analysis for the global burden of disease study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:200–11. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32989-7
- Iskander KN, Osuchowski MF, Stearns-Kurosawa DJ, Kurosawa S, Stepien D, Valentine C, et al. Sepsis: multiple abnormalities, heterogeneous responses, and evolving understanding. *Physiol Rev.* (2013) 93:1247–88. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00037.2012
- Gotts JE, Matthay MA. Sepsis: pathophysiology and clinical management. BMJ. (2016) 353:1585. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i1585
- Nedeva C, Menassa J, Puthalakath H. Sepsis: inflammation is a necessary evil. Front Cell Dev Biol. (2019) 7:108. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00108

suggest that some Gzms might contribute to immunosuppression and, thus, it might be worth to dedicate some efforts to find out the role of Gzms in promoting immunosuppression and/or anergy during sepsis.

Despite the limitations mentioned above and all the hypotheses and speculations pending of experimental validation, some Gzms like GzmA or GzmK might present an important advantage in comparison with other inflammatory molecules that have been proposed and tested as therapeutic targets. GzmA or GzmK deficiency does not predispose to infection and these animals are able to efficiently clear most experimental infections (6, 113). Thus, targeting Gzms might reduce sepsis pathology without compromising the host immune response against the offending pathogen/s and, thus, enhancing the chances of efficient antimicrobial treatment to re-establish immune homeostasis and reduce immune-associated damage. Before these therapies can be developed and tested in potential clinical trials, it will be required to better understand the biology of granzymes during sepsis and the mechanisms involved.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG-T, MA, and JP-P designed and wrote the first draft. LM-L prepared **Figure 1**. All authors wrote and revised the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by FEDER/Gobierno de Aragón (group B29), Ministerio de Economia y Competitividad [SAF2014-54763-C2-1 and SAF2017-83120-C2-1-R (JP-P), SAF2014-54763-C2-2-R (EG)] and Instituto de Salud Carlos III (P116-00526, LM-L; P118/00527, JP-P). Predoctoral grants/contracts from Fundacion Santander/Universidad de Zaragoza (LS and MA), Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades (MG-T). MA has a Juan de la Cierva Contract (Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades) and JS-M a Rio Hortega Contract (Instituto de Salud Carlos III). JP was supported by Fundación Aragon I+D (ARAID).

- Arias M, Martinez-Lostao L, Santiago L, Ferrandez A, Granville DJ, Pardo J. The untold story of granzymes in oncoimmunology: novel opportunities with old acquaintances. *Trends Cancer.* (2017) 3:407–22. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.04.001
- Voskoboinik I, Whisstock JC, Trapani JA. Perforin and granzymes: function, dysfunction and human pathology. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2015) 15:388–400. doi: 10.1038/nri3839
- Turner CT, Lim D, Granville DJ. Granzyme B in skin inflammation and disease. *Matrix Biol.* (2019) 75–6, 126–140. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.12.005
- Chowdhury D, Lieberman J. Death by a thousand cuts: granzyme pathways of programmed cell death. Annu Rev Immunol. (2008) 26:389–420. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607. 090404
- Cullen SP, Brunet M, Martin SJ. Granzymes in cancer and immunity. *Cell Death Differ*. (2010) 17:616–23. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.206
- Joeckel LT, Bird PI. Are all granzymes cytotoxic *in vivo*? *Biol Chem*. (2014) 395:181–202. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2013-0238

- Martinez-Lostao L, Anel A, Pardo J. How do cytotoxic lymphocytes kill cancer cells? *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:5047–56. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0685
- Wensink AC, Hack CE, Bovenschen N. Granzymes regulate proinflammatory cytokine responses. J Immunol. (2015) 194:491–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401214
- Zhou Z, He H, Wang K, Shi X, Wang Y, Su Y, et al. Granzyme A from cytotoxic lymphocytes cleaves GSDMB to trigger pyroptosis in target cells. *Science*. (2020) 368:eaaz7548. doi: 10.1126/science.aaz7548
- Kaiserman D, Bird CH, Sun J, Matthews A, Ung K, Whisstock JC, et al. The major human and mouse granzymes are structurally and functionally divergent. J Cell Biol. (2006) 175:619–30. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200606073
- Sower LE, Froelich CJ, Allegretto N, Rose PM, Hanna WD, Klimpel GR. Extracellular activities of human granzyme A. Monocyte activation by granzyme A versus alpha-thrombin. *J Immunol.* (1996) 156:2585–90.
- Metkar SS, Menaa C, Pardo J, Wang B, Wallich R, Freudenberg M, et al. Human and mouse granzyme A induce a proinflammatory cytokine response. *Immunity*. (2008) 29:720–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.014
- Campbell RA, Franks Z, Bhatnagar A, Rowley JW, Manne BK, Supiano MA, et al. Granzyme A in Human Platelets Regulates the Synthesis of Proinflammatory Cytokines by Monocytes in Aging. J Immunol. (2018) 200:295–304. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700885
- Wensink AC, Kok HM, Meeldijk J, Fermie J, Froelich CJ, Hack CE, et al. Granzymes A and K differentially potentiate LPS-induced cytokine response. *Cell Death Discov.* (2016) 2:16084. doi: 10.1038/cddiscovery.2016.84
- Sower LE, Klimpel GR, Hanna W, Froelich CJ. Extracellular activities of human granzymes. I. granzyme A induces IL6 and IL8 production in fibroblast and epithelial cell lines. *Cell Immunol.* (1996) 171:159–63. doi: 10.1006/cimm.1996.0187
- Suidan HS, Bouvier J, Schaerer E, Stone SR, Monard D, Tschopp J. Granzyme A released upon stimulation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes activates the thrombin receptor on neuronal cells and astrocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1994) 91:8112–6.
- Shimizu K, Yamasaki S, Sakurai M, Yumoto N, Ikeda M, Mishima-Tsumagari C, et al. Granzyme A stimulates pDCs to promote adaptive immunity via induction of type I IFN. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:1450. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01450
- 23. Lee PR, Johnson TP, Gnanapavan S, Giovannoni G, Wang T, Steiner JP, et al. Protease-activated receptor-1 activation by granzyme B causes neurotoxicity that is augmented by interleukin-1beta. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2017) 14:131. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-0901-y
- Choy JC, Hung VH, Hunter AL, Cheung PK, Motyka B, Goping IS, et al. Granzyme B induces smooth muscle cell apoptosis in the absence of perforin: involvement of extracellular matrix degradation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2004) 24:2245–50. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000147162.51930.b7
- Choy JC, Cruz RP, Kerjner A, Geisbrecht J, Sawchuk T, Fraser SA, et al. Granzyme B induces endothelial cell apoptosis and contributes to the development of transplant vascular disease. *Am J Transplant*. (2005) 5:494–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2004.00710.x
- Pardo J, Wallich R, Ebnet K, Iden S, Zentgraf H, Martin P, et al. Granzyme B is expressed in mouse mast cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* and causes delayed cell death independent of perforin. *Cell Death Differ*. (2007) 14:1768–79. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402183
- Cooper DM, Pechkovsky DV, Hackett TL, Knight DA, Granville DJ. Granzyme K activates protease-activated receptor-1. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e21484. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021484
- Sharma M, Merkulova Y, Raithatha S, Parkinson LG, Shen Y, Cooper D, et al. Extracellular granzyme K mediates endothelial activation through the cleavage of protease-activated receptor-1. *FEBS J.* (2016) 283:1734–47. doi: 10.1111/febs.13699
- Joeckel LT, Wallich R, Martin P, Sanchez-Martinez D, Weber FC, Martin SF, et al. Mouse granzyme K has pro-inflammatory potential. *Cell Death Differ*. (2011) 18:1112–9. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2011.5
- Hollestelle MJ, Lai KW, van Deuren M, Lenting PJ, de Groot PG, Sprong T, et al. Cleavage of von Willebrand factor by granzyme M destroys its factor VIII binding capacity. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e24216. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024216

- Lauw FN, Simpson AJ, Hack CE, Prins JM, Wolbink AM, van Deventer SJ, et al. Soluble granzymes are released during human endotoxemia and in patients with severe infection due to gram-negative bacteria. J Infect Dis. (2000) 182:206–13. doi: 10.1086/315642
- Wensink AC, Wiewel MA, Jongeneel LH, Boes M, van der Poll T, Hack CE, et al. Granzyme M and K release in human experimental endotoxemia. *Immunobiology*. (2016) 221:773–7. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2016.02.006
- Accardo-Palumbo A, D'Amelio L, Pileri D, D'Arpa N, Mogavero R, Amato G, et al. Reduction of plasma granzyme A correlates with severity of sepsis in burn patients. *Burns*. (2010) 36:811–8. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2009.11.009
- Rucevic M, Fast LD, Jay GD, Trespalcios FM, Sucov A, Siryaporn E, et al. Altered levels and molecular forms of granzyme k in plasma from septic patients. *Shock*. (2007) 27:488–93. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000246905.24895.e5
- Bratke K, Klug A, Julius P, Kuepper M, Lommatzsch M, Sparmann G, et al. Granzyme K: a novel mediator in acute airway inflammation. *Thorax.* (2008) 63:1006–11. doi: 10.1136/thx.2007.0 91215
- Kaiserman D, Bird PI. Control of granzymes by serpins. Cell Death Differ. (2010) 17:586–95. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.169
- Lim YP, Bendelja K, Opal SM, Siryaporn E, Hixson DC, Palardy JE. Correlation between mortality and the levels of inter-alpha inhibitors in the plasma of patients with severe sepsis. J Infect Dis. (2003) 188:919–26. doi: 10.1086/377642
- Opal SM, Lim YP, Siryaporn E, Moldawer LL, Pribble JP, Palardy JE, et al. Longitudinal studies of inter-alpha inhibitor proteins in severely septic patients: a potential clinical marker and mediator of severe sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* (2007) 35:387–92. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000253810.08 230.83
- Napoli AM, Fast LD, Gardiner F, Nevola M, Machan JT. Increased granzyme levels in cytotoxic T lymphocytes are associated with disease severity in emergency department patients with severe sepsis. *Shock*. (2012) 37:257–62. doi: 10.1097/SHK.0b013e31823fca44
- Anthony DA, Andrews DM, Chow M, Watt SV, House C, Akira S, et al. A role for granzyme M in TLR4-driven inflammation and endotoxicosis. J Immunol. (2010) 185:1794–803. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000430
- Arias MA, Jimenez de Bagues MP, Aguilo N, Menao S, Hervas-Stubbs S, de Martino A, et al. Elucidating sources and roles of granzymes A and B during bacterial infection and sepsis. *Cell Rep.* (2014) 8:420–9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.012
- van den Boogaard FE, van Gisbergen KP, Vernooy JH, Medema JP, Roelofs JJ, van Zoelen MA, et al. Granzyme A impairs host defense during *Streptococcus* pneumoniae pneumonia. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2016) 311:L507–16. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00116.2016
- Garcia-Laorden MI, Stroo I, Terpstra S, Florquin S, Medema JP, van TVC, et al. Expression and function of granzymes A and B in *Escherichia coli* peritonitis and sepsis. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2017) 2017:4137563. doi: 10.1155/2017/4137563
- Feezor RJ, Oberholzer C, Baker HV, Novick D, Rubinstein M, Moldawer LL, et al. Molecular characterization of the acute inflammatory response to infections with gram-negative versus gram-positive bacteria. *Infect Immun.* (2003) 71:5803–13. doi: 10.1128/iai.71.10.5803-5813.2003
- Matsumoto H, Ogura H, Shimizu K, Ikeda M, Hirose T, Matsuura H, et al. The clinical importance of a cytokine network in the acute phase of sepsis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:13995. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-32275-8
- Irmler M, Hertig S, MacDonald HR, Sadoul R, Becherer JD, Proudfoot A, et al. Granzyme A is an interleukin 1 beta-converting enzyme. J Exp Med. (1995) 181:1917–22. doi: 10.1084/jem.181.5.1917
- Asehnoune K, Moine P. Protease-activated receptor-1: key player in the sepsis coagulation-inflammation crosstalk. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:119. doi: 10.1186/cc12502
- Schanoski AS, Le TT, Kaiserman D, Rowe C, Prow NA, Barboza DD, et al. Granzyme A in chikungunya and other arboviral infections. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:3083. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03083
- Bovenschen N, Quadir R, van den Berg AL, Brenkman AB, Vandenberghe I, Devreese B, et al. Granzyme K displays highly restricted substrate specificity that only partially overlaps with granzyme A. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:3504– 12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806716200

- Plasman K, Demol H, Bird PI, Gevaert K, Van Damme P. Substrate specificities of the granzyme tryptases A and K. J Proteome Res. (2014) 13:6067–77. doi: 10.1021/pr500968d
- de Poot SA, Bovenschen N. Granzyme M: behind enemy lines. Cell Death Differ. (2014) 21:359–68. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.189
- Schouten M, Wiersinga WJ, Levi M, van der Poll T. Inflammation, endothelium, and coagulation in sepsis. J Leukoc Biol. (2008) 83:536–45. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0607373
- Gomez K, McVey JH. Tissue factor initiated blood coagulation. *Front Biosci.* (2006) 11:1349–59. doi: 10.2741/1888
- Mackman N, Tilley RE, Key NS. Role of the extrinsic pathway of blood coagulation in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2007) 27:1687–93. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.141911
- Osterud B, Flaegstad T. Increased tissue thromboplastin activity in monocytes of patients with meningococcal infection: related to an unfavourable prognosis. *Thromb Haemost.* (1983) 49:5–7.
- Bevilacqua MP, Pober JS, Majeau GR, Fiers W, Cotran RS, Gimbrone MA Jr. Recombinant tumor necrosis factor induces procoagulant activity in cultured human vascular endothelium: characterization and comparison with the actions of interleukin 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:4533–7.
- Camerer E, Kolsto AB, Prydz H. Cell biology of tissue factor, the principal initiator of blood coagulation. *Thromb Res.* (1996) 81:1–41.
- Pober JS. Endothelial activation: intracellular signaling pathways. Arthritis Res. (2002) 4(Suppl. 3):S109–16. doi: 10.1186/ar576
- Bernardo A, Ball C, Nolasco L, Moake JF, Dong JF. Effects of inflammatory cytokines on the release and cleavage of the endothelial cell-derived ultralarge von Willebrand factor multimers under flow. *Blood.* (2004) 104:100–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-01-0107
- Hou T, Tieu BC, Ray S, Recinos Iii A, Cui R, Tilton RG, et al. Roles of IL-6gp130 signaling in vascular inflammation. *Curr Cardiol Rev.* (2008) 4:179–92. doi: 10.2174/157340308785160570
- Afonina IS, Tynan GA, Logue SE, Cullen SP, Bots M, Luthi AU, et al. Granzyme B-dependent proteolysis acts as a switch to enhance the proinflammatory activity of IL-1alpha. *Mol Cell.* (2011) 44:265–78. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.07.037
- Buzza MS, Dyson JM, Choi H, Gardiner EE, Andrews RK, Kaiserman D, et al. Antihemostatic activity of human granzyme B mediated by cleavage of von willebrand factor. J Biol Chem. (2008) 283:22498–504. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M709080200
- Kremer Hovinga JA, Zeerleder S, Kessler P, Romani de Wit T, van Mourik JA, Hack CE, et al. ADAMTS-13, von Willebrand factor and related parameters in severe sepsis and septic shock. J Thromb Haemost. (2007) 5:2284–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02743.x
- Gao W, Anderson PJ, Sadler JE. Extensive contacts between ADAMTS13 exosites and von Willebrand factor domain A2 contribute to substrate specificity. *Blood.* (2008) 112:1713–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-04-148759
- Brunner G, Simon MM, Kramer MD. Activation of pro-urokinase by the human T cell-associated serine proteinase HuTSP-1. *FEBS Lett.* (1990) 260:141–4. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(90)80087-y
- 66. Dewitte A, Lepreux S, Villeneuve J, Rigothier C, Combe C, Ouattara A, et al. Blood platelets and sepsis pathophysiology: A new therapeutic prospect in critically [corrected] ill patients? *Ann Intensive Care.* (2017) 7:115. doi: 10.1186/s13613-017-0337-7
- 67. Zielinski T, Wachowicz B, Saluk-Juszczak J, Kaca W. Polysaccharide part of Proteus mirabilis lipopolysaccharide may be responsible for the stimulation of platelet adhesion to collagen. *Platelets*. (2002) 13:419–24. doi: 10.1080/0953710021000024385
- Zimmerman GA, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Stafforini DM. The plateletactivating factor signaling system and its regulators in syndromes of inflammation and thrombosis. *Crit Care Med.* (2002) 30:S294–301. doi: 10.1097/00003246-200205001-00020
- Freishtat RJ, Natale J, Benton AS, Cohen J, Sharron M, Wiles AA, et al. Sepsis alters the megakaryocyte-platelet transcriptional axis resulting in granzyme B-mediated lymphotoxicity. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 179:467–73. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200807-1085OC
- 70. Sharron M, Hoptay CE, Wiles AA, Garvin LM, Geha M, Benton AS, et al. Platelets induce apoptosis during sepsis in a contact-dependent manner

that is inhibited by GPIIb/IIIa blockade. PLoS ONE. (2012) 7:e41549. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041549

- Martin K, Borgel D, Lerolle N, Feys HB, Trinquart L, Vanhoorelbeke K, et al. Decreased ADAMTS-13. (A disintegrin-like and metalloprotease with thrombospondin type 1 repeats) is associated with a poor prognosis in sepsis-induced organ failure. *Crit Care Med.* (2007) 35:2375–82. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000284508.05247.b3
- Suidan HS, Clemetson KJ, Brown-Luedi M, Niclou SP, Clemetson JM, Tschopp J, et al. The serine protease granzyme A does not induce platelet aggregation but inhibits responses triggered by thrombin. *Biochem J.* (1996) 315:939–45.
- Peters K, Unger RE, Brunner J, Kirkpatrick CJ. Molecular basis of endothelial dysfunction in sepsis. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2003) 60:49–57. doi: 10.1016/s0008-6363(03)00397-3
- Hansen KK, Sherman PM, Cellars L, Andrade-Gordon P, Pan Z, Baruch A, et al. A major role for proteolytic activity and proteinase-activated receptor-2 in the pathogenesis of infectious colitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:8363–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409535102
- 75. Levi M, de Jonge E, van der Poll T. Sepsis and disseminated intravascular coagulation. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*. (2003) 16:43–7. doi: 10.1023/B:THRO.0000014592.27892.11
- Pawlinski R, Pedersen B, Schabbauer G, Tencati M, Holscher T, Boisvert W, et al. Role of tissue factor and protease-activated receptors in a mouse model of endotoxemia. *Blood.* (2004) 103:1342–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-0 9-3051
- Camerer E, Cornelissen I, Kataoka H, Duong DN, Zheng YW, Coughlin SR. Roles of protease-activated receptors in a mouse model of endotoxemia. *Blood.* (2006) 107:3912–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3130
- Kaneider NC, Leger AJ, Agarwal A, Nguyen N, Perides G, Derian C, et al. Role reversal for the receptor PAR1 in sepsis-induced vascular damage. *Nat Immunol.* (2007) 8:1303–12. doi: 10.1038/ni1525
- Flaumenhaft R, De Ceunynck K. Targeting PAR1: now what? Trends Pharmacol Sci. (2017) 38:701–16. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2017.05.001
- Heuberger DM, Schuepbach RA. Protease-activated receptors. (PARs): mechanisms of action and potential therapeutic modulators in PAR-driven inflammatory diseases. *Thromb J.* (2019) 17:4. doi: 10.1186/s12959-019-0194-8
- Garcia-Laorden MI, Stroo I, Blok DC, Florquin S, Medema JP, de Vos AF, et al. Granzymes A and B regulate the local inflammatory response during klebsiella pneumoniae pneumonia. *J Innate Immun.* (2016) 8:258–68. doi: 10.1159/000443401
- Buzza MS, Zamurs L, Sun J, Bird CH, Smith AI, Trapani JA, et al. Extracellular matrix remodeling by human granzyme B via cleavage of vitronectin, fibronectin, and laminin. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:23549–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412001200
- Hendel A, Granville DJ. Granzyme B cleavage of fibronectin disrupts endothelial cell adhesion, migration and capillary tube formation. *Matrix Biol.* (2013) 32:14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2012.11.013
- Shen Z, Liu Y, Dewidar B, Hu J, Park O, Feng T, et al. Delta-like ligand 4 modulates liver damage by down-regulating chemokine expression. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:1874–89. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.03.010
- Hendel A, Hsu I, Granville DJ. Granzyme B releases vascular endothelial growth factor from extracellular matrix and induces vascular permeability. *Lab Invest.* (2014) 94:716–25. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2014.62
- Hiebert PR, Wu D, Granville DJ. Granzyme B degrades extracellular matrix and contributes to delayed wound closure in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Cell Death Differ*. (2013) 20:1404–14. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.96
- Chamberlain CM, Ang LS, Boivin WA, Cooper DM, Williams SJ, Zhao H, et al. Perforin-independent extracellular granzyme B activity contributes to abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 176:1038–49. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090700
- Ang LS, Boivin WA, Williams SJ, Zhao H, Abraham T, Carmine-Simmen K, et al. Serpina3n attenuates granzyme B-mediated decorin cleavage and rupture in a murine model of aortic aneurysm. *Cell Death Dis.* (2011) 2:e209. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2011.88
- 89. Prakash MD, Munoz MA, Jain R, Tong PL, Koskinen A, Regner M, et al. Granzyme B promotes cytotoxic lymphocyte transmigration

via basement membrane remodeling. *Immunity*. (2014) 41:960–72. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.11.012

- Sherwood ER, Enoh VT, Murphey ED, Lin CY. Mice depleted of CD8+ T and NK cells are resistant to injury caused by cecal ligation and puncture. *Lab Invest.* (2004) 84:1655–65. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.37 00184
- Etogo AO, Nunez J, Lin CY, Toliver-Kinsky TE, Sherwood ER. NK but not CD1-restricted NKT cells facilitate systemic inflammation during polymicrobial intra-abdominal sepsis. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:6334–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.9.6334
- Simon MM, Prester M, Nerz G, Kramer MD, Fruth U. Release of biologically active fragments from human plasma-fibronectin by murine T cell-specific proteinase 1. (TSP-1). *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler*. (1988) 369:107–12.
- Simon MM, Kramer MD, Prester M, Gay S. Mouse T-cell associated serine proteinase 1 degrades collagen type IV: a structural basis for the migration of lymphocytes through vascular basement membranes. *Immunology*. (1991) 73:117–9.
- Hotchkiss RS, Coopersmith CM, McDunn JE, Ferguson TA. The sepsis seesaw: tilting toward immunosuppression. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:496–7. doi: 10.1038/nm0509-496
- Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Immunosuppression in sepsis: a novel understanding of the disorder and a new therapeutic approach. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2013) 13:260–8. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70001-X
- Ono S, Tsujimoto H, Hiraki S, Aosasa S. Mechanisms of sepsis-induced immunosuppression and immunological modification therapies for sepsis. *Ann Gastroenterol Surg.* (2018) 2:351–8. doi: 10.1002/ags3.12194
- 97. Hynninen M, Pettila V, Takkunen O, Orko R, Jansson SE, Kuusela P, et al. Predictive value of monocyte histocompatibility leukocyte antigen-DR expression and plasma interleukin-4 and-10 levels in critically ill patients with sepsis. *Shock.* (2003) 20:1-4. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000068322.08268.b4
- Monneret G, Lepape A, Voirin N, Bohe J, Venet F, Debard AL, et al. Persisting low monocyte human leukocyte antigen-DR expression predicts mortality in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2006) 32:1175–83. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0204-8
- 99. Gold JA, Parsey M, Hoshino Y, Hoshino S, Nolan A, Yee H, et al. CD40 contributes to lethality in acute sepsis: *in vivo* role for CD40 in innate immunity. *Infect Immun.* (2003) 71:3521–8. doi: 10.1128/iai.71.6.3521-3528.2003
- 100. Flohe SB, Agrawal H, Schmitz D, Gertz M, Flohe S, Schade FU. Dendritic cells during polymicrobial sepsis rapidly mature but fail to initiate a protective Th1-type immune response. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2006) 79:473–81. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0705413
- 101. Guisset O, Dilhuydy MS, Thiebaut R, Lefevre J, Camou F, Sarrat A, et al. Decrease in circulating dendritic cells predicts fatal outcome in septic shock. *Intensive Care Med.* (2007) 33:148–52. doi: 10.1007/s00134-006-0436-7
- Ward NS, Casserly B, Ayala A. The compensatory anti-inflammatory response syndrome. (CARS) in critically ill patients. *Clin Chest Med.* (2008) 29, 617–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2008.06.010
- 103. Roger PM, Hyvernat H, Breittmayer JP, Dunais B, Dellamonica J, Bernardin G, et al. Enhanced T-cell apoptosis in human septic shock is associated with alteration of the costimulatory pathway. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2009) 28:575–84. doi: 10.1007/s10096-008-0673-5

- 104. Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Tollefsen BL, Kemper C, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Differential expression of granzymes A and B in human cytotoxic lymphocyte subsets and T regulatory cells. *Blood.* (2004) 104:2840–8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2004-03-0859
- 105. Gondek DC, Lu LF, Quezada SA, Sakaguchi S, Noelle RJ. Cutting edge: contact-mediated suppression by CD4+CD25+ regulatory cells involves a granzyme B-dependent, perforin-independent mechanism. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:1783–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.4.1783
- 106. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, et al. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cellmediated suppression of tumor clearance. *Immunity*. (2007) 27:635–46. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.014
- 107. Loebbermann J, Thornton H, Durant L, Sparwasser T, Webster KE, Sprent J, et al. Regulatory T cells expressing granzyme B play a critical role in controlling lung inflammation during acute viral infection. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2012) 5:161–72. doi: 10.1038/mi.2011.62
- Harjai M, Bogra J, Kohli M, Pant AB. Is suppression of apoptosis a new therapeutic target in sepsis? *Anaesth Intensive Care.* (2013) 41:175-83. doi: 10.1177/0310057X1304100207
- 109. Venet F, Pachot A, Debard AL, Bohe J, Bienvenu J, Lepape A, et al. Increased percentage of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells during septic shock is due to the decrease of CD4+CD25- lymphocytes. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:2329–31. doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000145999.42 971.4b
- 110. Taylor AL, Llewelyn MJ. Superantigen-induced proliferation of human CD4+CD25- T cells is followed by a switch to a functional regulatory phenotype. *J Immunol.* (2010) 185:6591–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1002416
- 111. Cao C, Ma T, Chai YF, Shou ST. The role of regulatory T cells in immune dysfunction during sepsis. World J Emerg Med. (2015) 6:5–9. doi: 10.5847/wjem.j.1920-8642.2015.01.001
- Wieckowski E, Wang GQ, Gastman BR, Goldstein LA, Rabinowich H. Granzyme B-mediated degradation of T-cell receptor zeta chain. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:4884–9.
- 113. Joeckel LT, Allison CC, Pellegrini M, Bird CH, Bird PI. Granzyme K-deficient mice show no evidence of impaired antiviral immunity. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2017) 95:676–83. doi: 10.1038/icb.2 017.35

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Garzón-Tituaña, Arias, Sierra-Monzón, Morte-Romea, Santiago, Ramirez-Labrada, Martinez-Lostao, Paño-Pardo, Galvez and Pardo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Lung Secretoglobin Scgb1a1 Influences Alveolar Macrophage-Mediated Inflammation and Immunity

Min Xu1*t, Wei Yang2t, Xuanchuan Wang3t and Deepak Kumar Nayak4*

¹ Department of Surgery, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States, ² Department of Genetics, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States, ³ Department of Urology, Zhongshan Hospital, Fudan University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Interdisciplinary Oncology, University of Arizona College of Medicine, Phoenix, AZ, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ola Grimsholm, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Jennifer Speth, University of Michigan, United States Toshihiro Ito, Nara Medical University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Deepak Kumar Nayak dnayak78@gmail.com Min Xu minaxua@gmail.com [†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 July 2020 Accepted: 07 September 2020 Published: 01 October 2020

Citation:

Xu M, Yang W, Wang X and Nayak DK (2020) Lung Secretoglobin Scgb1a1 Influences Alveolar Macrophage-Mediated Inflammation and Immunity. Front. Immunol. 11:584310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.584310 Alveolar macrophage (AM) is a mononuclear phagocyte key to the defense against respiratory infections. To understand AM's role in airway disease development, we examined the influence of Secretoglobin family 1a member 1 (SCGB1A1), a pulmonary surfactant protein, on AM development and function. In a murine model, highthroughput RNA-sequencing and gene expression analyses were performed on purified AMs isolated from mice lacking in Scgb1a1 gene and were compared with that from mice expressing the wild type Scgb1a1 at weaning (4 week), puberty (8 week), early adult (12 week), and middle age (40 week). AMs from early adult mice under Scgb1a1 sufficiency demonstrated a total of 37 up-regulated biological pathways compared to that at weaning, from which 30 were directly involved with antigen presentation, antiviral immunity and inflammation. Importantly, these pathways under Scqb1a1 deficiency were significantly down-regulated compared to that in the age-matched Scgb1a1sufficient counterparts. Furthermore, AMs from Scgb1a1-deficient mice showed an early activation of inflammatory pathways compared with that from Scgb1a1-sufficient mice. Our in vitro experiments with AM culture established that exogenous supplementation of SCGB1a1 protein significantly reduced AM responses to microbial stimuli where SCGB1a1 was effective in blunting the release of cytokines and chemokines (including IL-1b, IL-6, IL-8, MIP-1a, TNF-a, and MCP-1). Taken together, these findings suggest an important role for Scgb1a1 in shaping the AM-mediated inflammation and immune responses, and in mitigating cytokine surges in the lungs.

Keywords: club cell, alveolar macrophage, lung surfactant, SCGB1A1, Clara cell secretory protein, cytokine storm

INTRODUCTION

The ongoing pandemic of Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has already affected over 30 million people across the globe resulting in more than one million deaths (1, 2). It produces a significant amount of severe illnesses that overwhelm health care infrastructure. Early studies have shown that the prognosis of COVID-19 may be variable among different populations and age groups. Particularly,

it disproportionately affects the elderly and patients with preexisting conditions including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and hypertension compared to any other conditions (3, 4). Mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2 persistence and pathogenicity remains largely unknown; however, its widespread infection and associated fatalities outnumber the past coronavirus outbreaks such as the Middle East respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus and severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus. The rapid decline in lung function and some of the COVID-19 patients requiring oxygen support and/or mechanical ventilation has been attributed to cytokine storm (5). There is no targeted anti-viral therapy currently available for COVID-19 and efforts to develop vaccines are ongoing. In this context, examining the cellular, and/or molecular interactions within the lung microenvironment may provide useful insights into the pathogenesis and possible therapeutics of COVID-19 and other infectious respiratory diseases.

Alveolar macrophages (AMs) are stationary cells of embryonic origin that constitute greater than 95% of the phagocyte pool in the alveolar space (6, 7). Consequently, AMs perform crucial immune surveillance at the respiratory surface providing the first line defense against airborne pathogens, pollutants (8–12), and clearing of cellular debris (13). AMs function as professional antigen presenting cells in eliciting antigen specific T cells and antibodies targeting pathogens (14, 15) and autoantigens (16, 17). AMs also can respond to various microbial stimuli producing an array of cytokines and chemokines that may influence the landscape of inflammation and immunologic outcomes (16–18).

On the other hand, club cells are a significant contributor to the homeostatic and reparative processes in the lungs (19). These non-ciliated and non-mucous-producing cells in the bronchiolar epithelium can differentiate into pulmonary epithelial and endothelial cells following tissue injury (20-23), and via secreted secretoglobin family 1A member 1 (SCGB1A1) protein, a component of the pulmonary surfactant, can exert anti-inflammatory and anti-fibrotic functions (24). Specifically, SCGB1A1 binds and sequesters key inflammatory mediators of airway diseases including prostaglandins (25, 26), phospholipase (PL) A2 (27-29) and PLC (28), and inhibits activation and translocation of NF-KB (30, 31). Lung infection by viruses and bacteria are known to elicit greater inflammatory responses in the absence of SCGB1A1 (32-34), whereas respiratory distress decreases SCGB1A1 levels following acute lung injury (35); exposures to pollutants (36), cigarette smoke (37) and ozone (38); lung allograft rejection (39-41); respiratory infections (42, 43); and chronic lung diseases (44, 45). Overexpression of Scgb1a1 in airways has shown to limit ventilator induced lung injury and inflammation (46), and supplementation of exogenous SCGB1A1 has mitigated the increased proinflammatory cytokines and inflammatory buildup caused by Scgb1a1 germline-deficiency (24).

Because AMs are non-migratory cells that adhere to the alveolar epithelium (47), they are constantly immersed in pulmonary surfactant and are likely to be influenced by the surfactant components. Under steady state, AMs exhibit a non-inflammatory phenotype while SCGB1A1 occurs at its

physiologic maximum. Club cells, on the other hand, succumb to respiratory distress resulting in decreased SCGB1A1 levels. As the crosstalk between club cells and AMs is largely unknown, for the first time in the present study, we examine the transcriptomic profiles of mouse AMs during development and compare the shift in gene expression under *Scgb1a1*-deficiency. Furthermore, we also analyze the effects of SCGB1A1 protein on purified AMs delineating therapeutic implications of SCGB1A1 in inflammatory and fibrotic lung diseases.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Animals

Wild type (WT, $Scgb1a1^{+/+}$) C57BL/6 mice were procured from Charles River Laboratories and Uteroglobin gene knockout (KO) mice ($Scgb1a1^{-/-}$) (48) were obtained from National Institutes of Health. Mice were housed at the Washington University School of Medicine according to institutional guidelines and approved protocols. Mice from WT and KO groups were euthanized at 4, 8, 12, and 40 weeks of age [respectively, equivalent to 6 months, 12 years, 20 years, and 40 years in human age (49)] and relevant samples were collected for further study (n = 3/group).

Flow Cytometry Analysis

We performed multicolor flow cytometry to analyze expression of a panel of phenotypic and functional markers. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells were isolated per our established protocol (50) and incubated with Fc block (BD Bioscience) to prevent nonspecific antibody binding. They were incubated with fluorophore tagged antibodies for CD45, CD11c and Siglec-F, and were analyzed with a BD LSR Fortessa cell analyzer (BD Bioscience). The functional states of AM at 4, 8, 12, and 40 weeks were compared between the KO and WT groups. Single stain control and fluorescence minus one control were included in every study and data were analyzed by FlowJo v10.6.2 (BD Life Sciences).

AM Isolation and RNA Purification

Alveolar macrophages, defined as CD45⁺, CD11c^{hi}, and Siglec-F^{hi} granular cells, were isolated from BAL fluid via flow cytometry cell sorting technique following our previous study (50), and age-matched samples were collected and processed on the same day to minimize batch-to-batch variation. AMs were isolated individually from three mice per group and were sorted directly into RNA Lysis buffer using a PureLink RNA kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Total RNA was treated by DNase I (Thermo Fisher Scientific), quantitated by Nanodrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and stored at -80°C.

RNA Sequencing and Bioinformatics Analysis

Three biologic replicates per group were included to ensure a strong statistical power for detecting the inter- and intragroup variations. Total RNA (up to 100 pg) was subjected to the picoRNA workflow (Cofactor Genomics). A poly-A library was constructed and 6×10^7 single-end reads were performed. Following RIN score (>7) determination and enrichment for mRNA, RNA sequencing was performed (Cofactor Genomics) for 60 million single-end reads covering >75 base pairs/read. RNA-seq reads were then aligned to the 76 primary assemblies for Mus musculus with STAR version 2.5.1a. Gene counts were derived from the number of uniquely aligned unambiguous reads by Sub read: feature Count version 1.4.6-p5. All gene counts were then imported into the R/Bioconductor package EdgeR and TMM normalization size factors were calculated to adjust for samples for differences in library size. The TMM size factors and the matrix of counts were then imported into the R/Bioconductor package Limma, and analyzed for differential expression using Limma/voom and sequencing data was analyzed by Genomics Suite (Partek). The data set has been submitted to Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) with accession no GSE148647. The data were examined for changes in transcription profile in comparison with their WT counterpart by three-dimensional PCA plot, hierarchical clustering, Venn diagram, volcano plot, and profile trellis and gene ontology enrichment. Generally applicable gene set enrichment (GAGE) method was applied

for pathway analysis (51) through databases including gene ontology (GO, molecular function and biological process) and Kyoto encyclopedia of genes and genome (KEGG, metabolism and disease pathway). The Benjamini and Hochberg's False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction was performed to determine the significance of gene expression (51).

Influence of SCGB1a1 Protein on AM Response to Inflammatory Stimuli

The effect of SCGB1a1 protein on AM responsiveness to inflammatory stimuli were studied *in vitro*. Flow sorted AMs were plated (50) in 12-well plates at 1×10^5 cells/well in triplicates and were incubated with Toll-like receptor (TLR) agonists (Invivogen) 2- heat-killed *Listeria monocytogenes* (HKLM), TLR4-Lipopolysaccharide from *Escherichia coli* K12 (LPS) and TLR5- *Salmonella typhimurium* Flagellin (FLA) in presence or absence of recombinant SCGB1a1 protein at 5 µg/mL (Creative BioMart). Culture supernatant was collected and total RNA was isolated at 72 h post-stimulation. The release of







KEGG-metabolism pathways (H), and KEGG-Disease pathways (I). FDR < 0.05 was considered significant; FC, fold change.

cytokines and chemokines in culture supernatant was analyzed by a Bio-Plex 200 system (Bio-Rad) using multiplex immunoassays.

age suggests a variation in myelopoiesis and/or activation status associated with *Scgb1a1* deficiency.

RESULTS

Influence of Scgb1a1 Deficiency on AM Phenotype

We evaluated the prevalence and phenotype of AMs in age, gender and strain matched $Scgb1a1^{-/-}$ and $Scgb1a1^{+/+}$ mice. AMs, identified as BAL cell leukocytes with expression of CD11c^{hi} and Siglec-F^{hi}, were nearly identical between the KO and WT groups at earlier time points of 4 and 8 weeks (**Figure 1**). Interestingly, as early as 12-week, a unique population, *albeit* minor, with CD11c^{hi} and Siglec-F^{low} began to appear in the KO only. By 40-week, this population in KO had grown to represent ~7% cells compared to ~1% of that in the agematched WT. Developmental origin and physiologic significance of the CD11c^{hi} and Siglec-F^{low} cells in $Scgb1a1^{-/-}$ is currently unknown; however, some unrelated studies have suggested a monocytic precursor for the Siglec-F^{low} pulmonary macrophages (52, 53). This phenotypic difference in AMs as early as 12 weeks of

Genes and Gene Sets Differentially Expressed in WT AMs

To study alteration in gene expression due to aging, we compared the AM expressed genes at 8, 12, and 40 weeks with that at 4 weeks in WT mice (**Figure 2A**). As shown in **Figures 2B–D**, there were 2312 genes at 8-week, 3135 genes at 12-week, and 872 genes at 40-week significantly up-regulated compared to that at the 4week (FDR ≤ 0.05). The overlapping pattern of gene expression was categorized in a Venn diagram indicating that 656 genes were remarkably altered at all time-points beyond 4 weeks of age (**Figure 2E**). Additionally, ten most significantly up-regulated and down-regulated genes along with FDR values are presented in **Supplementary Table 1**.

To delineate the biological significance of the shift observed in gene expression, we analyzed the significantly changed gene sets using GAGE method and screened through GO and KEGG databases (**Figures 2F–I**). As shown in **Supplementary Table 2**, there were seven and three up-regulated GO molecular function pathways at 8 and 12 weeks, respectively, in comparison to



FIGURE 3 | Gene expression in AMs from Scgb1a1 KO mice across age groups. (A) Up-regulated and down-regulated genes in AMs at 4, 8, 12, and 40 weeks; (B–D) Volcano plots of significantly up-regulated (red) and down-regulated (blue) genes (FDR < 0.05); (E) Venn diagrams of the significantly changed genes. Venn diagrams of the significantly changed gene sets in AMs from KO mice at different ages including GO-Molecular function pathways (F), GO-Biological process pathways (G), KEGG-metabolism pathways (H), and KEGG-Disease pathways (I). FDR < 0.05 was considered significant; FC, fold change.

that at 4 weeks. In contrast, the ribosome related pathway was down-regulated at 8, 12, and 40 weeks compared to that at 4 weeks. Importantly, most of the GO biological processes including the innate immune response pathway were up-regulated at 12-week compared with that at 4-week. There were 37 significantly up-regulated biological processes evident at 12-week, among which 30 biological pathways were directly involved with immune defenses and inflammatory process. No significant change in GO biological process was, however, found at 40-week compared to that at 4-week. In the KEGG metabolism pathway analysis, antigen processing and presentation, phagosome, and cell adhesion molecule pathways were significantly up-regulated at 8, 12, and 40 weeks than that at 4 weeks. In the KEGG disease pathway analysis, several infectious diseases and immune/metabolism related pathways including that of Influenza A, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), Measles and Staphylococcus aureus, and non-alcoholic liver disease were significantly changed at 8, 12, and 40 weeks than that at 4 weeks.

In summary, most of the pathways for immunologic and inflammatory responses were activated by 12 weeks of age. This suggests that early adult WT mice may have a more pronounced immunological defense compared to any other age groups studied.

Significant Changes in Gene Expression in KO AMs

To assess the patterns of AM gene expression due to aging under *Scgb1a1* deficiency, we studied flow-sorted AMs isolated from KO mice (**Figure 3A**). Compared to gene expression at 4 weeks, there were 671 genes at 8-week, 938 genes at 12-week, and 1344 genes at 40-week that were significantly up-regulated (**Figures 3B-D**, $FDR \leq 0.05$). The Venn diagram indicated that expression of 153 genes was remarkably altered at all time-points in comparison to that at 4-week (**Figure 3E**). The ten most significantly up-regulated and down-regulated genes along with FDR values are presented in **Supplementary Table 3**.

To explore the biomedical significance of KO expressed genes, we analyzed the pathways by using GAGE method and screening through GO and KEGG databases (Figures 3F–I). Interestingly, there was no significant change in GO molecular function pathway among the KO age groups (Supplementary Table 4). On the other hand, 18 and 6 GO biological processes



FDR < 0.05 was considered significant; FC, fold change.

were significantly up-regulated at 8 and 12 weeks of age, respectively, compared to that at 4 weeks. At 40-week, no significant change was, however, found in GO biological process. In the KEGG metabolism pathway analysis, antigen processing and presentation, and cell adhesion molecule pathways were significantly up-regulated at 8-week and 12-week than that at 4week. In the KEGG disease pathway analysis, several infectious disease-related pathways including that of Influenza A, EBV, viral myocarditis, tuberculosis, and Herpes simplex virus (HSV) were found significantly up-regulated at 8, 12, and 40 weeks of age.

In brief, most of the pathways for immunologic and inflammatory responses were activated by 8 weeks and these pathways were less pronounced than that in the WT mice, suggesting an early onset of inflammation in KO mice.

Differential Expression of Genes and Gene Sets in KO and WT AMs

To evaluate the effect of *Scgb1a1* deficiency on AM transcriptome, we compared the gene expression patterns between KO and WT

across the age groups (**Figure 4A**). As shown in **Figures 4B–E**, 4 genes at 4-week, 55 genes at 8-week, 1913 genes at 12-week, and 616 genes at 40-week were significantly altered in the KO AMs. The PCA plot showed gene expression patterns over time in the KO and WT mice (**Figure 4F**). The overlap between these genes was summarized in **Figure 4G** showing that the mice at 12-week had the most significant changes in gene expression. It was further presented in a Venn diagram indicating that 656 genes were remarkably altered at all time-points compared to that at 4-week (**Figure 4G**). The ten most significantly up-regulated and down-regulated genes are presented in **Supplementary Table 5**.

To decipher biologic relevance of gene expression patterns, we analyzed the significantly changed gene sets by using GAGE method and screened through GO and KEGG databases (**Figures 4H–K**). As shown in **Supplementary Table 6**, Ribosome was the only one GO molecular function pathway that was significantly down-regulated in 4-week old KO mice compared to that in WT. In addition to Ribosome pathway, there were three GO molecular function pathways that were down-regulated in the KO mice at 8 weeks of age. Surprisingly, 17 GO biological



processes that are related to immune response or inflammation were significantly down-regulated in the KO at 12-week. From analysis of KEGG metabolism pathways, the antigen processing and presentation, proteasome, TNF signaling, and NOD-like receptor signaling were also significantly down-regulated in KO at 12-week. In KEGG disease pathway analysis, several infectious disease and immune related pathways including that of Influenza A, EBV, HCV, and HSV were significantly down-regulated whereas the non-alcoholic liver disease was significantly upregulated at 12-week in the KO mice.

In sum, pathways for immunologic and inflammatory responses were less pronounced in KO AMs suggesting that *Scgb1a1* deficiency may undermine the repertoire of immune defenses available to this age group.

Attenuation of AM-Mediated Inflammation by SCGB1A1

We measured the cytokines and chemokines including interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, MIP-1 α , tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and MCP-1 released by the flow-sorted AMs from C57BL/6 mice in response to TLR agonists: TLR2- heat-killed Listeria monocytogenes (HKLM), TLR4-Lipopolysaccharide from *Escherichia coli* K12 (LPS) and TLR5- *Salmonella typhimurium* Flagellin (FLA) in presence or absence of recombinant SCGB1a1 protein. As shown in **Figure 5A**, there was no significant change in the IL-1 β level in the SCGB1a1 treated AMs (0.233 ± 0.033 pg/mL)

than that in the untreated AMs (0.167 \pm 0.120 pg/mL). However, the IL-1 β release by AM was strikingly high when AMs were stimulated by LPS (52.660 \pm 1.719 pg/mL, p < 0.001), HKLM (20.613 \pm 2.426 pg/mL, p = 0.001), or FLA (27.707 \pm 1.304 pg/mL, p < 0.001) than that in the untreated group. Moreover, the TLR stimulated cytokine/chemokine release was significantly reduced by supplementation of SCGB1a1. The IL-1ß levels in LPS + SCGB1a1 (31.490 ± 1.588 pg/mL, p < 0.001), HKLM + SCGB1a1 (10.673 \pm 0.876 pg/mL, p = 0.001), or FLA + SCGB1a1 (17.347 \pm 1.130 pg/mL, p = 0.001) treated AMs were significantly lower than that the LPS, HKLM, or FLA only treated AMs. Furthermore, the administration of SCGB1a1 consistently lowered IL-6, IL-8, MIP-1a, TNF-a, and MCP-1 release from TLR induced AMs (Figures 5B-F). These data indicated that SCGB1a1 protein supplementation reduced the cytokine release induced by various microbial stimuli.

DISCUSSION

Alveolar macrophages are long-lived lung-resident phagocytes that occur in the alveoli up to 6×10^9 cells per healthy human adult (54) and are known to persist multitudes of infection, inflammation and autoimmune conditions. While contribution of AMs in eliciting pathogen and self-antigen specific immune responses (14–17) have been well recognized, their role in the inflammatory complications has not been fully understood.



To investigate potential anomalies in AM development and function in the absence of SCGB1A1 protein, we studied the phenotypes of AMs in age and gender matched $Scgb1a1^{-/-}$ and Scgb1a1^{+/+} mice. While vast majority (>90%) of AMs were identified as CD11chi and Siglec-Fhi leukocytes in BAL cells, a minor population exhibited a phenotypic variation to be CD11chi and Siglec-F^{low} consisting of 6.85% in the KO compared to 0.96% that in the WT. Developmental origin and pathogenic significance of the CD11chi and Siglec-Flow cells in Scgb1a1-/are currently unknown; however, some unrelated studies have suggested inflammatory monocytes as precursor for the Siglec- F^{low} pulmonary macrophages (52, 53). This phenotypic difference in AMs as early as 12 weeks of age (early adult) suggests a variation in the myelopoiesis and/or activation status associated with Scgb1a1 deficiency. Furthermore, purified AMs from WT and $Scgb1a1^{-/-}$ KO mice were studied by RNA sequencing to capture their transcriptome profiles in a time dependent manner.

Our study reveals a progressive AM transcriptome from the *Scgb1a1* WT mice at weaning (4 week), puberty (8 week), early adult (12 week), and middle age (40 week) whereas that in *Scgb1a1* deficiency resembles the disorder of SCGB1A1 depletion induced by smoking, COPD and other types acute and chronic lung injuries in the humans. Specifically, in the WT mice, we found that the biological process pathways involving antigen presentation, innate immune and anti-viral defenses were significantly up-regulated at puberty, early adult, and middle age than that at weaning. Strikingly, WT mice at the early adult age had the most up-regulated immunological pathways suggesting that this age group can harness higher anti-viral immunity mediated by AMs. Although an increase in these processes was observed in the KO mice with most activated pathways found at puberty that further declined at early adult age and beyond, this indicated a premature and weakened immune system in the KO mice. These immunological changes between the KO and WT mice were also observed when analyzed by an age-paired comparison where the KO mice, at early adult age, had the most compromised immune system than that in the WT mice. These dynamic changes in anti-viral immunity during AM development may have a clinical relevance on the varied outcomes of COVID-19 among stratified age groups.

Both of the SARS-COV causing SARS (55) and SARS-COV-2 causing COVID-19 (56) are known to utilize angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a cell attachment receptor and entry site. Hence, the tissue distribution of ACE2 and its dynamic expression are crucial to understand the pathophysiology of coronavirus infection. It has been shown that ACE2 is expressed in numerous tissues, including epithelial cells of the lung, intestine, kidney and blood vessels (56). Within the lung, the ACE2 is heavily expressed on alveolar type (AT) II cells (57-59) and it is also found on the SCGB1A1-producing club cells (60) that make these cell types vulnerable to the coronavirus infection. This is particularly important since COVID-19 is an airborne disease and SARS-COV-2 can travel through the inhaled air to the permissive sites of infection in respiratory bronchioles and alveoli. It is also concerning that smoking upregulates ACE2 expression in lungs (61) and a recent study found current smokers to be 120% more likely to die from SARS-COV-2 infection than non-smokers (4). The human AMs are also susceptible to a strain of coronavirus infection (62). Together, these findings highlight the importance of AMs and club cells in the possible entry and transmission of coronaviruses.

Anti-inflammatory effector function of SCGB1A1 has been well studied and it has been shown that viral and bacterial infections of lungs deficient in Scgb1a1 elicit greater inflammatory responses. The pro-inflammatory cytokine concentration and BAL cell count were significantly higher in Scgb1a1-deficient lungs following an acute Adenovirus infection (34). Similarly, infection by Respiratory syncytial virus led to increased T-helper 2 cytokines, neutrophil chemokines and viral replication following Scgb1a1 deficiency whereas restoration of Scgb1a1 expression in the airway abrogated the viral persistence and lung inflammation (33). It has been reported that club cells from mouse airways can modulate cytokine production by macrophages in the lung periphery (63). Another in vitro study also found that supplementation of exogenous SCGB1a1 can reverse cigarette smoke-induced IL-8 release and attenuate airway inflammation in biopsy specimens from patients with COPD (64). Currently, COVID-19 is treated with supportive care and respiratory failure from acute respiratory distress syndrome is the leading cause of death (65). Accumulating evidence suggests that a subgroup of patients with severe COVID-19 might have cytokine storm syndrome (5) indicating an urgent need for additional intervention and/or prophylaxis beyond supportive care. In the present study, we found exogenous supplementation of SCGB1a1 protein significantly blunted AM release of cytokine storm syndrome mediators including IL-6, IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-8, MIP-1α, and MCP-1. Moreover, AMs are critical in eliciting anti-coronavirus CD4⁺ T cells that remain important in mounting a specific and lasting immune defense (66). Cytokine storm is believed to dampen AM's antigen presentation ability and cytokine neutralization results in a greater frequency of anti-viral T cells. Therefore, implementation of an early curb on AM inflammation and cytokine surge may produce better outcome measures in managing COVID-19 with lower mortality and higher virus specific immunity.

Although findings from this study are interesting and likely to have a high clinical relevance, there are several limitations in the study. For instance, the study did not assess bidirectional interactions between AMs and club cells, and their influence on lung tissue repair, remodeling, and regeneration. Such crosstalk may provide important insights into pulmonary health and serve as early indicators of AM activation and/or club cell damage under physiologic and pathologic conditions. Additionally, we did not evaluate the association of SCGB1A1 concentration with ACE2 expression in AT II cells. Due to current non-availability of humanized ACE2 transgenic mouse model, we were unable to perform *in vivo* infection studies with SARS-CoV-2 in the setting of *Scgb1a1* deficiency. In sum, SCGB1A1 influenced AM functionality where AMs developing under Scgb1a1 deficiency showed a diminished ability to stimulate adaptive immune responses. Given the high density of AMs in lung tissue, exogenous supplementation of SCGB1A1 may be helpful to restore AM SteadyState functions and prevent local cytokine surges in infectious and autoimmune diseases (**Figure 6**).

CONCLUSION

Although AMs and lung surfactants have been widely studied, their respective roles have been analyzed more in isolation than in tandem. To our knowledge, this is the first investigation that establishes a functional link between these two entities where Scgb1a1, a constituent of the lung surfactant, regulates AM development, gene transcription, and responsiveness to inflammation. In general, AMs developing under Scgb1a1deficiency were skewed toward an inflammatory phenotype, whereas exogenous supplementation of recombinant SCGB1A1 protein exhibited anti-inflammatory effects on AM activation. While it is imperative to maintain physiologic levels of SCGB1A1 in the lung milieu for an optimal SteadyState respiration, we speculate that a lung locale overexpression of Scgb1a1 via gene therapy or an airway delivery of recombinant protein might be helpful in curbing lung inflammation and cytokine surge in the management of COVID-19 and other inflammatory lung diseases.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) repository with accession number GSE148647 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/geo/query/ acc.cgi?acc=GSE148647).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO, United States.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MX performed data analysis and manuscript writing. WY performed sequence data analysis and interpretation. XW

reviewed the manuscript. DN designed the study, and performed data analysis and manuscript writing and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

XW was supported by a grant from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81800659).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Anil Mukherjee, NICHD and Dr. Shioko Kimura, NCI for kindly providing the breeding pairs of Scgb1a1

REFERENCES

- 1. University JH. Johns Hopkins Experts in Global Public Health, Infectious Disease, and Emergency Preparedness Have Been at the Forefront of the International Response to COVID-19. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins (2020).
- Dong E, Du H, Gardner L. An interactive web-based dashboard to track COVID-19 in real time. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2020) 20:533–4. doi: 10.1016/ S1473-3099(20)30120-1
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. *New Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:1708–20.
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet (Lond Engl).* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3
- Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ. COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. *Lancet* (*Lond Engl*). (2020) 395:1033–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30628-0
- Perdiguero GE, Klapproth K, Schulz C, Busch K, Azzoni E, Crozet L, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythromyeloid progenitors. *Nature*. (2015) 518:547–51. doi: 10.1038/nature13989
- Guilliams M, De Kleer I, Henri S, Post S, Vanhoutte L, De Prijck S, et al. Alveolar macrophages develop from fetal monocytes that differentiate into long-lived cells in the first week of life via GM-CSF. J Exp Med. (2013) 210:1977–92. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131199
- Cardani A, Boulton A, Kim TS, Braciale TJ. Alveolar macrophages prevent lethal influenza pneumonia by inhibiting infection Of Type-1 alveolar epithelial cells. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006140. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1006140
- Ghoneim HE, Thomas PG, McCullers JA. Depletion of alveolar macrophages during influenza infection facilitates bacterial superinfections. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:1250–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300014
- MacLean JA, Xia W, Pinto CE, Zhao L, Liu HW, Kradin RL. Sequestration of inhaled particulate antigens by lung phagocytes. A mechanism for the effective inhibition of pulmonary cell-mediated immunity. *Am J Pathol.* (1996) 148:657–66.
- Nakamura T, Abu-Dahab R, Menger MD, Schafer U, Vollmar B, Wada H, et al. Depletion of alveolar macrophages by clodronate-liposomes aggravates ischemia-reperfusion injury of the lung. *J Heart Lung Transplant*. (2005) 24:38–45. doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2003.10.007
- Schneider C, Nobs SP, Heer AK, Kurrer M, Klinke G, van Rooijen N, et al. Alveolar macrophages are essential for protection from respiratory failure and associated morbidity following influenza virus infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2014) 10:e1004053. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004053
- Allard B, Panariti A, Martin JG. Alveolar macrophages in the resolution of inflammation, tissue repair, and tolerance to infection. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1777. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01777

(also known as Uteroglobin) gene knockout mouse utilized in this study. We further appreciate generous support from the Department of Surgery, Washington University School of Medicine to conduct this study. We devoted their personal time for the data analysis and manuscript drafting. DN would like to acknowledge any early ideas he might have perceived during his past faculty tenure and NIH R01 grant attempt while at Dignity Health.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.584310/full#supplementary-material

- Macdonald DC, Singh H, Whelan MA, Escors D, Arce F, Bottoms SE, et al. Harnessing alveolar macrophages for sustained mucosal T-cell recall confers long-term protection to mice against lethal influenza challenge without clinical disease. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:89–100. doi: 10.1038/mi. 2013.27
- Benoit A, Huang Y, Proctor J, Rowden G, Anderson R. Effects of alveolar macrophage depletion on liposomal vaccine protection against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV). *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2006) 145:147–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03114.x
- Nayak DK, Zhou F, Xu M, Huang J, Tsuji M, Yu J, et al. Zbtb7a induction in alveolar macrophages is implicated in anti-HLA-mediated lung allograft rejection. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aal1243 9:398.
- Nayak DK, Zhou F, Xu M, Huang J, Tsuji M, Hachem R, et al. Longterm persistence of donor alveolar macrophages in human lung transplant recipients that influences donor specific immune responses. *Am J Transplant*. (2016) 16:2300–11. doi: 10.1111/ajt.13819
- Losa García JE, Rodríguez FM, Martín de Cabo MR. García SMJ, Losada JP, Villarón LG, et al. Evaluation of inflammatory cytokine secretion by human alveolar macrophages. *Mediators Inflamm.* (1999) 8:43–51. doi: 10. 1080/09629359990711
- Reynolds SD, Malkinson AM. Clara cell: progenitor for the bronchiolar epithelium. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2010) 42:1–4.doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2009. 09.002
- Zheng D, Limmon GV, Yin L, Leung NH, Yu H, Chow VT, et al. A cellular pathway involved in Clara cell to alveolar type II cell differentiation after severe lung injury. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e71028. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071028
- Zheng D, Yin L, Chen J. Evidence for Scgb1a1(+) cells in the generation of p63(+) cells in the damaged lung parenchyma. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2014) 50:595–604. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2013-0327OC
- Zheng D, Soh BS, Yin L, Hu G, Chen Q, Choi H, et al. Differentiation of club cells to alveolar epithelial cells in vitro. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:41661. doi: 10.1038/srep41661
- Reynolds SD, Hong KU, Giangreco A, Mango GW, Guron C, Morimoto Y, et al. Conditional clara cell ablation reveals a self-renewing progenitor function of pulmonary neuroendocrine cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2000) 278:L1256–63. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.2000.278.6.L1256
- Mukherjee AB, Zhang Z, Chilton BS. Uteroglobin: a steroid-inducible immunomodulatory protein that founded the Secretoglobin superfamily. *Endocrine Rev.* (2007) 28:707–25. doi: 10.1210/er.2007-0018
- Mandal AK, Ray R, Zhang Z, Chowdhury B, Pattabiraman N, Mukherjee AB. Uteroglobin inhibits prostaglandin F2alpha receptor-mediated expression of genes critical for the production of pro-inflammatory lipid mediators. *J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:32897–904. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502375200
- Mandal AK, Zhang Z, Ray R, Choi MS, Chowdhury B, Pattabiraman N, et al. Uteroglobin represses allergen-induced inflammatory response by blocking PGD2 receptor-mediated functions. *J Exp Med.* (2004) 199:1317–30. doi: 10. 1084/jem.20031666

- Chowdhury B, Mantile-Selvaggi G, Miele L, Cordella-Miele E, Zhang Z, Mukherjee AB. Lys 43 and Asp 46 in alpha-helix 3 of uteroglobin are essential for its phospholipase A2 inhibitory activity. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2002) 295:877–83. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02) 00767-2
- Okutani R, Itoh Y, Yamada T, Yamaguchi T, Singh G, Yagisawa H, et al. Preparation and characterization of human recombinant protein 1/Clara cell M(r) 10,000 protein. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem*. (1996) 34:691–6. doi: 10.1515/cclm.1996.34.9.691
- Lesur O, Bernard A, Arsalane K, Lauwerys R, Bégin R, Cantin A, et al. Clara cell protein (CC-16) induces a phospholipase A2-mediated inhibition of fibroblast migration in vitro. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1995) 152:290–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.152.1.7541278
- Long XB, Hu S, Wang N, Zhen HT, Cui YH, Liu Z. Clara cell 10-kDa protein gene transfection inhibits NF-κB activity in airway epithelial cells. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e35960. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.003 5960
- Pang M, Wang H, Bai JZ, Cao D, Jiang Y, Zhang C, et al. Recombinant rat CC16 protein inhibits LPS-induced MMP-9 expression via NF-κB pathway in rat tracheal epithelial cells. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. (2015) 240:1266–78.doi: 10.1177/1535370215570202
- 32. Matsumoto T, Fujita M, Hirano R, Uchino J, Tajiri Y, Fukuyama S, et al. Chronic. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. (2016) 11:2321-7.
- Wang SZ, Rosenberger CL, Bao YX, Stark JM, Harrod KS. Clara cell secretory protein modulates lung inflammatory and immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:1051–60. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.171.2.1051
- Harrod KS, Mounday AD, Stripp BR, Whitsett JA. Clara cell secretory protein decreases lung inflammation after acute virus infection. *Am J Physiol.* (1998) 275(5 Pt 1):L924–30. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.1998.275.5.L924
- Kropski JA, Fremont RD, Calfee CS, Ware LB. Clara cell protein (CC16), a marker of lung epithelial injury, is decreased in plasma and pulmonary edema fluid from patients with acute lung injury. *Chest.* (2009) 135:1440–7. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-2465
- Bernard AM, Gonzalez-Lorenzo JM, Siles E, Trujillano G, Lauwerys R. Early decrease of serum Clara cell protein in silica-exposed workers. *Eur Respir J.* (1994) 7:1932–7.
- Zhu L, Di PY, Wu R, Pinkerton KE, Chen Y. Repression of CC16 by cigarette smoke (CS) exposure. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0116159. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0116159
- Blomberg A, Mudway I, Svensson M, Hagenbjork-Gustafsson A, Thomasson L, Helleday R, et al. Clara cell protein as a biomarker for ozone-induced lung injury in humans. *Eur Respir J.* (2003) 22:883–8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03. 00048203
- Bourdin A, Mifsud NA, Chanez B, McLean C, Chanez P, Snell G, et al. Donor clara cell secretory protein polymorphism is a risk factor for bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after lung transplantation. *Transplantation*. (2012) 94:652–8.doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31825ffca6
- Kelly FL, Kennedy VE, Jain R, Sindhwani NS, Finlen Copeland CA, Snyder LD, et al. Epithelial clara cell injury occurs in bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome after human lung transplantation. *Am J Transplant.* (2012) 12:3076–84. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04201.x
- Shah RJ, Wickersham N, Lederer DJ, Palmer SM, Cantu E, Diamond JM, et al. Preoperative plasma club (clara) cell secretory protein levels are associated with primary graft dysfunction after lung transplantation. *Am J Transplant*. (2014) 14:446–52. doi: 10.1111/ajt.12541
- 42. Nomori H, Horio H, Fuyuno G, Kobayashi R, Morinaga S, Hirabayashi Y. Protein 1 (Clara cell protein) serum levels in healthy subjects and patients with bacterial pneumonia. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1995) 152:746–50. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.152.2.7633737
- Kurowski M, Jurczyk J, Jarzebska M, Moskwa S, Makowska JS, Krysztofiak H, et al. Association of serum Clara cell protein CC16 with respiratory infections and immune response to respiratory pathogens in elite athletes. *Respirat Res.* (2014) 15:45. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-15-45
- Shijubo N, Itoh Y, Yamaguchi T, Sugaya F, Hirasawa M, Yamada T, et al. Serum levels of Clara cell 10-kDa protein are decreased in patients with asthma. *Lung.* (1999) 177:45–52. doi: 10.1007/PL00007626

- Lensmar C, Nord M, Gudmundsson GH, Roquet A, Andersson O, Jörnvall H, et al. Decreased pulmonary levels of the anti-inflammatory Clara cell 16 kDa protein after induction of airway inflammation in asthmatics. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2000) 57:976–81. doi: 10.1007/PL00000738
- 46. Yoshikawa S, Miyahara T, Reynolds SD, Stripp BR, Anghelescu M, Eyal FG, et al. Clara cell secretory protein and phospholipase A2 activity modulate acute ventilator-induced lung injury in mice. *J Appl Physiol.* (2005) 98:1264–71. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.01150.2004
- Westphalen K, Gusarova GA, Islam MN, Subramanian M, Cohen TS, Prince AS, et al. Sessile alveolar macrophages communicate with alveolar epithelium to modulate immunity. *Nature*. (2014) 506:503–6. doi: 10.1038/nature12902
- Zhang Z, Kundu GC, Yuan CJ, Ward JM, Lee EJ, DeMayo F, et al. Severe fibronectin-deposit renal glomerular disease in mice lacking uteroglobin. *Science (New York N Y).* (1997) 276:1408–12. doi: 10.1126/science.276.5317. 1408
- Dutta S, Sengupta P. Men and mice: relating their ages. Life Sci. (2016) 152:244–8. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.10.025
- Nayak DK, Mendez O, Bowen S, Mohanakumar T. Isolation and in vitro culture of murine and human alveolar macrophages. J Vis Exp. (2018) 134:57287.doi: 10.3791/57287
- Luo W, Friedman MS, Shedden K, Hankenson KD, Woolf PJ. GAGE: generally applicable gene set enrichment for pathway analysis. *BMC Bioinformat.* (2009) 10:161. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-10-161
- 52. Misharin AV, Morales-Nebreda L, Reyfman PA, Cuda CM, Walter JM, McQuattie-Pimentel AC, et al. Monocyte-derived alveolar macrophages drive lung fibrosis and persist in the lung over the life span. *J Exp Med.* (2017) 4:2387–404.
- Zheng Z, Chiu S, Akbarpour M, Sun H, Reyfman PA, Anekalla KR, et al. Donor pulmonary intravascular nonclassical monocytes recruit recipient neutrophils and mediate primary lung allograft dysfunction. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:394. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aal4508
- Stone KC, Mercer RR, Gehr P, Stockstill B, Crapo JD. Allometric relationships of cell numbers and size in the mammalian lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (1992) 6:235–43.doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/6.2.235
- Li W, Moore MJ, Vasilieva N, Sui J, Wong SK, Berne MA, et al. Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is a functional receptor for the SARS coronavirus. *Nature*. (2003) 426:450–4. doi: 10.1038/nature02145
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. *Cell.* (2020) 181:271–80.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.052
- 57. Ding Y, He L, Zhang Q, Huang Z, Che X, Hou J, et al. Organ distribution of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) associated coronavirus (SARS-CoV) in SARS patients: implications for pathogenesis and virus transmission pathways. *J Pathol.* (2004) 203:622–30. doi: 10.1002/path.1560
- Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis ML, Lely AT, Navis G, van Goor H. Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J Pathol. (2004) 203:631–7. doi: 10.1002/path.1570
- He L, Ding Y, Zhang Q, Che X, He Y, Shen H, et al. Expression of elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in SARS-CoV-infected ACE2+ cells in SARS patients: relation to the acute lung injury and pathogenesis of SARS. J Pathol. (2006) 210:288–97. doi: 10.1002/path.2067
- Wiener RS, Cao YX, Hinds A, Ramirez MI, Williams MC. Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 is primarily epithelial and is developmentally regulated in the mouse lung. J Cell Biochem. (2007) 101:1278–91. doi: 10.1002/jcb.21248
- Brake S, Barnsley K, Lu W, McAlinden K, Eapen M, Sohal S. Smoking upregulates angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptor: a potential adhesion site for novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (Covid-19). J Clin Med. (2020) 9:841. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030841
- Funk CJ, Wang J, Ito Y, Travanty EA, Voelker DR, Holmes KV, et al. Infection of human alveolar macrophages by human coronavirus strain 229E. J Gen Virol. (2012) 93(Pt 3):494–503. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.038414-0
- Elizur A, Adair-Kirk TL, Kelley DG, Griffin GL, deMello DE, Senior RM. Clara cells impact the pulmonary innate immune response to LPS. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2007) 293:L383–92. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00024. 2007

- 64. Gamez AS, Gras D, Petit A, Knabe L, Molinari N, Vachier I, et al. Supplementing defect in club cell secretory protein attenuates airway inflammation in COPD. *Chest.* (2015) 147:1467–76. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-1174
- Ruan Q, Yang K, Wang W, Jiang L, Song J. Clinical predictors of mortality due to COVID-19 based on an analysis of data of 150 patients from Wuhan, China. *Intens Care Med.* (2020) 46:846–8. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-05991-x
- Hartwig SM, Holman KM, Varga SM. Depletion of alveolar macrophages ameliorates virus-induced disease following a pulmonary coronavirus infection. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e90720. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090720

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Xu, Yang, Wang and Nayak. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Liver X Receptors: Regulators of Cholesterol Metabolism, Inflammation, Autoimmunity, and Cancer

Maria Teresa Bilotta^{1†}, Sara Petillo¹, Angela Santoni^{1,2,3} and Marco Cippitelli^{1*}

¹ Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Istituto Pasteur-Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Rome, Italy, ³ Istituto Mediterraneo di Neuroscienze Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Francesca Velotti, University of Tuscia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Angela Bonura, National Research Council (CNR), Italy Mirella Giovarelli, University of Turin, Italy

> *Correspondence: Marco Cippitelli marco.cippitelli@uniroma1.it

[†]Present address:

Maria Teresa Bilotta, Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 July 2020 Accepted: 12 October 2020 Published: 03 November 2020

Citation:

Bilotta MT, Petillo S, Santoni A and Cippitelli M (2020) Liver X Receptors: Regulators of Cholesterol Metabolism, Inflammation, Autoimmunity, and Cancer. Front. Immunol. 11:584303. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.584303 The interplay between cellular stress and immune response can be variable and sometimes contradictory. The mechanisms by which stress-activated pathways regulate the inflammatory response to a pathogen, in autoimmunity or during cancer progression remain unclear in many aspects, despite our recent knowledge of the signalling and transcriptional pathways involved in these diseases. In this context, over the last decade many studies demonstrated that cholesterol metabolism is an important checkpoint for immune homeostasis and cancer progression. Indeed, cholesterol is actively metabolized and can regulate, through its mobilization and/or production of active derivatives, many aspects of immunity and inflammation. Moreover, accumulation of cholesterol has been described in cancer cells, indicating metabolic addiction. The nuclear receptors liver-X-receptors (LXRs) are important regulators of intracellular cholesterol and lipids homeostasis. They have also key regulatory roles in immune response, as they can regulate inflammation, innate and adaptive immunity. Moreover, activation of LXRs has been reported to affect the proliferation and survival of different cancer cell types that show altered metabolic pathways and accumulation of cholesterol. In this minireview we will give an overview of the recent understandings about the mechanisms through which LXRs regulate inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer, and the therapeutic potential for future treatment of these diseases through modulation of cholesterol metabolism.

Keywords: liver-X-receptor, cholesterol, inflammation, autoimmunity, cancer metabolism, antitumor immune responses

INTRODUCTION

Cholesterol metabolism is deeply linked to different aspects of immunity and inflammation. It is generally thought as an exogenous player on immunity during disease, as in the case of pathologic cholesterol overloading of foam cells in atherosclerosis or more in general in hypercholesterolaemia. However, increasing evidences have recently changed this view by demonstrating that a number of

55

immune receptors and transcription factors such as Toll-like Receptors (TLRs), C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 2 (CXCR2), Stimulator of IFN genes (STING) and retinoic acid-related orphan receptor- γ t (ROR- γ t) are profoundly regulated by sterols (1–7). Moreover, regulation of intracellular cholesterol homeostasis controls lymphocyte proliferation and adaptive immune responses (8).

In this review we will discuss recent literature regarding aspects of lipid and cholesterol metabolism in tissues homeostasis, providing to the readers a synthetic overview of the main connections and regulatory interactions between cholesterol cellular metabolism and the activity of LXRs in the context of inflammation, autoimmunity and cancer. LXRs are transcription factors able to regulate specific gene networks implicated in cholesterol and lipid metabolism both in homeostatic and pathological conditions. Moreover, LXRs can mediate antiinflammatory activities and modulate the immune response, promoting the expression of mediators which have a role in the control of inflammatory disorders and in the response to microbial infection. In a different scenario, accumulation of cholesterol has been also described in many types of cancer cells indicating metabolic addiction. This further expands the possible implications of its dysregulation in cancer progression (9, 10), configuring cholesterol as an important metabolic determinant. LXRs play relevant roles in cancer biology and in antitumor immune responses, opening new therapeutic possibilities (Figure 1) and (Table 1).

LXRS: A LINK BETWEEN LIPID METABOLISM AND IMMUNE RESPONSE

LXRs are transcription factors belonging to the nuclear receptors (NRs) superfamily. They are master regulators of cholesterol and lipid intracellular homeostasis (47). There are two isoforms of LXRs, LXR α (NR1H3), and LXR β (NR1H2) (48, 49) that share extensive sequence homology [(77% identity in both the DNA binding domain (DBD) and ligand binding domain (LBD)]. Despite this similarity, they have rather different expression patterns (50); indeed, the expression of these NRs depends on the cell type and tissues analyzed, with LXR α more expressed in liver, intestine, adipose tissue and cells of the myelomonocytic lineage, while LXR β is expressed more ubiquitously (51). Thus, their transcriptional role seems to be determined by their relative expression levels in specific tissues or cells, although important differences have also been identified in vivo between the two isoforms (52).

Different studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* have characterized a number of cholesterol derivatives including oxysterols, oxidized forms of cholesterol and cholesterol precursors (e.g., desmosterol) as LXR activators, able to bind with different affinities to the LXR LBD (47, 53, 54). When these endogenous ligands, or synthetic pharmacological agonists, trigger activation of LXRs, they heterodimerize with retinoid X receptors (RXR) and bind to target gene promoters on LXR-responsive-elements (LXREs), canonical binding sites composed of a repeated 6-mer sequence (5'-AGGTCA-3') separated by four nucleotides (55).



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of LXRs activators and the different effects on regulated genes and pathways involved in cholesterol and lipid homeostasis, regulation of immune system and cancer proliferation and progression. When these ligands trigger the activation of LXRs, they heterodimerize with RXR and bind to target gene promoters on LXR-responsive-elements, regulating the transcription and expression of specific target genes.

TABLE 1 | Activities of LXR in inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer.

LXR, Inflammation, and Autoimmunity

LXR/cholesterol-mediated responses	Immune mechanisms	Experimental models
Cholesterol enrichment in macrophage plasma membrane promotes the activity of TLRs (11, 12).	Cholesterol crystals uptake in macrophages activate NLRP3/inflammasome, and the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and IL-18 (13).	Atherosclerosis susceptibility (14). Atherosclerosis plaque (13).
Upregulation of ABCA1 and ABCG1 on engulfed apoptotic cells (15, 16). Differentiation of M2 macrophages (15, 16).	Prevention immune system anomalous activation (15, 16).	Efferocytosis (15, 16).
Transrepression: LXR binds to the NCoR-SMRT co-repressor preventing signal-dependent clearance from the promoter of pro- inflammatory genes (17, 18).	Transcriptional repression of NF-kB, AP-1, STAT1. Inhibition of primary cytokine production (17, 19, 20). Repression of pro-inflammatory cytokine maturation to their active form (e.g., IL-18) (21).	Inflammation and autoimmune diseases (atherosclerosis, dermatitis, neuroinflammation, lupus and arthritis) (22–23).
Indirect activity on inflammation: induction of IcPUFAs (e.g., omega 3 fatty acid) (24).	Decrease of transactivation mediated by NF-kB of inflammatory genes (24).	Inflammation control.
LXRα maintains BBB integrity and its activation modulates the pro-inflammatory response in astrocytes/microglia (25–27). Activation of LXR leads SREBP-1 to act on IL-17 promoter (28).	Reduced production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-17 and IFN-γ and reduced expression of IL-23R (28, 29).	Demyelinating disease (30).
Activation of LXR by pharmacologic agonists or ligands present in synovial fluid.	Decreased pro-inflammatory cytokines production in CIA models (23, 31–32). Enhanced TLR-driven cytokines and chemokines secretion in RA synovitis (33–34).	Rheumatoid Arthritis (35). CIA models (23, 31–32).
LXR activation mediates anti-inflammatory effects in colon epithelial cells (36). Lack of LXR induces colitis in DSS and TNBS murine models.	LXR activation can suppress Th1 and Th17 polarization <i>in vitro</i> and promote the differentiation of gut associated Tregs (37).	Intestinal bowel disease (36, 37).
LXR and Cancer		
LXR-mediated cellular response	Immune mechanisms	Cancer models and LXR activity

LAR-mediated cellular response	Immune mechanisms	Cancer models and LXR activity
Induction of cholesterol efflux and reduction of its uptake with	Decrease MDSCs through the induction of ApoE and	Glioblastoma multiforme
consequent reduced tumor cell proliferation and survival (38–39).	potentiate activation of cytotoxic lymphocytes (43).	(38–39)
Reduced expression/activity of cell-cycle regulators (SPK2) (40),	Oxysterols impairs DC migration through the inhibition of	Non-small-cell lung
higher expression of cell-cycle inhibitors (p21, p27) and decreased	CCR7 (44).	carcinoma (NSCLC) (9)
phospho-RB protein levels (41, 42).	Activation of LXR α in macrophages stimulates	Prostatic carcinoma (9)
Delayed progression of androgen-dependent tumors towards	phagocytosis of dying cancer cells (45).	Ovarian cancer (9)
androgen independence (41, 42).	LXR upregulates the expression of the	Colon cancer (9)
	NKG2D ligands MICA and MICB in MM and improved	Mammary and Skin cancer (9)
	NK cell cytotoxicity (46).	Multiple Myeloma (46)

The implications of direct LXR-mediated actions and regulation of cholesterol metabolism in the control of inflammatory diseases and cancer progression. This table summarizes the different experimental models and the roles of LXR in these pathologic conditions.

To activate target gene transcription, unliganded LXRs and corepressors such as nuclear receptor corepressor 1 (NCoR1) and silencing mediator of retinoic acid and thyroid hormone receptor (SMRT), bound to LXREs, have to be displaced from chromatin to allow the binding of transcriptional co-activators [i.e., nuclear receptor co-activator 1 (NCOA1) and activating signal cointegrator 2 (ASC2)], leading to transcription (17).

Recent findings suggest that LXRs may be also recruited *de novo* to the promoter of target genes when triggered by ligands (18).

Once activated, they regulate the expression of genes involved in lipid and glucose metabolism (51, 56). In this context, LXRs are master regulators of cholesterol sensing; they counteract aberrant cellular sterol overload by upregulating the expression of sterol transporters such as the ATP binding cassette (ABC) family members ABCA1 and ABCG1, together with the transcription factors sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c (SREBP1c) and carbohydrate-response element-binding protein (ChREBP) that regulate critical lipogenic pathways. Moreover, the activation of LXRs also induces the expression of inducible degrader of the LDL-receptor (IDOL), which is able to reduce the expression of low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR)s on the cell surface and the uptake of LDL/cholesterol particles (57).

Besides the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis, genetic and pharmacological studies have pointed out the role of LXRs as an important link between lipid metabolism, regulation of immune cell function and inflammation (58). Indeed, these NRs can both promote and repress the expression of specific immune regulatory gene networks (59). As discussed below, LXRs can induce antiinflammatory activities in macrophages and Dendritic Cells (DCs) and represent a critical link between cholesterol metabolism, proliferation and migration of activated T and B lymphocytes (8, 15, 21, 28, 60–65), thus playing an important role in the control of inflammatory, autoimmune and infectious diseases.

LXRS, CHOLESTEROL, AND INFLAMMATION

Different pathways link inflammation to cholesterol metabolism and LXRs activity. Alteration of cellular cholesterol homeostasis

can both enhance or reduce innate receptor signalling and inflammasome activation. Cholesterol enrichment in macrophage plasma membrane promotes the activity of TLRs as in the case of the TLR4-MD2 and TLR4-CD14 complexes activated in response to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (11, 12). On the other hand, the activation of the reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) mediated by ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters limits the formation of cholesterol-enriched lipid rafts in the plasma membrane and/or in the endosomal system. This inhibits MyD88-dependent TLRs trafficking by selective reduction of free cholesterol content and suppresses macrophage inflammatory responses (66). This mechanism has been elegantly demonstrated in mouse models deficient for ABCA1 and ABCG1, shown to accumulate cholesterol in peritoneal macrophages and to exhibit enhanced inflammatory responses to TLR agonists (11). In line with these observations, in a model of atherosclerosis susceptibility, pathogens can interfere with macrophage cholesterol metabolism through inhibition of the LXRs. Here, the activation of TLR-3 and -4 by microbial ligands has been shown to repress the expression of selected target genes including ABCA1 in macrophages, as clearly shown in aortic tissue in vivo, with a mechanism connected to reduced cholesterol efflux from macrophages regulated by interferon regulatory factor-3 (IRF3)-mediated inhibition of LXRs on their target promoters (14). Activation of efferocytosis is also associated to the activity of LXRs, which results in the efflux of free cholesterol derived from engulfed apoptotic cells by upregulating ABCA1 and ABCG1 transporters. This mechanism, together with the LXR-mediated alternative (M2) macrophage differentiation, can prevent aberrant activation of the immune system (15, 16). Moreover, the removal of apoptotic cells helps avoiding autoimmunity, as shown in murine models of lupus-like autoimmunity where treatment with LXR agonists ameliorated disease progression (15, 67). In a different context, increased cellular content of cholesterol can trigger cholesterol crystal formation, as shown in atherosclerotic plaques. In this disease model, cholesterol crystals uptake or formation in macrophages has been shown to activate NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3)/inflammasome with the secretion of the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and IL-18 and to promote the progression of atherogenesis (13).

As shown for other NRs, LXRs are anti-inflammatory; they can inhibit the transcriptional induction of pro-inflammatory genes mediated by critical transcription factors as NF-kB, AP-1 or STAT-1. In this regard, pharmacological activation of LXRs has been shown to ameliorate the severity of the inflammatory response in murine models of atherosclerosis (22), neuroinflammation (30, 68), dermatitis (22, 69), lupus (67) and arthritis (23), inhibiting primary cytokine production. Mechanistically, studies using LXR agonists in macrophages have shown that, depending on the LXR isoform, these NRs can repress the induction of pro-inflammatory genes through a molecular mechanism known as "transrepression". Here, after histone deacetylase-4 (HDAC-4)-dependent conjugation of LXR with small ubiquitin-related modifier (SUMO)-2/3 at specific lysine residues in the LBD, LXR becomes able to bind to the NCoR-SMRT co-repressor, thus preventing signal-dependent

clearance from the promoters of pro-inflammatory genes (17, 19). With a different mechanism, LXRs can inhibit Interferon- γ -induced genes in astrocytes, where LXR α and LXR β are SUMO-conjugated by HDAC4 or by protein inhibitor of activated STAT1 (PIAS1), respectively, and interact with phosphorylated signal transducer and activator of transcription-1 (STAT-1) preventing its binding to gene promoters (20). Furthermore, LXRs activation can repress pro-inflammatory cytokine maturation to their active form as demonstrated for IL-18 and can induce specific endogenous inhibitors (i.e., IL-18BP) (21).

In addition to direct transrepression activity on proinflammatory genes, LXRs can mediate other important integrated mechanisms contributing to the control of inflammation. LXRs can induce the synthesis of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (lcPUFAs) such as omega 3 fatty acids. The presence of lcPUFAs can decrease transactivation mediated by NF-kB of inflammatory genes, modifying histone acetylation in their regulatory regions (24). Moreover, lcPUFAs have been shown to increase the production of eicosanoids and selected pro-resolving lipid mediators (70, 71). Interestingly, increased LXRs activity can also induce macrophage polarization toward a more pro-resolving phenotype, directly upregulating the expression of MER proto-oncogene Tyrosine Kinase (MERTK), a receptor that promotes the synthesis of mediators implicated in inflammation resolution (15, 72). Furthermore, as demonstrated in hepatic inflammation models, induction of the polyunsaturated phospholipids (PLs) remodeling enzyme lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (Lpcat3) by LXRs increases the formation of PLs and decreases membrane saturation, counteracting endoplasmic reticulum stress induced by fatty acids in hepatocytes, improving hepatic metabolic stress and inflammation by modulating aberrant c-Src activation (73). An additional consideration that can add a layer of complexity is that LXRs are highly expressed by haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and myeloid progenitor cells. In these cells, activation of LXRs can increase the ABCA1/ABCG1/apolipoprotein E (APOE)-mediated cholesterol efflux, which is able to reduce their proliferative responses to IL-3 and GM-CSF, thus indirectly modulating the production of inflammatory cells (74).

LXRS AND AUTOIMMUNITY

The activity of LXRs and cholesterol metabolites is implicated in the control and progression of several autoimmune diseases.

Altered lipid profiles have been associated with poor outcome of multiple sclerosis (MS) (75–80), an autoimmune disease characterized by inflammatory cell infiltrates and demyelination (81, 82). In this regard, obesity, among other environmental factors, has been described as a risk factor for MS in several epidemiological studies (83–86). In animal models of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), the most common experimental model for human inflammatory demyelinating disease, selected agonists of LXRs (e.g., T0901317) have been shown to improve the severity of central nervous system inflammation (30). In line with this

evidence, the activity of LXRa is indispensable for maintaining blood-brain barrier (BBB) integrity and its immune quiescence. Indeed, in a model of EAE, the specific knockout of $LXR\alpha$ in brain endothelial cells has been shown to increase BBB permeability and endothelial inflammation (25). Morover, activation of LXRs using agonists in vivo has been shown to repress the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-17 (28), together with IFNy and IL-23R expression (29). Noteworthy, Th17 cell differentiation is modulated by LXRs via induction of sterol regulatory elementbinding protein 1c (SREBP-1c), which is able to bind to the E-box element on the IL-17 promoter and to physically interact with the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), inhibiting its transcriptional activity (28). Interestingly, the activity of LXRs mediated by oxysterols can also modulate pro-inflammatory responses in microglial and astrocytes (26, 27) possibly contributing to ameliorate inflammation.

LXRs have also been hypothesized as a possible therapeutic target for rheumatoid arthritis (RA), a chronic autoimmune disorder characterized by infiltration of inflammatory leukocytes in the synovial compartment, which causes cartilage and bone damage (87). Initial conflicting reports have described both protective and promoting actions of LXRs-mediated pathways in murine models of inflammatory arthritis. LXR agonists such as T0901317 or GW3965, attenuated the symptoms, decreasing the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in different murine collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) models (23, 31, 32, 88) and suppressed inflammatory gene expressions in RA fibroblast-like synoviocytes (35). By contrast, other reports described increased inflammation and cartilage destruction mediated by ligand activated LXRs (TO901317 or GW3965) in CIA models and found that LXR pathways are significantly upregulated in RA synovial macrophages. Interestingly, in these models the activity of both LXR isoforms was required in control mice to induce the progression of inflammation, in respect to single LXR $\alpha^{-/-}$ or LXR $\beta^{-/-}$ mice (33), thus implying overlapping and exclusive effects in these models. Moreover, activation of LXRs by ligands present within synovial fluids enhanced TLR-driven cytokine and chemokine secretion, suggesting a novel mechanism that can promote RA synovitis (33, 34, 89).

In a different scenario, both LXR subtypes are expressed in human and murine colon and were described to mediate antiinflammatory effects in colon epithelial cells (36). Furthermore, in a murine experimental model of intestinal bowel disease (IBD), it was reported that LXR-deficient mice were more susceptible to dextran sodium sulphate (DSS) and 2,4,6trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis. In this regard, the activation of LXRs can suppress Th1 and Th17 polarization in vitro, lowering the expression of their secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines and promoting differentiation of protective gut-associated regulatory T cells in mice, where systemic LXR activation was obtained by oral treatment with the LXR agonist GW3965 (37). These data confirmed a dual role of LXR in the control of inflammation by the suppression of pro-inflammatory T cells and the parallel induction of regulatory T cells.

LXRS AS REGULATORS OF LIPID METABOLISM, CANCER PROGRESSION, AND ANTITUMOR IMMUNITY

Genes involved in cholesterol homeostasis are often mutated or dysregulated in cancer cells (10, 90). A higher intracellular cholesterol level due to an enhanced uptake by LDLRs, a decreased efflux by ABC transporters and the upregulation of *de novo* synthesis can sustain the metabolic need for cancer cell proliferation (90–93), and accumulation of cholesterol has been described in many types of tumors (9, 49, 91–93).

Cells usually obtain cholesterol via different mechanisms including direct synthesis via the transcriptional activity of SREBPs, which promote the transcription of enzymes involved in cholesterol and fatty acid biosynthesis [i.e., 3-hydroxy-3methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase (HMG-CoA) reductase] (94, 95). In this regard, the recent use of HMG-CoA inhibitors (Statins) to block the mevalonate pathway and cholesterol de novo biosynthesis showed promising results (96). However, cancer cells often gain selective proliferative advantage by enhancing LDLR-mediated uptake of exogenous cholesterol (38), rendering these therapies often unsuccessful. Perhaps, one of the best characterized examples of cancer cholesterol addiction is glioblastoma multiforme (GBM). The treatment of these cancer cells with LXR agonists induced degradation of LDLR and increased apoptosis in glioblastoma cells expressing mutant epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), where tumor growth and survival is strongly dependent on SREBP-1-mediated lipogenesis (38). Moreover, triggering of LXRs increases cellular cholesterol efflux by ABCA1, lowering its levels and inducing severe GBM cell death. Accordingly, LXR agonists (e.g., LXR-623) prolonged survival of mice models bearing GBM, indicating that targeting cholesterol metabolism may be a promising strategy in the treatment of this cancer (39, 97).

Pharmacological studies on various types of cancer models such as prostatic carcinoma, colon, mammary and skin cancer have shown that the activation of LXRs generates antiproliferative effects due to the destruction of growth signalling pathways and to the activation of pro-apoptotic signals (9). LXRs can reduce the expression/activity of cell-cycle regulators, as shown for S-phase Kinase associated protein (SPK2) in cancer cell lines (40) and, at the same time, are able to induce the expression of cell-cycle inhibitors as demonstrated for p21 and p27 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors) in prostate and ovarian cancer cells, with a concomitant reduction in phospho-RB protein levels (41, 98). Moreover, in mouse models, activation of LXRs delayed the progression of androgen-dependent tumors towards androgen independence (41, 42).

In addition to these direct activities on cancer cell metabolism and survival, in the last few years experimental evidences have highlighted the importance of LXRs in anti-tumor immune responses. In this context, the role of LXR activation is still controversial. Several tumors can produce oxysterols that play an essential role in cholesterol homeostasis by activating LXRs (99, 100), and many of these metabolites can have antiproliferative activity in cancer cells (101). However, oxysterols can also inhibit

the expression of CCR7 on DCs, a chemokine receptor critical for the migration of DCs to tumor-draining lymph nodes (44). Circulating and tumor-derived oxysterols have been also described to recruit pro-tumor neutrophils and to increase neo-angiogenesis and immunosuppression in a CXCR2-dependent and LXRindependent manner (6, 102). This highlights the capability of selected oxysterols to regulate a broad range of pro-tumor activities-depending on the LXR isoform expressed by the tissue from which tumor cells originate and on the surrounding microenvironment. Moreover, in breast cancer, 27hydroxycholesterol has been shown to act as an estrogen receptor agonist inducing tumor growth and metastasis (103). On the other hand, LXRs were reported to control cancer cell growth by inducing LXRB-dependent pyroptosis of cancer cells and the activation of LXRa in macrophages, promoted the phagocytosis of dying cancer cells (45). More recently, in different mouse cancer models treated with specific LXRs agonists (i.e., RGX-104), has been observed a slower tumor growth which correlated with a decreased expansion of myeloid derived suppressor cells (MDSCs); these data were also validated in cancer patients, in a multicentre dose escalation phase 1 trial (43). Moreover, RGX-104 also partially abrogated the immunosuppressive effects of radiotherapy in a murine model of Non-Small-Cell Lung Carcinoma (NSCLC) (104). Mechanistically,

the induction of ApoE, a transcriptional target of LXR, can induce MDSC depletion by triggering the low-density lipoprotein receptorrelated 8 (LRP8) receptor on these cells, and potentiate activation of cytotoxic lymphocytes. In these settings, activation of LXRs together with PD-1 inhibition, improved the efficacy of cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) and natural killer (NK) cells from cancer patients (43). In a different scenario, LXRs activation could upregulate MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence-A (MICA) and MICB expression in multiple myeloma cells, two ligands of the NK cell-activating receptor NK group 2 member D (NKG2D), by enhancing MICA promoter activity and inhibiting MICB degradation in lysosomes, thus improving NK cell-cytotoxicity (46).

CONCLUSION

The implication of cholesterol metabolism in the control of inflammatory diseases and cancer progression is the object of an interesting and controversial debate. Our increasing knowledge of the different roles mediated by LXRs in lipid homeostasis supports the idea that lipid metabolism and inflammation are closely connected and that their crosstalk is crucial for the evolution of different inflammatory diseases and, more in general, in the



FIGURE 2 | Summary of the most relevant pathways regulated by LXRs in the context of cholesterol homeostasis, inflammation, autoimmunity and tumor progression. These NRs act in a cell-, tissue- and context-dependent manner. In addition, many LXR-dependent and -independent pleiotropic effects mediated by oxysterols, produced in inflamed or tumoral microenvironments, add an additional level of complexity to these regulatory pathways. ABC, ATP binding cassette; AHR, anyl hydrocarbon receptor; APOE, apolipoprotein E; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte; DC, dendritic Cell; DSS, IDOL, inducible degrader of the LDL-receptor; IRF3, interferon regulatory factor 3; LBD, ligand binding domain; PUFA, long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid; LDLR, low-density lipoprotein receptor; LRP8, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related 8; MDSC, myeloid derived suppressor cells; MERTK, MER proto-oncogene tyrosine kinase; NK, natural killer; SREBP-1, sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1; TLR, Toll-like receptor.

regulation of the immune response. The involvement of specific pathways regulated by LXRs during tumor progression and the possibility to pharmacologically modulate LXR activity, as an additional weapon for cancer therapy and for immunotherapy, have opened new therapeutic possibilities in this context. However, the activities of these NRs are often cell-, tissue-, and context-dependent, which makes it difficult to fully characterize their effects in disease conditions and to optimize specific therapeutic interventions in inflammatory disorders or in cancer therapy. In addition, many LXR-dependent and -independent pleiotropic effects of oxysterols produced in inflamed or tumoral microenvironments have been described in recent years, adding additional levels of complexity to these regulatory pathways (Figure 2). Another important issue is whether synthetic ligands that uncouple the anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer effects of LXRs from their role in cholesterol homeostasis can be developed. This is particularly important also in the context of different metabolic disorders with increased risk of developing diseases such as type 2 diabetes or cardiovascular disease, where beneficial effects of LXRs have been described (105). At the moment, different synthetic LXRs agonists have been optimized; however, their clinical application is limited by undesirable hyperlipidemic

REFERENCES

- York AG, Williams KJ, Argus JP, Zhou QD, Brar G, Vergnes L, et al. Limiting Cholesterol Biosynthetic Flux Spontaneously Engages Type I IFN Signaling. *Cell* (2015) 163(7):1716–29. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.11.045
- Molnar E, Swamy M, Holzer M, Beck-Garcia K, Worch R, Thiele C, et al. Cholesterol and sphingomyelin drive ligand-independent T-cell antigen receptor nanoclustering. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(51):42664–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.386045
- Reboldi A, Dang EV, McDonald JG, Liang G, Russell DW, Cyster JG. Inflammation. 25-Hydroxycholesterol suppresses interleukin-1-driven inflammation downstream of type I interferon. *Science* (2014) 345 (6197):679–84. doi: 10.1126/science.1254790
- Tall AR, Yvan-Charvet L. Cholesterol, inflammation and innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(2):104–16. doi: 10.1038/nri3793
- Cyster JG, Dang EV, Reboldi A, Yi T. 25-Hydroxycholesterols in innate and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(11):731–43. doi: 10.1038/ nri3755
- Raccosta L, Fontana R, Maggioni D, Lanterna C, Villablanca EJ, Paniccia A, et al. The oxysterol-CXCR2 axis plays a key role in the recruitment of tumor-promoting neutrophils. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(9):1711–28. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130440
- Hu X, Wang Y, Hao LY, Liu X, Lesch CA, Sanchez BM, et al. Sterol metabolism controls T(H)17 differentiation by generating endogenous RORgamma agonists. *Nat Chem Biol* (2015) 11(2):141–7. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.1714
- Bensinger SJ, Bradley MN, Joseph SB, Zelcer N, Janssen EM, Hausner MA, et al. LXR signaling couples sterol metabolism to proliferation in the acquired immune response. *Cell* (2008) 134(1):97–111. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2008.04.052
- Lin CY, Gustafsson JA. Targeting liver X receptors in cancer therapeutics. Nat Rev Cancer (2015) 15(4):216–24. doi: 10.1038/nrc3912
- Kuzu OF, Noory MA, Robertson GP. The Role of Cholesterol in Cancer. Cancer Res (2016) 76(8):2063–70. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-2613
- 11. Yvan-Charvet L, Welch C, Pagler TA, Ranalletta M, Lamkanfi M, Han S, et al. Increased inflammatory gene expression in ABC transporter-deficient macrophages: free cholesterol accumulation, increased signaling via tolllike receptors, and neutrophil infiltration of atherosclerotic lesions.

effects and other adverse side effects encountered in the central nervous system (106–111). The future development of isoformand/or tissue-specific LXR modulators and the possibility to target LXR-interacting co-factors involved in LXR transcriptional activation will open new therapeutical possibilities for treating these diseases.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB and SP made substantial contributions to conception and design of the review. MC organized the study, together with AS, contributed to revision, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from MIUR Ateneo 2018 and PRIN 2017 to MC. The funders had no role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Circulation (2008) 118(18):1837-47. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 108.793869

- 12. Triantafilou M, Miyake K, Golenbock DT, Triantafilou K. Mediators of innate immune recognition of bacteria concentrate in lipid rafts and facilitate lipopolysaccharide-induced cell activation. *J Cell Sci* (2002) 115 (Pt 12):2603–11.
- Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, et al. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature* (2010) 464(7293):1357–61. doi: 10.1038/nature08938
- Castrillo A, Joseph SB, Vaidya SA, Haberland M, Fogelman AM, Cheng G, et al. and toll-like receptor signaling mediates bacterial and viral antagonism of cholesterol metabolism. *Mol Cell* (2003) 12(4):805–16. doi: 10.1016/ s1097-2765(03)00384-8
- A-Gonzalez N, Bensinger SJ, Hong C, Beceiro S, Bradley MN, Zelcer N, et al. P. Tontonoz and A. Castrillo: Apoptotic cells promote their own clearance and immune tolerance through activation of the nuclear receptor LXR. *Immunity* (2009) 31(2):245–58. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.06.018
- Fond AM, Lee CS, Schulman IG, Kiss RS, Ravichandran KS. Apoptotic cells trigger a membrane-initiated pathway to increase ABCA1. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(7):2748–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI80300
- Jakobsson T, Treuter E, Gustafsson JA, Steffensen KR. Liver X receptor biology and pharmacology: new pathways, challenges and opportunities. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2012) 33(7):394–404. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2012.03.013
- Boergesen M, Pedersen TA, Gross B, van Heeringen SJ, Hagenbeek D, Bindesboll C, et al. Genome-wide profiling of liver X receptor, retinoid X receptor, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha in mouse liver reveals extensive sharing of binding sites. *Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 32 (4):852–67. doi: 10.1128/MCB.06175-11
- Ghisletti S, Huang W, Jepsen K, Benner C, Hardiman G, Rosenfeld MG, et al. Cooperative NCoR/SMRT interactions establish a corepressor-based strategy for integration of inflammatory and anti-inflammatory signaling pathways. *Genes Dev* (2009) 23(6):681–93. doi: 10.1101/gad.1773109
- Lee JH, Park SM, Kim OS, Lee CS, Woo JH, Park SJ, et al. Differential SUMOylation of LXRalpha and LXRbeta mediates transrepression of STAT1 inflammatory signaling in IFN-gamma-stimulated brain astrocytes. *Mol Cell* (2009) 35(6):806–17. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.07.021
- 21. Pourcet B, Gage MC, Leon TE, Waddington KE, Pello OM, Steffensen KR, et al. The nuclear receptor LXR modulates interleukin-18 levels in

macrophages through multiple mechanisms. Sci Rep (2016) 6:25481. doi: 10.1038/srep25481

- Joseph SB, Castrillo A, Laffitte BA, Mangelsdorf DJ, Tontonoz P. Reciprocal regulation of inflammation and lipid metabolism by liver X receptors. *Nat Med* (2003) 9(2):213–9. doi: 10.1038/nm820
- Park MC, Kwon YJ, Chung SJ, Park YB, Lee SK. Liver X receptor agonist prevents the evolution of collagen-induced arthritis in mice. *Rheumatol* (Oxford) (2010) 49(5):882–90. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/keq007
- 24. Li P, Spann NJ, Kaikkonen MU, Lu M, Oh DY, Fox JN, et al. NCoR repression of LXRs restricts macrophage biosynthesis of insulin-sensitizing omega 3 fatty acids. *Cell* (2013) 155(1):200–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2013.08.054
- Wouters E, de Wit NM, Vanmol J, van der Pol SMA, van Het Hof B, Sommer D, et al. Liver X Receptor Alpha Is Important in Maintaining Blood-Brain Barrier Function. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:1811. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2019.01811
- Zhang-Gandhi CX, Drew PD. Liver X receptor and retinoid X receptor agonists inhibit inflammatory responses of microglia and astrocytes. J Neuroimmunol (2007) 183(1-2):50–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2006.11.007
- Secor McVoy JR, Oughli HA, Oh U. Liver X receptor-dependent inhibition of microglial nitric oxide synthase 2. J Neuroinflammation (2015) 12:27. doi: 10.1186/s12974-015-0247-2
- Cui G, Qin X, Wu L, Zhang Y, Sheng X, Yu Q, et al. Liver X receptor (LXR) mediates negative regulation of mouse and human Th17 differentiation. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(2):658–70. doi: 10.1172/JCI42974
- Xu J, Wagoner G, Douglas JC, Drew PD. Liver X receptor agonist regulation of Th17 lymphocyte function in autoimmunity. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 86 (2):401–9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1008600
- Hindinger C, Hinton DR, Kirwin SJ, Atkinson RD, Burnett ME, Bergmann CC, et al. Liver X receptor activation decreases the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neurosci Res (2006) 84(6):1225–34. doi: 10.1002/jnr.21038
- Chintalacharuvu SR, Sandusky GE, Burris TP, Burmer GC, Nagpal S. Liver X receptor is a therapeutic target in collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) 56(4):1365–7. doi: 10.1002/art.22528
- 32. Li N, Rivera-Bermudez MA, Zhang M, Tejada J, Glasson SS, Collins-Racie LA, et al. LXR modulation blocks prostaglandin E2 production and matrix degradation in cartilage and alleviates pain in a rat osteoarthritis model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(8):3734–9. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0911377107
- 33. Asquith DL, Miller AM, Reilly J, Kerr S, Welsh P, Sattar N, et al. Simultaneous activation of the liver X receptors (LXRalpha and LXRbeta) drives murine collagen-induced arthritis disease pathology. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2011) 70(12):2225–8. doi: 10.1136/ard.2011.152652
- Asquith DL, Miller AM, Hueber AJ, McKinnon HJ, Sattar N, Graham GJ, et al. Liver X receptor agonism promotes articular inflammation in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60(9):2655–65. doi: 10.1002/art.24717
- 35. Yoon CH, Kwon YJ, Lee SW, Park YB, Lee SK, Park MC. Activation of liver X receptors suppresses inflammatory gene expressions and transcriptional corepressor clearance in rheumatoid arthritis fibroblast like synoviocytes. J Clin Immunol (2013) 33(1):190–9. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9799-4
- Jakobsson T, Vedin LL, Hassan T, Venteclef N, Greco D, D'Amato M, et al. The oxysterol receptor LXRbeta protects against DSS- and TNBS-induced colitis in mice. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(6):1416–28. doi: 10.1038/ mi.2014.31
- Herold M, Breuer J, Hucke S, Knolle P, Schwab N, Wiendl H, et al. Liver X receptor activation promotes differentiation of regulatory T cells. *PloS One* (2017) 12(9):e0184985. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184985
- Guo D, Reinitz F, Youssef M, Hong C, Nathanson D, Akhavan D, et al. An LXR agonist promotes glioblastoma cell death through inhibition of an EGFR/AKT/SREBP-1/LDLR-dependent pathway. *Cancer Discov* (2011) 1 (5):442–56. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-11-0102
- 39. Lewis CA, Brault C, Peck B, Bensaad K, Griffiths B, Mitter R, et al. SREBP maintains lipid biosynthesis and viability of cancer cells under lipid- and oxygen-deprived conditions and defines a gene signature associated with poor survival in glioblastoma multiforme. *Oncogene* (2015) 34(40):5128–40. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.439

- Chuu CP, Lin HP. Antiproliferative effect of LXR agonists T0901317 and 22 (R)-hydroxycholesterol on multiple human cancer cell lines. *Anticancer Res* (2010) 30(9):3643–8.
- Chuu CP, Hiipakka RA, Kokontis JM, Fukuchi J, Chen RY, Liao S. Inhibition of tumor growth and progression of LNCaP prostate cancer cells in athymic mice by androgen and liver X receptor agonist. *Cancer Res* (2006) 66 (13):6482–6. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-0632
- Lee JH, Gong H, Khadem S, Lu Y, Gao X, Li S, et al. Androgen deprivation by activating the liver X receptor. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149(8):3778–88. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-1605
- Tavazoie MF, Pollack I, Tanqueco R, Ostendorf BN, Reis BS, Gonsalves FC, et al. LXR/ApoE Activation Restricts Innate Immune Suppression in Cancer. *Cell* (2018) 172(4):825–40 e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.12.026
- 44. Villablanca EJ, Raccosta L, Zhou D, Fontana R, Maggioni D, Negro A, et al. Tumor-mediated liver X receptor-alpha activation inhibits CC chemokine receptor-7 expression on dendritic cells and dampens antitumor responses. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(1):98–105. doi: 10.1038/nm.2074
- 45. Derangere V, Chevriaux A, Courtaut F, Bruchard M, Berger H, Chalmin F, et al. Liver X receptor beta activation induces pyroptosis of human and murine colon cancer cells. *Cell Death Differ* (2014) 21(12):1914–24. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.117
- 46. Bilotta MT, Abruzzese MP, Molfetta R, Scarno G, Fionda C, Zingoni A, et al. Activation of liver X receptor up-regulates the expression of the NKG2D ligands MICA and MICB in multiple myeloma through different molecular mechanisms. FASEB J (2019) 33(8):9489–504. doi: 10.1096/fj.201900319R
- 47. Janowski BA, Grogan MJ, Jones SA, Wisely GB, Kliewer SA, Corey EJ, et al. Structural requirements of ligands for the oxysterol liver X receptors LXRalpha and LXRbeta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1999) 96(1):266–71. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.1.266
- Apfel R, Benbrook D, Lernhardt E, Ortiz MA, Salbert G, Pfahl M. A novel orphan receptor specific for a subset of thyroid hormone-responsive elements and its interaction with the retinoid/thyroid hormone receptor subfamily. *Mol Cell Biol* (1994) 14(10):7025–35. doi: 10.1128/ mcb.14.10.7025
- Vedin LL, Gustafsson JA, Steffensen KR. The oxysterol receptors LXRalpha and LXRbeta suppress proliferation in the colon. *Mol Carcinog* (2013) 52 (11):835–44. doi: 10.1002/mc.21924
- Bookout AL, Jeong Y, Downes M, Yu RT, Evans RM, Mangelsdorf DJ. Anatomical profiling of nuclear receptor expression reveals a hierarchical transcriptional network. *Cell* (2006) 126(4):789–99. doi: 10.1016/ j.cell.2006.06.049
- Wang B, Rong X, Palladino END, Wang J, Fogelman AM, Martin MG, et al. Phospholipid Remodeling and Cholesterol Availability Regulate Intestinal Stemness and Tumorigenesis. *Cell Stem Cell* (2018) 22(2):206–220 e4. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.12.017
- A-Gonzalez N, Guillen JA, Gallardo G, Diaz M, de la Rosa JV, Hernandez IH, et al. The nuclear receptor LXRalpha controls the functional specialization of splenic macrophages. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(8):831–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.2622
- Janowski BA, Willy PJ, Devi TR, Falck JR, Mangelsdorf DJ. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR alpha. *Nature* (1996) 383(6602):728–31. doi: 10.1038/383728a0
- Yang C, McDonald JG, Patel A, Zhang Y, Umetani M, Xu F, et al. Sterol intermediates from cholesterol biosynthetic pathway as liver X receptor ligands. J Biol Chem (2006) 281(38):27816–26. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M603781200
- Pehkonen P, Welter-Stahl L, Diwo J, Ryynanen J, Wienecke-Baldacchino A, Heikkinen S, et al. Genome-wide landscape of liver X receptor chromatin binding and gene regulation in human macrophages. *BMC Genomics* (2012) 13(50):1–20. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-13-50
- Willy PJ, Umesono K, Ong ES, Evans RM, Heyman RA, Mangelsdorf DJ. LXR, a nuclear receptor that defines a distinct retinoid response pathway. *Genes Dev* (1995) 9(9):1033–45. doi: 10.1101/gad.9.9.1033
- Tontonoz P. Transcriptional and posttranscriptional control of cholesterol homeostasis by liver X receptors. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (2011) 76:129–37. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2011.76.010702
- Zelcer N, Tontonoz P. Liver X receptors as integrators of metabolic and inflammatory signaling. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(3):607–14. doi: 10.1172/ JCI27883

- Valledor AF. The innate immune response under the control of the LXR pathway. *Immunobiology* (2005) 210(2-4):127-32. doi: 10.1016/ j.imbio.2005.05.007
- Calkin AC, Tontonoz P. Liver x receptor signaling pathways and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2010) 30(8):1513–8. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.191197
- Traversari C, Sozzani S, Steffensen KR, Russo V. LXR-dependent and -independent effects of oxysterols on immunity and tumor growth. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(7):1896–903. doi: 10.1002/eji.201344292
- Beceiro S, Pap A, Czimmerer Z, Sallam T, Guillen JA, Gallardo G, et al. LXR nuclear receptors are transcriptional regulators of dendritic cell chemotaxis. *Mol Cell Biol* (2018) 38:1–18. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00534-17
- Geyeregger R, Shehata M, Zeyda M, Kiefer FW, Stuhlmeier KM, Porpaczy E, et al. Liver X receptors interfere with cytokine-induced proliferation and cell survival in normal and leukemic lymphocytes. *J Leukoc Biol* (2009) 86 (5):1039–48. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1008663
- Solt LA, Kamenecka TM, Burris TP. LXR-mediated inhibition of CD4+ T helper cells. *PloS One* (2012) 7(9):e46615. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046615
- Walcher D, Vasic D, Heinz P, Bach H, Durst R, Hausauer A, et al. LXR activation inhibits chemokine-induced CD4-positive lymphocyte migration. *Basic Res Cardiol* (2010) 105(4):487–94. doi: 10.1007/s00395-010-0092-5
- 66. Zhu X, Owen JS, Wilson MD, Li H, Griffiths GL, Thomas MJ, et al. Macrophage ABCA1 reduces MyD88-dependent Toll-like receptor trafficking to lipid rafts by reduction of lipid raft cholesterol. J Lipid Res (2010) 51(11):3196–206. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M006486
- Han S, Zhuang H, Shumyak S, Wu J, Xie C, Li H, et al. Liver X Receptor Agonist Therapy Prevents Diffuse Alveolar Hemorrhage in Murine Lupus by Repolarizing Macrophages. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:135:1–12. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00135
- Pascual-Garcia M, Rue L, Leon T, Julve J, Carbo JM, Matalonga J, et al. Reciprocal negative cross-talk between liver X receptors (LXRs) and STAT1: effects on IFN-gamma-induced inflammatory responses and LXRdependent gene expression. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(12):6520–32. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201393
- 69. Fowler AJ, Sheu MY, Schmuth M, Kao J, Fluhr JW, Rhein L, et al. Liver X receptor activators display anti-inflammatory activity in irritant and allergic contact dermatitis models: liver-X-receptor-specific inhibition of inflammation and primary cytokine production. J Invest Dermatol (2003) 120(2):246–55. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1747.2003.12033.x
- Serhan CN. Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. Nature (2014) 510(7503):92–101. doi: 10.1038/nature13479
- Serhan CN, Chiang N, Dalli J, Levy BD. Lipid mediators in the resolution of inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2014) 7(2):a016311. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a016311
- Choi JY, Seo JY, Yoon YS, Lee YJ, Kim HS, Kang JL. Mer signaling increases the abundance of the transcription factor LXR to promote the resolution of acute sterile inflammation. *Sci Signal* (2015) 8(365):ra21. doi: 10.1126/ scisignal.2005864
- Rong X, Albert CJ, Hong C, Duerr MA, Chamberlain BT, Tarling EJ, et al. LXRs regulate ER stress and inflammation through dynamic modulation of membrane phospholipid composition. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18(5):685–97. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.10.002
- Murphy AJ, Akhtari M, Tolani S, Pagler T, Bijl N, Kuo CL, et al. ApoE regulates hematopoietic stem cell proliferation, monocytosis, and monocyte accumulation in atherosclerotic lesions in mice. *J Clin Invest* (2011) 121 (10):4138–49. doi: 10.1172/JCI57559
- Giubilei F, Antonini G, Di Legge S, Sormani MP, Pantano P, Antonini R, et al. Blood cholesterol and MRI activity in first clinical episode suggestive of multiple sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2002) 106(2):109–12. doi: 10.1034/ j.1600-0404.2002.01334.x
- Weinstock-Guttman B, Zivadinov R, Mahfooz N, Carl E, Drake A, Schneider J, et al. Serum lipid profiles are associated with disability and MRI outcomes in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroinflammation* (2011) 8:127. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-8-127
- 77. Weinstock-Guttman B, Zivadinov R, Horakova D, Havrdova E, Qu J, Shyh G, et al. Lipid profiles are associated with lesion formation over 24 months in interferon-beta treated patients following the first demyelinating event. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2013) 84(11):1186–91. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-304740

- Stampanoni Bassi M, Iezzi E, Buttari F, Gilio L, Simonelli I, Carbone F, et al. Obesity worsens central inflammation and disability in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler* (2019) 26:1237–46. doi: 10.1177/1352458519853473
- Tettey P, Simpson S Jr., Taylor B, Blizzard L, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, et al. An adverse lipid profile is associated with disability and progression in disability, in people with MS. *Mult Scler* (2014) 20(13):1737-44. doi: 10.1177/1352458514533162
- Tettey P, Simpson S Jr., Taylor B, Blizzard L, Ponsonby AL, Dwyer T, et al. Adverse lipid profile is not associated with relapse risk in MS: results from an observational cohort study. *J Neurol Sci* (2014) 340(1–2):230–2. doi: 10.1016/ j.jns.2014.02.038
- Steinman L. Multiple sclerosis: a coordinated immunological attack against myelin in the central nervous system. *Cell* (1996) 85(3):299–302. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81107-1
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA. Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol (2015) 15(9):545–58. doi: 10.1038/nri3871
- Baidzajevas K, Hadadi E, Lee B, Lum J, Shihui F, Sudbery I, et al. Macrophage polarisation associated with atherosclerosis differentially affects their capacity to handle lipids. *Atherosclerosis* (2020) 305:10–8. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2020.05.003
- Bailly C, Vergoten G. Glycyrrhizin: An alternative drug for the treatment of COVID-19 infection and the associated respiratory syndrome? *Pharmacol Ther* (2020) 214:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2020.107618
- Thangapandi VR, Knittelfelder O, Brosch M, Patsenker E, Vvedenskaya O, Buch S, et al. Loss of hepatic Mboat7 leads to liver fibrosis. *Gut* (2020) 1–11. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320853
- 86. Rondanelli M, Perna S, Alalwan TA, Cazzola R, Gasparri C , Infantino V, et al. A structural equation model to assess the pathways of body adiposity and inflammation status on dysmetabolic biomarkers via red cell distribution width and mean corpuscular volume: a cross-sectional study in overweight and obese subjects. *Lipids Health Dis* (2020) 19(1):154. doi: 10.1186/s12944-020-01308-5
- Smolen JS, Aletaha D, McInnes IB. Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet* (2016) 388 (10055):2023–38. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30173-8
- Huang Y, Fu X, Lyu X, Xu Z, He Z, Zhang Y, et al. Activation of LXR attenuates collagen-induced arthritis via suppressing BLyS production. *Clin Immunol* (2015) 161(2):339–47. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2015.09.015
- Asquith DL, Ballantine LE, Nijjar JS, Makdasy MK, Patel S, Wright PB, et al. The liver X receptor pathway is highly upregulated in rheumatoid arthritis synovial macrophages and potentiates TLR-driven cytokine release. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2013) 72(12):2024–31. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202872
- Murai T. Cholesterol lowering: role in cancer prevention and treatment. *Biol Chem* (2015) 396(1):1–11. doi: 10.1515/hsz-2014-0194
- Bovenga F, Sabba C, Moschetta A. Uncoupling nuclear receptor LXR and cholesterol metabolism in cancer. *Cell Metab* (2015) 21(4):517–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.03.002
- Vedin LL, Lewandowski SA, Parini P, Gustafsson JA, Steffensen KR. The oxysterol receptor LXR inhibits proliferation of human breast cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* (2009) 30(4):575–9. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp029
- Lo Sasso G, Bovenga F, Murzilli S, Salvatore L, Di Tullio G, Martelli N, et al. Liver X receptors inhibit proliferation of human colorectal cancer cells and growth of intestinal tumors in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2013) 144(7):1497– 507, 1507 e1-13. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2013.02.005
- Horton JD, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. J Clin Invest (2002) 109(9):1125–31. doi: 10.1172/JCI15593
- 95. Yang J, Wang L, Jia R. Role of de novo cholesterol synthesis enzymes in cancer. J Cancer (2020) 11(7):1761–7. doi: 10.7150/jca.38598
- 96. Iannelli F, Lombardi R, Milone MR, Pucci B, De Rienzo S, Budillon A, et al. Targeting Mevalonate Pathway in Cancer Treatment: Repurposing of Statins. *Recent Pat Anticancer Drug Discov* (2018) 13(2):184–200. doi: 10.2174/1574892812666171129141211
- Villa GR, Hulce JJ, Zanca C, Bi J, Ikegami S, Cahill GL, et al. An LXR-Cholesterol Axis Creates a Metabolic Co-Dependency for Brain Cancers. *Cancer Cell* (2016) 30(5):683–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.09.008
- Fukuchi J, Kokontis JM, Hiipakka RA, Chuu CP, Liao S. Antiproliferative effect of liver X receptor agonists on LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64(21):7686–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2332

- 99. York AG, Bensinger SJ. Subverting sterols: rerouting an oxysterol-signaling pathway to promote tumor growth. J Exp Med (2013) 210(9):1653–6. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131335
- Dufour J, Viennois E, De Boussac H, Baron S, Lobaccaro JM. Oxysterol receptors, AKT and prostate cancer. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2012) 12(6):724– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2012.06.012
- 101. Lin CY, Huo C, Kuo LK, Hiipakka RA, Jones RB, Lin HP, et al. Cholestane-3beta, 5alpha, 6beta-triol suppresses proliferation, migration, and invasion of human prostate cancer cells. *PloS One* (2013) 8(6):e65734. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0065734
- 102. Baek AE, Yu YA, He S, Wardell SE, Chang CY, Kwon S, et al. The cholesterol metabolite 27 hydroxycholesterol facilitates breast cancer metastasis through its actions on immune cells. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):864. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-017-00910-z
- 103. McDonnell DP, Park S, Goulet MT, Jasper J, Wardell SE, Chang CY, et al. Obesity, cholesterol metabolism, and breast cancer pathogenesis. *Cancer Res* (2014) 74(18):4976–82. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-1756
- 104. Liang H, Shen X. LXR activation radiosensitizes non-small cell lung cancer by restricting myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2020) 528(2):330–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.04.137
- 105. Faulds MH, Zhao C, Dahlman-Wright K. Molecular biology and functional genomics of liver X receptors (LXR) in relationship to metabolic diseases. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2010) 10(6):692–7. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2010.07.003
- 106. Schultz JR, Tu H, Luk A, Repa JJ, Medina JC, Li L, et al. Role of LXRs in control of lipogenesis. *Genes Dev* (2000) 14(22):2831-8. doi: 10.1101/ gad.850400
- 107. Bradley MN, Hong C, Chen M, Joseph SB, Wilpitz DC, Wang X, et al. Ligand activation of LXR beta reverses atherosclerosis and cellular cholesterol

overload in mice lacking LXR alpha and apoE. J Clin Invest (2007) 117 (8):2337-46. doi: 10.1172/JCI31909

- 108. Joseph SB, Laffitte BA, Patel PH, Watson MA, Matsukuma KE, Walczak R, et al. Direct and indirect mechanisms for regulation of fatty acid synthase gene expression by liver X receptors. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(13):11019–25. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111041200
- 109. Joseph SB, McKilligin E, Pei L, Watson MA, Collins AR, Laffitte BA, et al. Synthetic LXR ligand inhibits the development of atherosclerosis in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2002) 99(11):7604–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.112059299
- 110. Katz A, Udata C, Ott E, Hickey L, Burczynski ME, Burghart P, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of single doses of LXR-623, a novel liver X-receptor agonist, in healthy participants. *J Clin Pharmacol* (2009) 49(6):643–9. doi: 10.1177/0091270009335768
- 111. Kirchgessner TG, Sleph P, Ostrowski J, Lupisella J, Ryan CS, Liu X, et al. Beneficial and Adverse Effects of an LXR Agonist on Human Lipid and Lipoprotein Metabolism and Circulating Neutrophils. *Cell Metab* (2016) 24 (2):223–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.07.016

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bilotta, Petillo, Santoni and Cippitelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Granzyme B in Inflammatory Diseases: Apoptosis, Inflammation, Extracellular Matrix Remodeling, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Fibrosis

Francesca Velotti^{1*}, Ilaria Barchetta², Flavia Agata Cimini² and Maria Gisella Cavallo²

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Helena Stabile, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

Reviewed by:

Steven Frisch, West Virginia University, United States Remo Castro Russo, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

> *Correspondence: Francesca Velotti velotti@unitus.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 July 2020 Accepted: 09 October 2020 Published: 11 November 2020

Citation:

Velotti F, Barchetta I, Cimini FA and Cavallo MG (2020) Granzyme B in Inflammatory Diseases: Apoptosis, Inflammation, Extracellular Matrix Remodeling, Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition and Fibrosis. Front. Immunol. 11:587581. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.587581 ¹ Department of Ecological and Biological Sciences (DEB), Tuscia University, Viterbo, Italy, ² Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

Inflammation is strictly interconnected to anti-inflammatory mechanisms to maintain tissue homeostasis. The disruption of immune homeostasis can lead to acute and chronic inflammatory diseases, as cardiovascular, pulmonary, metabolic diseases and cancer. The knowledge of the mechanisms involved in the development and progression of these pathological conditions is important to find effective therapies. Granzyme B (GrB) is a serine protease produced by a variety of immune, non-immune and tumor cells. Apoptotic intracellular and multiple extracellular functions of GrB have been recently identified. Its capability of cleaving extracellular matrix (ECM) components, cytokines, cell receptors and clotting proteins, revealed GrB as a potential multifunctional pro-inflammatory molecule with the capability of contributing to the pathogenesis of different inflammatory conditions, including inflammaging, acute and chronic inflammatory diseases and cancer. Here we give an overview of recent data concerning GrB activity on multiple targets, potentially allowing this enzyme to regulate a wide range of crucial biological processes that play a role in the development, progression and/or severity of inflammatory diseases. We focus our attention on the promotion by GrB of perforin-dependent and perforin-independent (anoikis) apoptosis, inflammation derived by the activation of some cytokines belonging to the IL-1 cytokine family, ECM remodeling, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and fibrosis. A greater comprehension of the pathophysiological consequences of GrBmediated multiple activities may favor the design of new therapies aim to inhibit different inflammatory pathological conditions such as inflammaging and age-related diseases, EMT and organ fibrosis.

Keywords: granzyme B, inflammatory cytokines, inflammaging, extracellular matrix remodeling, anoikis, apoptosis, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, fibrosis

INTRODUCTION

Inflammation is a physiological response to infections or tissue injury and is essential for survival, having beneficial effects towards the neutralization of dangerous or harmful agents. Inflammation is strictly interconnected with anti-inflammatory mechanisms, which control and resolve the inflammatory process to maintain immune homeostasis (1). Under some circumstances, this immune homeostasis is disrupted and inflammation becomes excessive and/or persistent, leading to the development of inflammatory diseases (1). In this context, aging can be characterized by an uncontrolled and unresolved chronic, low-grade inflammation, the so-called "inflamm-aging", which can lead to inflammatory age-related diseases, as cardiovascular, pulmonary, metabolic diseases (as type 2 diabetes, T2D) and cancer (2). Multiple factors underlie the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases and can lead to tissue fibrosis and organ dysfunction, associated with high morbidity and mortality (3). Therefore, the knowledge of mechanisms involved in the development and/or progression of these pathological conditions is important to find specific and effective therapies.

Granzyme B (GrB) is a serine protease traditionally known for its perforin-dependent pro-apoptotic function underlying the capability of cytotoxic immune cells, as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and natural killer (NK) cells, to kill tumor and virusinfected target cells (4-7). GrB expression has been recently demonstrated also in non-tumor or tumor immune and nonimmune cells (8). Indeed, GrB is produced and secreted by immune cells, like T and B cell subpopulations, monocyte/ macrophages, mast cells, and basophils (8-13), by nonimmune cells, like vascular smooth muscle cells (V-SMCs), pneumocytes, keratinocytes, and chondrocytes (12, 14-16), as well as by tumor cells, like leukemia cells and breast, urothelial, prostate, pancreatic and colorectal cancer cells (17-21) (Table 1). GrB not only exerts a perforin-dependent intracellular activity, but also an extracellular perforin-independent function, consisting in the cleavage of multiple extracellular substrates, as extracellular matrix (ECM) components, cytokines, cell receptors, angiogenic and clotting proteins (28, 49, 50). Hence, the pathophysiological function of GrB has been redefined and a putative role for GrB in the pathogenesis of inflammatory and age-related diseases has emerged (8, 29) (**Table 1**).

In this review, we discuss data concerning GrB activity on multiple targets involved in inflammation, potentially allowing this enzyme to regulate a wide range of crucial processes that play a role in inflammatory disease development, progression and severity. We focus our attention on the possible impact of GrB on inflammatory events leading to tissue fibrosis in both acute and age-related inflammatory diseases.

GRANZYME B AS A MULTI-TARGETED PRO-INFLAMMATORY MOLECULE IN INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

The recent discovery of multiple intracellular and extracellular substrates for GrB has revealed this protease as a potential multifunctional pro-inflammatory molecule, contributing to the pathogenesis of multiple pathological inflammatory conditions.

Elevated extracellular GrB levels were found in biological fluids, as in plasma from patients with acute myocardial infarction (36), atherosclerosis (37), obesity and T2D (51, 52), in broncho-alveolar lavage (BAL) in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), pneumonia, and asthma (8), and in the synovial fluid in rheumatoid arthritis (53).

Elevated GrB levels were also found in inflamed tissues, including V-SMCs and atherosclerotic plaque in cardiovascular diseases (14), CTLs, pneumocytes and alveolar macrophages in pulmonary diseases (12, 27), adipose tissue-T cells in obesity (33) and in skin diseases (49). Moreover, according to a putative contribution of GrB in inflammaging, increased GrB expression levels were found in the elderly affected by obesity, cardiovascular and skin diseases (29, 49, 54, 55).

GrB extracellular substrates include cytokines and ECM components (29, 31, 50). The potential pathophysiological consequences of their cleavage constitute the basis to envisage a crucial pro-inflammatory role for GrB in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases (29).

GrB has the ability to process and activate pro-inflammatory, pro-fibrotic and aging mediators belonging to the IL-1 cytokine

GrB producing cells	GrB targets	GrB-associated organ-specific diseases
 Cytotoxic lymphocytes (4, 7) 	♦ Normal Cells:	♦ Lung (22–27): COPD, RSV
(CTL, NK cells)	-smooth muscle cells (14)	infection, pneumonia, IPF
♦ Non-cytotoxic immune cells (8–13)	-endothelial cells (14)	
(monocytes/macrophages, B, T,	◆ Extracellular Molecules:	 Heart (32): cardiac fibrosis
granulocytes, mast cells,	-ECM proteins (28, 29)	♦ Adipose Tissue (33–35): adipose
dendritic cells)	(fibrinogen, fibronectin, laminin,	tissue fibrosis in metabolic diseases
♦Non-immune cells (12, 14–16)	smooth muscle cell matrix, VE-	♦ Blood vessels (8, 14, 36–48):
(V-SMC, pneumocytes,	cadherin, vitronectin, ZO-1)	atherosclerosis
keratinocytes, chondrocytes)	-ECM proteoglycans (30)	♦ Skin (29, 49): skin fibrosis
◆Tumor cells (17–21)	(decorin, biglycan, soluble β -glycan)	 Breast, urothelial, pancreatic,
(breast, urothelial, pancreatic,	-IL-1 family cytokines (29, 31)	colorectal carcinomas (18-21):
colorectal, prostate, leukemia)	(IL-1α, IL-18)	invasion and EMT

TABLE 1 | GrB in Inflammatory Diseases: GrB producing cells, GrB cellular and molecular targets, GrB-associated organ-specific diseases.

CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; NK, natural killer; V-SMC, vascular smooth muscle cells; ECM, extracellular matrix; VE, vascular endothelial; ZO-1, zonula occludens protein-1; IL, interleukin; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus; IPF, idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. family (31, 56). Indeed, GrB processes IL-18 from its inactive to its active form and IL-1 α into a significantly more potent proinflammatory fragment. IL-1 α enhances persistent inflammation and stimulates fibroblasts to produce more interstitial collagenase and ECM remodeling, regulating normal and aberrant tissue repair (56, 57). IL-1 α fragments, similar to those produced by GrB, were found in BAL in human airway inflammatory diseases, as COPD, cystic fibrosis and bronchiectasis (8), while GrB activity on IL-1 α was demonstrated *in vivo* in GrB knockout mice (29), strongly suggesting that this activity also exists *in vivo*.

GrB has also the ability to degrade several ECM components, including proteins, as fibronectin, vitronectin, laminin, SMC matrix, VE-cadherin, and fibrillin-1, as well as proteoglycan, as biglycan and decorin, indicating GrB as a crucial player in ECM remodeling (28–30). Indeed, ECM undergoes remodeling, that is degradation by proteases and renewal and repair by fibroblasts, thus regulating tissue homeostasis and acting on tissue healing. ECM components assist cell attachment, ligate receptors and store growth factors, regulating cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, and migration. Therefore, abnormal ECM remodeling can result in cell detachment-dependent apoptosis and alterations in cell proliferation, differentiation and migration, as observed in several inflammatory conditions, such as cardiovascular, pulmonary and metabolic diseases, obesity, and cancer progression and metastasis (58, 59). Hence, GrB capability of targeting multiple ECM components, might allow this enzyme to regulate several fundamental biological processes involved in the development and/or progression of inflammatory diseases.

Thus, considering the extracellular and intracellular GrB function and the context in which GrB is produced, this molecule has the potential to contribute to the pathogenesis of non-neoplastic and neoplastic inflammatory diseases through a multitude of mechanisms ranging from the induction of perforin-dependent and/or –independent apoptosis and the promotion of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and/ or fibrosis, as illustrated below (**Figure 1**).

GRANZYME B AND PERFORIN-DEPENDENT AND/OR PERFORIN-INDEPENDENT APOPTOSIS IN INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

Apoptosis promotes tissue injury during inflammation and is involved in the pathogenesis of acute and chronic inflammatory



FIGURE 1 | The potential contribution of extracellular and intracellular GrB functions to the development and/or the progression of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases (*left panel*) and to cancer invasion and metastasis (*right panel*). GrB is a multifunctional pro-inflammatory molecule regulating a wide range of inflammatory events. GrB produced by perforin-expressing immune cells (CTL and NK cells) can induce perforin-dependent cell apoptosis, while GrB produced by perforin-deficient immune (e.g. non-cytotoxic T and B cell subpopulations, monocyte/macrophages/myeloid-derived suppressor cells, mast cells, basophils, neutrophils), non-immune (e.g. vascular smooth muscle cells, pneumocytes) and tumor (e.g. breast, urothelial, prostate, pancreatic, colorectal) cells can induce anoikis (anchorage-dependent cell death). Extracellular GrB can promote activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-18 and IL-1α), ECM degradation/remodeling, pathologic EMT and tissue fibrosis. GrB, granzyme B; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocytes; NK, natural killer; ECM, extracellular matrix; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition; IL, interleukin; TGF-β, transforming growth factor-β.

diseases, as cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases and metabolic syndrome (60-62). The capability of immune and non-immune cell-derived GrB of inducing apoptosis makes GrB a potential important player of apoptosis-mediated tissue damage in inflammation. GrB can induce two kinds of apoptotic cell death, the intracellular perforin-dependent apoptosis (7) and the extracellular perforin-independent apoptosis, named anoikis (63). Anoikis is due to the detachment of cells from ECM and from neighboring cells, playing a role in preventing inappropriate cell translocation and attachment, and assisting appropriate tissue renewal (62). In cancer, anoikis resistance characterizes cancer cell anchorageindependent growth and EMT, contributing to cancer cell invasion and metastasis (62, 64, 65). In inflammatory diseases, as cardiovascular (66), pulmonary (67) and skin (49) diseases, and diabetes-related cardiovascular complications and retinopathy (62), aberrant anoikis is involved in excessive cell death and tissue injury.

A role for GrB-mediated apoptosis -either perforin-dependent apoptosis or anoikis- has been reported in inflammatory pulmonary diseases, including age-related diseases, as COPD (23, 38), and acute severe lung inflammatory diseases, as respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) pulmonary infections (24, 25). In COPD patients, GrB was identified in type II pneumocytes, alveolar macrophages and in bronchial and alveolar wallinfiltrating CTLs, suggesting a role for GrB in bronchial and alveolar cell apoptosis (8, 12, 22, 38). Of note, in COPD, increased GrB- and perforin-expressing CTLs were found in BAL and blood, and GrB-expressing T cells in BAL positively correlated with bronchial epithelial cell apoptosis (22, 23, 38). In spite of these findings, the evidence of a causative role for GrBmediated apoptosis in the pathogenesis of COPD is lacking. In vivo animal studies are made difficult, because of the lack of appropriate mouse COPD models. A role for GrB has been proposed also in acute pulmonary pathologies. There is evidence of high GrB expression by CD8+T, CD4+T, and NK cells in human RSV-induced acute severe lung injury (24), suggesting a role for GrB in amplifying pro-apoptotic and pro-inflammatory activities. Supporting this hypothesis, Bem et al. (25) showed GrB contribution to acute lung injury in pneumovirus-infected mice; GrB deficiency in pneumovirus-infected mice significantly delayed clinical response to fatal pneumovirus infection and this effect was associated with delayed neutrophil recruitment, decreased caspase-3 activation and reduced lung permeability, suggesting a role for GrB in acute disease progression due to alveolar injury.

In the last years, a putative role for GrB-mediated apoptosis in atherosclerosis is also emerged in both the elderly and insulin resistant young individuals (8, 26, 39–41). Elevated plasma GrB levels were found in patients with myocardial infarction (36, 42) and unstable carotid plaques associated with increased cerebrovascular events (37). GrB was absent in normal vessels and its expression appeared during atherosclerosis; studies on mild and advanced atherosclerotic human coronary arteries showed higher GrB expression in V-SMCs, CTLs and macrophages in advanced lesions (11, 14). GrB expression colocalized with V-SMCs and macrophages undergoing apoptosis, suggesting that GrB may mediate apoptosis in these cells (11, 14). Furthermore, peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from patients with unstable angina produced higher GrB levels than PBMCs from patients with stable angina, and PBMC-derived conditioned media induced apoptosis in cultured endothelial cells, supporting a possible role for GrB in atherosclerosis severity, possibly inducing vascular apoptosis in unstable angina (43). Finally, the proteinase inhibitor-9, the GrB endogenous inhibitor, was reduced in unstable atherosclerotic lesions compared to stable lesions (44), according to the hypothesis of a role for GrB in plaque instability and suggesting that GrB activity in atherosclerosis may be regulated by an imbalance between GrB and its inhibitor. Although these findings do not allow to definitively establish an in vivo role for GrB in the induction of apoptosis in atherosclerotic plaque instability and rupture, in vitro and animal studies support this hypothesis (14, 26, 45, 46). Indeed, GrB mediates anoikis of cultured human coronary artery SMCs and endothelial cells (14). Moreover, in angiotensin II-treated apolipoprotein E (ApoE), GrB deficiency was associated with decreased abdominal aortic aneurysms and increased survival (because of rare aneurism rupture) compared to perforindeficient or control mice (26, 45). Finally, a role for NK and NKT cells in the promotion of atherosclerosis has also been proposed (47, 48). Increased atherosclerosis was observed when NK cells were transferred into ApoE(-/-)Rag2(-/-)IL2rγ(-/-) mice, whereas decreased atherosclerotic lesions were found in NK cell depleted ApoE(-/-) or when GrB/perforin-deficient NK cells were transferred (47). Transfer of CD4+NKT cells into T-, B- and NKcell-deficient ApoE mice augmented aortic root atherosclerosis; this effect reversed when GrB/perforin-deficient NKT cells were transferred (48).

GRANZYME B: EPITHELIAL-TO-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION AND FIBROSIS IN INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

Inflammation, characterized by excessive apoptosis and abnormal ECM remodeling, can lead to tissue fibrosis, which impairs the affected organ's function (3). Fibrosis is triggered by inflammatory cytokines and growth factors signaling abnormal ECM regulation; this leads to an imbalance between ECM degradation by proteases and excessive ECM deposition by different cells, mainly myofibroblast (3) derived by mesenchymal cells and by epithelial cells undergoing EMT (EMT-derived myofibroblasts) (68). Noteworthy, fibrosis and EMT share one of their major inducer that is transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) (69).

Recent studies have proposed a role for GrB in heart, lung, adipose tissue and skin fibrosis (27, 29, 32, 49, 61, 69).

Elevated GrB expression was detected in human and murine fibrotic hearts (32). Moreover, a perforin-independent role for GrB in the pathogenesis of cardiac fibrosis was suggested *in vivo*, showing that GrB deficiency in mice protected against angiotensin II-induced

cardiac fibrosis, reducing microhemorrhage, inflammation, and fibroblast accumulation (32).

In COPD, GrB-expressing monocytes and granulocytes were identified, and CD8+T infiltrating cells and apoptosis increased in airway epithelial cells, while soluble GrB levels and GrB-expressing T cells increased in BAL, suggesting that GrB upregulation in CD8+ and CD8- cells may be involved in small airway wall remodeling (27).

In obesity, increased CD8+T cells and GrB expression were found in adipose tissue *in vivo*, suggesting a role for GrB in adipose tissue fibrosis (33, 61). Furthermore, CD8+T-celldepletion in overfed mice improved obesity-induced insulin resistance and decreased adipose tissue pro-inflammatory macrophages; these effects were reversed when mice were reconstituted with CD8+T cells (34). These findings suggest that, in obesity, adipose tissue CD8+T cells induce the recruitment of macrophages and that both may induce adipose tissue dysfunction and insulin resistance.

A role for GrB has also been indicated in skin fibrosis, as extensively discuss elsewhere (29, 49).

The mechanisms by which GrB induces fibrosis have not been completely elucidated and multiple GrB-mediated activities have been proposed.

GrB can cleave the ECM proteoglycan decorin, a potent antifibrotic (30) and a pro-autophagic (35) molecule. Indeed, decorin, by attaching to cell surface receptor and ECM molecules, regulates signal transduction pathways controlling genes involved in ECM organization (30). In addition, by attaching to cell receptors, decorin promotes autophagy in endothelial cells leading to inhibition of angiogenesis (35). Therefore, decorin cleavage by GrB might underlie aberrant ECM and/or vascular remodeling, involved in the initiation and/or the progression of various fibroproliferative disorders. Note also that decreased autophagy is involved in the pathogenesis of inflammaging, fibrotic diseases and tumors. Studies have shown a reduction of decorin in different fibrotic organs, as in cardiac fibrosis following myocardial infarction and in acute exacerbation-idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) (70-72). Animal experiments in decorin-null mice with myocardial infarction (70) or in hamster and mice models of lung fibrosis (73-75) showed both decorin requirement for proper fibrotic evolution of tissue injury and the potential therapeutic antifibrotic effect of decorin administration. Evidence also exists for a role of decorin in maintaining glucose tolerance in obesity (76).

Moreover, GrB, cleaving decorin and other ECM substrates as biglycan, beta-glycan and fibrillin-1 which act as reservoir of cytokines and growth factors as TGF- β , induces the release of active TGF- β , a key regulator of fibrosis (30, 69). Therefore, the aberrant release of sequestered TGF- β by GrB-mediated cleavage of ECM components represents another potential mechanism by which GrB may contribute to fibrosis.

Noteworthy, GrB (18, 21, 77), as some other granzymes (78–80), has been recently proposed as promoters of EMT, an important process linked the stimulation of the three following events: 1) tissue and organ formation during embryogenesis; 2) tissue and organ physiologic repair and pathologic fibrosis; 3)

tumor cell invasion and metastasis (81). EMT is a process in which epithelial cells lose E-cadherin-mediated cell-cell adhesion and acquire some mesenchymal features, as N-cadherin expression and the capability of invasion, migration, and production of ECM. Inflammatory molecules, mainly TGF-B, trigger intracellular signaling cascades, activating EMTtranscription factors like Snail, ZEB, and TWIST (81). EMT is involved in multiple organ fibrosis, as those occurring in cardiovascular and pulmonary (COPD and IPF) diseases (81-88). Now interestingly, EMT-derived fibrosis has been also called to possibly account to pulmonary fibrosis in SARS-CoV-2 infection (89), suggesting a possible contribution of GrB in the severe pulmonary damage in COVID-19 (89, 90). A possible role for GrB in EMT promotion has emerged in human tumor models (18, 21, 77). Enzymatically active GrB was expressed, in absence of perforin, by tumor cells in vitro and in tissues (ex vivo) (17-21). Although GrB in cancer tissues is widely used as activation marker for cytotoxic lymphocytes, and lymphocytederived GrB-positive tumor immunostaining is associated with a favorable clinical outcome in a large spectrum of cancers, in some cases, GrB expression in tumors correlates to the severity of the disease, poor prognosis and therapy resistance (91-96). It has been documented GrB expression by urothelial carcinoma cells in primary urothelial cancer tissues and its expression was associated to EMT (analyzed by Snail-1, E- and N-cadherin expression) (18). Significantly, GrB expression was concentrated in urothelial neoplastic cells undergoing EMT at the cancer invasion front, suggesting that the expression of GrB and EMT molecules might be functionally related (18). A further support to the hypothesis of considering GrB as an EMT promoter, derives from the association that existed between GrB expression in tumor tissues and the pathological tumor spreading, in particular, the increasing invasiveness status of urothelial carcinomas (18). In addition, in vitro experiments of loss and gain of GrB function performed in CRC (including also CRC patient-derived Cancer Stem Cells), bladder and pancreatic carcinoma cells showed that GrB deficiency was associated to the loss of the EMT phenotype and the inhibition of invasion through matrigel, further supporting a role for GrB in tumor EMT promotion and cancer cell invasion (18, 21). Finally, GrB function in EMT was further supported by data indicating a contribution of GrB in the induction of TGF-B1-driven EMT in CRC cells (21). Indeed, TGF-B1 enhanced GrB expression while inducing EMT in CRC cells, whereas GrB depletion resulted in the inhibition of TGF-B1-driven EMT (21). However, research is needed to identify GrB targets involved in the mechanisms underlying EMT modulation by GrB. It should also be taken into account the possible regulation of GrB activity and function by the GrB-bound proteoglycan serglycin, considering that its intracellular activity consists in the promotion of secretory granule maturation and GrB storage, while its extracellular activity is implicated in the regulation of tumorigenesis, driving inflammation, EMT and tumor progression (97). Lastly, the examination of GrB expression in a large number of cancers in relation to the clinical outcome is needed, together with the evaluation of EMT in murine tumor and non-tumor models.

CONCLUSION

GrB is emerging as a multifunctional pro-inflammatory protease, acting with tissue and context dependence on multiple targets, thus representing a putative powerful regulator of a wide range of crucial processes involved in the pathogenicity and/or in the severity of inflammatory diseases, either acute or age-related. The major limitation of this assumption is the paucity of in vivo direct evidence for the multiple GrB pro-inflammatory activities. It should be considered that the in vivo function of human GrB is a challenging problem and difficult to deal with, in that, although few mechanistic animal studies connecting clinical observations with in vitro data exist, animal experiments might generate false interspecies functions of GrB, because of GrB interspecies structural and functional diversity (98-100). Therefore, further research is required to explore the multiple activities of GrB potentially occurring in the inflammatory events underlying acute and chronic inflammatory diseases.

A greater comprehension of GrB function may favor the design of new therapies aimed to inhibit and regulate GrB proinflammatory activities, counteracting excessive inflammation, fibrosis and abnormal EMT-derived processes. Current research is considering the development and the use of pharmacological GrB inhibitors as potential therapeutic options for the prevention and/or treatment of GrB-associated inflammatory

REFERENCES

- Netea MG, Balkwill F, Chonchol M, Cominelli F, Donath MY, Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, et al. A guiding map for inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18:826–31. doi: 10.1038/ni.3790
- Franceschi C, Bonafè M, Valensin S, Olivieri F, De Luca M, Ottaviani E, et al. Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann NY Acad Sci (2000) 908:244–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Mack M. Inflammation and fibrosis. *Matrix Biol* (2018) 68-69:106–21. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.11.010
- Masson D, Nabholz C, Estrade J, Tschopp J. Granules of cytolytic T-lymphocytes contain two serine esterases. *EMBO J* (1986) 5:1595–600.
- Garcia-Sanz JA, Velotti F, MacDonald HR, Masson D, Tschopp J, Nabholz M. Appearance of granule-associated molecules during activation of cytolytic T-lymphocyte precursors by defined stimuli. *Immunology* (1988) 64:129–34.
- Velotti F, Palmieri G, D'Ambrosio D, Piccoli M, Frati L, Santoni A. Differential expression of granzyme A and granzyme B proteases and their secretion by fresh rat natural killer cells (NK) and lymphokineactivated killer cells with NK phenotype (LAK-NK). *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22:1049–53. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830220426
- Chowdhury D, Lieberman J. Death by a thousand cuts: granzyme pathways of programmed cell death. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2008) 26:389–420. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090404
- Hendel A, Hiebert PR, Boivin WA, Williams SJ, Granville DJ. Granzymes in age-related cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases. *Cell Death Differ* (2010) 17:596–606. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2010.5
- Jin J, Li X, Hu B, Kim C, Cao W, Zhang H, et al. FOXO1 deficiency impairs proteostasis in aged T cells. Sci Adv (2020) 6:eaba1808. doi: 10.1126/ sciadv.aba1808
- Bulati M, Buffa S, Martorana A, Candore G, Lio D, Caruso C, et al. Trafficking phenotype and production of granzyme B by double negative B cells (IgG(+)IgD(-)CD27(-)) in the elderly. *Exp Gerontol* (2014) 54:123–9. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2013.12.011

pathological conditions (101–106). Progress in this field might be even more urgent if we consider the possibility to develop therapies that have an impact on inflammaging and chronic age-related diseases, as well as on excessive acute inflammatory reactions, as they occur in COVID-19, especially in aged individuals tending to excessive inflammatory responses resulting in lethal lung damage (89, 107, 108).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FV made substantial contributions to conception and design of the review. IB, FAC, and MGC contributed to the manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

IB is supported by a research fellowship from Eli Lilly Foundation. FAC was supported by research funding from Sapienza University, Rome, Italy. This work was supported by research funding from Department of Experimental Medicine (Rome, Italy) to MGC.

- Kim WJ, Kim H, Suk K, Lee WH. Macrophages express granzyme B in the lesion areas of atherosclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Immunol Lett* (2007) 111:57–65. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2007.05.004
- Vernooy JH, Moller GM, van Suylen RJ. Increased granzyme A expression in type II pneumocytes of patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2007) 175:464–72. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.200602-169OC
- Pardo J, Wallich R, Ebnet K. Granzyme B is expressed in mouse mast cells in vivo and in vitro and causes delayed cell death independent of perforin. *Cell Death Differ* (2007) 14:1768–79. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4402183
- Choy JC, McDonald PC, Suarez AC. Granzyme B in atherosclerosis and transplant vascular disease: association with cell death and atherosclerotic disease severity. *Mod Pathol* (2003) 16:460–70. doi: 10.1097/01.MP.0000067424. 12280.BC
- Hernandez-Pigeon H, Jean C, Charruyer A. Human keratinocytes acquire cellular cytotoxicity under UV-B irradiation. Implication of granzyme B and perforin. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:13525–32. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512694200
- Horiuchi K, Saito S, Sasaki R. Expression of granzyme B in human articular chondrocytes. J Rheumatol (2003) 30:1799–810.
- Hu SX, Wang S, Wang JP, Mills GB, Zhou Y, Xu HJ. Expression of endogenous granzyme B in a subset of human primary breast carcinomas. *Br J Cancer* (2003) 89(1):135–9. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601051
- D'Eliseo D, Pisu P, Romano C, Tubaro A, De Nunzio C, Morrone S, et al. Granzyme B is expressed in urothelial carcinoma and promotes cancer cell invasion. *Int J Cancer* (2010) 127:1283–94. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25135
- D'Eliseo D, Manzi L, Merendino N, Velotti F. Docosahexaenoic acid inhibits invasion of human RT112 urinary bladder and PT45 pancreatic carcinoma cells via down-modulation of granzyme B expression. *J Nutr Biochem* (2012) 23:452–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2011.01.010
- Fang Y, Herrick EJ, Nicholl MB. A possible role for perforin and granzyme B in resveratrol-enhanced radiosensitivity of prostate cancer. J Androl (2012) 33:752–60. doi: 10.2164/jandrol.111.015164
- 21. D'Eliseo D, Di Rocco G, Loria R, Soddu S, Santoni A, Velotti F. Epitelial-tomesenchimal transition and invasion are upmodulated by tumor-expressed granzyme B and inhibited by docosahexaenoic acid in human colorectal

cancer cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res (2016) 35:24. doi: 10.1186/s13046-016-0302-6

- Ngan DA, Vickerman SV, Granville DJ, Man SF, Sin DD. The possible role of granzyme B in the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ther Adv Respir Dis* (2009) 3:113–29. doi: 10.1177/1753465809341965
- Hodge S, Hodge G, Nairn J, Holmes M, Reynolds PN. Increased airway granzyme b and perforin in current and ex-smoking COPD subjects. *COPD* (2006) 3:179–87. doi: 10.1080/15412550600976868
- Bem RA, Bos AP, Bots M, Wolbink AM, van Ham SM, Medema JP, et al. Activation of the granzyme pathway in children with severe respiratory syncytial virus infection. *Pediatr Res* (2008) 63:650–5. doi: 10.1203/ PDR.0b013e31816fdc32
- Bem RA, van Woensel JB, Lutter R, Domachowske JB, Medema JP, Rosenberg HF, et al. Granzyme A- and B-cluster deficiency delays acute lung injury in pneumovirus-infected mice. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:931–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0903029
- Chamberlain CM, Ang LS, Boivin WA, Cooper DM, Williams SJ, Zhao H, et al. Perforin-independent extracellular granzyme B activity contributes to abdominal aortic aneurysm. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 176:1038–49. doi: 10.2353/ ajpath.2010.090700
- Kim WD, Chi HS, Choe KH, Oh YM, Lee SD, Kim KR, et al. A possible role for CD8+ and non-CD8+ cell granzyme B in early small airway wall remodelling in centrilobular emphysema. *Respirology* (2013) 18:688–96. doi: 10.1111/resp.12069
- Buzza MS, Zamurs L, Sun J, Bird CH, Smith AI, Trapani JA, et al. Extracellular matrix remodeling by human granzyme B via cleavage of vitronectin, fibronectin, and laminin. J Biol Chem (2005) 280:23549–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412001200
- Hiebert PR, Granville DJ. Granzyme B in injury, inflammation, and repair. Trends Mol Med (2012) 18:732–41. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.09.009
- 30. Boivin WA, Shackleford M, Vanden Hoek A, Zhao H, Hackett TL, Knight DA, et al. Granzyme B cleaves decorin, biglycan and soluble betaglycan, releasing active transforming growth factor-β1. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e33163. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033163
- Wensink AC, Hack CE, Bovenschen N. Granzymes regulate proinflammatory cytokine responses. J Immunol (2015) 194:491-7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401214
- 32. Shen Y, Cheng F, Sharma M, Merkulova Y, Raithatha SA, Parkinson LG, et al. Granzyme B Deficiency Protects against Angiotensin II-Induced Cardiac Fibrosis. Am J Pathol (2016) 186:87–100. doi: 10.1016/ j.ajpath.2015.09.010
- 33. Yang H, Youm YH, Vandanmagsar B, Ravussin A, Gimble JM, Greenway F, et al. Obesity increases the production of proinflammatory mediators from adipose tissue T cells and compromises TCR repertoire diversity: implications for systemic inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:1836–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000021
- 34. Nishimura S, Manabe I, Nagasaki M, Eto K, Yamashita H, Ohsugi M, et al. CD8+ effector T cells contribute to macrophage recruitment and adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. *Nat Med* (2009) 15:914–20. doi: 10.1038/ nm.1964
- Buraschi S, Neill T, Iozzo RV. Decorin is a devouring proteoglycan: Remodeling of intracellular catabolism via autophagy and mitophagy. *Matrix Biol* (2019) 75-76:260–70. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017.10.005
- Kondo H, Hojo Y, Tsuru R, Nishimura Y, Shimizu H, Takahashi N, et al. Elevation of plasma granzyme B levels after acute myocardial infarction. *Circ J* (2009) 73:503–7. doi: 10.1253/circj.cj-08-0668
- 37. Skjelland M, Michelsen AE, Krohg-Sørensen K, Tennøe B, Dahl A, Bakke S, et al. Plasma levels of granzyme B are increased in patients with lipid-rich carotid plaques as determined by echogenicity. *Atherosclerosis* (2007) 195: e142–6. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.05.001
- Freeman CM, Han MK, Martinez FJ, Murray S, Liu LX, Chensue SW, et al. Cytotoxic potential of lung CD8(+) T cells increases with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease severity and with in vitro stimulation by IL-18 or IL-15. J Immunol (2010) 184:6504–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000006
- Saito Y, Kondo H, Hojo Y. Granzyme B as a novel factor involved in cardiovascular diseases. J Cardiol (2011) 57:141–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc. 2010.10.001

- Ikemoto T, Hojo Y, Kondo H, Takahashi N, Hirose M, Nishimura Y, et al. Plasma granzyme B as a predicting factor of coronary artery disease–clinical significance in patients with chronic renal failure. *J Cardiol* (2009) 54:409– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2009.06.009
- 41. Oztas E, Ozler S, Tokmak A, Yilmaz N, Celik HT, Kazancı FH, et al. Increased levels of serum granzyme-B is associated with insulin resistance and increased cardiovascular risk in adolescent polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2016) 198:89–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.ejogrb.2016.01.009
- 42. El-Mesallamy HO, Hamdy NM, El-Etriby AK, Wasfey EF. Plasma granzyme B in ST elevation myocardial infarction versus non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome: comparisons with IL-18 and fractalkine. *Mediators Inflamm* (2013) 2013:343268. doi: 10.1155/2013/343268
- 43. Tsuru R, Kondo H, Hojo Y, Gama M, Mizuno O, Katsuki T, et al. Increased granzyme B production from peripheral blood mononuclear cells in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Heart* (2008) 94:305–10. doi: 10.1136/ hrt.2006.110023
- 44. Hendel A, Cooper D, Abraham T, Zhao H, Allard MF, Granville DJ. Proteinase inhibitor 9 is reduced in human atherosclerotic lesion development. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2012) 21:28–38. doi: 10.1016/ j.carpath.2010.12.002
- Hiebert PR, Boivin WA, Zhao H, McManus BM, Granville DJ. Perforin and granzyme B have separate and distinct roles during atherosclerotic plaque development in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e78939. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078939
- Selathurai A, Deswaerte V, Kanellakis P, Tipping P, Toh BH, Bobik A, et al. Natural killer (NK) cells augment atherosclerosis by cytotoxic-dependent mechanisms. *Cardiovasc Res* (2014) 102:128–37. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu016
- 47. Garzón-Tituaña M, Arias MA, Sierra-Monzón JL, Morte-Romea E, Santiago L, Ramirez-Labrada A, et al. The Multifaceted Function of Granzymes in Sepsis: Some Facts and a Lot to Discover. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:1054. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01054
- Li Y, To K, Kanellakis P, Hosseini H, Deswaerte V, Tipping P, et al. CD4+ natural killer T cells potently augment aortic root atherosclerosis by perforin- and granzyme B-dependent cytotoxicity. *Circ Res* (2015) 116:245–54. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304734
- Turner CT, Lim D, Granville DJ. Granzyme B in skin inflammation and disease. *Matrix Biol* (2019) 75-76:126–40. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2017. 12.005
- Boivin WA, Cooper DM, Hiebert PR, Granville DJ. Intracellular versus extracellular granzyme B in immunity and disease: challenging the dogma. *Lab Invest* (2009) 89:1195–220. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2009.91
- 51. El Mesallamy HO, Hamdy NM, Mostafa DM, Amin AI. The serine protease granzyme B as an inflammatory marker, in relation to the insulin receptor cleavage in human obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2014) 34:179–86. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0059
- Cimini FA, D'Eliseo D, Barchetta I, Bertoccini L, Velotti F, Cavallo MG. Increased circulating granzyme B in type 2 diabetes patients with low-grade systemic inflammation. *Cytokine* (2019) 115:104–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.cyto.2018.11.019
- 53. Tak PP, Spaeny-Dekking L, Kraan MC, Breedveld FC, Froelich CJ, Hack CE. The levels of soluble granzyme A and B are elevated in plasma and synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA). *Clin Exp Immunol* (1999) 116:366–70. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.1999.00881.x
- Youn JC, Yu HT, Lim BJ, Koh MJ, Lee J, Chang DY, et al. Immunosenescent CD8+ T cells and C-X-C chemokine receptor type 3 chemokines are increased in human hypertension. *Hypertension* (2013) 62:126–33. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.00689
- Garg SK, Delaney C, Shi H, Yung R. Changes in adipose tissue macrophages and T cells during aging. *Crit Rev Immunol* (2014) 34:1–14. doi: 10.1615/ critrevimmunol.2013006833
- Dinarello CA. Interleukin 1 and interleukin 18 as mediators of inflammation and the aging process. *Am J Clin Nutr* (2006) 83:447S–55S. doi: 10.1093/ ajcn/83.2.447S
- Borthwick LA. The IL-1 cytokine family and its role in inflammation and fibrosis in the lung. Semin Immunopathol (2016) 38:517–34. doi: 10.1007/ s00281-016-0559-z
- Theocharis AD, Manou D, Karamanos NK. The extracellular matrix as a multitasking player in disease. *FEBS J* (2019) 286(15):2830–69. doi: 10.1111/ febs.14818
- Scott LE, Weinberg SH, Lemmon CA. Mechanochemical Signaling of the Extracellular Matrix in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. Front Cell Dev Biol (2019) 7:135. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00135
- Miyazaki H, Kuwano K, Yoshida K, Maeyama T, Yoshimi M, Fujita M, et al. The perforin mediated apoptotic pathway in lung injury and fibrosis. *J Clin Pathol* (2004) 57:1292–8. doi: 10.1136/jcp.2003.015495.42
- Lee BC, Lee J. Cellular and molecular players in adipose tissue inflammation in the development of obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1842:446–62. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.017
- Taddei ML, Giannoni E, Fiaschi T, Chiarugi P. Anoikis: an emerging hallmark in health and diseases. J Pathol (2012) 226:380–93. doi: 10.1002/ path.3000
- Frisch SM, Francis H. Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. J Cell Biol (1994) 124:619–26. doi: 10.1083/jcb.124.4.619
- Steven M, Frisch M, Schaller B. Mechanisms that link the oncogenic epithelial-mesenchymal transition to suppression of anoikis. J Cell Sci (2013) 126:21–9. doi: 10.1242/jcs.120907
- Zheng C, Livas T, Kyprianou. N. Anoikis and EMT: Lethal "Liaisons" during Cancer Progression. Crit Rev Oncog (2016) 21(3-4):155–68. doi: 10.1615/ CritRevOncog.2016016955
- Michel JB. Anoikis in the cardiovascular system: known and unknown extracellular mediators. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2003) 23(12):2146– 54. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000099882.52647.E4
- Fitzgerald ES, Luz NF, Jamieson AM. Competitive Cell Death Interactions in Pulmonary Infection: Host Modulation Versus Pathogen Manipulation. *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:814. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00814
- Li M, Luan F, Zhao Y, Hao H, Zhou Y, Han W, et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: An emerging target in tissue fibrosis. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* (2016) 241:1–13. doi: 10.1177/1535370215597194
- Meng XM, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Lan HY. TGF -β: the master regulator of fibrosis. Nat Rev Nephrol (2016) 12:325–38. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.48
- Weis SM, Zimmerman SD, Shah M, Covell JW, Omens JH, Ross J, et al. A role for decorin in the remodeling of myocardial infarction. *Matrix Biol* (2005) 24:313–24. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2005.05.003
- Vu TT, Marquez J, Le LT, Nguyen ATT, Kim HK, Han J. The role of decorin in cardiovascular diseases: more than just a decoration. *Free Radic Res* (2018) 52:1210–9. doi: 10.1080/10715762.2018.1516285
- 72. Nikaido T, Tanino Y, Wang X, Sato Y, Togawa R, Kikuchi M, et al. Serum decorin is a potential prognostic biomarker in patients with acute exacerbation of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Thorac Dis (2018) 10:5346–58. doi: 10.21037/jtd.2018.08.60
- Giri SN, Hyde DM, Braun RK, Gaarde W, Harper JR, Pierschbacher MD. Antifibrotic effect of decorin in a bleomycin hamster model of lung fibrosis. *Biochem Pharmacol* (1997) 54:1205–16. doi: 10.1016/s0006-2952(97)00343-2
- Kolb M, Margetts PJ, Sime PJ, Gauldie J. Proteoglycans decorin and biglycan differentially modulate TGF-beta-mediated fibrotic responses in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* (2001) 280:L1327–34. doi: 10.1152/ ajplung.2001.280.6.L1327
- Kolb M, Margetts PJ, Galt T, Sime PJ, Xing Z, Schmidt M, et al. Transient transgene expression of decorin in the lung reduces the fibrotic response to bleomycin. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2001) 163:770–7. doi: 10.1164/ ajrccm.163.3.2006084
- Svärd J, Røst TH, Sommervoll CEN, Haugen C, Gudbrandsen OA, Mellgren AE. Absence of the proteoglycan decorin reduces glucose tolerance in overfed male mice. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9:4614. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-37501-x
- 77. Dufait I, Pardo J, Escors D, De Vlaeminck Y, Jiang H, Keyaerts M, et al. Perforin and Granzyme B Expressed by Murine Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells: A Study on Their Role in Outgrowth of Cancer Cells. *Cancers (Basel)* (2019) 11:808. doi: 10.3390/cancers11060808
- Wang H, Sun Q, Wu Y, Wang L, Zhou C, Ma W, et al. Granzyme M expressed by tumor cells promotes chemoresistance and EMT *in vitro* and metastasis *in vivo* associated with STAT3 activation. *Oncotarget* (2015) 6:5818–31. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3461
- 79. Santiago L, Castro M, Sanz-Pamplona R, Garzòn M, Ramirez-Labrada A, Tapia E, et al. Extracellular Granzyme A Promotes Colorectal Cancer

Development by Enhancing Gut Inflammation. *Cell Rep* (2020) 32:107847. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2020.10784777

- Arias M, Martínez-Lostao L, Santiago L, Ferrandez A, Granville DJ, Pardo J. The Untold Story of Granzymes in Oncoimmunology: Novel Opportunities with Old Acquaintances. *Trends Cancer* (2017) 3:407–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.trecan.2017.04.001
- Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest (2009) 119:1420–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI39104
- Kovacic JC, Dimmeler S, Harvey RP, Finkel T, Aikawa E, Krenning G, et al. Endothelial to Mesenchymal Transition in Cardiovascular Disease: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol (2019) 73:190–209. doi: 10.1016/ j.jacc.2018.09.089
- Salton F, Volpe MC, Confalonieri M. Epithelial⁻Mesenchymal Transition in the Pathogenesis of Idiopathic Pulmonary Fibrosis. *Medicina (Kaunas)* (2019) 55:83. doi: 10.3390/medicina55040083
- Rout-Pitt N, Farrow N, Parsons D, Donnelley M. Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT): a universal process in lung diseases with implications for cystic fibrosis pathophysiology. *Respir Res* (2018) 19:136. doi: 10.1186/ s12931-018-0834-8
- 85. Kim KK, Kugler MC, Wolters PJ, Robillard L, Galvez MG, Brumwell AN, et al. Alveolar epithelial cell mesenchymal transition develops in vivo during pulmonary fibrosis and is regulated by the extracellular matrix. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:13180–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605669103
- 86. Willis BC, Liebler JM, Luby-Phelps K, Nicholson AG, Crandall ED, du Bois RM, et al. Induction of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in alveolar epithelial cells by transforminggrowth factor-ss 1 potential role in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol (2005) 166:1321–32. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)62351-6
- Hewlett JC, Kropski JA, Blackwell TS. Idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions and emerging therapeutic targets. *Matrix Biol* (2018) 71–72:112–27. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2018.03.021
- 88. Wu Z, Yang LL, Cai L, Zhang M, Cheng X, Yang X, et al. Detection of epithelial tomesenchymal transition in airways of a bleomycin induced pulmonary fibrosis model derivedfrom an alpha-smooth muscle actin-Cre transgenic mouse. *Respir Res* (2007) 8:1. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-8-1
- George PM, Wells AU, Jenkins RG. Pulmonary fibrosis and COVID-19: the potential role for antifibrotic therapy. *Lancet Respir Med* (2020) 15:S2213– 2600(20)30225-3. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30225-3
- Agrati C, Sacchi A, Bordoni V, Cimini E, Notari S, Grassi G, et al. Expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in patients with severe coronavirus disease (COVID-19). *Cell Death Differ* (2020) 8:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41418-020-0572-6
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer* (2012) 12:298–306. doi: 10.1038/nrc3245
- Ten Berge RL, Oudejans JJ, Dukers DF, Meijer JW, Ossenkoppele GJ, Meijer CJ. Percentage of activated cytotoxic T-lymphocytes in anaplastic large cell lymphoma and Hodgkin's disease: an independent biological prognostic marker. *Leukemia* (2001) 15:458–64. doi: 10.1038/sj.leu.2402045
- 93. Oudejans JJ, Harijadi H, Kummer JA, Tan IB, Bloemena E, Middeldorp JM, et al. High numbers of granzyme B/CD8-positive tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in nasopharyngeal carcinoma biopsies predict rapid fatal outcome in patients treated with curative intent. *J Pathol* (2002) 198:468– 75. doi: 10.1002/path.1236
- 94. Asano N, Oshiro A, Matsuo K, Kagami Y, Ishida F, Suzuki R, et al. Prognostic significance of T-cell or cytotoxic molecules phenotype in classical Hodgkin's lymphoma: a clinicopathologic study. J Clin Oncol (2006) 24:4626–33. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5342
- Guzman VB, Silva ID, Brenna SM, Carvalho CR, Ribalta JC, Gerbase-Delima M. High levels of granzyme B expression in invasive cervical carcinoma correlates to poor response to treatment. *Cancer Invest* (2008) 26:499–503. doi: 10.1080/07357900701805678
- 96. Belfort-Mattos PN, Focchi GR, Speck NM, Taha NS, Carvalho CR, Ribalta JC. Immunohistochemical expression of granzyme B and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in normal uterine cervices and low and high grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. *Eur J Gynaecol Oncol* (2010) 31:459–61.
- 97. Manou D, Karamanos NK, Theocharis AD. Tumorigenic functions of serglycin: Regulatory roles in epithelial to mesenchymal transition and

oncogenic signaling. Semin Cancer Biol (2020) 62:108-15. doi: 10.1016/ j.semcancer.2019.07.004

- Kaiserman D, Bird CH, Sun J, Matthews A, Ung K, Whisstock JC, et al. The major human and mouse granzymes are structurally and functionally divergent. J Cell Biol (2006) 175:619–30. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200606073
- 99. Casciola-Rosen L, Garcia-Calvo M, Bull HG, Becker JW, Hines T, Thornberry NA, et al. Mouse and human granzyme B have distinct tetrapeptide specificities and abilities to recruit the bid pathway. *Biol Chem* (2007) 282:4545–52. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606564200
- 100. Cullen SP, Adrain C, Lüthi AU, Duriez PJ, Martin SJ. Human and murine granzyme B exhibit divergent substrate preferences. J Cell Biol (2007) 176:435–44. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200612025
- 101. Meschini R, D'Eliseo D, Filippi S, Bertini L, Bizzarri BM, Botta L, et al. Tyrosinase-Treated Hydroxytyrosol-Enriched Olive Vegetation Waste with Increased Antioxidant Activity Promotes Autophagy and Inhibits the Inflammatory Response in Human THP-1 Monocytes. J Agric Food Chem (2018) 66(46):12274–84. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.8b03630
- D'Eliseo D, Pannucci E, Bernini R, Campo M, Romani A, Santi L, et al. In vitro studies on anti-inflammatory activities of kiwifruit peel extract in human THP-1 monocytes. J Ethnopharmacol (2019) 233:41–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2018.12.044
- Turner CT, Hiroyasu S, Granville DJ. Granzyme B as a therapeutic target for wound healing. *Expert Opin Ther Targets* (2019) 23:745–54. doi: 10.1080/ 14728222.2019.1661380
- 104. Shen Y, Zeglinski MR, Turner CT, Raithatha SA, Wu Z, Russo V, et al. Topical small molecule granzyme B inhibitor improves remodeling in a murine model of impaired burn wound healing. *Exp Mol Med* (2018) 50:1–11. doi: 10.1038/s12276-018-0095-0

- 105. Ikram S, Ahmad J, Durdagi SJ. Screening of FDA approved drugs for finding potential inhibitors against Granzyme B as a potent drug-repurposing target. *Mol Graph Model* (2020) 95:107462. doi: 10.1016/j.jmgm.2019. 107462
- 106. Aslam MS, Yuan L. Serpina3n: Potential drug and challenges, mini review. J Drug Targeting (2020) 28:368–78. doi: 10.1080/1061186X.2019.1693576
- 107. Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature* (2020) 579:270–3. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7
- Stewart CA, Gay CM, Ramkumar K, Cargill KR, Cardnell RJ, Nilsson MB, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection induces EMT-like molecular changes, including ZEB1mediated repression of the viral receptor ACE2, in lung cancer models. *Ann Oncol* (2020) 31:S1015. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.08.1799

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation with several of the authors IB, FAC, MGC at time of review.

Copyright © 2020 Velotti, Barchetta, Cimini and Cavallo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Granzyme B Expression in Visceral Adipose Tissue Associates With Local Inflammation and Glyco-Metabolic Alterations in Obesity

Flavia Agata Cimini¹, Ilaria Barchetta¹, Valentina Ceccarelli¹, Caterina Chiappetta², Alberto Di Biasio², Laura Bertoccini¹, Federica Sentinelli¹, Frida Leonetti², Gianfranco Silecchia², Claudio Di Cristofano², Marco Giorgio Baroni^{3,4}, Francesca Velotti^{5*} and Maria Gisella Cavallo^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joanna Cichy, Jagiellonian University, Poland

Reviewed by:

Aina Lluch Balaña, Institute of Biomedical Research of Girona, Spain Helen Thomas, University of Melbourne, Australia

*Correspondence:

Francesca Velotti velotti@unitus.it Maria Gisella Cavallo gisella.cavallo@uniroma1.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 30 July 2020 Accepted: 15 October 2020 Published: 18 November 2020

Citation:

Cimini FA, Barchetta I, Ceccarelli V, Chiappetta C, Di Biasio A, Bertoccini L, Sentinelli F, Leonetti F, Silecchia G, Di Cristofano C, Baroni MG, Velotti F and Cavallo MG (2020) Granzyme B Expression in Visceral Adipose Tissue Associates With Local Inflammation and Glyco-Metabolic Alterations in Obesity. Front. Immunol. 11:589188. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.589188 ¹ Department of Experimental Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Medical-Surgical Sciences and Biotechnologies, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ³ Department of Clinical Medicine, Public Health, Life and Environmental Sciences (MeSVA), University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy, ⁴ Neuroendocrinology and Metabolic Diseases, IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzilli, Italy, ⁵ Department of Ecological and Biological Sciences (DEB), Tuscia University, Viterbo, Italy

Granzyme B (GrB) is a serine protease produced by immune and non-immune cells, able to promote multiple processes, like apoptosis, inflammation, extracellular matrix remodeling and fibrosis. GrB expression in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) was associated with tissue damage, local inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity murine model, but there is no data in humans. Aim of this study was to explore the expression of GrB in VAT from obese subjects in relation to adipose tissue injury, inflammation, metabolic alterations and GrB circulating levels. For this purpose, 85 obese individuals undergoing bariatric surgery and 35 healthy subjects (as control) were recruited at Sapienza University, Rome, Italy. Study participants underwent clinical workup and routine biochemistry. mRNA expression of GrB in VAT and of a panel of VAT inflammatory markers was analyzed by real-time PCR. Serum GrB levels were measured by Elisa Affymetrix EBIO. We observed that 80% of obese patients expressed GrB mRNA in VAT, and GrB VAT expression was associated with the presence of local inflammation and glucose homeostasis alterations. Moreover, GrB serum levels, which were higher in obese subjects compared to non-obese healthy individuals, were associated with GrB expression in VAT and glyco-metabolic impairment. Our data show, for the first time in humans, that obese subjects with "sick" fat and altered glucose tolerance exhibit GrB expression in VAT, and suggest that GrB might contribute to obesity-related VAT inflammatory remodeling and glucose homeostasis dysregulation. Moreover, increased circulating GrB levels might represent a possible peripheral marker of VAT dysfunction in metabolic diseases.

Keywords: Granzyme B, visceral adipose tissue, inflammation, glyco-metabolic alterations, obesity

INTRODUCTION

Obesity represents a global health problem and its prevalence is rapidly rising (1). The excessive accumulation of body fat and the consequent adipose tissue (AT) dysfunction is considered a crucial risk factor for the development of metabolic diseases (2), as type 2 diabetes (T2D) (3, 4).

Visceral AT (VAT) plays a major role in regulating systemic energy homeostasis, and in condition of obesity it expands and rearranges its structure. Essentially, in response to an excessive nutritional status and to the need for surplus lipid accumulation, the number and size of the adipocytes increases (5, 6) and angiogenesis cannot fulfill the oxygen requirement provoking hypoxia, an important metabolic stressor (5, 7, 8). Then, AT produces cytokine and chemokines, promoting tissue infiltration by immune cells, as cytotoxic lymphocytes (cytotoxic T lymphocytes -CTLs- and natural killer -NK- cells) and proinflammatory macrophages (9, 10). In this inflammatory context, adipocytes undergo apoptosis and extracellular matrix (ECM) endures degradation; thus, the instability of protein composition and the dynamics of ECM proteins lead to VAT remodeling and functional impairment (11, 12). Hence, this "sick" VAT loses its storage capacity releasing free fatty acids in the bloodstream and secretes several bioactive molecules that support local and systemic inflammation, leading to insulin resistance (13-16).

Granzyme B (GrB) is a serine protease expressed by several immune and non-immune cells, including CTLs, NK cells, B lymphocytes and macrophages (17-20). GrB exerts multiple activities, including apoptosis, ECM component cleavage and inflammation (21-23). Increased expression of GrB was observed in many human chronic inflammatory diseases (23), including atherosclerosis and cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (24-29). In addition, high GrB circulating levels were described in human obesity-related dysmetabolic conditions (30, 31), including T2D (32). In obese mice high levels of GrB were described in VAT, where they were associated with local inflammation and damage, as well as with alterations of insulin signaling (33). Despite these findings are suggestive of a potential role of GrB in the inflammatory and the reactive processes occurring in VAT during obesity, currently there is no data on GrB in human VAT.

Aims of this study were to evaluate the expression of GrB in VAT from obese subjects and to explore its relationship with local inflammation, metabolic alterations and GrB circulating levels.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Population

We enrolled 85 consecutive obese subjects with or without T2D and/or metabolic syndrome (MS), referring to the Diabetes and Endocrinology outpatient clinics at Sapienza University of Rome, Italy, for pre-operative evaluations before undergoing bariatric surgery. T2D was diagnosed according to the American Diabetes Association 2009 criteria (34) and the presence of MS was defined according to the modified National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III criteria (35). Inclusion criteria were as

follows: (a) male and female aged between 25 to 65 years old; (b) Caucasian ethnicity; (c) clinical indication to sleeve gastrectomy; (d) full acceptance of informed consent to the study. Exclusion criteria were: (a) severe psychiatric illness; (b) heart failure \geq 3 according to the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification; (c) dialysis and/or end-stage renal disease; (d) absence of chronic terminal kidney disease or hepatic failure; (e) absence of active cancer of any type.

For the evaluation of circulating levels of GrB, we also recruited, as control group, 35 non-obese healthy subjects comparable for sex and age with the obese population.

This study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Sapienza University of Rome and conducted in conformance with the Helsinki Declaration. A written informed consent was obtained from all subjects before participating to the study.

Clinical Work Up and Laboratory Determinations

The entire study population underwent medical history collection, physical examination and anthropometric measurements (**Table 1**). Weight and height were measured by wearing light clothes and shoes and the body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by the square of height in meters (kg/m²). Waist circumference (cm) was measured at the midpoint between the 12th rib and the iliac crest. Systemic blood pressure (systolic-SBP, diastolic-DBP; mmHg) was measured after 5 min of rest; three consecutive measurements were performed and the average of the second and third measurements was considered for statistical analysis.

The study population underwent fasting venous sampling for measuring serum levels of fasting blood glucose (FBG, mg/dl), fasting blood insulin (FBI, μ U/L), total cholesterol (mg/dl), high-density lipoprotein (HDL, mg/dl), triglycerides (mg/dl), aspartate

 TABLE 1 | Clinical and biochemical characteristics of the obese population in comparison with control group.

Parameters	Obese population n = 85	Control group n = 35	p- value
Age (years)	44 ± 9.8	45 ± 11	0.14
Sex (M/F)	17/68	12/23	0.03*
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	42.5 ± 4.8	23.2 ± 3.7	0.0001
Waist circumference (cm)	126.1 ± 12.8	90.1 ± 11.2	0.0001
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	129.6 ±14	122 ± 12.3	0.35
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	84.3 ± 13.9	74.3 ± 10.1	0.04
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	195.7 ± 33.5	178.7 ± 22.9	0.04
HDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	47.4 ± 10.7	56 ± 14.2	0.01
LDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	119.4 ± 31.3	90.1 ± 21.4	0.01
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	140.9 ± 66.5	88.9 ± 39.3	0.001
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	100.3 ± 22.9	85.7 ± 10.2	0.006
Glycosylated hemoglobin (%)	5.5 ± 1.1	-	-
Fasting blood insulin(IU/ml)	13.2 ± 7.2	-	-
HOMA-IR	3.25 ± 1.87	-	-
ΗΟΜΑ-β%	162.1 ± 110.5	-	-
Aspartate aminotransferase (IU/I)	27.8 ± 14.3	20.1 ± 3.6	0.05
Alanine aminotransferase (IU/I)	36.1 ± 25.1	22.9 ± 10.4	0.08
Serum Granzyme B (pg/ml)	28.16 ± 18.5	8.3 ± 15.27	0.001
Type 2 Diabetes (%)	18%	0	0.0001
Impaired fasting glucose (%)	9%	0	0.07*
Metabolic syndrome(%)	88%	0	0.02*

Student's T test; *Chi-square test.

aminotransferase (AST, IU/l), alanine aminotransferase (ALT, IU/l), and glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c, %, mmol/l) through standardized laboratory methods. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL, mg/dl) was obtained using Friedewald formula. The homeostasis model assessments of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and insulin secretion (HOMA- β %) were calculated as described by Matsuda (36).

Omental Biopsies and Gene Expression Analysis by Real-Time PCR

Omental biopsies (1 cm³) from obese patients were collected during bariatric surgery. VAT fragments, fixed with 10% buffered formalin for 24 h and then paraffin-embedded (FFPE), were analyzed by real-time PCR for gene expression of a vast panel of molecules related to different processes underlying VAT impairment in obesity.

Total RNA from FFPE samples was extracted using RecoverAllTM Total Nucleic Acid Isolation Kit for FFPE (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purity and quantity of RNA were confirmed by NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA with High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). PCR products of human GrB, IL6, TNFa, IL8, MIP1a, MIP2, TIMP1, Wisp-1, CASP3, CASP7, UNC5B, and HIF α were detected by using gene-specific primers and probes labeled with reporter dye FAM. GAPDH was used as an internal standard, which yielded a predicted amplicon of 171 bp. TaqMan real-time quantitative PCR was performed on an ABI PRISM 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA, USA). PCR reactions were carried out in triplicate on 96-well plates with 10 L per well using 1× TaqMan Master Mix and the results were evaluated using the ABI PRISM 7500 software (Applied Biosystem, Foster City, CA, USA). The cycle threshold (Ct) values were averaged for all subsequent calculations. The 2- Δ Ct method was used to calculate relative changes in gene expression.

Serum GrB Measurement

Serum GrB levels were measured by Human Granzyme B Platinum–Kit Elisa-Affymetrix EBIO according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 μ l of each sample with 50 μ l of Dilution Buffer were incubated at room temperature for 1 h on a microplate shaker, then washed and incubated with 100 μ l of Biotin-Conjugate. After washing, 100 μ l of Streptavidin-HRP solution was added to all wells and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. TMB substrate solution was used to visualize HRP enzymatic reaction. The sensitivity of the assay is 0.2 pg/ml. The intra- and inter-assay coefficient of variation is 8.5% and 10.4%, respectively.

Statistical Analyses

The IBM statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) statistics (version 25.0; IBM, Armonk, NY) was used to perform all the analyses. Continuous variables were reported as median $(25^{\circ}-75^{\circ})$ or mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and categorical variables were reported as percentages. Skewed variables underwent logarithmic

transformation before the analyses. Student's T-test for continuous variables and $\chi 2$ test for categorical variables were used to compare mean values between two independent groups, as appropriate. Correlations between continuous variables were calculated by Pearson's coefficient, whereas Spearman's coefficient was used for dichotomic/ordinal parameters. In order to test the existence of an independent association between higher VAT GrB expression and the presence of altered glucose metabolism -as indicated by the diagnosis of IFG/T2D-, a multivariate regression analysis was built considering IFG/T2D (yes/no) as categorical dependent variable and entering variables significantly associated with IFG/T2D at the bivariate analysis, as potential confounding factors. Correlation coefficients were reported as r values in the text and tables. A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant in all the analyses, with a 95% confidence interval.

RESULTS

GrB Is Expressed in VAT of Obese Subjects and Is Associated With Local Hypoxia, Apoptosis, and Inflammation

We analyzed a panel of VAT pro-inflammatory molecules, such as IL6, TNF α , IL8, MIP1 α , MIP2, TIMP1, Wisp-1, CASP3, CASP7, UNC5B, and HIF (**Supplementary Materials, Table 1**), and we analyzed their expression in relation to the expression of GrB in VAT. We observed that GrB expression in VAT, considered as continuous variable, was associated with the local expression of the following markers: 1) hypoxia, as the hypoxia-inducible factor a (HIF1a; r= 0.21, p= 0.02); 2) leucocyte chemotaxis, as macrophage inflammatory proteins MIP1 α /CCL3 (r= 0.6, p=0.000), MIP-2/CXCL2 (r= 0.39, p=0.015), IL-8 (r= 0.35, p=0.031), IL-6 (r=0.34, p=0.038) and TNF α (r=0.34, p=0.04); 3) apoptosis, as caspase 3 (r= 0.39, p=0.015) and caspase 7 (r= 0.28, p=0.018), and 4) adipocyte differentiation and function, as TIMP-1 (r= 0.37, p=0.019) and WISP-1 (r= 0.62, p=0.002) (**Table 2**).

VAT GrB Expression Is Associated With Glyco-Metabolic Alterations in Obese Subjects

We also investigated whether a relationship existed between GrB expression in VAT of obese patients and their clinical and biochemical parameters, such as BMI, waist circumference, SBP, DBP, FBG, FBI, total cholesterol, HDL, triglycerides, LDL, AST, ALT, HbA1c, HOMA-IR and HOMA-b. We found that VAT GrB expression was associated with the presence of glycometabolic alterations, in particular with higher FBG (r= 0.29, p=0.008), HbA1c (r= 0.23, p=0.01) and blood pressure (SBP, r= 0.26 p= 0.019; DBP, r=0.22, p=0.04) levels, as well as with the diagnosis of impaired fasting glucose (IFG; r=0.43, p=0.01) and T2D (r= 0.31, p=0.04) (**Table 3**).

In addition, when stratifying the obese cohort according to the glycemic state (normal glucose tolerance versus IFG/T2D), patients with IFG/T2D showed significantly higher VAT GrB expression than normo-glycemic individuals $(1.27\pm1.13 \text{ vs} 0.31\pm0.55 \text{ A.U.}, \text{p} = 0.02)$ (**Figure 1**). In our study population, the other parameters that

TABLE 2 Correlation between Granzyme B (GrB) mRNA expression in visceral
adipose tissue (VAT) and features of local inflammation in obese subjects (n= 85).

	Correlation coefficient	p-value
UNC5B	0.09	0.55
IL8	0.35	0.031
IL6	0.34	0.038
TNF α	0.34	0.04
MIP1α	0.60	0.0001
MIP2	0.39	0.015
TIMP1	0.37	0.019
WISP-1	0.62	0.002
CASP3	0.39	0.015
CASP7	0.28	0.018
HIF1a	0.21	0.02

Bivariate correlation analyses (Spearman's coefficient; GrB mRNA is considered as a continue variable)

significantly associated with the IFG/T2D diagnosis were sex (r= -0.26 p = 0.001), age (r= 0.36 p = 0.001), greater BMI (r= 0.37 p = 0.05) and waist circumference (r= 0.11 p = 0.05).

At the multivariate logistic regression analysis, greater GrB expression levels in VAT were significantly associated with the diagnosis of IFG/T2D, independently of confounding factors such as sex, age, BMI and waist circumference with an OR: 4.61 (95%CI: 1.6–13.5) (**Table 4**).

GrB Serum Levels Are Associated With GrB Expression in VAT of Obese Subjects

The measurement of GrB levels in the serum of the whole study population showed higher GrB levels in obese subjects compared to the control group (28.16 ± 18.5 pg/ml $vs 8.3 \pm 15.27$ pg/ml, p= 0.001) (**Table 1**). Moreover, in the obese subjects circulating GrB positively

TABLE 3 | Correlation between Granzyme B (GrB) mRNA expression in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) and clinical and biochemical parameters in obese subjects (n = 85).

	Correlation coefficient	p-value
Age (years)	0.12	0.26
Sex (M/F)	0.28	0.41
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	0.08	0.46
Waist circumference (cm)	0.04	0.74
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.26	0.019
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.22	0.04
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.18	0.12
HDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.01	0.92
LDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.15	0.20
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	0.10	0.37
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	0.029	0.008
Glycosylated hemoglobin (%)	0.23	0.01
Fasting blood insulin(IU/ml)	0.11	0.59
HOMA-IR	0.16	0.64
ΗΟΜΑ-β%	0.13	0.61
Aspartate aminotransferase (IU/I)	0.04	0.71
Alanine aminotransferase (IU/I)	0.08	0.44
Serum GrB levels (pg/ml)	0.31	0.04
Type 2 diabetes (%)	0.31	0.04
Impaired fasting glucose (%)	0.43	0.01
Metabolic syndrome (%)	0.18	0.09

Bivariate correlation analyses (Spearman's coefficient; GrB mRNA is considered as a continue variable).



FIGURE 1 | Comparison between Granzyme B (GrB) expression in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) from normo-glycemic obese subjects (n= 62) and IFG/T2D obese subjects (n=23). GrB mRNA expression levels are shown as arbitrary units (A.U.). Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation. *p < 0.05.

correlated with BMI (r=0.58, p=0.001), waist circumference (r=0.37, p=0.05), triglycerides (r = 0.55, p = 0.02), FBG (r = 0.37, p = 0.05) and the presence of IFG (r=0.38, p=0.04) and MS (r = 0.35, p = 0.05) (**Table 5**). Remarkably, GrB levels in serum were associated with GrB expression in VAT (r = 0.31, p = 0.04) (**Table 5**), suggesting that GrB circulating levels predict the expression of GrB in VAT.

DISCUSSION

This study showed, for the first time in humans, that GrB is expressed in VAT of obese subjects and is associated with established mediators and markers of VAT dysfunction, as well as with glyco-metabolic alterations and GrB serum levels. Our findings prompt us to speculate, as depicted in **Figure 2**, on the possible association and function of GrB along the pathway that, from chronic caloric excess and VAT inflammation and dysfunction, leads to systemic low-grade inflammation up to glyco-metabolic impairment.

We observed that GrB expression in VAT was associated with HIF1a, a main marker of hypoxia, which is linked to the expansion of AT in obesity (7, 8). In the context of stressed AT, it takes place the production of cytokines and chemokines that stimulate VAT infiltration by inflammatory cells, including cytotoxic lymphocytes, B cells and macrophages. Indeed, GrB in VAT associated with chemiotactic molecules, such as IL8, MIP1 α /CCL3, MIP2/CXCL2 and pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL6 and TNF α . In particular, IL8, is an adipokine known to be able to sustain VAT inflammation in obesity (15, 37, 38), and MIP1 α and MIP1 β are major factors produced by activated macrophages that, in turn, amplify VAT inflammation by potentiating the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the recruitment of immune cells,

TABLE 4 | Granzyme B (GrB) mRNA expression in visceral adipose tissue (VAT) is an independent predictor of glucose metabolism alteration.

	Coefficient B			95% C.I.		
		Standard Deviation Error	p-value	Lower	Upper	
Age	0.082	0.04	0.042	1.003	1.175	
Sex	-1.087	0.783	0.165	0.073	1.566	
Waist circumference	0.014	0.032	0.671	0.951	1.08	
BMI	0.018	0.075	0.813	0.878	1.18	
GrB expression in VAT	1.527	0.548	0.005	1.574	13.481	
(Constant)	-7.624	4.444	0.086			

Multivariate logistic regression analysis. Glycemic alterations (yes/no) is the dependent variable. C.I., Confidential Interval.

TABLE 5 | Correlation between serum Granzyme B (GrB) levels and clinical and biochemical parameters in obese subjects (n = 85).

	Correlation coefficient	p-value
Age (years)	0.06	0.64
Sex (M/F)	0.18	0.58
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	0.58	0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	0.37	0.05
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.11	0.72
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	0.27	0.11
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.19	0.59
HDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.31	0.44
LDL- cholesterol (mg/dl)	0.23	0.13
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	0.55	0.02
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	0.37	0.05
Glycosylated hemoglobin (%)	0.11	0.13
Fasting blood insulin (IU/ml)	0.14	0.45
HOMA-IR	0.39	0.09
ΗΟΜΑ-β%	0.19	0.33
Aspartate aminotransferase (IU/I)	0.11	0.54
Alanine aminotransferase (IU/I)	0.06	0.73
Serum GrB levels (pg/ml)	0.31	0.04
Type 2 diabetes (%)	0.21	0.08
Impaired fasting glucose (%)	0.38	0.04
Metabolic syndrome (%)	0.35	0.05

Bivariate correlation analyses (Spearman's coefficient).

including cytotoxic lymphocytes, B cells and monocytes (15, 39, 40). VAT infiltrating CTL, NK cells, B cells and activated macrophages produce GrB, which exerts its well-known intracellular pro-apoptotic function and multiple extracellular activities (21-23). We showed that GrB in VAT associated with markers of apoptosis, as caspase 3 and caspase 7, and, since inflamed VAT in obesity undergoes increased caspase-mediated apoptosis of adipocytes (41, 42), GrB in VAT might be indicative of a possible direct role of this serine protease in promoting adipocyte apoptosis. In fact, GrB can promote perforin-dependent apoptosis, when secreted by perforin-expressing cells as CTL and NK cells (17, 18), as well as perforin-independent apoptosis or anoikis (43), when secreted by cells lacking perforin as B cells and macrophages. Anoikis is a cell-detachment-induced apoptosis, derived by the loss of cell-ECM contact mediated by ECM proteins, including fibronectin, which represent an established substrate directly cleaved by GrB (22). Indeed, one of the main activities of extracellular GrB is its capability of ECM remodeling via cleavage of multiple ECM components (22, 23), and ECM degradation and VAT remodeling have been implicated in the



FIGURE 2 | The potential contribution of Granzyme B (GrB) to the inflammation and dysfunction of adipose tissue in obese subjects. GrB, produced by different adipose tissue infiltrating inflammatory cells, may contribute to the promotion of the apoptotic, inflammatory and extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling processes occurring in adipose tissue in obesity, leading to adipose tissue fibrosis and dysfunction, and driving up to glycometabolic impairment.

regulation of obesity, inflammation and insulin resistance (11, 12). Another activity of extracellular GrB is its capability of cleaving and processing pro-inflammatory cytokines, as IL-10, enhancing their biological activity several fold (44), thus amplifying and supporting VAT inflammation. In addition, according to our previous study (32) showing a significant relationship between serum GrB levels and systemic markers of VAT inflammation such as WISP-1, here we demonstrated a strong correlation between VAT expression of GrB and WISP-1, further supporting a role for GrB in the induction of VAT dysfunction (15, 45, 46).

Our findings, suggesting that GrB expressed in VAT takes part in different steps involved in the development of VAT impairment (Figure 2), are in agreement with those obtained by Yang et al. (33), who showed that, in obese mice, T-cell derived GrB in VAT associated with adipocyte death, inflammatory insult and local damage. Other studies, conducted on animal models, suggested that GrB, produced by VAT infiltrating B cells, contribute to the phenotypic switch of adipocytes causing them to release adipokines, pro-inflammatory mediators and cell debris (19). Remarkably, according to the hypothesis that GrB in VAT plays a central role in VAT dysfunction, our data revealed that GrB VAT expression strongly associates with the presence of T2D and with early alterations of glucose homeostasis. The link between excess adiposity and impaired glucose metabolism is not explained simply by absolute fat mass, and accumulating evidence clearly indicates that the functional capacity of VAT is likely a major determinant of insulin resistance, glucose intolerance and T2D in obesity (4). This evidence further supports the possible crucial contribution of GrB in the development of the complex inflammatory process underlying obesity.

In summary, our data showed that GrB expression in VAT correlated with high levels of GrB in serum, which, in turn, associated with glyco-metabolic impairment. These findings, according to our previous study (32), provide additional evidence that high GrB circulating levels might be a marker of VAT dysfunction and alteration of glucose metabolism in metabolic diseases.

In conclusion, this study provides novel insights into the potential mechanisms underlying metabolic impairment and VAT inflammation, suggesting a possible involvement of GrB in the regulation of VAT homeostasis and inflammatory processes in the presence of obesity.

REFERENCES

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in bodymass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128-9 million children, adolescents, and adults. *Lancet* (2017) 390(10113):2627– 42. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3
- Cimini FA, Barchetta I, Ciccarelli G, Leonetti F, Silecchia G, Chiappetta C, et al. Adipose tissue remodelling in obese subjects is a determinant of presence and severity of fatty liver disease. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2020) 29:e3358. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.3358
- Zatterale F, Longo M, Naderi J, Raciti GA, Desiderio A, Miele C, et al. Chronic Adipose Tissue Inflammation Linking Obesity to Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes. *Front Physiol* (2020) 29(10):1607. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01607
- Burhans MS, Hagman DK, Kuzma JN, Schmidt KA, Kratz M. Contribution of Adipose Tissue Inflammation to the Development of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Compr Physiol* (2018) 9(1):1–58. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c170040
- Sun K, Kusminski CM, Scherer PE. Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(6):2094–101. doi: 10.1172/JCI45887

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENTS

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Sapienza University of Rome, Italy. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FV, FC, IB, and MC designed the study. FC and IB coordinated the study. LB, VC, AB, and FL oversaw patient recruitment and data collection, and finalized the dataset. GS performed bariatric surgery and VAT biopsies. FC, FS, VC, LB, CC, and CC performed laboratory experiments. IB and MB conducted the statistical analyses. FV, FC, IB, and MC drafted the paper, which was reviewed by all authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from Sapienza University of Rome, Italy (MC).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 589188/full#supplementary-material

- Hammarstedt A, Gogg S, Hedjazifar S, Nerstedt A, Smith U. Impaired Adipogenesis and Dysfunctional Adipose Tissue in Human Hypertrophic Obesity. *Physiol Rev* (2018) 98(4):1911–41. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2017
- Trayhurn P. Hypoxia and adipose tissue function and dysfunction in obesity. *Physiol Rev* (2013) 93(1):1–21. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00017.2012
- Lee YS, Kim JW, Osborne O, Oh DY, Sasik R, Schenk S, et al. Increased adipocyte O2 consumption triggers HIF-10, causing inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. *Cell* (2014) 157(6):1339–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.012
- Guzik TJ, Skiba DS, Touyz RM, Harrison DG. The role of infiltrating immune cells in dysfunctional adipose tissue. *Cardiovasc Res* (2017) 113(9):1009–23. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx108
- Russo L, Lumeng CN. Properties and functions of adipose tissue macrophages in obesity. *Immunology* (2018) 155(4):407–17. doi: 10.1111/imm.13002
- Lee YH, Mottillo EP, Granneman JG. Adipose tissue plasticity from WAT to BAT and in between. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1842(3):358–69. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.011
- Lin D, Chun TH, Kang L. Adipose extracellular matrix remodelling in obesity and insulin resistance. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2016) 119:8–16. doi: 10.1016/ j.bcp.2016.05.005

- Asghar A, Sheikh N. Role of immune cells in obesity induced low grade inflammation and insulin resistance. *Cell Immunol* (2017) 315:18–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2017.03.001
- Ouchi N, Parker JL, Lugus JJ, Walsh K. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11(2):85–97. doi: 10.1038/nri2921
- Barchetta I, Cimini FA, Ciccarelli G, Baroni MG, Cavallo MG. Sick fat: the good and the bad of old and new circulating markers of adipose tissue inflammation. J Endocrinol Invest (2019) 42(11):1257–72. doi: 10.1007/ s40618-019-01052-3
- Barchetta I, Angelico F, Del Ben M, Di Martino M, Cimini FA, Bertoccini L, et al. Phenotypical heterogeneity linked to adipose tissue dysfunction in patients with Type 2 diabetes. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (2016) 130(19):1753–62. doi: 10.1042/CS20160348
- Jenne DE, Tschopp J. Granzymes, a family of serine proteases released from granules of cytolytic T lymphocytes upon T cell receptor stimulation. *Immunol Rev* (1988) 103:53–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065x.1988.tb00749.x
- Velotti F, Palmieri G, D'Ambrosio D, Piccoli M, Frati L, Santoni A. Differential expression of granzyme A and granzyme B proteases and their secretion by fresh rat natural killer cells (NK) and lymphokine-activated killer cells with NK phenotype (LAK-NK). *Eur J Immunol* (1992) 22(4):1049–53. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830220426
- Ferrucci L, Fabbri E. Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2018) 15(9):505–22. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0064-2
- Kim WJ, Kim H, Suk K, Lee WH. Macrophages express granzyme B in the lesion areas of atherosclerosis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Immunol Lett* (2007) 111(1):57–65. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2007.05.004
- Trapani JA, Sutton VR. Granzyme B: pro-apoptotic, antiviral and antitumor functions. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2003) 15(5):533–43. doi: 10.1016/s0952-7915 (03)00107-9
- 22. Buzza MS, Zamurs L, Sun J, Bird CH, Smith AI, Trapani JA, et al. Extracellular matrix remodeling by human granzyme B via cleavage of vitronectin, fibronectin, and laminin. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280(25):23549–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412001200
- Hiebert PR, Granville DJ. Granzyme B in injury, inflammation, and repair. Trends Mol Med (2012) 18(12):732-41. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.09.009
- Saito Y, Kondo H, Hojo Y. Granzyme B as a novel factor involved in cardiovascular diseases. J Cardiol (2011) 57(2):141–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc. 2010.10.001
- Chamberlain CM, Granville DJ. The role of Granzyme B in atheromatous diseases. Can J Physiol Pharmacol (2007) 85(1):89–95. doi: 10.1139/y06-090
- Choy JC, McDonald PC, Suarez AC, Hung VH, Wilson JE, McManus BM, et al. Granzyme B in atherosclerosis and transplant vascular disease: association with cell death and atherosclerotic disease severity. *Mod Pathol* (2003) 16(5):460–70. doi: 10.1097/01.MP.0000067424.12280.BC
- Skjelland M, Michelsen AE, Krohg-Sørensen K, Tennøe B, Dahl A, Bakke S, et al. Plasma levels of granzyme B are increased in patients with lipid-rich carotid plaques as determined by echogenicity. *Atherosclerosis* (2007) 195(2): e142–6. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.05.001
- Ikemoto T, Hojo Y, Kondo H, Takahashi N, Hirose M, Nishimura Y, et al. Plasma granzyme B as a predicting factor of coronary artery disease– clinical significance in patients with chronic renal failure. *J Cardiol* (2009) 54(3):409– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2009.06.009
- Shen Y, Cheng F, Sharma M, Merkulova Y, Raithatha SA, Parkinson LG, et al. Granzyme B Deficiency Protects against Angiotensin II-Induced Cardiac Fibrosis. Am J Pathol (2016) 186(1):87–100. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.09.010
- Oztas E, Ozler S, Tokmak A, Yilmaz N, Celik HT, Kazanci FH, et al. Increased levels of serum granzyme-B is associated with insulin resistance and increased cardiovascular risk in adolescent polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2016) 198:89–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2016.01.009
- 31. El Mesallamy HO, Hamdy NM, Mostafa DM, Amin AI. The serine protease granzyme B as an inflammatory marker, in relation to the insulin receptor cleavage in human obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* (2014) 34(3):179–86. doi: 10.1089/jir.2013.0059
- 32. Cimini FA, D'Eliseo D, Barchetta I, Bertoccini L, Velotti F, Cavallo MG. Increased circulating granzyme B in type 2 diabetes patients with low-grade

systemic inflammation. Cytokine (2019) 115:104-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.11.019

- 33. Yang H, Youm YH, Vandanmagsar B, Ravussin A, Gimble JM, Greenway F, et al. Obesity increases the production of proinflammatory mediators from adipose tissue T cells and compromises TCR repertoire diversity: implications for systemic inflammation and insulin resistance. *J Immunol* (2010) 185 (3):1836–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000021
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes–2009. Diabetes Care (2009) 32 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S13–61. doi: 10.2337/dc09-S013
- 35. Wyszynski DF, Waterworth DM, Barter PJ, Cohen J, Kesäniemi YA, Mahley RW, et al. Relation between atherogenic dyslipidemia and the Adult Treatment Program-III definition of metabolic syndrome (Genetic Epidemiology of Metabolic Syndrome Project). Am J Cardiol (2005) 95 (2):194–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2004.08.091
- Matsuda M, DeFronzo RA. Insulin sensitivity indices obtained from oral glucose tolerance testing: comparison with the euglycemic insulin clamp. *Diabetes Care* (1999) 22(9):1462–70. doi: 10.2337/diacare.22.9.1462
- Kobashi C, Asamizu S, Ishiki M, Iwata M, Usui I, Yamazaki K, et al. Inhibitory effect of IL-8 on insulin action in human adipocytes via MAP kinase pathway. *J Inflammation (Lond)* (2009) 6:25. doi: 10.1186/1476-9255-6-25
- 38. Yamaguchi R, Yamamoto T, Sakamoto A, Ishimaru Y, Narahara S, Sugiuchi H, et al. Chemokine profiles of human visceral adipocytes from cryopreserved preadipocytes: Neutrophil activation and induction of nuclear factor-kappa B repressing factor. *Life Sci* (2015) 143:225–30. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2015.11.010
- Surmi BK, Hasty AH. The role of chemokines in recruitment of immune cells to the artery wall and adipose tissue. *Vascul Pharmacol* (2010) 52(1-2):27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2009.12.004
- 40. Jiao P, Chen Q, Shah S, Du J, Tao B, Tzameli I, et al. Obesity-related upregulation of monocyte chemotactic factors in adipocytes: involvement of nuclear factor-kappaB and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase pathways. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(1):104–15. doi: 10.2337/db07-1344
- Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, et al. Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J Lipid Res (2005) 46(11):2347–55. doi: 10.1194/ jlr.M500294-JLR200
- Tinahones FJ, Coín Aragüez L, Murri M, Oliva Olivera W, Mayas Torres MD, Barbarroja N, et al. Caspase induction and BCL2 inhibition in human adipose tissue: a potential relationship with insulin signaling alteration. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(3):513–21. doi: 10.2337/dc12-0194
- Choy JC, Hung VH, Hunter AL, Cheung PK, Motyka B, Goping IS, et al. Granzyme B induces smooth muscle cell apoptosis in the absence of perforin: involvement of extracellular matrix degradation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2004) 24(12):2245–50. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000147162.51930.b7
- Wensink AC, Hack CE, Bovenschen N. Granzymes regulate proinflammatory cytokine responses. J Immunol (2015) 194(2):491–7. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.1401214
- Murahovschi V, Pivovarova O, Ilkavets I, Dmitrieva RM, Döcke S, Keyhani-Nejad F, et al. WISP1 is a novel adipokine linked to inflammation in obesity. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(3):856–66. doi: 10.2337/db14-0444
- 46. Barchetta I, Cimini FA, Capoccia D, De Gioannis R, Porzia A, Mainiero F, et al. WISP1 Is a Marker of Systemic and Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Dysmetabolic Subjects With or Without Type 2 Diabetes. *J Endocr Soc* (2017) 1(6):660–70. doi: 10.1210/js.2017-00108

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Cimini, Barchetta, Ceccarelli, Chiappetta, Di Biasio, Bertoccini, Sentinelli, Leonetti, Silecchia, Di Cristofano, Baroni, Velotti and Cavallo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alpha 1 Antitrypsin-Deficient Macrophages Have Impaired Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils

Jungnam Lee¹, Yuanqing Lu¹, Regina Oshins¹, Jesse West¹, Craig G. Moneypenny¹, Kyudong Han^{2,3} and Mark L. Brantly^{1*}

¹ Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Sleep Medicine, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL, United States, ² Department of Microbiology, College of Science and Technology, Dankook University, Cheonan, South Korea, ³ DKU-Theragen Institute for NGS Analysis, Cheonan, South Korea

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ola Grimsholm, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

Reviewed by:

Sabina Janciauskiene, Hannover Medical School, Germany Kylie Belchamber, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Mark L. Brantly mbrantly@ufl.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 19 June 2020 Accepted: 27 October 2020 Published: 20 November 2020

Citation:

Lee J, Lu Y, Oshins R, West J, Moneypenny CG, Han K and Brantly ML (2020) Alpha 1 Antitrypsin-Deficient Macrophages Have Impaired Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils. Front. Immunol. 11:574410. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.574410 Alpha 1 antitrypsin deficiency (AATD) is an autosomal co-dominant disorder characterized by a low level of circulating AAT, which significantly reduces protection for the lower airways against proteolytic burden caused by neutrophils. Neutrophils, which are terminally differentiated innate immune cells and play a critical role to clear pathogens. accumulate excessively in the lung of AATD individuals. The neutrophil burden in AATD individuals increases the risk for early-onset destructive lung diseases by producing neutrophil products such as reactive oxygen radicals and various proteases. The level of AAT in AATD individuals is not sufficient to inhibit the activity of neutrophil chemotactic factors such as CXCL-8 and LTB4, which could lead to alveolar neutrophil accumulation in AATD individuals. However, as neutrophils have a short lifespan, and apoptotic neutrophils are rapidly cleared by alveolar macrophages that outnumber the apoptotic neutrophils in the pulmonary alveolus, the increased chemotaxis activity does not fully explain the persistent neutrophil accumulation and the resulting chronic inflammation in AATD individuals. Here, we propose that the ability of alveolar macrophages to clear apoptotic neutrophils is impaired in AATD individuals and it could be the main driver to cause neutrophil accumulation in their lung. This study demonstrates that Z-AAT variant significantly increases the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including CXCL-8, CXCL1, LTB4, and TNF α in LPS-treated macrophages. These cytokines play a central role in neutrophil recruitment to the lung and in clearance of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages. Our result shows that LPS treatment significantly reduces the efferocytosis ability of macrophages with the Z-AAT allele by inducing TNF α expression. We incubated monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) with apoptotic neutrophils and found that after 3 h of co-incubation, the expression level of CXCL-8 is reduced in M-MDMs but increased in Z-MDMs. This result shows that the expression of inflammatory cytokines could be increased by impaired efferocytosis. It indicates that the efferocytosis ability of

81

macrophages plays an important role in regulating cytokine expression and resolving inflammation. Findings from this study would help us better understand the multifaceted effect of AAT on regulating neutrophil balance in the lung and the underlying mechanisms.

Keywords: Alpha 1 antitrysin, AAT deficiency, neutrophil, macrophage, efferocytosis, cytokine

INTRODUCTION

Alpha-1-antitrypsin (AAT) is a protease inhibitor that regulates the proteolytic effects of neutrophil-derived serine proteases, including neutrophil elastase, cathepsin G, and thrombin (1, 2). It is produced mainly by hepatocytes but also by monocytes, macrophages, and bronchial cells (3). AAT is a classical acute phase response protein and its serum level is increased during states of acute inflammation (2). AATD results from mutations in the SERPINA1 gene. Approximately 120 variant alleles of AAT have been reported to date. The most common allele is M, and Z is a mutated allele most commonly responsible for severe deficiency. It is characterized by a single amino acid substitution of lysine for glutamic acid at position 342, leading to conformational change to its latent form or polymerization, lowering the concentration of circulating AAT. Therefore, AAT does not reach lung tissues where it normally acts as the primary regulator against proteolytic activities in AATD individuals (4). AATD predisposes individuals to lung diseases, including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (5, 6). AATD is indeed responsible for 1%-2% of COPD, and AATD-associated lung disease shares major features of emphysema (7).

AATD individuals have a higher number of neutrophils in their lower respiratory tract than healthy normal individuals (8-10). Neutrophils could be considered a double-edged sword. They are important mediators of host defenses, typically being the first leukocytes recruited to an inflammatory site and eliminating pathogens to resolve the inflammation. However, uncontrolled neutrophilic activity and continued neutrophil recruitment to inflammatory sites can result in an excess of reactive oxygen radicals and various proteolytic enzymes that could cause damage to the surrounding healthy lung tissues and persistent inflammation, a feature of many human diseases including COPD and cystic fibrosis (11-13). Excessive numbers of neutrophils have been implicated in the pathogenesis of many acute and chronic lung diseases (14). Thus finding molecular mechanisms responsible for alveolar neutrophil accumulation in AATD individuals is important to understand risks of lung diseases in AATD individuals.

Alveolar macrophages reside at the interphase between air and lung tissue, serving as the front line of cellular defense against respiratory pathogens. They are the primary phagocytes of the innate immune system, clearing the lower respiratory tract of allergens and infectious or toxic particles (15). When faced with infectious particles or microbes, alveolar macrophages produce pro-inflammatory cytokines to initiate inflammatory responses and recruit neutrophils into the alveolar spaces (16). Neutrophils migrate out of the pulmonary capillaries into the air spaces to serve as the second-line defense. After the phagocytosis of infectious microbes, neutrophils undergo programmed cell death and are cleared by alveolar macrophages, orchestrating the resolution of inflammation and tissue repair (17). However, if apoptotic neutrophils are not efficiently cleared by alveolar macrophages, the apoptotic cells release potentially injurious cytoplasmic contents into the alveolus, causing further tissue injury and perpetuating inflammation (18, 19).

Neutrophil accumulation is considered to be the main source of proteolytic burden in the lung of AATD individuals, and airway neutrophilic inflammation is closely linked to tissue destruction and alveolar airspace enlargement, leading to disease progression (20, 21). Nonetheless, the role of AAT in maintaining alveolar neutrophil homeostasis has not been fully examined. In this study, we hypothesized that Z-AAT impairs neutrophil homeostasis in pulmonary alveoli by increasing the expression of neutrophil chemotactic factors and by decreasing the ability of macrophages to clear apoptotic cells. We compared the expression level of pro-inflammatory cytokines between lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-treated M- and Z-monocyte derived macrophages (MDMs). The cytokines examined in this study include potent neutrophil chemotactic factors chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 (CXCL-1) and ligand 8 (CXCL-8) (22, 23). Due to difficulty obtaining primary human alveolar macrophages, for the present study we used macrophages derived from monocytes (MDM). The macrophages were maturated in the presence of macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) as previously described (24). MDMs from PiMM individuals are referred to as M-MDM while MDMs from PiZZ individuals are referred to as Z-MDM in this study. Efferocytosing macrophages promote resolution of inflammation by suppressing the expression of inflammatory cytokines (25). Therefore macrophage efferocytosis impaired by LPS, which is known to inhibit the efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages, results in persistent expression of inflammatory cytokines (26). We investigated whether AAT regulates the inhibitory effect of LPS on macrophage efferocytosis. This study demonstrates that Z-AAT reinforces the inhibitory effect of LPS on macrophage efferocytosis by increasing $TNF\alpha$ expression and delays the suppression of CXCL-8 mediated by efferocytosis of apoptotic cells. Our results also show that $TNF\alpha$ could be responsible for the LPS-reduced macrophage efferocytosis by inhibiting the expression of efferocytosisassociated molecules, CD14, CD36, and RARa. Taken together, this study explains the function of Z-AAT to exacerbate neutrophil burden and consequent pulmonary inflammation. Therefore, the findings from this study may translate to identifying a targeted strategy to control alveolar neutrophil balance in AATD individuals.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Monocyte Isolation and Macrophage Differentiation

Using ficoll-gradient centrifugation, peripheral blood mononuclear cells were isolated from the blood of outpatient volunteers (University of Florida Institutional Review Board protocol 2015-01051). Characteristics of the volunteers are shown in Table 1. Monocytes were purified using a monocyte enrichment kit (Stemcell Technology, Vancouver), following the manufacturer's instruction. Monocytes were plated in 12-well plates at 300,000 cells per well in macrophage differentiation media (RPMI 1640 containing 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 20 Units/ml penicillin, 20 µg/ml streptomycin, 250 ng/ml Amphotericin B, recombinant human GM-CSF (0.5 ng/ml) and recombinant human M-CSF (5 ng/ml)) and differentiated for 7 days. Both growth factors, GM- and M-CSF, exist in the lung, and especially GM-CSF is important to induce AAT expression (24). Supplemental medium (50% of the volume in each well) was added every 3 days after removal of half of the old media, and cells were used on day 7 for any treatment. To induce inflammatory signaling in MDMs, the cells were stimulated with 10 ng/ml LPS from Escherichia coli O111:B4 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis) overnight. Non-treated and LPS-treated MDMs were harvested for RNA extraction using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Hilden). To inhibit LPS-mediated TNFα signaling, MDMs were pretreated with LPS for 1 h and incubated with TNF α neutralizing antibody (MAB210, R&D Systems, Minneapolis) or isotype control (MAB002, R&D Systems, Minneapolis) for 18 h.

Immunofluorescence

To examine AAT distribution, MDMs were differentiated on glass slides and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min and permeabilized for 10 min in PBS containing 0.01% Triton X-100. The permeabilized cells were incubated with rabbit anti AAT polyclonal antibody (Abcam, Cambridge) at 1:400 dilution in PBS containing 0.1% Tween 20 for 1 h. After washing with PBS-Tween 20, cells were immunostained with Alexa Fluor488 goat anti-rabbit (Abcam, Cambridge) at 1:500 dilution at room temperature for 1 h. The immunostained cells were mounted on glass slides using VECTASHIELD mounting media with DAPI and examined using a fluorescence microscope (BZ-X700, Keyence, Osaka). For quantification of intracellular AAT, AAT fluorescent intensity and number of cells were measured with BZ software, and the fluorescent intensity was

Age 48.5 (22–68) 51 (39–69) 0 Gender (M/F) 4/2 4/2 4/2 FEV1% predicted 86.6 (57–114) 60.8 (23.2–97) 0 FEV1/FVC 77.6 (59–91) 55.3 (31.6–71.8) 0				
Gender (M/F) 4/2 4/2 FEV1% predicted 86.6 (57–114) 60.8 (23.2–97) 0 FEV1/FVC 77.6 (59–91) 55.3 (31.6–71.8) 0	Characteristic	PiMM (n=6)	PiZZ (n=6)	P-value
FEV1% predicted 86.6 (57–114) 60.8 (23.2–97) 0 FEV1/FVC 77.6 (59–91) 55.3 (31.6–71.8) 0	Age	48.5 (22–68)	51 (39–69)	0.82
FEV1/FVC 77.6 (59–91) 55.3 (31.6–71.8) (Gender (M/F)	4/2	4/2	N/A
	FEV1% predicted	86.6 (57–114)	60.8 (23.2-97)	0.14
Current smoker No No	FEV1/FVC	77.6 (59–91)	55.3 (31.6-71.8)	0.04
	Current smoker	No	No	N/A

Definition of abbreviations: PiMM, individuals homozygous for normal PiM allele; PiZZ, individuals homozygous for mutant PiZ allele; N/A, not applicable; FEV1, forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC, forced vital capacity. normalized to the cell number. To examine CD36 distribution, MDMs were incubated with mouse anti CD36 monoclonal antibody (ThermoFisher, Waltham) at 1:20 dilution in blocking solution (Invitrogen, Carlsbad) overnight at 4°C. After washing with PBS-Tween 20, cells were immunostained with Alexa Fluor647 goat anti-rabbit (Abcam, Cambridge) at 1:1000 dilution at room temperature for 1 h. For quantification of CD36, ~1000 MDMs were evaluated for each MDM group (n=4).

Western Blot Analysis

Total proteins were extracted from MDMs using RIPA lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, Danvers) plus protease and phosphatase inhibitors. The protein concentration of each sample was measured using a standard Bradford assay (BioRad, Hercules) and equal amounts of protein were loaded onto a 12% SDS polyacrylamide gel. After gel electrophoresis, the proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane using a wet-transfer system, and the membrane was blocked in Tris-buffered saline with 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) containing 5% nonfat dry milk. The membrane was immunoblotted overnight at 4°C with AAT rabbit polyclonal antibody (DAKO, Carpinteria) at a dilution of 1:5,000 in TBST. Horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-rabbit antibody (BioRad, Hercules) was used for secondary labeling at 1:5,000 in TBST for 1 h at room temperature. The membrane was reprobed with GAPDH rabbit polyclonal antibody (Proteintech, Rosemont) at 1:5,000 in TBST. A horseradish peroxidase conjugated anti-rabbit (BioRad, Hercules) was used for secondary labeling. Protein bands were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL, GE Healthcare, Chicago).

ELISA

AAT was measured in conditioned media of MDMs using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Ninety-six well ELISA plates were coated with goat antihuman AAT antibody at 4°C overnight. The wells were blocked with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20 and 0.5% BSA for 1 h at room temperature. Control and samples were added to the ELISA plate and incubated for 2 h at 37°C. After the ELISA plates were washed, bound AAT remained in each well. Rabbit anti-human AAT antibody (DAKO, Carpinteria) was added to the plate and incubated for 1 h at 37°C, followed by HRPconjugated goat anti-mouse antibody (Bio-Rad, Hercules). After washing, QuantaBlu Fluorogenic Peroxidase Substrate (ThermoFisher, Waltham) was added to the wells and incubated for 5 min at room temperature. HRP activity was read at an excitation/emission maxima of 325/420 using a spectrophotometer (LS50B LuminSpectrometer, Perkin Elmer, Waltham). The concentrations of CXCL-8 (Abcam, Cambridge), LTB4 (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor), and TNFa (Abcam, Cambridge) were measured in conditioned media of MDMs by ELISA, following the manufacturer's instruction.

Neutrophil Isolation and Chemotaxis Assay

Primary neutrophils were isolated from PiMM volunteers using EasySep direct human neutrophil isolation kit (Stemcell

Technologies, Vancouver), following the manufacturer's instruction. The isolated cells were incubated with fluorescent CD16 and CD66b antibodies (BioLegend, San Diego). Percentage of CD16 and CD66b-positive cells was calculated using a Gallios flow cytometer with Kaluza software (Beckman Coulter, Brea, **Supplementary Figure 1**). Neutrophil chemotaxis was assayed in a Transwell system using polycarbonate membranes with 3- μ m pore size (Corning, Corning). MDMs were incubated with or without LPS and, supernatant from the cell culture was transferred into the bottom layer of the chemotaxis chamber. Freshly isolated neutrophils (1 x 10⁶) were added into the top layer of the chamber. The neutrophils migrated from the top to the bottom layer for 30 min. Migrated cells were counted using a hemocytometer and automated cell counter (Invitrogen, Carlsbad).

AAT Treatment

Lyophilized AAT (Prolastin-C) was reconstituted with deionized water, following the manufacturer's instruction and stored at -80°C. To examine whether AAT is able to inhibit LPS-mediated CXCL-8 expression, MDMs were incubated with LPS and different concentrations of AAT for 18 h. AAT-treated MDMs were lysed for RNA extraction using the Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen, Hilden), and CXCL-8 expression was examined using qRT-PCR.

Neutrophil Apoptosis

To induce apoptosis in the cells, neutrophils were aged for 20 h and then incubated with 1 μ M staurosporine for another 3 h. The apoptotic rate of the neutrophils was assessed by flow cytometry with Annexin V/propidium iodide staining (Invitrogen, Carlsbad). For efferocytosis assay, the apoptotic neutrophils were labeled with CellTracker Red CMTPX dye (Invitrogen, Carlsbad), following the manufacturer's instruction.

Efferocytosis Assay

Following 7 days of macrophage differentiation, MDMs were incubated with or without LPS for 18 h, and then the MDMs were incubated with CellTracker Red CMTPX dye-labeled apoptotic neutrophils suspended at 1 x 10⁶/ml at 37°C for 30 min, providing a phagocyte to target ratio of 1:4. After the incubation, the noningested neutrophils were removed by repeated washing with PBS. Removal of the non-ingested neutrophils was confirmed with light microscope (Olympus 1X70), and phagocytosis of the neutrophils by MDMs was confirmed by fluorescence microscopy (BZ-X700, Supplementary Figure 2). MDMs were incubated with Accutase (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver) at room temperature for 20 min, followed by 15 min on ice. After the incubation with Accutase, MDMs were collected by a gentle scraping with a plastic scraper and analyzed by Gallios flow cytometer with Kaluza software (Beckman Coulter, Brea). A minimum of 10,000 events was acquired per sample. For each MDM sample, the efferocytosis rate of control MDM was set to 100%.

Gene Expression Validation by qRT-PCR

Total RNA (1 µg), extracted from MDMs, was reverse-transcribed using SuperScript[®] VILO Master Mix (Invitrogen,

Carlsbad), according to the manufacturer's instruction. Quantification of PCR products was performed with 7500 Fast Real-time PCR (Applied Biosystems, Foster City). SensiFAST Real-Time PCR Kit (Bioline, London) was used to produce fluorescence-labeled PCR products and to monitor increasing fluorescence during repetitive cycling of the amplification reaction. Taqman probes/primers specific for the CXCL-1, CXCL-8/IL-8, TNF α , CD14, CD36, RAR α genes, and for the GNB2L1 gene, as a housekeeping gene, were used in the realtime PCR reaction. Expression levels of the genes were obtained using the classical 2^(- $\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method.

CXCL-8 Suppression by the Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Cells

MDMs were treated with LPS (10 ng/ml) for 30 min and then they were incubated with apoptotic neutrophils or Jurkat cells for 3 h. To induce apoptosis in Jurkat cells, the cells were exposed to UV (200 mJ/cm²) in PBS and the UV-treated cells were incubated in RPMI 1640 for 4 h before being incubated with MDMs. Non-ingested apoptotic cells were washed off with PBS five times and MDMs were lysed for RNA isolation. The expression level of CXCL-8 was examined in the RNA samples using qRT-PCR. The efferocytosis-mediated suppression of cytokine levels was compared between M- and Z-MDMs.

Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as the mean of number of independent experiments using MDMs from different donors. The assessment was evaluated by two-tailed Student's t-test, one-way ANOVA test or two-way ANOVA test. Bonferroni test was used for multiple comparisons. P-values of 0.05 or less were considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Z-AAT Retained in MDMs

AAT mRNA expression level was compared between M- and Z-MDMs. As shown in **Figure 1A**, the gene expression level of AAT was similar between the two groups (p-value=0.17). The concentration of AAT was also compared in conditioned media of M- and Z-MDMs, and the result shows that the AAT concentration is significantly higher in the media of M-MDMs than that of Z-MDMs (**Figure 1B**, p-value<0.0001), indicating a higher secretion rate of M-AAT than Z-AAT. MDMs were immunostained for AAT (**Figure 1C**), and the level of intracellular AAT was quantified in the cells. The level of intracellular AAT was significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs (**Figure 1D**, p-value=0.0006).

Neutrophil Chemoattractant Production by LPS-Stimulated MDMs

The innate immune response usually begins with the activation of alveolar macrophages to produce various cytokines, including neutrophil chemoattractants in the lung, and chemotaxis by neutrophils plays a critical role in the innate immune response. CXCL-8 and CXCL-1 are potent neutrophil chemoattractants on



evaluated for each MDM group. *Denotes statistical significance (p-value < 0.05) according to two-tailed Student's t-test.

an equimolar basis (27-29). The concentration of AAT is about five-fold higher in conditioned media of M-MDM compared with Z-MDM (24). To examine the effect of AAT on the expression of CXCL-8 and CXCL-1, their expressions were compared between LPS-treated M- and Z-MDMs. LPS remarkably increased the expression of the two neutrophil chemoattractants in both M- and Z-MDMs (Figures 2A, B). The expression level of CXCL-8 was increased ~200-fold by LPS in Z-MDMs, and CXCL-1 expression was increased ~40-fold by LPS treatment in Z-MDMs. The expression level of CXCL-8 and CXCL-1 was significantly higher in LPS-treated Z-MDMs than M-MDMs (p-value < 0.05 for the comparison). It was previously reported that the level of CXCL-8 is significant higher in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of AATD individuals than healthy controls (30). We measured the concentrations of CXCL-8 in conditioned media of LPS-treated MDMs using ELISA. The result shows that CXCL-8 concentration is significantly higher in conditioned media of LPS-treated Z-MDMs than M-MDMs (Figures 3A, p-value=0.0004), consistent with the previous finding. The higher expression level of CXCL-8 in Z-MDMs could result from lower concentration of extracellular AAT, higher level of accumulated intracellular AAT, or both.

Exogenous AAT was added to M- and Z-MDM cultures to give a similar concentration of extracellular AAT between the two MDM cultures to eliminate the effect caused by different extracellular AAT concentrations on CXCL-8 expression between the cells. The result shows that even when the concentration of extracellular AAT is very similar between the two MDM cultures, the expression level of CXCL-8 is still significantly higher in Z-MDMs compared with M-MDMs (Figure 3B). It indicates that intracellular Z-AAT led to the higher expression of CXCL-8 in LPS-treated Z-MDMs. As AAT is an acute phase protein, its expression level is increased by LPS treatment, leading to a higher level of intracellular Z-AAT in the cells (Figure 3C). The level of intracellular AAT was quantified and compared between controls and LPS-treated MDMs. As shown in Figure 3D, the intracellular AAT level was not statistically different between M-MDM controls and LPStreated M-MDMs, but it was significantly higher in LPStreated Z-MDMs than their controls (p-value<0.0003). To examine whether AAT expression level is correlated with the expression of CXCL-8 in Z-MDMs, we calculated a Pearson's correlation coefficient and p-value between the expression levels of the two genes. The result shows that the expression of AAT is





highly correlated with the expression of CXCL-8 in Z-MDMs (Table 2).

We also examined the level of leukotriene B4 (LTB4), a wellknown neutrophil chemoattractant, in conditioned media of Mand Z-MDMs using ELISA. The concentration of LTB4 was below the lower limit of detection level in the media of M-MDM samples while it was detected in Z-MDM samples. The concentration of LTB4 was on average 93.6 \pm 53.7 pg/ml in Z-MDM samples. The release of LTB4 is stimulated when alveolar macrophages are exposed to neutrophil elastases (10). It could explain the low level of LTB4 in conditioned media of the MDM cultures.

TABLE 2 | Correlation between the expression levels of AAT and CXCL-8.

Z-MDM culture condition	n	AAT	CXCL-8	Pearson r	P-value
Control	5	1.0	1.0		
LPS (10 ng/ml)	5	2.7	289.4		
LPS (10 ng/ml)+AAT (10 nM)	5	2.8	280.4		
LPS (10 ng/ml)+AAT (100 nM)	5	3.4	286.2		
LPS (10 ng/ml)+AAT (1 µM)	5	2.6	171.9		
LPS (10 ng/ml)+AAT (10 µM)	5	2.9	164.5	0.883	0.02

Neutrophil Chemotaxis Increased in Z-MDMs

AATD individuals have a higher number of alveolar neutrophils than non-AATD individuals (9, 31, 32). We suspected that the higher expression of the neutrophil chemoattractant factors in LPSstimulated Z-MDMs could lead to higher neutrophil migration. We freshly isolated neutrophils from human blood and immediately used them for a neutrophil chemotaxis assay because their half-life is short, generally 6-8 h (33). We compared neutrophil migration rates between control and LPS-treated MDMs. Neutrophil migration rate was higher in the conditioned media of LPStreated MDMs than that of non-treated controls, and the neutrophil migration rate of non-treated controls are shown in the Figure 4A. We calculated the neutrophil migration rate increased by LPS treatment in each MDM group. As shown in Figure 4B, LPS-mediated increase in the neutrophil migration rate was significantly higher in conditioned media of Z-MDMs than M-MDMs (p-value=0.039). This result correlates with our previous observation that the expression level of neutrophil chemoattractant factors was significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs. To confirm that the neutrophils were migrated by chemotaxis other than chemokinesis, three different solutions of PBS, RPMI 1640, and macrophage-differentiated media were used as negative controls for the neutrophil migration assay. The result showed that random neutrophil migration rates in the three solutions were less than 3%, supporting that the observed neutrophil migration in conditioned media of MDMs was mediated by neutrophil chemoattractant factors produced by macrophages.

Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Neutrophils Reduced by LPS

Neutrophils recruited to the site of infection phagocytize bacteria and the process typically accelerates neutrophil apoptosis. Alveolar macrophages clear the apoptotic neutrophils, which ultimately promotes resolution of the bacterial infection (34). Thus the ability of alveolar macrophages to phagocytize apoptotic cells in a timely manner is critical to orchestrate the resolution of inflammation. To determine the ability of M- and Z-MDMs to efferocytose apoptotic neutrophils, we performed efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by MDMs in the presence or absence of LPS. The efferocytosis rate was on average similar between the two MDM groups in the absence of LPS (Table 3 and Supplementary Figure 2D). It was previously reported that LPS inhibits efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by MDMs (26). We compared the reduced efferocytosis rate caused by LPS treatment between M- and Z-MDMs. The result showed that the inhibitory effect of LPS was significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs (Figures 5A-D (p-value=0.01)). We compared the expression of macrophage efferocytosis-related genes in LPSstimulated M- and Z-MDMs. The examined molecules were PPARa, PPARy, CEBPB, ADAM17, and TNFa. These genes have previously been reported to be involved in efferocytosis. However, unlike the expression of $TNF\alpha$, the expression levels of all other genes were not statistically different between M- and Z-MDMs (data not shown). LPS stimulation increased the

TABLE 3 | The efferocytosis rate of M- and Z-MDMs.

	Efferocytosis rate (%)	P-value
M-MDM	28.7 ± 13.5	0.959
Z-MDM	28.3 ± 14.3	







PIGURE 5 | Elefocorrosto of apoptotic neutrophils by M- and 2-initials. MiDNs were includated with LPS (10 ng/ml) overnight and cellifacker red-labeled apoptotic neutrophils were added to the MDM culture. Efferocytosis of the apoptotic cells by MDMs was assessed by flow cytometric analysis (**A**) M-MDM (**B**) Z-MDM. In each histogram plot, the green and red graphs indicate control and LPS-treated MDMs, respectively. The first peak of the each graph indicates non-phagocytosing MDM population and the second peak indicates phagocytosing MDM population. (**C**) The efferocytosis rates of MDM controls were assessed by flow cytometric analysis; n=6. (**D**) Efferocytosis rates of LPS-treated MDMs are expressed relative to those of MDM controls that are set to 100%; n=6. *Denotes statistical significance (p-value < 0.05) according to two-tailed Student's t-test.

expression of TNFa in both M-and Z-MDMs, but TNFa expression level was significantly higher in Z-MDMs (Figure 6A, p-value=0.027). The protein level of TNF α was also significantly higher in conditioned media of LPS-treated Z-MDMs than that of M-MDMs (Figure 6B, p-value=0.032). To investigate if extracellular AAT is able to inhibit LPS-induced TNFa expression in Z-MDMs, we incubated LPS-stimulated MDMs with two different concentrations, 1 and 10 µM, of M-AAT, and examined TNF α expression in the cells. The result shows that only a higher concentration of AAT, which is similar to the AAT concentration found in circulating blood of non-AATD individuals, could suppress TNFa expression in LPSstimulated Z-MDMs, as shown in Figure 6C (p-value=0.018). It supports that AAT could inhibit LPS-mediated TNFα expression in macrophages. The ability of AAT to inhibit TNF α expression in human neutrophils was previously reported (35). We suspected that different TNFa expression levels between Mand Z-MDMs could be responsible for the different efferocytosis rates observed between the cells. In order for TNFa to exert its biological function, it has to bind to its specific receptors. To prevent TNF α from binding to its

receptors, we incubated Z-MDMs with TNF α neutralizing antibodies. We then examined whether blocking TNF α signaling could abolish the inhibitory effect of LPS on the efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by MDMs. The inhibitory effect of LPS on macrophage efferocytosis was significantly reduced when MDMs were incubated with the neutralizing antibody to TNF α (**Figure 7A**, p-value=0.011). LPS reduced efferocytosis rate by 53% in Z-MDMs but the efferocytosis rate was recovered to 94% by TNF α neutralizing antibody in the cells. The result proposes that LPS inhibits macrophage efferocytosis through TNF α in the cells. The efferocytosis rate of the MDMs that were incubated with a combination of LPS and non-specific isotype antibody was similar to that of the MDMs incubated with LPS alone.

The Expression of Neutrophil Chemoattractant Factors Regulated by $\text{TNF}\alpha$

TNF α is known to self-regulate its own expression by activating NF-kB signaling (36–38). Regarding that NF-kB signaling regulates the expression of CXCL-8 and CXCL-1 (39, 40), we



FIGURE 6 | LPS-induced TNF α expression in M- and Z-MDMs. MDMs were incubated with LPS (10 ng/ml) overnight and the gene expression level of **(A)** TNF α and **(B)** its protein level were compared between M-MDMs and Z-MDMs. **(C)** Z-MDMs were incubated with LPS (10 ng/ml) and two different concentrations of M-AAT overnight. The effect of M-AAT on the expression of TNF α was examined in the cells; n=6. *Denotes statistical significance (p-value < 0.05) according to two-tailed Student's t-test.



FIGURE 7 | The effect of TNF α on macrophage efferocytosis and neutrophil chemotaxis. Z-MDMs were incubated with LPS (10 ng/ml) and TNF α neutralizing antibody overnight. (A) The effect of TNF α neutralizing antibody on neutrophil efferocytosis by MDMs was examined (n=4). For each Z-MDM individual sample, the efferocytosis rate of control MDM was set to 100%, and the efferocytosis rates of the other three treatments were normalized to control MDM. (B) The relative expression levels of CXCL-8 in the LPS-treated cells were calculated in comparison to their non-treated controls (n=3). The CXCL-8 expression level of control MDM was set to 1, and the CXCL-8 expression levels of the other three treatments were normalized to control MDM samples were collected for neutrophil chemotaxis assay (n=5). The number of migrated neutrophils was counted, and neutrophil migration rate was calculated based on the number. The migration rate of control MDM was set to 100%, and the migration rates of the other three treatments were normalized to control MDM. *Denotes statistical significance (p-value < 0.05) according to two-tailed Student's t-test.

suspected that TNF α might be responsible for the increased expression of CXCL-8 and CXCL-1 in LPS-stimulated Z-MDMs. We examined whether their expression is reduced when TNF α signaling is inhibited in Z-MDMs. The expression level of CXCL-8 was significantly reduced when MDMs were incubated with TNF α neutralizing antibody (**Figure 7B**, p-value=0.019). The expression level of CXCL-1 was also reduced in the cells but the degree of the reduction was not significant (data not shown). We then performed neutrophil migration in conditioned media of the Z-MDMs in which TNF α signaling was inhibited. The result confirmed that neutrophil migration rate is reduced when MDMs were incubated with TNF α neutralizing antibody in Z-MDMs (**Figure 7C**, p-value=0.024).

Suppression of CXCL-8 Through Macrophage Efferocytosis of Apoptotic Cells

Efferocytosis plays a critical role in the resolution of inflammation by preventing the secondary necrosis of dead cells and triggering several anti-inflammatory signalings. Emerging evidence suggests that the expression of inflammatory cytokines is suppressed in post-efferocytotic macrophages (41, 42). We induced inflammatory signaling in MDMs using LPS and examined whether the efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils is able to suppress LPS-induced CXCL-8 expression. As shown in **Figure 8A**, macrophage efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils suppressed the expression level of CXCL-8 by ~20% in M-MDMs but the cytokine suppression was not observed in Z-MDMs (pvalue=0.039). We repeated the assay using apoptotic Jurkat cells (**Figure 8B**). The efferocytosis-mediated suppression in the expression level of CXCL-8 was observed in both M- and Z-MDMs, and the suppressed level was significantly higher in M-MDMs (p-value=0.032). The results imply that AAT plays an important role in macrophage efferocytosis-medicated cytokine suppression and probably in resolving inflammation.

The Effect of $\text{TNF}\alpha$ on the Expression of Efferocytosis-Related Genes

Our results showed that LPS-induced TNF α expression inhibits efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by MDMs. It was



previously reported that macrophages in a TNF α -rich inflammatory environment are less able to phagocytose apoptotic Jurkat cells (43). We wanted to identify the target molecules that TNFa modulates to inhibit macrophage efferocytosis. A number of genes are involved in the process of efferocytosis. We examined whether TNF α is able to reduce the expression of these genes. MDMs were incubated with $TNF\alpha$ for 1 or 18 h and the expression levels of the genes were examined in the TNFa-treated cells using qRT-PCR. We found that the expressions of CD14, CD36, and RAR α are significantly down regulated by TNFa (Figures 9A p-value=0.005, 9B pvalue=0.0008, and 9C p-value=0.0001). These three genes play an important role in macrophage efferocytosis of apoptotic cells; CD14 functions as a bridging molecule that tethers apoptotic cells to macrophages and associates with other molecules within the phagocytic synapse (44). CD36 is essential for macrophage recognition of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic cells (45). RAR α increases apoptotic cell phagocytosis by inducing the expression of phagocytosis-related genes (46). Therefore, TNF α could mediate reduction in efferocytosis of apoptotic cells by inhibiting the expression of CD14, CD36 and RAR α in macrophages. We compared the expression level of the genes between LPS-treated M-MDMs and Z-MDMs. LPS treatment reduced the expression of CD36 and RAR α in both M- and Z-MDMs, but the reduced level was statistically significant only in Z-MDMs (Figures 9D p-value=0.0043 and 9E p-value=0.0018). The cell surface distribution of CD36 was examined in MDMs. LPS reduced the cell surface level of CD36 in both M- and Z-MDMs, but the reduced level was statistically significant only in Z-MDMs (Supplementary Figure 3, pvalue=0.014). The expression of CD14 was also reduced by LPS in both M- and Z-MDMs, and it was, on average, reduced more in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs. However, there was no statistical difference in CD14 expression between LPS treated M-MDMs and Z-MDMs (data not shown). We suspect that the combined effect of the reduced expression of CD14, CD36, and RARa lead to the statistically different efferocytosis rate of apoptotic neutrophils between M- and Z-MDMs. However, we could not rule out that there are other molecules, playing a role in reducing the efferocytosis rate of LPS-treated MDMs.

DISCUSSION

AATD is a genetic disorder leading to emphysema and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease mostly due to a significantly low level of AAT (47); the concentration of circulating AAT is 20-53 μ M in normal individuals while it ranges from 3 to 7 μ M in AATD individuals with homozygous Z genotype (5). A number of studies aimed to elucidate the pathogenesis of lung diseases associated with AATD and found that alveolar neutrophils are prevalent in AATD individuals (10). It suggests that AAT has an ability to limit excessive neutrophil accumulation to the pulmonary alveolus as well as its primary function of defense against the elastolytic burden in the lower airways posed by various proteases. It has been suggested that AAT has other capabilities that extend beyond its antiprotease role (20). In this study, we demonstrated that AAT has multifaceted abilities to maintain a neutrophil balance in the pulmonary alveolus and consequently a healthy lung. One previous study found that the chemotactic migration rate of PiZZ neutrophils is 2-8 times higher than PiMM neutrophils and extracellularly added AAT reduced neutrophil chemotaxis by binding to CXCL-8 (20). Another study showed that AAT is able to directly bind to LTB4, a potent neutrophil chemoattractant, and consequently inhibits LTB4-BLT1 interaction to reduce neutrophil chemotaxis (48). A common finding of the previous studies is that AAT inhibits neutrophil chemotaxis through its binding to those neutrophil chemotactic factors. Unlike the previous studies, we found that AAT is able to modify the expression of neutrophil chemotactic factors in LPS-stimulated macrophages. Our results showed that the expression level of neutrophil chemotactic factors is significantly higher in LPS-treated Z-MDMs than M-MDMs and that neutrophil migration rate is



significantly higher in the conditioned media of Z-MDM culture than that of M-MDM culture. In addition, our data showed that the expression level of CXCL-8 is more significantly suppressed by the efferocytosis of apoptotic cells in M-MDMs than Z-MDMs. Taken together, the results support that AAT is able to inhibit the expression of the neutrophil chemotactic factors in macrophages and thus block excessive neutrophil infiltration to pulmonary alveoli during LPS-mediated inflammation while Z-AAT variant increases the number of alveolar neutrophils in AATD individuals by inducing the expression of the neutrophil chemotactic factors in alveolar macrophages.

Neutrophils are terminally differentiated cells and have a very short life span (49). Immediately after bacterial infection, a number of neutrophils migrate to the infection site. When the recruited neutrophils fulfill their role, neutrophils undergo programmed cell death. Lingering neutrophils exacerbate inflammation and cause tissue injury. Thus neutrophil apoptosis is essential to normal tissue homeostasis. However, inappropriate or premature apoptosis of neutrophils may compromise their function, impairing host defense (50-53). Our data showed that the expression level of TNF α is significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs. It was previously reported that $TNF\alpha$ induces neutrophil apoptosis (54). Given that the apoptosis rate of PiZZ neutrophils is twofold higher than PiMM neutrophils (53) and the expression level of TNFa promoting neutrophil apoptosis is higher in Z-MDMs, Z-AAT variant accelerates neutrophil apoptosis in the pulmonary alveoli of AATD individuals.

Recognition and efferocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages is a critical step to resolve inflammation by

mediating secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines TGF- β and IL-10 that inhibit inflammatory response (55, 56). It was previously demonstrated that efferocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages could accelerate resolution of LPS-induced lung inflammation in a TGF- β dependent manner (25, 57). Our result showed that LPS inhibited the efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils by macrophages and the inhibitory effect of LPS on the efferocytosis was significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs, indicating that AAT combats LPS-reduced macrophage efferocytosis. Impaired macrophage efferocytosis could lead to a higher neutrophil infiltration rate to alveoli because prolonged presence of apoptotic neutrophils aggravates inflammation that further increases the expression of neutrophil chemotactic factors in alveolar macrophages. Previous studies on COPD, which is highly associated with Z-AAT variants, found that alveolar macrophages efferocytosis are impaired in COPD patients and suggest that the impaired efferocytosis or phagocytosis by alveolar macrophages could perpetuate an inflammatory response (18, 58-60). Our data showed that LPS-induced efferocytosis impairment was recovered in Z-MDMs when TNF α signaling was inhibited in the cells by TNF α neutralizing antibody. It suggests that TNF α signaling is responsible for the reduced macrophage efferocytosis in LPSstimulated cells. When MDMs were stimulated with LPS, the expression level of TNFa was significantly higher in Z-MDMs than M-MDMs. It indicates that the clearance of apoptotic neutrophils by alveolar macrophages would be more impaired in AATD individuals by the increased TNFa level during LPSmediated inflammation. Indeed, TNFa signaling has been proposed to drive immune cell dysfunction causing lung



diseases in AATD individuals (47). We attempted to explain how TNF α signaling reduces macrophage efferocytosis and found that the expression levels of CD14, CD36, and RAR α were significantly reduced by TNF α in MDMs. This suggests that TNF α signaling inhibits the expression of the three genes to impair macrophage efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils. The expression level of the three genes was significantly lower in LPS-treated Z-MDMs and that, at least in part, explains the higher inhibitory effect of LPS on the efferocytosis by Z-MDMs.

The present study highlights the pivotal role of the AAT molecule in modulating the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in alveolar macrophages. Upon pro-inflammatory cytokine stimulation, alveolar macrophages produce cytokines and chemokines that attract and activate neutrophils. A high expression level of CXCL-8 has been found in pulmonary diseases, including acute respiratory distress syndrome and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (61, 62). TNF α has been suggested to be essential in the pathogenesis of lung diseases associated with AATD (47). The effect of extracellular AAT on regulating TNF α expression and CXCL-8 activity has been well studied. In this study, we focus on examining the effect of

intracellular Z-AAT on the expression of CXCL-8 and TNF α in LPS-stimulated MDMs. We show that the level of intracellular Z-AAT is highly increased by LPS treatment, and the expressions of CXCL-8 and TNF α are significantly increased in LPS-treated Z-MDMs. We also show that inhibiting TNF α signaling reduces the expression of CXCL-8 and alleviates the inhibitory effect of LPS on macrophage efferocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils.

In conclusion, Z-AAT accumulation in alveolar macrophages is a main driver for excessive neutrophils in pulmonary alveoli of AATD individuals by inducing the expression of CXCL-8 and TNF α in the cells and, in addition to a low concentration of extracellular AAT, further exacerbates neutrophil burden in the individuals. We propose a mechanism to explain the role of Z-AAT in neutrophil accumulation in pulmonary alveoli of AATD individuals, as depicted in **Figure 10**. The knowledge gained from the present study helps us better understand the multifaceted effect of AAT on regulating neutrophil balance and the underlying mechanisms, which is critical to develop improved therapies to reinforce host defense and attenuate detrimental pulmonary diseases associated with AAT deficiency.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets presented in this study are included in the article/ Supplementary Material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Florida Institutional Review Board protocol 2015-01051. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL and MB: designed the study, planned the experimental work, and analyzed the data. JL, YL, CM, and KH: performed experimental work and analyzed the data. RO and JW: collected biological samples. JL and MB: wrote the manuscript. YL, KH, CM, RO, and JW: critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by Alpha One Foundation Research Program and Professorship (UFF F007320) and National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS-UL1TR001427).

REFERENCES

- Korkmaz B, Attucci S, Jourdan ML, Juliano L, Gauthier F. Inhibition of neutrophil elastase by alpha1-protease inhibitor at the surface of human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(5):3329–38. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.5.3329
- van 't Wout EF, van Schadewijk A, Savage ND, Stolk J, Hiemstra PS. alphalantitrypsin production by proinflammatory and antiinflammatory macrophages and dendritic cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2012) 46 (5):607–13. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2011-02310C
- Janciauskiene SM, Bals R, Koczulla R, Vogelmeier C, Kohnlein T, Welte T. The discovery of alpha1-antitrypsin and its role in health and disease. *Respir Med* (2011) 105(8):1129–39. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2011.02.002
- Henao MP, Craig TJ. Understanding alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: A review with an allergist's outlook. *Allergy Asthma Proc* (2017) 38(2):98–107. doi: 10.2500/aap.2017.38.4027
- Stoller JK, Aboussouan LS. A review of alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. Am J Respir Crit Care Med (2012) 185(3):246–59. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201108-1428CI
- Serban KA, Petrusca DN, Mikosz A, Poirier C, Lockett AD, Saint L, et al. Alpha-1 antitrypsin supplementation improves alveolar macrophages efferocytosis and phagocytosis following cigarette smoke exposure. *PloS One* (2017) 12(4):e0176073. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0176073
- Greene CM, Marciniak SJ, Teckman J, Ferrarotti I, Brantly ML, Lomas DA, et al. alpha1-Antitrypsin deficiency. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2016) 2:16051. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.51
- Hill AT, Campbell EJ, Bayley DL, Hill SL, Stockley RA. Evidence for excessive bronchial inflammation during an acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in patients with alpha(1)-antitrypsin deficiency (PiZ). Am J Respir Crit Care Med (1999) 160(6):1968–75. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.160.6.9904097
- Wencker M, Brantly ML. Cytotoxic concentrations of alpha-defensins in the lungs of individuals with alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency and moderate to severe lung disease. *Cytokine* (2005) 32(1):1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2005.06.003

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 574410/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1 | Neutrophil isolation and apoptosis. Primary neutrophils were isolated from PiMM volunteers for neutrophil chemotaxis assay. (A) The isolated neutrophils were incubated with fluorescent CD16 and CD66b antibodies, and percentage of CD16 and CD66b-positive cells were calculated using Gallios flow cytometer with Kaluza software. (B) The apoptotic rate of neutrophils was assessed by flow cytometry with Annexin V/propidium iodide staining.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2 | Visualization of neutrophil efferocytosis by MDMs. **M**-MDMs were incubated with red color-labeled apoptotic neutrophils, and the images of phagocytizing MDMs were captured using fluorescent microscope. **(A–C)** indicate the phase contrast of MDMs, red color-labeled apoptotic neutrophils, and MDMs phagocytizing apoptotic neutrophils, respectively.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 3 | Calculation of neutrophil efferocytosis rate. Z-MDMs were incubated with apoptotic neutrophils in the absence or presence of LPS (10 ng/ml). **(A, C)** show control and LPS-treated cells that were gated on size and granularity, respectively. **(B, D)** show the percentage of control and LPS-treated MDMs phagocytozing apoptotic neutrophils, respectively. In the histogram plot, the first peak indicates non-phagocytosing MDM population and the second peak indicates phagocytosing MDM population.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 4 | Cell surface distribution of CD36 in MDMs. MDMs were incubated in the absence or presence of LPS (10 ng/ml) overnight. Blue and red fluorescence indicates the nucleus and CD36, respectively. 63x Images were taken using a fluorescence microscope.

- Hubbard RC, Fells G, Gadek J, Pacholok S, Humes J, Crystal RG. Neutrophil accumulation in the lung in alpha 1-antitrypsin deficiency. Spontaneous release of leukotriene B4 by alveolar macrophages. J Clin Invest (1991) 88 (3):891–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI115391
- Gernez Y, Tirouvanziam R, Chanez P. Neutrophils in chronic inflammatory airway diseases: can we target them and how? *Eur Respir J* (2010) 35(3):467–9. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00186109
- Winterbourn CC, Kettle AJ, Hampton MB. Reactive Oxygen Species and Neutrophil Function. Annu Rev Biochem (2016) 85:765–92. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-biochem-060815-014442
- Jerke U, Hernandez DP, Beaudette P, Korkmaz B, Dittmar G, Kettritz R. Neutrophil serine proteases exert proteolytic activity on endothelial cells. *Kidney Int* (2015) 88(4):764–75. doi: 10.1038/ki.2015.159
- Stockley RA, Shaw J, Afford SC, Morrison HM, Burnett D. Effect of alpha-1proteinase inhibitor on neutrophil chemotaxis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (1990) 2(2):163–70. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb/2.2.163
- Byrne AJ, Mathie SA, Gregory LG, Lloyd CM. Pulmonary macrophages: key players in the innate defence of the airways. *Thorax* (2015) 70(12):1189–96. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207020
- de Oliveira S, Rosowski EE, Huttenlocher A. Neutrophil migration in infection and wound repair: going forward in reverse. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16(6):378–91. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.49
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(3):787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Hodge S, Hodge G, Jersmann H, Matthews G, Ahern J, Holmes M, et al. Azithromycin improves macrophage phagocytic function and expression of mannose receptor in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2008) 178(2):139–48. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200711-1666OC
- Taylor AE, Finney-Hayward TK, Quint JK, Thomas CM, Tudhope SJ, Wedzicha JA, et al. Defective macrophage phagocytosis of bacteria in COPD. *Eur Respir J* (2010) 35(5):1039–47. doi: 10.1183/09031936. 00036709

- Bergin DA, Reeves EP, Meleady P, Henry M, McElvaney OJ, Carroll TP, et al. alpha-1 Antitrypsin regulates human neutrophil chemotaxis induced by soluble immune complexes and IL-8. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120(12):4236–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI41196
- Huang GQ, Ke ZP, Hu HB, Gu B. Co-expression network analysis of long noncoding RNAs (IncRNAs) and cancer genes revealsSFTA1P and CASC2abnormalities in lung squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2017) 18(2):115-22. doi: 10.1080/15384047.2017.1281494
- Palmberg L, Larsson BM, Malmberg P, Larsson K. Induction of IL-8 production in human alveolar macrophages and human bronchial epithelial cells in vitro by swine dust. *Thorax* (1998) 53(4):260–4. doi: 10.1136/ thx.53.4.260
- De Filippo K, Dudeck A, Hasenberg M, Nye E, van Rooijen N, Hartmann K, et al. Mast cell and macrophage chemokines CXCL1/CXCL2 control the early stage of neutrophil recruitment during tissue inflammation. *Blood* (2013) 121 (24):4930–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-02-486217
- Krotova K, Marek GW, Wang RL, Aslanidi G, Hoffman BE, Khodayari N, et al. Alpha-1 Antitrypsin-Deficient Macrophages Have Increased Matriptase-Mediated Proteolytic Activity. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol (2017) 57(2):238–47. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2016-0366OC
- Korns D, Frasch SC, Fernandez-Boyanapalli R, Henson PM, Bratton DL. Modulation of macrophage efferocytosis in inflammation. *Front Immunol* (2011) 2:57. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2011.00057
- Michlewska S, Dransfield I, Megson IL, Rossi AG. Macrophage phagocytosis of apoptotic neutrophils is critically regulated by the opposing actions of proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory agents: key role for TNF-alpha. FASEB J (2009) 23(3):844–54. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-121228
- de Boer WI, Sont JK, van Schadewijk A, Stolk J, van Krieken JH, Hiemstra PS. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, interleukin 8, and chronic airways inflammation in COPD. J Pathol (2000) 190(5):619–26. doi: 10.1002/(SICI) 1096-9896(200004)190:5<619::AID-PATH555>30.CO;2-6
- Woolhouse IS, Bayley DL, Stockley RA. Sputum chemotactic activity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: effect of alpha(1)-antitrypsin deficiency and the role of leukotriene B(4) and interleukin 8. *Thorax* (2002) 57(8):709–14. doi: 10.1136/thorax.57.8.709
- Sawant KV, Poluri KM, Dutta AK, Sepuru KM, Troshkina A, Garofalo RP, et al. Chemokine CXCL1 mediated neutrophil recruitment: Role of glycosaminoglycan interactions. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:33123. doi: 10.1038/ srep33123
- Malerba M, Ricciardolo F, Radaeli A, Torregiani C, Ceriani L, Mori E, et al. Neutrophilic inflammation and IL-8 levels in induced sputum of alpha-1antitrypsin PiMZ subjects. *Thorax* (2006) 61(2):129–33. doi: 10.1136/ thx.2005.043471
- Rouhani F, Paone G, Smith NK, Krein P, Barnes P, Brantly ML. Lung neutrophil burden correlates with increased pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreased lung function in individuals with alpha(1)-antitrypsin deficiency. *Chest* (2000) 117(5 Suppl 1):250S–1S. doi: 10.1378/chest.117.5_suppl_1.250S
- McCarthy C, Reeves EP, McElvaney NG. The Role of Neutrophils in Alpha-1 Antitrypsin Deficiency. Ann Am Thorac Soc (2016) 13 Suppl 4:S297–304. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201509-634KV
- Summers C, Rankin SM, Condliffe AM, Singh N, Peters AM, Chilvers ER. Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease. *Trends Immunol* (2010) 31(8):318– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2010.05.006
- Kennedy AD, DeLeo FR. Neutrophil apoptosis and the resolution of infection. Immunol Res (2009) 43(1-3):25–61. doi: 10.1007/s12026-008-8049-6
- 35. Bergin DA, Reeves EP, Hurley K, Wolfe R, Jameel R, Fitzgerald S, et al. The circulating proteinase inhibitor alpha-1 antitrypsin regulates neutrophil degranulation and autoimmunity. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(217):217ra1. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007116
- Schutze S, Wiegmann K, Machleidt T, Kronke M. TNF-induced activation of NF-kappa B. *Immunobiology* (1995) 193(2-4):193–203. doi: 10.1016/S0171-2985(11)80543-7
- Tabibzadeh S, Satyaswaroop PG, von Wolff M, Strowitzki T. Regulation of TNF-alpha mRNA expression in endometrial cells by TNF-alpha and by oestrogen withdrawal. *Mol Hum Reprod* (1999) 5(12):1141–9. doi: 10.1093/ molehr/5.12.1141
- Verma N, Chaudhury I, Kumar D, Das RH. Silencing of TNF-alpha receptors coordinately suppresses TNF-alpha expression through NF-kappaB activation

blockade in THP-1 macrophage. *FEBS Lett* (2009) 583(17):2968–74. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2009.08.007

- Elliott CL, Loudon JA, Brown N, Slater DM, Bennett PR, Sullivan MH. IL-Ibeta and IL-8 in human fetal membranes: changes with gestational age, labor, and culture conditions. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2001) 46(4):260–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2001.d01-11.x
- Amiri KI, Richmond A. Fine tuning the transcriptional regulation of the CXCL1 chemokine. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol (2003) 74:1–36. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6603(03)01009-2
- Marwick JA, Mills R, Kay O, Michail K, Stephen J, Rossi AG, et al. Neutrophils induce macrophage anti-inflammatory reprogramming by suppressing NFkappaB activation. *Cell Death Dis* (2018) 9(6):665. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0710-y
- Yurdagul AJr., Doran AC, Cai B, Fredman G, Tabas IA. Mechanisms and Consequences of Defective Efferocytosis in Atherosclerosis. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2017) 4:86:86. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00086
- McPhillips K, Janssen WJ, Ghosh M, Byrne A, Gardai S, Remigio L, et al. TNF-alpha inhibits macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells via cytosolic phospholipase A2 and oxidant-dependent mechanisms. *J Immunol* (2007) 178 (12):8117–26. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.12.8117
- 44. Eligini S, Fiorelli S, Tremoli E, Colli S. Inhibition of transglutaminase 2 reduces efferocytosis in human macrophages: Role of CD14 and SR-AI receptors. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* (2016) 26(10):922–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.numecd.2016.05.011
- 45. Fadok VA, Warner ML, Bratton DL, Henson PM. CD36 is required for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by human macrophages that use either a phosphatidylserine receptor or the vitronectin receptor (alpha v beta 3). *J Immunol* (1998) 161(11):6250–7.
- Sarang Z, Joos G, Garabuczi E, Ruhl R, Gregory CD, Szondy Z. Macrophages engulfing apoptotic cells produce nonclassical retinoids to enhance their phagocytic capacity. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(12):5730–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400284
- Hurley K, Reeves EP, Carroll TP, McElvaney NG. Tumor necrosis factoralpha driven inflammation in alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency: a new model of pathogenesis and treatment. *Expert Rev Respir Med* (2016) 10(2):207–22. doi: 10.1586/17476348.2016.1127759
- O'Dwyer CA, O'Brien ME, Wormald MR, White MM, Banville N, Hurley K, et al. The BLT1 Inhibitory Function of alpha-1 Antitrypsin Augmentation Therapy Disrupts Leukotriene B4 Neutrophil Signaling. *J Immunol* (2015) 195 (8):3628–41. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500038
- El Kebir D, Filep JG. Modulation of Neutrophil Apoptosis and the Resolution of Inflammation through beta2 Integrins. *Front Immunol* (2013) 4:60. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00060
- Coxon A, Tang T, Mayadas TN. Cytokine-activated endothelial cells delay neutrophil apoptosis in vitro and in vivo. A role for granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J Exp Med (1999) 190(7):923–34. doi: 10.1084/ jem.190.7.923
- Nagaoka I, Niyonsaba F, Tsutsumi-Ishii Y, Tamura H, Hirata M. Evaluation of the effect of human beta-defensins on neutrophil apoptosis. *Int Immunol* (2008) 20(4):543–53. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxn012
- 52. Fox S, Leitch AE, Duffin R, Haslett C, Rossi AG. Neutrophil apoptosis: relevance to the innate immune response and inflammatory disease. *J Innate Immun* (2010) 2(3):216–27. doi: 10.1159/000284367
- Hurley K, Lacey N, O'Dwyer CA, Bergin DA, McElvaney OJ, O'Brien ME, et al. Alpha-1 antitrypsin augmentation therapy corrects accelerated neutrophil apoptosis in deficient individuals. *J Immunol* (2014) 193 (8):3978–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400132
- Salamone G, Giordano M, Trevani AS, Gamberale R, Vermeulen M, Schettinni J, et al. Promotion of neutrophil apoptosis by TNF-alpha. J Immunol (2001) 166(5):3476–83. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.5.3476
- Voll RE, Herrmann M, Roth EA, Stach C, Kalden JR, Girkontaite I. Immunosuppressive effects of apoptotic cells. *Nature* (1997) 390(6658):350–1. doi: 10.1038/37022
- Fadok VA, Bratton DL, Guthrie L, Henson PM. Differential effects of apoptotic versus lysed cells on macrophage production of cytokines: role of proteases. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(11):6847–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6847
- Huynh ML, Fadok VA, Henson PM. Phosphatidylserine-dependent ingestion of apoptotic cells promotes TGF-beta1 secretion and the resolution of inflammation. J Clin Invest (2002) 109(1):41–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI11638

- Hodge S, Hodge G, Brozyna S, Jersmann H, Holmes M, Reynolds PN. Azithromycin increases phagocytosis of apoptotic bronchial epithelial cells by alveolar macrophages. *Eur Respir J* (2006) 28(3):486–95. doi: 10.1183/ 09031936.06.00001506
- Hodge S, Hodge G, Ahern J, Jersmann H, Holmes M, Reynolds PN. Smoking alters alveolar macrophage recognition and phagocytic ability: implications in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* (2007) 37 (6):748–55. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2007-0025OC
- Donnelly LE, Barnes PJ. Defective phagocytosis in airways disease. Chest (2012) 141(4):1055–62. doi: 10.1378/chest.11-2348
- Mukaida N. Pathophysiological roles of interleukin-8/CXCL8 in pulmonary diseases. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2003) 284(4):L566–77. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00233.2002
- 62. Lee J, Arisi I, Puxeddu E, Mramba LK, Amicosante M, Swaisgood CM, et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cells in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis express a

complex pro-inflammatory, pro-repair, angiogenic activation pattern, likely associated with macrophage iron accumulation. *PloS One* (2018) 13(4): e0194803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194803

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lee, Lu, Oshins, West, Moneypenny, Han and Brantly. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of PD-L1 Expression by NF-κB in Cancer

Fabrizio Antonangeli^{1*}, Ambra Natalini¹, Marina Chiara Garassino², Antonio Sica^{3,4}, Angela Santoni⁵ and Francesca Di Rosa¹

¹ Institute of Molecular Biology and Pathology, National Research Council (CNR), Rome, Italy, ² Medical Oncology Department, Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Milan, Italy, ³ Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Eastern Piedmont, A. Avogadro, Novara, Italy, ⁴ Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Milan, Italy, ⁵ Department of Molecular Medicine, Laboratory Affiliated to Istituto Pasteur Italia, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annalisa Del Prete, University of Brescia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Viktor Umansky, German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ), Germany Fernando O. Martinez, University of Surrey, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Fabrizio Antonangeli fabrizio.antonangeli@cnr.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 July 2020 Accepted: 25 August 2020 Published: 25 November 2020

Citation:

Antonangeli F, Natalini A, Garassino MC, Sica A, Santoni A and Di Rosa F (2020) Regulation of PD-L1 Expression by NF-κB in Cancer. Front. Immunol. 11:584626. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.584626 Immune checkpoints are inhibitory receptor/ligand pairs regulating immunity that are exploited as key targets of anti-cancer therapy. Although the PD-1/PD-L1 pair is one of the most studied immune checkpoints, several aspects of its biology remain to be clarified. It has been established that PD-1 is an inhibitory receptor up-regulated by activated T, B, and NK lymphocytes and that its ligand PD-L1 mediates a negative feedback of lymphocyte activation, contributing to the restoration of the steady state condition after acute immune responses. This loop might become detrimental in the presence of either a chronic infection or a growing tumor. PD-L1 expression in tumors is currently used as a biomarker to orient therapeutic decisions; nevertheless, our knowledge about the regulation of PD-L1 expression is limited. The present review discusses how NF-kB, a master transcription factor of inflammation and immunity, is emerging as a key positive regulator of PD-L1 expression in cancer. NF- κ B directly induces PD-L1 gene transcription by binding to its promoter, and it can also regulate PD-L1 post-transcriptionally through indirect pathways. These processes, which under conditions of cellular stress and acute inflammation drive tissue homeostasis and promote tissue healing, are largely dysregulated in tumors. Up-regulation of PD-L1 in cancer cells is controlled via NF-kB downstream of several signals, including oncogene- and stress-induced pathways, inflammatory cytokines, and chemotherapeutic drugs. Notably, a shared signaling pathway in epithelial cancers induces both PD-L1 expression and epithelial-mesenchymal transition, suggesting that PD-L1 is part of the tissue remodeling program. Furthermore, PD-L1 expression by tumor infiltrating myeloid cells can contribute to the immune suppressive features of the tumor environment. A better understanding of the interplay between NF-κB signaling and PD-L1 expression is highly relevant to cancer biology and therapy.

Keywords: tumor associated macrophages, T cells, immune checkpoint inhibitors, tumor immunity, non-smallcell-lung cancer, tissue homeostasis, epithelial-mesenchymal transition, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

The immune system relies on a complex balance between activating and inhibitory mechanisms to counteract infections and other threats while avoiding excessive tissue damage. Among the inhibitory molecules, a distinct set of inhibitory receptors and their ligands, collectively called "immune checkpoints," has recently attracted a lot of attention for its relevance in cancer therapy, chronic infections, and autoimmune diseases (1). Programmed cell death protein-1 (PD-1) is a member of the CD28 family expressed by activated lymphocytes. PD-1 triggers immunosuppressive signals upon engagement by its ligands, i.e., PD-L1 (CD274 or B7-H1) and PD-L2 (CD273), which are members of the B7 family. While PD-L2 expression is largely restricted to antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and B1 lymphocytes, PD-L1 is expressed by APCs (mostly macrophages and dendritic cells), activated/exhausted T and B lymphocytes, and regulatory T cells (T_{reg}), among others (2, 3). PD-L1 is also expressed by the cardiac endothelium, placenta, and pancreatic islets, with a possible role in maintaining immunological tolerance in these districts (4). Cancer cells can express PD-L1 and exploit the PD-L1-driven inhibitory pathway to their benefit as a key mechanism of immune evasion (5).

Return to the steady state at the end of immune response is tightly regulated (6, 7), and it is widely recognized that the PD-1/PD-L1 axis plays a central role in physiological immune homeostasis, contributing to the prevention of lymphocyte overactivation and immunopathology (1, 8). A variety of mechanisms have been involved in PD-1-mediated suppression of activated T lymphocytes, including exhaustion, inflammatory cytokine secretion inhibition, anergy, and apoptosis (8). PD-1 expression by antigen-responding T and B cells is tightly regulated, which allows for a stringent control of lymphocyte response (9, 10). Accordingly, PD-1 deficiency is associated with the development of autoimmune diseases (11, 12). PD-1 can be expressed also by γδ T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), which are circulating and tissue-resident lymphocytes involved in tissue repair and early responses against pathogens and cellular stress (13-16).

Regulation of PD-L1 expression and function takes place at different levels, as extensively reviewed by Sun and colleagues (17). Several mediators of inflammation are PD-L1 inducers, including TNFa, IFN-y, IL-10, IL-17, and C5a (18-21). The JAK/STAT, RAS/MAPK, and PTEN-PI3K/AKT pathways are involved in the control of PD-L1 gene expression via different downstream transcription factors, such as STAT1, STAT3, IRF1, IRF3, HIF-1α, MYC, JUN, BRD4, and NF-κB (22). The corresponding DNA-binding elements, except for IRF3, have been described on the PD-L1 promoter (23-32). Additional mechanisms of regulation include microRNA-mediated posttranscriptional inhibition (e.g., miR-513, miR-34a, miR-200, and miR-570) and the presence of a soluble form of PD-L1 (sPD-L1) in the blood, which possibly competes with the membranebound PD-L1 for binding to PD-1 (17, 33). Though only partially investigated, reverse signaling of PD-L1 has been reported in tumor cells and macrophages, resulting in pro-survival and inhibitory signals, respectively (34, 35). In addition to the PD-1/PD-L1 pair, a further interaction between PD-L1 and B7.1 (CD80) has been implicated in the inhibition of T-cell proliferation and cytokine production (36).

IFN- γ is one of the most studied PD-L1 inducers in tumors but PD-L1 expression does not necessarily mirror the IFN- γ signature (37, 38). NF-κB, a central player of inflammation and immunity, is emerging as a key positive regulator of PD-L1 expression. Notably, two recent studies, by using a CRISPR-Cas9based wide screening approach, have identified NF-κB as a major determinant of cancer cell resistance against immune attack (39, 40). Considering the pivotal role played by PD-L1 for tumor cell immune evasion, the disclosure of the relationship between NF-κB signaling and PD-L1 expression is of great relevance (41). The present review gives an overview of the experimental works linking NF-κB to the regulation of PD-L1 expression in tumors. Furthermore, the implications of NF-κB-mediated control of PD-L1 expression for tissue homeostasis, cancer biology, and immune-therapy are discussed.

NF-κB AMONG INFLAMMATION, IMMUNITY, AND CANCER

NF-kB [nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells, discovered by Sen and Baltimore in 1986 (42)] is a transcription factor supporting host responses to cellular stress and immune responses to pathogens and other challenges. NFκB can be composed of different dimers of the NF-κB family, activated downstream of multiple signaling pathways [for a comprehensive review on NF-κB see (43)]. Briefly, five proteins belong to the NF-KB family: p50, p52, p65 (RelA), RelB, and c-Rel; they are encoded by NFKB1, NFKB2, RELA, RELB, and REL genes, respectively. NFKB1 and NFKB2 codify for the p105 and p100 precursors, which are then processed to the active forms p50 and p52, respectively. The canonical (or classical) pathway leads to the activation of the p50/p65 (RelA) or p50/c-Rel heterodimers, while the non-canonical (or alternative) pathway leads to the activation of the p52/RelB heterodimer. The different heterodimers play distinct biological roles, controlling lymphoid organ development, immune activation, and cell survival (44-46). In healthy cells, NF-κB complexes are retained in the cytoplasm by inhibitory proteins belonging to the IKB family. Activating signals of the canonical pathway, which include TNFa, IL-1, and Lypopolysaccharide (LPS), cause IkB phosphorylation via IKB kinase (IKK). IKKa and IKKB are the catalytic subunits of the multimeric IKK, which also includes the scaffold protein IKKγ (also named NEMO). Upon phosphorylation, IκB is ubiquitinated and targeted to degradation by the proteasome. This allows NF-KB's translocation to the nucleus where it regulates gene transcription by binding to the promoters of its target genes. Direct phosphorylation of p65 further enhances NF-KB nuclear translocation. In the non-canonical pathway, the inactive precursor of p52/RelB heterodimer is matured into its active form by IKKa phosphorylation and proteasomal processing upon NF-kB-induced kinase (NIK) activation by signals such as CD40L and lymphotoxin (47). A third atypical IKK-independent pathway is mainly triggered by hypoxia and

Consensus sequence	-5 -4 -3 -2 −1 0 +1 +2 +3 +4 5′-G G G N N N N N C C-3′	N: any base		
Position	κB element	Validated by	Cell type	References
From	GGGGGACGCC	ChIP-PCR	TNBC	(67)
N/A	GGAAAGTCCA	Luciferase assay	Cervical cancer	(68)
N/A	GGAGC G TTCC	Luciferase assay		
From -1769 to -1760	GGCAAATTCC		Macrophage	(69)
From -1293 to -1284	GGGAAGTCAC			
From -610 to -601	GGGAA G TTCT	ChIP-PCR		
From –75 to –66	GGAAA G TCCA			
From -606 to -597	N/A		Gastric cancer	(70)
From –238 to –229	N/A			
From71 to62	N/A	Luciferase assay		
From -49 to -40	N/A			

Position refers to the transcription starting site. TNBC, triple-negative breast cancer; N/A, not available.

UV radiation and leads to p50/p65 activation (48). NF- κ B activation is regulated by several negative loops, including phosphorylation/de-phosphorylation and ubiquitination events. The NF- κ B inhibitor I κ B α is itself a transcriptional target of NF- κ B. Different microRNAs (e.g., miR-146a, miR-302b) can contrast mRNA translation of proteins involved in the NF- κ B cascade (49, 50).

Within the context of inflammation and immunity, NFκB is activated downstream of the toll-like receptor (TLR)-MyD88 pathway that senses both pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as LPS and other microbial products, and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), which are released by either stressed or dying host cells (51). NF-KB positively regulates the expression of inflammatory cytokines (TNFa, IL-1, IL-6), chemokines (CCL2, CCL5, CXCL8), adhesion molecules (VCAM1, ICAM1), angiogenic (VEGF), and antiapoptotic factors (BCL-2, BCL-X_L, FLIP), enzymes required for prostaglandin and NO synthesis (COX2, iNOS) (52). Furthermore, NF-KB is activated downstream of both the Tcell receptor (TCR) and B-cell receptor (BCR), sustaining the adaptive immune response (e.g., by controlling IL-2 expression) (53). NF-KB is also involved in NK-cell activation regulating IFN- γ production (54).

Within the context of cancer, NF- κ B activation can support the neoplastic process (55, 56). One of the earliest pieces of evidence dates back to the discovery of the retroviral oncogene *v*-*Rel* (57). Furthermore, NF- κ B can induce the transcription of the mitogenic factors MYC and Cyclin-D (58, 59). Finally, the AKT-mediated NF- κ B activation, which frequently occurs in tumors, promotes cell survival and contributes to chemotherapy resistance of cancer cells (60). Remarkably, NF- κ B activation in cells of the tumor immune infiltrate can have both anti-tumoral and pro-tumoral consequences depending on the immune cell type. On one hand, T cells, NK cells, and NKT cells require NF- κ B for their anti-tumoral effector activity (61–63), but on the other hand, NF- κ B sustains T_{reg} and myeloid-derived suppressor cell (MDSC) activity, resulting in pro-tumoral effects (64–66).

NF-kB-MEDIATED EXPRESSION OF PD-L1 BY CANCER CELLS

PD-L1 expression is often observed in tumors and correlates with aggressive behavior and poor prognosis. Whether PD-L1 is expressed by cancers cells, especially at the later stages of the disease, as negative feedback of a chronic inflammation process intertwined with cancer progression or as a consequence of cell selection by the immune system is still unclear. Certainly, PD-L1 expression confers a selective advantage to cancer cells, e.g., by enabling them to avoid host immune response by activated CD8 T lymphocytes and NK cells.

Considering the key role played by NF- κ B in inflammation, immunity, and cancer, perhaps it is not surprising that NF- κ B regulates PD-L1 expression in tumors, either directly at the transcriptional level or via indirect mechanisms. Different binding sequences for NF- κ B have been described on the promoter of the *PD-L1* gene (**Table 1**). The canonical consensus for NF- κ B DNA binding, named κ B, consists of a nearly palindromic sequence, 5'-GGGRNWYYCC-3' (where R: purine, Y: pyrimidine, W: adenine or thymine, and N: any base), which recently has been broadened to 5'-GGGRNNNNNCC-3' (32, 71, 72).

PD-L1 expression by cancer cells can be related to endogenous oncogenic pathways or oncogenic virus infection. In addition, PD-L1 expression by either cancer cells or tumor infiltrating cells can be driven by different kinds of exogenous stimuli, including cellular stress, e.g. stress induced by UV exposure or chemotherapy, as well as pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as TNF α and IFN- γ) in the tumor bed (**Figure 1** and paragraphs below).



FIGURE 1 Mechanisms of PD-L1 expression through NF-κB. **(A)** Oncogene-related mechanisms. MUC1 and EGFR up-regulate PD-L1 expression by activating NF-κB pathway. These pathways are intertwined with EMT. HPV modulates PD-L1 expression triggering STING that in turn activates NF-κB. **(B)** Inflammatory cytokine-related mechanisms. Tumor-infiltrating immune cells can produce several cytokines regulating PD-L1 expression. Two well-known cytokines acting via NF-κB pathway are TNFα produced by TAMs and IFN-γ produced by tumor infiltrating T and NK cells. **(C)** Drug- and stress-related mechanisms. Different drugs act on NF-κB transcriptional activity (e.g., Palblociclib). Stress response to UVR activates NF-κB, thus mediating PD-L1 up-regulation. Blue arrows indicate activation of NF-kB pathway; black arrows indicate NF-κB-mediated PD-L1 up-regulation; red T-arrows indicate negative regulation. EGFR, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor; EMT, Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition; HPV, Human Papilloma Virus; IFN, Interferon; JAK, Janus Kinase; MUC1, Mucin 1; NK, Natural Killer; PD-L1, Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 Ligand; RB, Retinoblastoma; STAT, Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription; STING, Stimulator of Interferon Genes; TAMs, Tumor Associated Macrophages; TNF, Tumor Necrosis Factor; UVR, ultraviolet radiation.

Oncogene-Related Mechanisms

A direct link between the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and PD-L1 expression via NF-кВ has been described in non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC), the most common lung cancer (73, 74). EGFR mutations associated with constitutive tyrosine kinase-mediated phosphorylation lead to NF-KB activation along with PD-L1 overexpression. Accordingly, the tyrosine kinase inhibitor gefitinib, approved for NSCLC treatment, reduces PD-L1 levels by inhibiting the NF-KB pathway. Notably, even wild-type EGFR induces PD-L1 upregulation after stimulation with EGF (73). Mechanistically, EGFR triggers ERK, AKT, and IkBa phosphorylation, resulting in HIF-1a and PD-L1 accumulation (74). Activation of AKT is reported to increase HIF-1a protein translation, and it is known that the PD-L1 promoter contains an HIF-1α response element (27, 75, 76). As a consequence, EGFR activation in NSCLC promotes PD-L1 expression directly by phosphorylating IkBa and indirectly via HIF-1a. Furthermore, HIF-1a can support NF- κ B pathway activation by driving *IKK* β gene transcription through a hypoxia response element present in the promoter and, at the same time, by directly inducing p65 (77, 78). Conversely, it has been reported that NF-κB can induce HIF-1α by binding directly to the HIF-1a promoter (79, 80). Thus, both HIF-1a and NF-kB pathways sustain PD-L1 expression and reinforce each other.

Overexpression of the oncoprotein Mucin 1 (MUC1) is correlated to NF-kB-mediated PD-L1 expression in both NSCLC and triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) (81, 82). MUC1, through its MUC1-C subunit, activates the PI3K/AKT, MAPK, β -catenin/MYC, and NF- κB pathways (83). NF- κB activation by MUC1 occurs, at least, through three different mechanisms: (i) binding to p65, thus forming a p65/MUC1 transcriptionally active complex (84); (ii) binding to IKK β -IKK γ complexes, which triggers IkBa phosphorylation (85); and (iii) associating with TGF-β-activated kinase-1 (TAK1), which phosphorylates IKKβ on Ser181 (86). Once activated, NF-κB enhances the expression of MUC1, thus creating a self-sustaining loop. At the same time, MUC1, via the YAP/β-catenin pathway, mediates the induction of the WNT target gene MYC (87). PD-L1 promoter contains both an E-box sequence (CAGCTT) for MYC binding at positions from -164 to -159 nt and a p65-binding site (GGGGGACGCC) at positions from -387 to -378 nt upstream of the transcription-starting site (67) (Table 1). Hence, MUC1 can induce the expression of PD-L1 triggering the occupancy of its promoter by both p65 and MYC.

It is remarkable that the signaling of PD-L1 induction shares important elements with that occurring during epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT), a tissue remodeling process typical of advanced epithelial cancers (88). PD-L1 expression is observed during EMT in NSCLC (89). Hypoxia and chronic inflammation are the main drivers of EMT, which is largely mediated by TGF- β 1, TNF α , HGF, EGF, and PDGF (90, 91). Interestingly, PD-L1 expression is not regulated by the EMTspecific transcription factor SNAIL, but it involves a noncanonical NF- κ B signaling. In particular, TNF α activates IKK ϵ , which leads to p65 recruitment on the PD-L1 promoter. Concomitantly, TGF- β 1 reduces DNA methyl transferase-1 (DNMT1) recruitment on the PD-L1 promoter, causing its de-methylation and thus enhancing its transcription. Notably, TNF α and TGF- β 1 withdrawal reverts the EMT phenotype and, at the same time, abolishes PD-L1 expression (89). The interconnection between EMT and PD-L1 is evident in the MUC1 signaling with NF- κ B as the matchmaker. NF- κ B not only drives PD-L1 expression, but also the expression of ZEB1, a transcription factor that is able to mediate EMT (92). ZEB1, in turn, suppresses the transcription of miR-200, an inducer of epithelial differentiation, thus enhancing EMT and PD-L1 expression (93).

Taken together, these findings indicate that PD-L1 expression is a feature of EMT in cancer. Considering that (i) EMT occurs physiologically during embryonic development and (ii) PD-L1 expression can be enhanced by OCT4 and SOX2, two master "stemness" transcription factors driving the expression of genes necessary for the stem cell phenotype (94), it is tempting to speculate that NF- κ B drives PD-L1 expression in the context of a general mechanism that has evolved to protect mesenchymal cells and stem cells from immune attack during physiological development.

It is now emerging that PD-L1 not only mediates negative feedback in the context of immune response, but it is also a component of a homeostatic response of epithelial cells to stress (95). In this case, PD-L1 expression can be linked to cellular conditions such as proliferation, adhesion, and migration (22). Supporting this consideration, MUC1, whose role in mammalians is to protect epithelial layers by forming a mucous barrier, senses cell stress and transduces signals that are able to activate the NF- κ B pathway, which leads to PD-L1 expression (96). It is therefore convincing that NF- κ B-mediated expression of PD-L1 takes part in cancer biology by echoing a process evolved to restore tissue integrity during the epithelial stress response.

Oncogenic viruses are also PD-L1 inducers. For example, infection by papilloma virus promotes PD-L1 expression in cervical cancer cells. Interferon-inducible 16 (IFI16) acts as viral DNA sensor and activates stimulator of IFN genes (STING), leading to TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK1) activation that, in turn, initiates a cascade signaling that is able to recruit p-p65 on the PD-L1 promoter. The STING/TBK1 pathway activates both IRF3 and NF- κ B, with NF- κ B mediating a major contribution to *PD-L1* gene transcription (68). PD-L1 expression is also observed in NK/T cell lymphoma infected by Epstein-Barr virus. Both MAPK and NF- κ B pathways are involved in PD-L1 induction in these cells (97).

Inflammatory Cytokine-Related Mechanisms

NF-κB regulates PD-L1 expression downstream of inflammatory cytokine-induced pathways in the tumor microenvironment, contributing to linking together two immune-related hallmarks of cancer, i.e., tumor-promoting chronic inflammation and immune escape (98). IFN- γ and TNF α will be considered here in more detail.

IFN- γ is one of the most studied PD-L1-inducer inflammatory cytokines, which is produced by highly activated T and NK cells infiltrating the tumor (38, 99). Although it is well-established that IFN- γ signals *via* JAK/STAT (100), there is evidence

that IFN- γ can also activate the NF- κ B pathway, which in turn mediates PD-L1 up-regulation. For example, in melanoma cells, IFN- γ inducible expression of PD-L1 is linked to the activity of p50 and p65, and not to the activation of the interferon-related STAT factors (101). Moreover, inhibitors of the bromodomain and extra terminal (BET) proteins, a class of epigenetic regulators with immunomodulatory activity (102), reduce PD-L1 expression by inhibiting p50 transcription (103). Transcriptional up-regulation of *PD-L1* gene by NF- κ B occurs also in clonal blasts from myelodysplastic diseases treated with IFN- γ and TNF α (104). Notably, also type I IFN, which can be produced by many types of cell stimulated by either PAMPs or DAMPs, is a PD-L1 inducer (105).

TNFa, which can be released by activated tumor associated macrophages (TAMs), is a major driver of inflammation and one of the main inducers of NF-KB in tumor microenvironment. It has been mentioned above that $TNF\alpha$ drives EMT and regulates PD-L1 expression (see previous paragraph). Apart from EMT, TNFα, IL-17, or a combination of both, can induce PD-L1 upregulation via NF-KB (20). Moreover, Lim and colleagues have shown that TNFa-activated NF-kB can regulate PD-L1 posttranscriptionally through an indirect way (106). TNFa binds TNFR on cancer cells and induces, among other pathways, a signaling cascade that promotes p65 nuclear translocation via IKKβ. In the nucleus, p65 trans-activates the COPS5 gene by binding to its promoter. COPS5 codifies for COP9 signalosome 5 (CSN5), which is the catalytic subunit of a large multiprotein complex with deubiquitination activity (107). CSN5 is able to interact and deubiquitinate PD-L1 protein, increasing its stability and consequently its surface expression. The biological relevance of this regulatory mechanism is confirmed by the positive correlation observed in breast cancer specimens between p-p65, CSN5, and PD-L1 expression as well as the inverse correlation with granzyme B, a cytotoxic lymphocyte effector molecule (106). Notably, TNF α , through the activation of the NF- κ B pathway, also up-regulates CSN2, which, by blocking the ubiquitination of the transcription factor SNAIL, promotes tumor invasiveness (108). Therefore, the inflammatory cytokine TNF α coordinates both EMT and tumor immune evasion by using NF-KB signaling (see also the previous paragraph). This pathway is negatively regulated by curcumin, a natural anti-inflammatory compound that is known to inhibit NF-κB signaling as well as CSN5 activity (109, 110). Accordingly, it has been shown that curcumin reduces TNF α -mediated PD-L1 stabilization (106).

Drug- and Stress-Related Mechanisms

Drugs currently used in the clinic or in pre-clinical studies can influence PD-L1 expression *via* NF- κ B, also influencing epigenetic regulation. Epigenetic events, changing the chromatin structure *via* methylation or acetylation/deacetylation, modulate gene expression. For example, taxolo (named also paclitaxel) and gemcitabine induce transient expression of PD-L1 mRNA in ovarian cancer by up-regulating p65, even in the absence of IFN- γ signaling (111). NF- κ B nuclear activity is regulated by reversible acetylation/deacetylation of p65 operated by HDAC3 (112). As a result, two histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors, namely resminostat and entinostat, affect NF-κB mediated PD-L1 expression (113).

Palbociclib, a recently developed CDK4/6 inhibitor, promotes PD-L1 protein stabilization and increases *PD-L1* gene transcription (114, 115). The latest effect is due to an indirect mechanism involving the retinoblastoma protein (RB), which acts as a negative regulator of NF- κ B functions, as follows. Hyper-phosphorylated RB (phosphorylation at S249 and T252) specifically interacts *via* its N-terminal portion with p65 in the nucleus and, in this manner, blocks NF- κ B transcriptional activity, including the NF- κ B-dependent transcription of PD-L1. Inhibition of the RB pathway by palbociclib induces the hypophosphorylated status of RB, thus enhancing NF- κ B-mediated PD-L1 transcription (115).

Solar ultraviolet radiation (UVR) is a common environmental stress for the skin and is largely involved in the carcinogenesis of skin cancers. Besides the well-known mutagenic effects, UVR can establish an immunosuppressive environment by different mechanisms, including CTLA-4 and PD-L1 up-regulation (116). PD-L1 transcriptional up-regulation in melanocytes and melanoma cells has been linked to the transcriptional activity of either NRF2, a regulator of antioxidant proteins, or NFκB (117, 118). Regarding NF-κB, UVR B exposure causes in keratinocytes and melanocytes the subcellular translocation from the nucleus and release outside the cell of the high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), an early stress response DAMP. HMGB1 acts in an autocrine and/or paracrine fashion and binds the receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) leading to downstream kinase TBK1 activation. TBK1, and not TAK1, is involved in starting the NF-kB cascade after UVR B exposure even though TAK1 has been shown to play a role in the DNA-damage induced NF-KB signaling (119). TBK1 phosphorylates its canonical target IRF3 and IKKB, which, by phosphorylating IkBa, removes its inhibition on p65. PD-L1 promoter contains two putative IFN-stimulated response elements (ISRE) along with NF-kB binding sites. Once activated, p65 forms the canonical p50/p65 heterodimer but also interacts with IRF3 itself forming a complex that is recruited to PD-L1 promoter at the NF-KB binding sites, thus starting PD-L1 gene transcription. In agreement with PD-L1 up-regulation, and possibly mediated also by additional mechanisms, melanoma cells show a reduced susceptibility to CTL-dependent cytotoxicity after UVR B treatment (118).

NF-kB-MEDIATED EXPRESSION OF PD-L1 BY TUMOR INFILTRATING MACROPHAGES

Chronic inflammation can pave the way to tumor onset and cancers are often embedded in an inflammatory microenvironment that enhance tumor progression (120). In this context, investigating the regulation of PD-L1 expression by tumor infiltrating cells can shed light on the link between chronic inflammation, tumor progression, and immune escape. TAMs are key cellular players of the tumor infiltrate that can regulate the inflammatory process and, at the same time, act as antigen-presenting cells for CD4 T lymphocytes. Macrophages have heterogeneous phenotypes, ranging from classical M1 to alternative M2 cells, which represent extremes in a continuous spectrum of activation states, with M1 cells having tumoricidal activity and M2 cells favoring tumor progression (121, 122). In addition to the identification of PD-L1⁺ TAMs (123), PD-L1 has been found highly expressed in MDSCs, a population of tumor-infiltrating myeloid cells implicated in inhibition of other cells of the immune system (124, 125), and a MDSC molecular program linked to NF- κ B activation has been related to PD-L1 expression (126).

NF-kB can directly regulates PD-L1 expression in macrophages and other myeloid cells stimulated by inflammatory cytokines (IL-12, IFN-y), PAMPs, and DAMPs (69, 107, 127, 128). LPS, a prototypical PAMP, can stimulate PD-L1 expression by macrophages via TLR signaling. Indeed, within 1 h after LPS sensing, p65 translocates to the nucleus where it binds to the PD-L1 promoter, inducing PD-L1 gene transcription independently of AP-1 and IRF3, two canonical transcription factors activated by LPS-TLR4 signaling (69). The mechanism whereby LPS promotes PD-L1 gene expression through the transcriptional activity of NF-κB links inflammation to its control, and it is not restricted to macrophages but also occurs in tumors, as demonstrated in gastric cancer cells (70). Furthermore, melanoma-derived extracellular vesicles carrying Heat Shock Protein (HSP)-86, a typical DAMP, can stimulate PD-L1 expression by myeloid cells via TLR4 signaling. Interestingly, a strong NF-KB activation is observed in the immortalized myeloid suppressor cell line MSC-2 stimulated with the extracellular vesicles, and PD-L1 up-regulation is reduced in a dose-dependent manner by the NF-kB inhibitor Bay11-8082 (128).

Despite a direct role for NF-KB in the expression of PD-L1 by macrophages has been demonstrated in response to inflammatory cytokines, NF-KB activation in TAMs is the result of the combined action of both microenvironmental signals and microphysiological conditions (i.e., hypoxia, glucose levels, and pH), and accumulating evidence indicates that different activation states of NF-KB regulate functions and phenotypic heterogeneity of TAMs (121). Moreover, along with tumorpromoting functions, TAMs and monocytic MDSCs share similar molecular traits, such as nuclear accumulation of p50 NF-kB inhibitory homodimer, which drives M2 macrophage polarization and suppressive activity (66, 129, 130). The nuclear accumulation of p50 homodimer hinders the expression of inflammatory cytokines (TNFa, IL-1, IL-6) while increasing anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10, TGFB) and chemokines (CCL17, CCL2), being therefore essential for the resolution of the inflammatory response (131). It thus appears that tumors co-opt transcriptional mechanisms guiding the resolution of inflammation, to promote cancer development. Inhibition of classical NF-KB activation in TAMs has been also observed in response to the M2 polarizing signal TGF^β, through the induced expression of kinase IRAK-M, an inactive serine/threonine kinase that acts as a negative regulator of TLR signaling (132). Of relevance, a recent report has associated M2-like macrophage infiltration with PD-L1 expression in gastric adenocarcinoma (133). Hence, as a key transcriptional component setting the onset and the resolution phase of inflammation, the different forms of NF- κ B activation appear as the main regulators of TAMs functional heterogeneity, including their suppressive activity mediated by PD-L1.

CONCLUDING REMARKS: TRANSLATIONAL IMPLICATIONS

NF-kB, being a master regulator of inflammation, represents a link between immune response and cell growth (134). According to this view, inhibiting NF-kB signaling might counteract inflammation, tumor growth, and possibly reduce PD-L1 expression. NF-kB pathway is the primary or secondary target of different currently used drugs for the treatment of multiple myeloma (135). IKK inhibitors are commercially available and have been tested in preclinical studies for the management of different tumoral and inflammatory pathologies for comprehensive reviews on the therapeutic implications of IKK targeting see (136, 137)]. Nevertheless, several concerns exist regarding the administration of NF-kB inhibitors due to their pleiotropic effects. To address this issue, current approaches comprise intermittent administration and use as adjuvant therapy. Alternative approaches that can be considered to reduce unwanted effects include either targeting components of the NFκB pathway other than IKK or modulating NF-κB-dependent downstream effectors. In brief, NF-KB inhibition could be especially relevant in the context of cancer immunotherapies aiming to prevent PD-L1 overexpression and to modulate TAM survival/polarization.

Conversely, immunotherapy based on immune checkpoint inhibition (ICI) has revolutionized cancer treatment and PD-1/PD-L1 axis is the target of different monoclonal antibodies approved for human use (Pembrolizumab and Nivolumab are approved anti-PD-1; Atezolizumab, Avelumab, Durvalumab are approved anti-PD-L1). It is still unclear if they have different activity and/or toxicity. The majority of these compounds are engineered in order to prevent antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC), but Avelumab, an anti-PD-L1 IgG1 isotype, is able to perform both immune checkpoint inhibition and ADCC so that TAMs, MDSCs, and T_{reg}, which can express high levels of PD-L1 in the tumor infiltrate, can be targeted as well as cancer cells (35, 138, 139). Immune-related adverse effects (irAEs) that resemble autoimmune responses occur during ICI therapy. Indeed, breakdown of the homeostatic PD-1/PD-L1 axis can provoke colitis, hepatitis, endocrinopathies, kidney injury, and skin problems (4, 140).

PD-L1 expression, as evaluated by immunohistochemistry, is routinely used as a biomarker for patient eligibility to anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy, and it is the only reliable molecular biomarker nowadays. Nevertheless, responsiveness to therapy does not mirror PD-L1 expression, and unfortunately a few PD-L1⁺ patients undergo hyper-progressive disease after ICI therapy (141–143). These discrepancies can be ascribed to several issues, including technical limitations of PD-L1 expression analysis, intra-tumoral heterogeneity, tumor mutational burden, inefficient priming of anti-tumoral T cells, and inadequate T-cell responses due to either tumor-intrinsic (compensatory immune checkpoints) or tumor-extrinsic (immune suppressive milieu) factors (144). It remains to be determined whether there are differences among individual drugs targeting PD-1/PD-L1 axis that are relevant for their clinical use and whether some patients would better benefit of either anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 treatment. Although blocking either PD-L1 or PD-1 should similarly inhibit their molecular interaction, it is conceivable that, at least in some anti-PD-L1-treated patients, unblocked PD-L2 activity on PD-1 receptor can still inhibit anti-tumor response. Furthermore, considering that anti-CTLA-4 therapeutic efficacy can heavily depend on depletion of intratumoral CTLA-4⁺ T_{reg} by ADCC (145), it is possible that anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy efficacy could similarly depend on the depletion of either PD-1⁺ and/or PD-L1⁺ tumor-infiltrating T_{reg} , at least in those patients in which these types of inhibitory cells dominate suppression of anti-tumor response. Accordingly, patient-tailored anti-PD-1/PD-L1 therapy is a subject of intense investigation [for example, see (146)].

It is conceivable that it is not PD-L1 expression *per se*, but rather the tumor microenvironment that induces PD-L1, that accounts for therapy success. A more comprehensive characterization of the tumor environment in terms of cytokine milieu, type of lymphocyte infiltration, macrophage phenotype would lead to improved approaches, most likely involving combined therapies (147, 148).

In this regard, the NF- κ B state of activation, rather than PD-L1 alone, could have a prognostic value, as recently suggested by a detailed investigation of different types of human cancers, which reports how the local immune landscape drives clinical outcome (38). In patients with cancer, a positive or negative prognostic value has been correlated to the activation state of STAT1 and NF- κ B pathways, respectively, despite the signaling of either being enough to lead to PD-L1 expression (38). It is tempting to speculate that the STAT factors, evolved in response to viral infections as components of the IFN-activated pathways that limit viremia, have anti-cancer features mostly by

REFERENCES

- Schildberg FA, Klein SR, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. Coinhibitory pathways in the B7-CD28 ligand-receptor family. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:955–72. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.05.002
- Zhong X, Tumang JR, Gao W, Bai C, Rothstein TL. PD-L2 expression extends beyond dendritic cells/macrophages to B1 cells enriched for V(H)11/V(H)12 and phosphatidylcholine binding. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:2405–10. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737461
- Diskin B, Adam S, Cassini MF, Sanchez G, Liria M, Aykut B, et al. PD-L1 engagement on T cells promotes self-tolerance and suppression of neighboring macrophages and effector T cells in cancer. *Nat Immunol.* (2020) 21:442–54. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0620-x
- Qin W, Hu L, Zhang X, Jiang S, Li J, Zhang Z, et al. The diverse function of PD-1/PD-L pathway beyond cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2298. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02298
- Noguchi T, Ward JP, Gubin MM, Arthur CD, Lee SH, Hundal J, et al. Temporally distinct PD-L1 expression by tumor and host cells contributes to immune escape. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2017) 5:106–17. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0391

mediating pro-apoptotic effects. In contrast, NF- κ B, evolved to regulate inflammation and tissue healing, and thus supporting cell survival and proliferation, drives pro-survival functions in cancer settings.

PD-L1 expression controls the strength of the immune response and acts as a rheostat of inflammation. Unfortunately, this mechanism is exploited by cancer cells to perform immune evasion. PD-L1 regulation during tumor progression evokes its physiological modulation, as discussed in the present review. In this scenario, uncovering the NF- κ B-mediated regulation of PD-L1 in tumors can pave the way towards tailored therapeutic approaches targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 axis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FA and FD searched for literature articles, conceived, and wrote the manuscript. AN, MG, ASi, and ASa revised and critically contributed to the manuscript drafting. FA, AN, MG, ASi, ASa, and FD approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

Work supported by the Associazione Italiana Ricerca sul Cancro (AIRC) IG number 19885; AIRC 5 x 1000 number 22757; Fondazione Cariplo, and Ministero Università Ricerca (MIUR) (project: 2017BA9LM5_001); Associazione Augusto per la Vita, and Associazione Medicine Rocks (ASi's laboratory); AIRC 5 x 1000 number 21147 (ASa's laboratory); MIUR project: 2017K55HLC_006 (FD's laboratory). MG received institutional clinical research funding from Eli Lilly, Otsuka Pharma, Astra Zeneca, Novartis, BMS, Roche, Pfizer, Celgene, Incyte, Tiziana Sciences, Clovis, Merck Serono, Bayer, MSD, GlaxoSmithKline S.p.A., Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Blueprint Medicine, Merck KGaA, BAYER, IPSEN, MedImmune, EXELISIS. The funder bodies were not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication.

- Di Rosa F, Francesconi A, Di Virgilio A, Finocchi L, Santilio I, Barnaba V. Lack of Th2 cytokine increase during spontaneous remission of experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Eur J Immunol.* (1998) 28:3893–903. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199812)28:12%3C3893::AID-IMMU3893%3E 3.0.CO;2-%23
- Di Rosa F, Serafini B, Scognamiglio P, Di Virgilio A, Finocchi L, Aloisi F, et al. Short-lived immunization site inflammation in self-limited active experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. *Int Immunol.* (2000) 12:711–9. doi: 10.1093/intimm/12.5.711
- Freeman GJ, Long AJ, Iwai Y, Bourque K, Chernova T, Nishimura H, et al. Engagement of the PD-1 immunoinhibitory receptor by a novel B7 family member leads to negative regulation of lymphocyte activation. *J Exp Med.* (2000) 192:1027–34. doi: 10.1084/jem.192.7.1027
- Agata Y, Kawasaki A, Nishimura H, Ishida Y, Tsubata T, Yagita H, et al. Expression of the PD-1 antigen on the surface of stimulated mouse T and B lymphocytes. *Int Immunol.* (1996) 8:765–72. doi: 10.1093/intimm/8.5.765
- Honda T, Egen JG, Lammermann T, Kastenmuller W, Torabi-Parizi P, Germain RN. Tuning of antigen sensitivity by T cell receptor-dependent negative feedback controls T cell effector function in inflamed tissues. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:235–47. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.017

- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity.* (1999) 11:141–51. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Nishimura H, Okazaki T, Tanaka Y, Nakatani K, Hara M, Matsumori A, et al. Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. *Science*. (2001) 291:319–22. doi: 10.1126/science.291.5502.319
- Antonangeli F, Soriani A, Cerboni C, Sciume G, Santoni A. How mucosal epithelia deal with stress: role of NKG2D/NKG2D ligands during inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1583. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01583
- Antonangeli F, Zingoni A, Soriani A, Santoni A. Senescent cells: living or dying is a matter of NK cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2019) 105:1275–83. doi: 10.1002/JLB.MR0718-299R
- Mariotti FR, Quatrini L, Munari E, Vacca P, Moretta L. Innate lymphoid cells: expression of PD-1 and other checkpoints in normal and pathological conditions. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:910. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00910
- Mariotti FR, Quatrini L, Munari E, Vacca P, Tumino N, Pietra G, et al. Inhibitory checkpoints in human natural killer cells: IUPHAR review 28. Br J Pharmacol. (2020) 177:2889–903. doi: 10.1111/bph.15081
- Sun C, Mezzadra R, Schumacher TN. Regulation and function of the PD-L1 checkpoint. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:434–52. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.014
- An LL, Gorman JV, Stephens G, Swerdlow B, Warrener P, Bonnell J, et al. Complement C5a induces PD-L1 expression and acts in synergy with LPS through Erk1/2 and JNK signaling pathways. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:33346. doi: 10.1038/srep33346
- Wang X, Ni S, Chen Q, Ma L, Jiao Z, Wang C, et al. Bladder cancer cells induce immunosuppression of T cells by supporting PD-L1 expression in tumour macrophages partially through interleukin 10. *Cell Biol Int.* (2017) 41:177–86. doi: 10.1002/cbin.10716
- Wang X, Yang L, Huang F, Zhang Q, Liu S, Ma L, et al. Inflammatory cytokines IL-17 and TNF-alpha up-regulate PD-L1 expression in human prostate and colon cancer cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2017) 184:7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.02.006
- Zhang X, Zeng Y, Qu Q, Zhu J, Liu Z, Ning W, et al. PD-L1 induced by IFN-gamma from tumor-associated macrophages via the JAK/STAT3 and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways promoted progression of lung cancer. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2017) 22:1026–33. doi: 10.1007/s10147-017-1161-7
- Ritprajak P, Azuma M. Intrinsic and extrinsic control of expression of the immunoregulatory molecule PD-L1 in epithelial cells and squamous cell carcinoma. Oral Oncol. (2015) 51:221–8. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.11.014
- Lee SJ, Jang BC, Lee SW, Yang YI, Suh SI, Park YM, et al. Interferon regulatory factor-1 is prerequisite to the constitutive expression and IFN-gamma-induced upregulation of B7-H1 (CD274). *FEBS Lett.* (2006) 580:755–62. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005.12.093
- 24. Liu J, Hamrouni A, Wolowiec D, Coiteux V, Kuliczkowski K, Hetuin D, et al. Plasma cells from multiple myeloma patients express B7-H1 (PD-L1) and increase expression after stimulation with IFN-{gamma} and TLR ligands via a MyD88-, TRAF6-, and MEK-dependent pathway. *Blood.* (2007) 110:296–304. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-051482
- Parsa AT, Waldron JS, Panner A, Crane CA, Parney IF, Barry JJ, et al. Loss of tumor suppressor PTEN function increases B7-H1 expression and immunoresistance in glioma. *Nat Med.* (2007) 13:84–8. doi: 10.1038/nm1517
- Marzec M, Zhang Q, Goradia A, Raghunath PN, Liu X, Paessler M, et al. Oncogenic kinase NPM/ALK induces through STAT3 expression of immunosuppressive protein CD274 (PD-L1, B7-H1). *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2008) 105:20852–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810958105
- Barsoum IB, Smallwood CA, Siemens DR, Graham CH. A mechanism of hypoxia-mediated escape from adaptive immunity in cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:665–74. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-0992
- Casey SC, Tong L, Li Y, Do R, Walz S, Fitzgerald KN, et al. MYC regulates the antitumor immune response through CD47 and PD-L1. *Science*. (2016) 352:227–31. doi: 10.1126/science.aac9935
- Zhu H, Bengsch F, Svoronos N, Rutkowski MR, Bitler BG, Allegrezza MJ, et al. BET bromodomain inhibition promotes anti-tumor immunity by suppressing PD-L1 expression. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 16:2829–37. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.08.032

- Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Moreno BH, Saco J, Escuin-Ordinas H, Rodriguez GA, et al. Interferon receptor signaling pathways regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2 expression. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 19:1189–201. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.04.031
- Parkes EE, Walker SM, Taggart LE, McCabe N, Knight LA, Wilkinson R, et al. Activation of STING-dependent innate immune signaling by S-phasespecific DNA damage in breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2017) 109:djw199. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djw199
- Mulero MC, Wang VY, Huxford T, Ghosh G. Genome reading by the NF-kappaB transcription factors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2019) 47:9967–89. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkz739
- 33. Chen Y, Wang Q, Shi B, Xu P, Hu Z, Bai L, et al. Development of a sandwich ELISA for evaluating soluble PD-L1 (CD274) in human sera of different ages as well as supernatants of PD-L1+ cell lines. *Cytokine*. (2011) 56:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2011.06.004
- Azuma T, Yao S, Zhu G, Flies AS, Flies SJ, Chen L. B7-H1 is a ubiquitous antiapoptotic receptor on cancer cells. *Blood.* (2008) 111:3635–43. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-11-123141
- Lecis D, Sangaletti S, Colombo MP, Chiodoni C. Immune checkpoint ligand reverse signaling: looking back to go forward in cancer therapy. *Cancers*. (2019) 11:624. doi: 10.3390/cancers11050624
- Butte MJ, Keir ME, Phamduy TB, Sharpe AH, Freeman GJ. Programmed death-1 ligand 1 interacts specifically with the B7-1 costimulatory molecule to inhibit T cell responses. *Immunity*. (2007) 27:111–22. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.05.016
- Mandai M, Hamanishi J, Abiko K, Matsumura N, Baba T, Konishi I. Dual faces of IFNgamma in cancer progression: a role of PD-L1 induction in the determination of pro- and antitumor immunity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:2329–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-0224
- Wei Y, Zhao Q, Gao Z, Lao XM, Lin WM, Chen DP, et al. The local immune landscape determines tumor PD-L1 heterogeneity and sensitivity to therapy. *J Clin Invest*. (2019) 129:3347–60. doi: 10.1172/JCI127726
- Manguso RT, Pope HW, Zimmer MD, Brown FD, Yates KB, Miller BC, et al. In vivo CRISPR screening identifies Ptpn2 as a cancer immunotherapy target. Nature. (2017) 547:413–8. doi: 10.1038/nature23270
- Pan D, Kobayashi A, Jiang P, Ferrari de Andrade L, Tay RE, Luoma AM, et al. A major chromatin regulator determines resistance of tumor cells to T cellmediated killing. *Science*. (2018) 359:770–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aao1710
- Betzler AC, Theodoraki MN, Schuler PJ, Doscher J, Laban S, Hoffmann TK, et al. NF-kappaB and its role in checkpoint control. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:3949. doi: 10.3390/ijms21113949
- Sen R, Baltimore D. Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences. *Cell.* (1986) 46:705–16. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(86)90346-6
- Zhang Q, Lenardo MJ, Baltimore D. 30 Years of NF-kappaB: a blossoming of relevance to human pathobiology. *Cell.* (2017) 168:37–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.12.012
- 44. Hayden MS, Ghosh S. NF-kappaB in immunobiology. Cell Res. (2011) 21:223-44. doi: 10.1038/cr.2011.13
- Sun SC. The non-canonical NF-kappaB pathway in immunity and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:545–58. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.52
- Rossi MN, Pascarella A, Licursi V, Caiello I, Taranta A, Rega LR, et al. NLRP2 regulates proinflammatory and antiapoptotic responses in proximal tubular epithelial cells. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2019) 7:252. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00252
- Hostager BS, Bishop GA. CD40-mediated activation of the NF-kappaB2 pathway. Front Immunol. (2013) 4:376. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00376
- Viatour P, Merville MP, Bours V, Chariot A. Phosphorylation of NF-kappaB and IkappaB proteins: implications in cancer and inflammation. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2005) 30:43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2004.11.009
- Ruland J. Return to homeostasis: downregulation of NF-kappaB responses. Nat Immunol. (2011) 12:709–14. doi: 10.1038/ni.2055
- Afonina IS, Zhong Z, Karin M, Beyaert R. Limiting inflammation-the negative regulation of NF-kappaB and the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:861–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.3772
- Karin M, Delhase M. The I kappa B kinase (IKK) and NF-kappa B: key elements of proinflammatory signalling. *Semin Immunol.* (2000) 12:85–98. doi: 10.1006/smim.2000.0210

- Taniguchi K, Karin M. NF-kappaB, inflammation, immunity and cancer: coming of age. Nat Rev Immunol. (2018) 18:309–24. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.142
- Gerondakis S, Siebenlist U. Roles of the NF-kappaB pathway in lymphocyte development and function. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2010) 2:a000182. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000182
- Tato CM, Mason N, Artis D, Shapira S, Caamano JC, Bream JH, et al. Opposing roles of NF-kappaB family members in the regulation of NK cell proliferation and production of IFN-gamma. *Int Immunol.* (2006) 18:505– 13. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxh391
- DiDonato JA, Mercurio F, Karin M. NF-kappaB and the link between inflammation and cancer. *Immunol Rev.* (2012) 246:379–400. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01099.x
- Pires BRB, Silva R, Ferreira GM, Abdelhay E. NF-kappaB: two sides of the same coin. *Genes.* (2018) 9:24. doi: 10.3390/genes9010024
- 57. Gilmore TD. Multiple mutations contribute to the oncogenicity of the retroviral oncoprotein v-Rel. *Oncogene.* (1999) 18:6925–37. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203222
- Renan MJ. Does NF-kappa B relieve the transcription block in c-myc? *Cancer Lett.* (1989) 47:1–9. doi: 10.1016/0304-3835(89)90170-5
- Joyce D, Albanese C, Steer J, Fu M, Bouzahzah B, Pestell RG. NF-kappaB and cell-cycle regulation: the cyclin connection. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2001) 12:73–90. doi: 10.1016/S1359-6101(00)00018-6
- Fahy BN, Schlieman MG, Virudachalam S, Bold RJ. Inhibition of AKT abrogates chemotherapy-induced NF-kappaB survival mechanisms: implications for therapy in pancreatic cancer. J Am Coll Surg. (2004) 198:591–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2003.12.005
- Zhou J, Zhang J, Lichtenheld MG, Meadows GG. A role for NF-kappa B activation in perforin expression of NK cells upon IL-2 receptor signaling. *J Immunol.* (2002) 169:1319–25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.3.1319
- Vallabhapurapu S, Powolny-Budnicka I, Riemann M, Schmid RM, Paxian S, Pfeffer K, et al. Rel/NF-kappaB family member RelA regulates NK1.1- to NK1.1+ transition as well as IL-15-induced expansion of NKT cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:3508–19. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737830
- Clavijo PE, Frauwirth KA. Anergic CD8+ T lymphocytes have impaired NFkappaB activation with defects in p65 phosphorylation and acetylation. J Immunol. (2012) 188:1213–21. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100793
- 64. Yu J, Wang Y, Yan F, Zhang P, Li H, Zhao H, et al. Noncanonical NF-kappaB activation mediates STAT3-stimulated IDO upregulation in myeloid-derived suppressor cells in breast cancer. *J Immunol.* (2014) 193:2574–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400833
- Grinberg-Bleyer Y, Oh H, Desrichard A, Bhatt DM, Caron R, Chan TA, et al. NF-kappaB c-rel is crucial for the regulatory T cell immune checkpoint in cancer. *Cell.* (2017) 170:1096–108; e1013. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.08.004
- Porta C, Consonni FM, Morlacchi S, Sangaletti S, Bleve A, Totaro MG, et al. Tumor-derived prostaglandin E2 promotes p50 NF-kappaB-dependent differentiation of monocytic MDSCs. *Cancer Res.* (2020) 80:2874–88. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-2843
- Maeda T, Hiraki M, Jin C, Rajabi H, Tagde A, Alam M, et al. MUC1-C induces PD-L1 and immune evasion in triple-negative breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:205–15. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1636
- Cai H, Yan L, Liu N, Xu M, Cai H. IFI16 promotes cervical cancer progression by upregulating PD-L1 in immunomicroenvironment through STING-TBK1-NF-kB pathway. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2020) 123:109790. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110077
- 69. Huang G, Wen Q, Zhao Y, Gao Q, Bai Y. NF-kappaB plays a key role in inducing CD274 expression in human monocytes after lipopolysaccharide treatment. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e61602. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061602
- Li H, Xia JQ, Zhu FS, Xi ZH, Pan CY, Gu LM, et al. LPS promotes the expression of PD-L1 in gastric cancer cells through NF-kappaB activation. *J Cell Biochem.* (2018) 119:9997–10004. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27329
- Chen FE, Ghosh G. Regulation of DNA binding by Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors: structural views. Oncogene. (1999) 18:6845–52. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203224
- 72. Wong D, Teixeira A, Oikonomopoulos S, Humburg P, Lone IN, Saliba D, et al. Extensive characterization of NF-kappaB binding uncovers non-canonical motifs and advances the interpretation of genetic functional traits. *Genome Biol.* (2011) 12:R70. doi: 10.1186/gb-2011-12-7-r70

- Lin K, Cheng J, Yang T, Li Y, Zhu B. EGFR-TKI down-regulates PD-L1 in EGFR mutant NSCLC through inhibiting NF-kappaB. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2015) 463:95–101. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.05.030
- 74. Guo R, Li Y, Wang Z, Bai H, Duan J, Wang S, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and nuclear factor-kappaB play important roles in regulating programmed cell death ligand 1 expression by epidermal growth factor receptor mutants in non-small-cell lung cancer cells. *Cancer Sci.* (2019) 110:1665–75. doi: 10.1111/cas.13989
- Jiang BH, Jiang G, Zheng JZ, Lu Z, Hunter T, Vogt PK. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling controls levels of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Cell Growth Differ*. (2001) 12:363–9.
- Noman MZ, Desantis G, Janji B, Hasmim M, Karray S, Dessen P, et al. PD-L1 is a novel direct target of HIF-1alpha, and its blockade under hypoxia enhanced MDSC-mediated T cell activation. *J Exp Med.* (2014) 211:781–90. doi: 10.1084/jem.20131916
- 77. Walmsley SR, Print C, Farahi N, Peyssonnaux C, Johnson RS, Cramer T, et al. Hypoxia-induced neutrophil survival is mediated by HIF-1alpha-dependent NF-kappaB activity. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:105–15. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040624
- Mak P, Li J, Samanta S, Mercurio AM. ERbeta regulation of NF-kB activation in prostate cancer is mediated by HIF-1. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:40247–54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5377
- Jiang Y, Zhu Y, Wang X, Gong J, Hu C, Guo B, et al. Temporal regulation of HIF-1 and NF-kappaB in hypoxic hepatocarcinoma cells. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:9409–19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3352
- Yao G, Zhang Q, Doeppner TR, Niu F, Li Q, Yang Y, et al. LDL suppresses angiogenesis through disruption of the HIF pathway via NFkappaB inhibition which is reversed by the proteasome inhibitor BSc2118. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:30251–62. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4943
- Soliman H, Khalil F, Antonia S. PD-L1 expression is increased in a subset of basal type breast cancer cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e88557. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088557
- Bouillez A, Rajabi H, Jin C, Samur M, Tagde A, Alam M, et al. MUC1-C integrates PD-L1 induction with repression of immune effectors in non-small-cell lung cancer. *Oncogene.* (2017) 36:4037–46. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.47
- Kufe DW. MUC1-C oncoprotein as a target in breast cancer: activation of signaling pathways and therapeutic approaches. *Oncogene*. (2013) 32:1073– 81. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.158
- Ahmad R, Raina D, Joshi MD, Kawano T, Ren J, Kharbanda S, et al. MUC1-C oncoprotein functions as a direct activator of the nuclear factor-kappaB p65 transcription factor. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:7013–21. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0523
- Ahmad R, Raina D, Trivedi V, Ren J, Rajabi H, Kharbanda S, et al. MUC1 oncoprotein activates the IkappaB kinase beta complex and constitutive NF-kappaB signalling. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2007) 9:1419–27. doi: 10.1038/ ncb1661
- Takahashi H, Jin C, Rajabi H, Pitroda S, Alam M, Ahmad R, et al. MUC1-C activates the TAK1 inflammatory pathway in colon cancer. *Oncogene*. (2015) 34:5187–97. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.442
- Alam M, Bouillez A, Tagde A, Ahmad R, Rajabi H, Maeda T, et al. MUC1-C represses the crumbs complex polarity factor CRB3 and downregulates the hippo pathway. *Mol Cancer Res.* (2016) 14:1266–76. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-16-0233
- Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:1420–8. doi: 10.1172/JCI39104
- Asgarova A, Asgarov K, Godet Y, Peixoto P, Nadaradjane A, Boyer-Guittaut M, et al. PD-L1 expression is regulated by both DNA methylation and NF-kB during EMT signaling in non-small cell lung carcinoma. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1423170. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1423170
- Thiery JP, Sleeman JP. Complex networks orchestrate epithelialmesenchymal transitions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2006) 7:131–42. doi: 10.1038/nrm1835
- Lopez-Novoa JM, Nieto MA. Inflammation and EMT: an alliance towards organ fibrosis and cancer progression. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2009) 1:303–14. doi: 10.1002/emmm.200900043
- 92. Rajabi H, Alam M, Takahashi H, Kharbanda A, Guha M, Ahmad R, et al. MUC1-C oncoprotein activates the ZEB1/miR-200c regulatory

loop and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Oncogene. (2014) 33:1680-9. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.114

- 93. Noman MZ, Janji B, Abdou A, Hasmim M, Terry S, Tan TZ, et al. The immune checkpoint ligand PD-L1 is upregulated in EMT-activated human breast cancer cells by a mechanism involving ZEB-1 and miR-200. Oncoimmunology. (2017) 6:e1263412. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1263412
- Dong P, Xiong Y, Yue J, Hanley SJB, Watari H. Tumor-intrinsic PD-L1 signaling in cancer initiation, development and treatment: beyond immune evasion. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:386. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00386
- Cao Y, Zhang L, Ritprajak P, Tsushima F, Youngnak-Piboonratanakit P, Kamimura Y, et al. Immunoregulatory molecule B7-H1 (CD274) contributes to skin carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:4737–41. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0527
- Rajabi H, Kufe D. MUC1-C oncoprotein integrates a program of EMT, epigenetic reprogramming and immune evasion in human carcinomas. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer*. (2017) 1868:117–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2017.03.003
- 97. Bi XW, Wang H, Zhang WW, Wang JH, Liu WJ, Xia ZJ, et al. PD-L1 is upregulated by EBV-driven LMP1 through NF-kappaB pathway and correlates with poor prognosis in natural killer/T-cell lymphoma. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2016) 9:109. doi: 10.1186/s13045-016-0341-7
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell.* (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- 99. Gao Y, Yang J, Cai Y, Fu S, Zhang N, Fu X, et al. IFN-gammamediated inhibition of lung cancer correlates with PD-L1 expression and is regulated by PI3K-AKT signaling. *Int J Cancer.* (2018) 143:931–43. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31357
- Villarino AV, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ. Mechanisms and consequences of Jak-STAT signaling in the immune system. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:374–84. doi: 10.1038/ni.3691
- 101. Gowrishankar K, Gunatilake D, Gallagher SJ, Tiffen J, Rizos H, Hersey P. Inducible but not constitutive expression of PD-L1 in human melanoma cells is dependent on activation of NF-kappaB. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0123410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123410
- 102. Abruzzese MP, Bilotta MT, Fionda C, Zingoni A, Soriani A, Petrucci MT, et al. The homeobox transcription factor MEIS2 is a regulator of cancer cell survival and IMiDs activity in Multiple Myeloma: modulation by Bromodomain and Extra-Terminal (BET) protein inhibitors. *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 10:324. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-1562-9
- 103. Gallagher SJ, Mijatov B, Gunatilake D, Gowrishankar K, Tiffen J, James W, et al. Control of NF-kB activity in human melanoma by bromodomain and extra-terminal protein inhibitor I-BET151. *Pigment Cell Melanoma Res.* (2014) 27:1126–37. doi: 10.1111/pcmr.12282
- 104. Kondo A, Yamashita T, Tamura H, Zhao W, Tsuji T, Shimizu M, et al. Interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha induce an immunoinhibitory molecule, B7-H1, via nuclear factor-kappaB activation in blasts in myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood.* (2010) 116:1124–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-12-255125
- Barrat FJ, Crow MK, Ivashkiv LB. Interferon target-gene expression and epigenomic signatures in health and disease. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:1574– 83. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0466-2
- 106. Lim SO, Li CW, Xia W, Cha JH, Chan LC, Wu Y, et al. Deubiquitination and stabilization of PD-L1 by CSN5. *Cancer Cell.* (2016) 30:925–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.10.010
- Liu Y, Shah SV, Xiang X, Wang J, Deng ZB, Liu C, et al. COP9-associated CSN5 regulates exosomal protein deubiquitination and sorting. *Am J Pathol.* (2009) 174:1415–25. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.080861
- Wu Y, Deng J, Rychahou PG, Qiu S, Evers BM, Zhou BP. Stabilization of snail by NF-kappaB is required for inflammation-induced cell migration and invasion. *Cancer Cell.* (2009) 15:416–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.03.016
- 109. Aggarwal BB, Kumar A, Bharti AC. Anticancer potential of curcumin: preclinical and clinical studies. *Anticancer Res.* (2003) 23:363–98.
- Uhle S, Medalia O, Waldron R, Dumdey R, Henklein P, Bech-Otschir D, et al. Protein kinase CK2 and protein kinase D are associated with the COP9 signalosome. *EMBO J.* (2003) 22:1302–12. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg127
- 111. Peng J, Hamanishi J, Matsumura N, Abiko K, Murat K, Baba T, et al. Chemotherapy induces programmed cell death-ligand 1 overexpression via the nuclear factor-kappaB to foster an immunosuppressive tumor

microenvironment in ovarian cancer. Cancer Res. (2015) 75:5034–45. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3098

- 112. Chen L, Fischle W, Verdin E, Greene WC. Duration of nuclear NFkappaB action regulated by reversible acetylation. *Science*. (2001) 293:1653– 7. doi: 10.1126/science.1062374
- 113. Lucas J, Hsieh TC, Halicka HD, Darzynkiewicz Z, Wu JM. Upregulation of PDL1 expression by resveratrol and piceatannol in breast and colorectal cancer cells occurs via HDAC3/p300mediated NFkappaB signaling. *Int J Oncol.* (2018) 53:1469–80. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4512
- 114. Zhang J, Bu X, Wang H, Zhu Y, Geng Y, Nihira NT, et al. Cyclin D-CDK4 kinase destabilizes PD-L1 via cullin 3-SPOP to control cancer immune surveillance. *Nature*. (2018) 553:91–5. doi: 10.1038/nature25015
- 115. Jin X, Ding D, Yan Y, Li H, Wang B, Ma L, et al. Phosphorylated RB promotes cancer immunity by inhibiting NF-kappaB activation and PD-L1 expression. *Mol Cell.* (2019) 73:22–35; e26. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018. 10.034
- Kripke ML. Reflections on the field of photoimmunology. J Invest Dermatol. (2013) 133:27–30. doi: 10.1038/jid.2012.234
- 117. Zhu B, Tang L, Chen S, Yin C, Peng S, Li X, et al. Targeting the upstream transcriptional activator of PD-L1 as an alternative strategy in melanoma therapy. *Oncogene.* (2018) 37:4941–54. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0314-0
- 118. Wang W, Chapman NM, Zhang B, Li M, Fan M, Laribee RN, et al. Upregulation of PD-L1 via HMGB1-activated IRF3 and NF-kappaB contributes to UV radiation-induced immune suppression. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:2909–22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3134
- 119. Wu ZH, Wong ET, Shi Y, Niu J, Chen Z, Miyamoto S, et al. ATMand NEMO-dependent ELKS ubiquitination coordinates TAK1-mediated IKK activation in response to genotoxic stress. *Mol Cell.* (2010) 40:75–86. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2010.09.010
- Colotta F, Allavena P, Sica A, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Cancer-related inflammation, the seventh hallmark of cancer: links to genetic instability. *Carcinogenesis*. (2009) 30:1073–81. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp127
- 121. Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: *in vivo* veritas. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- 123. Kryczek I, Zou L, Rodriguez P, Zhu G, Wei S, Mottram P, et al. B7-H4 expression identifies a novel suppressive macrophage population in human ovarian carcinoma. J Exp Med. (2006) 203:871–81. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050930
- 124. Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen SH, Colombo MP, Frey AB, Greten TF, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12150. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12150
- 125. Lu C, Redd PS, Lee JR, Savage N, Liu K. The expression profiles and regulation of PD-L1 in tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1247135. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1247135
- 126. Fiore A, Ugel S, De Sanctis F, Sandri S, Fracasso G, Trovato R, et al. Induction of immunosuppressive functions and NF-kappaB by FLIP in monocytes. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:5193. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-07654-4
- 127. Xiong HY, Ma TT, Wu BT, Lin Y, Tu ZG. IL-12 regulates B7-H1 expression in ovarian cancer-associated macrophages by effects on NF-kappaB signalling. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* (2014) 15:5767–72. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2014.15.14.5767
- 128. Fleming V, Hu X, Weller C, Weber R, Groth C, Riester Z, et al. Melanoma extracellular vesicles generate immunosuppressive myeloid cells by upregulating PD-L1 via TLR4 signaling. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:4715–28. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0053
- 129. Saccani A, Schioppa T, Porta C, Biswas SK, Nebuloni M, Vago L, et al. p50 nuclear factor-kappaB overexpression in tumor-associated macrophages inhibits M1 inflammatory responses and antitumor resistance. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:11432–40. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1867
- Consonni FM, Porta C, Marino A, Pandolfo C, Mola S, Bleve A, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: ductile targets in disease. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:949. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00949
- 131. Porta C, Rimoldi M, Raes G, Brys L, Ghezzi P, Di Liberto D, et al. Tolerance and M2 (alternative) macrophage polarization are related

processes orchestrated by p50 nuclear factor kappaB. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:14978–83. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0809784106

- 132. Standiford TJ, Kuick R, Bhan U, Chen J, Newstead M, Keshamouni VG. TGF-beta-induced IRAK-M expression in tumor-associated macrophages regulates lung tumor growth. *Oncogene*. (2011) 30:2475–84. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.619
- 133. Harada K, Dong X, Estrella JS, Correa AM, Xu Y, Hofstetter WL, et al. Tumor-associated macrophage infiltration is highly associated with PD-L1 expression in gastric adenocarcinoma. *Gastric Cancer.* (2018) 21:31–40. doi: 10.1007/s10120-017-0760-3
- Ben-Neriah Y, Karin M. Inflammation meets cancer, with NF-kappaB as the matchmaker. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:715–23. doi: 10.1038/ni.2060
- Vrabel D, Pour L, Sevcikova S. The impact of NF-kappaB signaling on pathogenesis and current treatment strategies in multiple myeloma. *Blood Rev.* (2019) 34:56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2018.11.003
- Paul A, Edwards J, Pepper C, Mackay S. Inhibitory-kappaB kinase (IKK) alpha and nuclear factor-kappaB (NFkappaB)-inducing kinase (NIK) as anti-cancer drug targets. *Cells.* (2018) 7:176. doi: 10.3390/cells7100176
- Prescott JA, Cook SJ. Targeting IKKbeta in cancer: challenges and opportunities for the therapeutic utilisation of IKKbeta inhibitors. *Cells.* (2018) 7:115. doi: 10.3390/cells7090115
- Hamilton G, Rath B. Avelumab: combining immune checkpoint inhibition and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity. *Expert Opin Biol Ther.* (2017) 17:515– 23. doi: 10.1080/14712598.2017.1294156
- Zhang N, Tu J, Wang X, Chu Q. Programmed cell death-1/programmed cell death ligand-1 checkpoint inhibitors: differences in mechanism of action. *Immunotherapy*. (2019) 11:429–41. doi: 10.2217/imt-2018-0110
- 140. van der Vlist M, Kuball J, Radstake TR, Meyaard L. Immune checkpoints and rheumatic diseases: what can cancer immunotherapy teach us? *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2016) 12:593–604. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2016.131
- 141. Lo Russo G, Moro M, Sommariva M, Cancila V, Boeri M, Centonze G, et al. Antibody-Fc/FcR interaction on macrophages as a mechanism for hyperprogressive disease in non-small cell lung cancer subsequent to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:989–99. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1390
- 142. Proto C, Ferrara R, Signorelli D, Lo Russo G, Galli G, Imbimbo M, et al. Choosing wisely first line immunotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): what to add and what to leave out. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2019) 75:39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2019.03.004

- 143. Kocikowski M, Dziubek K, Parys M. Hyperprogression under immune checkpoint-based immunotherapy-current understanding, the role of PD-1/PD-L1 tumour-intrinsic signalling, future directions and a potential large animal model. *Cancers.* (2020) 12:804. doi: 10.3390/cancers12040804
- 144. Jenkins RW, Barbie DA, Flaherty KT. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. Br J Cancer. (2018) 118:9–16. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.434
- 145. Arce Vargas F, Furness AJS, Litchfield K, Joshi K, Rosenthal R, Ghorani E, et al. Fc effector function contributes to the activity of human anti-CTLA-4 antibodies. *Cancer Cell.* (2018) 33:649–63; e644. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.02.010
- 146. Duan J, Cui L, Zhao X, Bai H, Cai S, Wang G, et al. Use of immunotherapy with programmed cell death 1 vs programmed cell death ligand 1 inhibitors in patients with cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Oncol.* (2019) 6:375–84. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.5367
- Biswas SK. Metabolic reprogramming of immune cells in cancer progression. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:435–49. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.09.001
- 148. Weber R, Fleming V, Hu X, Nagibin V, Groth C, Altevogt P, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells hinder the anti-cancer activity of immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01310

Conflict of Interest: MG reports personal fees as consultant/member of advisory board from Eli Lilly, Boehringer Ingelheim, Otsuka Pharma, Astra Zeneca, Novartis, BMS, Roche, Pfizer, Celgene, Incyte, Inivata, Takeda, Bayer, MSD, GlaxoSmithKline S.p.A., Sanofi-Aventis, Spectrum Pharmaceuticals, Blueprint Medicine, Seattle Genetics, Daiichi Sankyo, Jannesen.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Antonangeli, Natalini, Garassino, Sica, Santoni and Di Rosa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Mechanisms of Peritoneal Fibrosis: Focus on Immune Cells–Peritoneal Stroma Interactions

Michela Terri^{1,2†}, Flavia Trionfetti^{1,2†}, Claudia Montaldo², Marco Cordani³, Marco Tripodi^{1,2,4}, Manuel Lopez-Cabrera⁵ and Raffaele Strippoli^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Molecular Medicine, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² National Institute for Infectious Diseases L. Spallanzani, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (IRCCS), Rome, Italy, ³ instituto Madrileño de Estudios Avanzados en Nanociencia (IMDEA) Nanociencia, Madrid, Spain, ⁴ Istituto Pasteur Italia-Fondazione Cenci Bolognetti, Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Programa de Homeostasis de Tejidos y Organos, Centro de Biología Molecular "Severo Ochoa"-Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC), Madrid, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marianna Nicoletta Rossi, Bambino Gesù Children Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

Reviewed by:

Steven Eugene Mutsaers, University of Western Australia, Australia Antonio Facchiano, Institute of Dermatology Immaculate (IRCCS), Italy Sibylle Von Vietinghoff, Hannover Medical School, Germany

*Correspondence:

Raffaele Strippoli raffaele.strippoli@uniroma1.it

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 16 September 2020 Accepted: 19 January 2021 Published: 29 March 2021

Citation:

Terri M, Trionfetti F, Montaldo C, Cordani M, Tripodi M, Lopez-Cabrera M and Strippoli R (2021) Mechanisms of Peritoneal Fibrosis: Focus on Immune Cells-Peritoneal Stroma Interactions. Front. Immunol. 12:607204. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.607204 Peritoneal fibrosis is characterized by abnormal production of extracellular matrix proteins leading to progressive thickening of the submesothelial compact zone of the peritoneal membrane. This process may be caused by a number of insults including pathological conditions linked to clinical practice, such as peritoneal dialysis, abdominal surgery, hemoperitoneum, and infectious peritonitis. All these events may cause acute/chronic inflammation and injury to the peritoneal membrane, which undergoes progressive fibrosis, angiogenesis, and vasculopathy. Among the cellular processes implicated in these peritoneal alterations is the generation of myofibroblasts from mesothelial cells and other cellular sources that are central in the induction of fibrosis and in the subsequent functional deterioration of the peritoneal membrane. Myofibroblast generation and activity is actually integrated in a complex network of extracellular signals generated by the various cellular types, including leukocytes, stably residing or recirculating along the peritoneal membrane. Here, the main extracellular factors and the cellular players are described with emphasis on the cross-talk between immune system and cells of the peritoneal stroma. The understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying fibrosis of the peritoneal membrane has both a basic and a translational relevance, since it may be useful for setup of therapies aimed at counteracting the deterioration as well as restoring the homeostasis of the peritoneal membrane.

Keywords: peritoneal fibrosis, mesothelial cells, peritonitis, innate immunity, T cell subpopulations, proinflammatory cytokines

INTRODUCTION

Peritoneum is a serosal membrane forming the lining of the abdominal cavity. Peritoneum is a first line of defense against microorganisms and tumor cells. Moreover, peritoneum constitutes a slippery non-adhesive surface allowing frictionless movements of the viscera in the abdominal cavity. Peritoneum is composed of a continuous monolayer of cells of mesodermal origin, the mesothelial cells (MCs). MCs cover a submesothelial region made of a thin layer of connective tissue

108

composed mainly of bundles of collagen fibers with few fibroblasts, macrophages (MØs), mast cells, and hematic and lymphatic vessels (1, 2).

Peritoneal fibrosis is the end point of a progressive alteration of the peritoneal membrane due to a wide array of inflammatory and infectious events, many of which are directly related to clinical practices (3). A main cause of peritoneal fibrosis is, in fact, **peritoneal dialysis** (PD). PD is a form of renal replacement alternative to the hemodialysis, where peritoneal membrane is used as a dialysis membrane in therapeutic procedures for the treatment of end-stage renal disease. Currently, peritoneal dialysis (PD) accounts for around 10% of all forms of renal replacement therapy worldwide (4). During PD practice, signs of fibrosis are found in 50 to 80% of patients within one or two years of PD (3, 5).

Peritoneal fibrosis represents an important cause of PD discontinuation, together with peritonitis and death due to cardiovascular complications. PD is also a risk factor for the onset of **encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis** (**EPS**), the most serious complication of PD, with potentially fatal manifestation (6). EPS is a syndrome characterized by loss of ultrafiltration function, anorexia, weight loss, diarrhea, intestinal obstruction, inflammation, peritoneal thickening, fibrin deposition, sclerosis, calcification and encapsulation (7). However, peritoneum during PD practice often presents only limited complications and many patients develop a **simple peritoneal sclerosis** (**SPS**), characterized by thickening of the peritoneum, calcification, presence of inflammatory elements, angiogenesis and dilatation of blood and lymphatic vessels in the absence of systemic disease, and whose alterations are at least in part reversible after discontinuation of PD.

Besides fibrosis during PD practice, peritoneum is directly implicated in the genesis of post-surgical intra-abdominal adhesions (**peritoneal adhesions, PAs**), which are fibrous bands tethering organs to one another or to the parietal peritoneal wall, leading to a significant cause of post-surgical morbidity and posing a major public health challenge (8). Their primary sequelae include bowel obstruction, female infertility, ectopic gestation, chronic abdominal and pelvic pain, poor quality of life, and death. It is estimated that ~93% of patients undergoing abdominal surgery develop adhesions and about 20% require re-hospitalization for adhesion-related complications (9, 10).

Finally, the insurgence of peritoneal fibrosis has a clinical relevance also for **peritoneal metastases**. In this context, metastatic tumors (generally ovary or colon cancers) instruct a fibrotic response in the peritoneal membrane, generating areas where tumor spreading and dissemination are facilitated (11–13). Although fibrosis related to peritoneal tumors is the object of increasing interest, due to its intrinsic specificities, this review article will not deal with this topic.

The induction of peritoneal fibrosis is a complex pathological event where peritoneal cells sense the pro-fibrotic stimuli and secrete extracellular mediators leading to the recruitment of circulating leukocytes playing a role in induction and amplification of the inflammatory response. The generation of myofibroblasts, cells of heterogenous origin with the ability of producing and remodeling the extracellular matrix proteins (ECM) is central for fibrosis onset. At the same time, the nature of the stimuli imparts signals promoting the resolution of the inflammatory state, with phagocytosis of dead cells and removal of debris. In this context, an implication of adaptive immunity has been proven relevant in its cross talk with peritoneal stroma or innate immunity components.

Therefore, the onset of peritoneal fibrosis is the final result of a tight network of signals between stromal resident and immune recirculating leukocytes, whose understanding may lead to a better medical containment of this deleterious pathologic event.

There is now plenty of information on the role of the nonimmune components of peritoneal membrane (MCs, fibroblasts, endothelium) and activities of innate and adaptive immunity have been described by relevant studies (14); the main underlying intracellular mechanisms have been reviewed elsewhere (3, 15). The aim of this review article is to create a comprehensive synthetic description of how different signals from both stromal cells and immune system components are integrated and how cellular components are mutually influenced during the induction of peritoneal fibrosis.

PERITONEAL FIBROSIS: MULTIPLE INGREDIENTS FOR ONE CAKE

Peritoneal fibrosis onset is the final result of complex interactions between external stimuli, intrinsic properties of the peritoneal membrane, and subsequent activities of the local innate-adaptive immune system. A flowchart describing the stimuli discussed in this chapter and the main peritoneal stromal responses is shown in **Figure 1**.

Infectious Peritonitis

Peritonitis is a main cause of fibrosis induction in peritoneum. Peritonitis onset is one of the most serious complication of PD: it induces angiogenesis and fibrosis and is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in PD patients (16). Repeated episodes of peritonitis are often a cause of discontinuation of PD and may precede induction of EPS (17).

Many microorganisms may infect peritoneum; the peritoneal membrane is contiguous to the intestine which harbor bacteria than can leak towards the peritoneal cavity. Moreover, medical actions such as catheter positioning and maintenance, practice of peritoneal dialysis and abdominal surgery may favor the entry of microorganisms in the peritoneum space.

The majority of peritonitis episodes in PD can be ascribed to Gram-positive bacteria of the skin and, to a minor degree, to Gram-negative bacteria presumably originating from the enteric flora (18).

Compared to bacteria, there are limited reports on the role of viruses. The suspect of virus infection occurs when cultures from peritonitis appear negative, an event occurring around 20% of the cases: however, virus infection is not diagnosed by standard tests (19).

Similarly to pericardium, coxackievirus B1 infection has been reported in peritoneum and it is characterized by the presence of



monocytosis in PD effluent (20). Also, less studied are peritonitides caused by fungal infections. They constitute a serious complication of PD and account for between 1 and 15% of all PD-associated peritonitis episodes. The majority of these FP episodes are caused by Candida species such as *Candida albicans* (21, 22).

Mechanism of Inflammatory Response: Exogenous TLR Ligands

It is believed that the damage to the peritoneal membrane by infectious agents is mediated mainly by innate pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) on peritoneum, which include Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, and C-type lectin receptors. The intracellular signaling cascades triggered by these PRRs lead to transcriptional expression of inflammatory mediators that coordinate the elimination of pathogens and infected cells (23).

Pathogens are recognized by PRRs through the interaction with molecules conserved among microbial species, which are called pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Besides PAMPs, PRRs also recognize endogenous molecules released from damaged cells, termed damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (24).

Among PRRs, TLRs play a critical role in innate immune responses by specifically recognizing molecular patterns from a wide range of microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi and viruses. TLRs are responsible for sensing invading pathogens outside of the cell and in intracellular endosomes and lysosomes (23). 10 different TLRs in humans and 12 in mice have been so far identified. Each of them recognizes different molecular patterns of microorganisms and self-components. Human MCs respond to bacterial ligands through a specific subset of TLRs (*i.e.* TLR1, TLR2, TLR3, TLR5 and TLR6).

Gram positive bacteria are recognized by TLR2 and TLR5 (25), both singularly and cross-talking to better counteract microbial infections (26).

TLR2 recognizes an array of microbial molecules in part by hetero-dimerization with other TLRs (*e.g.* TLR1 and TLR6) or unrelated receptors (*e.g.* Dectin-1, CD36 and CD14). TLR activation triggers nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B), interferon regulatory factor (IRF) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling leading to altered gene expression, including pro-inflammatory cytokine and IFN-inducible genes (27).

TLR5 recognizes flagellin, a flagellum component in many motile bacteria (28). TLR5 expression on MCs may therefore be a critical signal of flagellated bacteria's invasion into the peritoneal cavity. Translocation of intestinal bacteria is a potential cause of infection in PD patients, along with access through the intraperitoneal catheter, and many flagellated bacteria are Gram-negative species, with a poor outcome in PD associated peritonitis (25).

Gram-negative bacteria induce responses through TLR4, initially identified as responsible for the recognition of lipopolysaccharide (LPS). Differently from murine MCs, human MCs do not directly respond to TLR4. However, TLR4 is present in MØ stably residing in the peritoneal membrane and their response may contribute to inflammation leading to fibrosis.

Recent studies have shown that the modulation of TLR2 and TLR4 activity through specific antibodies or soluble Toll-like receptor 2 (sTLR2), a TLR2 inhibitor, is able to cause a substantial reduction of inflammatory parameters to inhibit fibrosis development in an experimental model of *S. epidermidis* infection (29).

A set of TLRs, comprising TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9, act in the intracellular space in order to recognize nucleic acids derived from viruses and bacteria, as well as endogenous nucleic acids in pathogenic contexts (23). These TLRs respond by activating the production of type I IFNs and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Viral stimuli are recognized by the intracellular TLR3, which is functionally expressed in MCs (30). While for several exogenous TLRs the signaling pathway depends on MyD88, known as the inductor of the early phase response in MØs, TLR3, specifically, acts thought TRIF that plays an essential role in inducing a NF- κ B mediated fibrosis and a late phase immune response activation (31, 32).

In human MCs, TLR3 is also involved in the regulation of the final common pathway of inflammation and fibrosis acting on matrix-remodeling proteins. In particular, TLR3 is correlated in time- and dose-dependent upregulation of MMP9 and TIMP1 (33).

Mechanisms of Inflammatory Response: Endogenous TLR Ligands

In addition to PAMPs, TLR mediated response can be stimulated by endogenous TLR molecules, inducing sterile inflammatory processes (34, 35). Many endogenous TLRs derive from ECM components, such as fibronectin or fibrinogen or ECM interacting proteins such as tenascin-C (36, 37).

Proteins with various functions may serve as endogenous TLRs such as cardiac myosin, S100 proteins, HGBM1 (38) (39–41). While the last protein may interact with several TLRs, the majority of these ligands are direct agonists of TLR2 and TLR4 (42, 43). Interestingly, exposure to PD fluids promotes the expression of Hsp60, Hsp70 and hyaluronic acid (HA), all TLR2 and TLR4 ligands, by leukocytes and MCs, thus driving an inflammatory response in the absence of infectious stimuli (see below) (44). Accordingly, treatment with soluble TLR2 (sTLR2) reduces pro-inflammatory and fibrotic response in mice exposed to PD fluids. These discoveries open to future clinical trials testing the clinical efficacy of these compound in patients undergoing long term PD (44).

Bioincompatibility of PD Solutions

The partial bioincompatibility of fluids used for the practice of PD may act as pro-fibrotic stimuli causing progressive morphological changes and leading to functional alterations that may cause ultrafiltration failure, discontinuation of PD and increased risk of developing EPS.

Traditional PD solutions, in fact, are hyperosmotic, hyperglycemic and acid. These solutions contain sodium, chloride, calcium, magnesium, lactate and a high concentration of glucose. Low pH in these solutions counteracts glucose oxidation that may release in the solution toxic glucose degradation products (GDPs) during the sterilization process. Moreover, glucose and reactive carbonyl compounds can form Advanced Glycation End-products (AGEs), binding to free amino groups on proteins or lipids (45, 46). The high osmolarity and the high glucose concentration favor ultrafiltration and toxin elimination by keeping the electrolyte balance (47). All these factors may promote a low-grade inflammatory status in the peritoneal membrane, characterized by increase of inflammatory and profibrotic cytokine production such as IL-6, IL-1 β , TGF- β 1, VEGF, acceleration in TIMP release, causing a loss of balance in ECM remodeling and an accumulation of collagen and fibronectin. The same factors have a cytotoxic effect on MCs inducing mesothelial denudation of the peritoneal membrane and a decrease in the intercellular junctional proteins levels, causing hyperpermeability (48). *In vitro* evidence has demonstrated that the so called 'bioincompatible' PD fluid may induce apoptosis of MCs (49).

More recently, *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have demonstrated that high glucose peritoneal dialysis solutions (HGPDS) may cause apoptosis and autophagy of MCs. However, further efforts will be necessary for the full understanding of the role of these mechanisms in the genesis of fibrosis (50).

This variety of stimuli also promotes a process known as mesothelial to mesenchymal transition (MMT) (see below) contributing to matrix deposition, increased stiffness and fibrosis (51). These cellular and molecular alterations parallel the induction of numerous morphological changes in the peritoneal membrane (PM) including increased thickness of the submesothelial space, vascular changes with subendothelial hyalinization, luminal narrowing or obliteration, increased density of blood vessels (52).

Clinically, these changes reflect an increase in small solute transport due to neoangiogenesis that extends the peritoneal surface area (a blood vessel density related parameter) and ultrafiltration reduction due to fibrosis and thickness of the submesothelial zone (53, 54). In certain cases, the simple peritoneal sclerosis common in peritoneum of PD patients can lead to EPS (7).

In order to mitigate the side effects of traditional PD solutions, a second generation of so called 'biocompatible' PD fluids has been designed that can be divided in two main groups: PD solutions with neutral pH, low GDPs and PD solutions where glucose is replaced with glucose polymers (icodextrin) or amino acids (55–57). The functionality of PD solutions is debated. It has been reported that these solutions better preserve the residual renal function and diuresis with a decrease in peritonitis frequency (3, 58). *In vitro* and *in vivo* effects of traditional *versus* biocompatible PD fluids are summarized in **Table 1**.

However, the effectiveness and the long-term benefits are currently being analyzed and there is not a definitive consensus on the benefits of this treatment, especially in the long term (66–69).

Icodextrin is a glucose polymer with a high molecular weight. PD solutions based on the use of icodextrin seem to increase peritoneal ultrafiltration, to reduce glucose absorption and to improve cardiac parameter (60). The use of a glucose polymer as an osmotic agent is particularly interesting as a glucose substitute in diabetic subjects. The reduced carbohydrate load also seems to provide a long-term metabolic advantage in terms of lipid control (61). However, icodextrin can interfere with blood glucose measurement by providing falsely elevated results. It can also cause hypersensitivity reactions, and it is more expensive than other PD solutions.

PD solution PD solution type	Traditional PD fluids	Biocompatible PD fluids		
		Neutral pH, Low GDPs	Icodextrin based	Amino acid based
Osmotic agent	Glucose	Glucose	lcodextrin	Amino acids
рН	5.5	6.8-7.3	5.5	~6.7
Toxic Agents	GDPs, AGEs, ROS, acidic pH, lactate buffer	Significant reduction of toxic agents (GDPs, AGEs, ROS)	Acid pH, lactate buffer, ROS	High concentration of amino acids
Mechanisms of cytotoxicity	TGFβ and VEGF, acceleration of TIMP release, inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, IL-1β) production	↓ osmolality	Iron accumulation, ↑ maltose and maltotriose serum level	Protein accumulation
<i>in vitro</i> effects	MMT induction, ECM deposition, increased stiffness, fibrosis, MC apoptosis	Improvement in cellular functions	pH-dependent apoptosis	Increase in nitrogenous waste metabolism
<i>in vivo</i> effects	Peritonitis, vasculopathy, disruption of renal functions, anuria, infusion pain, diabetic glomerulosclerosis	Probable reduction in ultrafiltration; ↑ urine volume	Hypoglycemia, skin rush	Acidosis, uremia
Benefits	Ultrafiltration efficiency, Lower costs	Preservation of residual renal functions, reduction of peritonitis risk	Increased daily ultrafiltration, reduced glucose adsorption, increased glycemic control of diabetic PD patients, improvement of cardiac parameters	Improved surrogate markers of nutritional status of malnourished PD patients
References	45, 46, 48, 53, 54, 59	3, 55–58	3, 55, 56, 58, 60, 61	3, 55, 56, 58, 62–65

TABLE 1 | Table comparing the main characteristics of traditional versus biocompatible PD with emphasis on in vitro/in vivo mechanisms of toxicity.

Solutions containing amino acids have been produced to improve the nutritional status of subjects on PD. PD causes a significant loss of protein in the dialysate, estimated to be 2–4 g of amino acids per day. Amino acid 1.1% solutions were found to be effective osmotic agents (62). In some studies, they have improved the nutritional status of malnourished PD patients (63). Common side effects include worsening of acidosis and an increase in blood urea linked to the increase in nitrogenous waste metabolism.

Glucose has been partially replaced by two osmometabolic agents, xylitol and L-carnitine. Treatment with this new formulation resulted a higher cell viability, better preservation of the integrity of the mesothelial layer, and reduced release of proinflammatory cytokines, as reported in a recent *in vitro* study (70).

Another field of investigation is the search of immunomodulators that may be added to mitigate the cellular effect of prolonged PD treatment. A recent discovery is the immunomodulatory effect of alanyl-glutamine (AlaGln) supplementation in PD solutions. This treatment seems to ameliorate peritoneal inflammation status and to improve healthy peritoneum biomarkers as well as tight junction organization and functionality (64, 65).

PM Damage by Biomechanical Cues: Stiffness and Stretching

Besides extracellular biochemical mediators, a vast body of evidence has demonstrated a role for biomechanical forces in mediating cell physiopathological responses.

Changes in biomechanical features of the extracellular matrix (ECM), such as ECM stiffness, can modify cell state and are

major promoters of a fibrotic response (71). Beyond ECM stiffness, the sensing of mechanical stretching is characteristic of organs and tissues exposed to continuous variations of dynamic cues, such as respiratory and abdominal movements or the cyclic blood circulation pulse wave. In cells with epithelial features, the effects of cellular stretching have been analyzed especially on tissues composed of monocellular layers, such as lung epithelial cells and endothelium (72, 73). Biomechanical forces affect signal transduction (mechanotransduction) with a consequent impact on cellular behavior (74).

During exposure to PD fluid, the PM experiences continuous biomechanical cues. PD practice requires the injection of large PD solution volume (2 l). This causes mechanical stress by swelling the abdominal cavity, involving mechanical stretching of MCs. Other mechanical perturbations may arise from the trauma of the peritoneal membrane after abdominal laparotomies (75).

MCs upon exposure to cellular stretch *in vitro* increase the expression of VEGF and of TGF- β 1 (76). It has been recently demonstrated that exposure of MCs to linear cyclic stretch *in vitro* leads to several cellular modifications corresponding to bona fide MMT induction. The experimental data are summarized in a model where a cross-talk between biomechanical and biochemical signals result in the induction of MMT (77).

Biomechanical forces are also involved in the formation of PAs, with a key contribution by MCs. It is believed that in *in vivo* conditions besides the mechanical tension, also hypoxia and activation of coagulation contribute to the formation of the fibrotic response leading to PAs formation (78).

CELLULAR PLAYERS OF PERITONEAL FIBROSIS

Stromal Components of the PM: MCs, Endothelial Cells and Stromal Fibroblasts as a Source of Myofibroblasts

Peritoneal MCs constitute a monolayer of cells with an epitheliallike cobblestone shape covering in a continuum the peritoneal cavity. MCs originate from mesoderm during the gastrulation, and their differentiation is controlled by the transcription factor WT1, which is commonly used for lineage tracing experiments (79, 80). Despite their mesodermal origin, MCs show a cobblestone morphology and actually coexpress in basal conditions epithelial and mesenchymal markers (51, 59, 81).

MCs express tight and adherent junction related molecules such as ZO-1, occludin, claudins and E-cadherin, which is expressed both in plasma membrane and in cytoplasm (82). Moreover, these cells express epithelial intermediate filament proteins such as cytokeratins (8–18) that play an important role in maintaining cellular structural integrity. At the same time, MCs constitutively express also mesenchymal intermediate filaments such as vimentin and desmin (51).

The coexistence of both epithelial and mesenchymal markers may be linked to the characteristic plasticity and to the ability of these cells to acquire mesenchymal-like features in response to a variety of pro-inflammatory/profibrotic stimuli. Almost all the pro-inflammatory factors described in the previous sections may promote, although with different intensity, induction of MMT in MCs. This dedifferentiation process culminates with the acquisition of morphological and functional features making these cells indistinguishable from myofibroblasts of other origin (see below) (**Table 2**).

The secretion of TGF- β by MCs or by other cells such as MØs is central for a full induction of the MMT program. Once transdifferentiated, MCs may invade the submesothelial stroma where they proliferate and produce cytokines and ECM proteins directly promoting peritoneal fibrosis.

The profibrotic activity of TGF- β 1 is counteracted by members of the BMP family, such as IGFBP4, BMP4 and BMP7, secreted by the same MCs (83, 84).

Interestingly, transdifferentiated MCs tend to acquire a new stability. This behaviour is different from that of cells with a stronger epithelial identity that rapidly recover epithelial features once the transdifferentiating stimulus has been removed (107). The maintenance of mesenchymal features in MCs has been linked to epigenetic changes, and epigenetic modulation may both influence mesothelial differentiation and promote the recovery of a "epithelial-like" phenotype from *in vivo* transdifferentiated cells (99, 108).

High throughput experiments have demonstrated that induction of MMT from different stimuli induces the acquisition of common dedifferentiation features characterized by the expression of signatures of profibrotic and proinflammatory cytokines such as TGF β , VEGF, and IL-6 (29, 77, 83, 109). In fact, activated MCs are major producers of TGF- β 1, VEGF and IL-6, whose concentrations are elevated especially during peritonitis and have been associated with ultrafiltration decline and protein loss (18, 110). The secretion of these cytokines impacts fibrosis, angiogenesis and the inflammatory response.

The ability of MCs to generate myofibroblasts has been a highly debated topic in the previous years. Lineage tracing experiments performed to demonstrate the mesothelial origin of peritoneal myofibroblasts have given contrasting results, with the more recent studies suggesting the existence of a population of MCs origin invading the submesothelial space (83, 111, 112).

Moreover, the coexpression of *bona fide* MMT markers such as α SMA and fsp1 absent in epithelial-like MCs with mesothelial/ epithelial markers has been demonstrated *in vivo* both in peritoneum after PD and in peritoneal adhesion (75, 77, 78, 82).

In the peritoneum of mice exposed to PD fluid, the relative contribution of the myofibroblasts-generating cellular populations, including resident dermal fibroblasts, endothelial cells, bone marrow derived cells and MCs, has been quantified (113). As in other organs, endothelial cells contribute to peritoneal fibrosis through a process of endothelial to mesenchymal transition (EndMT) (82, 114). Also, bone marrow derived progenitors, such as mesenchymal stem cells and fibrocytes may generate peritoneal myofibroblasts (115).

MCs may in different ways influence the fibrotic process. Besides being a main source of TGF- β 1, activated MCs produce abundant amounts of fibronectin and collagens, may rearrange the ECM through the expression of contractile proteins (α SMA) and produce various metalloproteinases (MMPs), such as MMP2, MMP9 and MMP14 as well as MMP inhibitors such as TIMP1 and PAI1 (77, 99, 100). Besides directly impacting the fibrotic process, the production of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines stimulates other stromal cells and components of innate and adaptive immunity (see below). Thus, MCs are candidates for cellular interventions aimed at restoring the continuity of the monolayer and to warrant the peritoneal function.

LEUKOCYTE SUBPOPULATIONS IMPLICATED IN THE FIBROTIC RESPONSE

Peritoneum as a Lymphatic Organ: The Role of FALCs

Due to its unique localization in the abdominal cavity and its huge extension, peritoneum is a favorite site for encountering with antigens and for the generation of the subsequent immune response. Recirculating leukocytes patrol the peritoneal cavity in uninflamed peritoneum in addition to stably resident leukocyte populations constituted mainly by macrophages and mast cells.

Besides conventional lymph nodes, peritoneum hosts unique anatomic structures called milky spots or **fat-associated lymphoid clusters** (**FALC**s), which are clusters of leukocytes localized especially in omentum and endowed with the ability to collect fluids, particulates, and cells from the peritoneal cavity. Their frequency and size increase in the omentum of patients undergoing PD (116, 117). FALCs are mainly composed of MØs, TABLE 2 | Epithelial-like and mesenchymal markers of MCs. The main extracellular regulators of MC plasticity, molecular markers and signaling pathways implicated are shown.

	Epithelial-lik	e MCs	
Features and Properties	Extracellular Mediators	Markers	Trascription Factors and Signaling Pathway
	BMP7	E-Cadherin	WT1
	BMP4	Claudins	SMAD1-5-8
	IGFBP4	Occludins	p38 MAPK
Cobblestone-like shape	HGF	ZO-1	
Apical-basal polarity		Desmoplakin	
Monolayer organization		Cytokeratins	
Tight junctions		Calretinin	
Adherens junctions		Vimentin	
Glycocalyx production		VEGFR2	
Immunomodulatory activity		CA125	
		Caveolin-1	
		Hyaluronan	
References	(83, 84)	(51, 77, 82, 85–90)	(79, 80, 82, 91)
	Mesenchymal-like	MCs (MMT)	
Features and Properties	Extracellular Mediators	Markers	Trascription Factors and Signaling Pathways
	TGFβ1	N-Cadherin	Snail, Twist
	IL-1β	Desmin	SMAD 2-3
	FGF-2	Vimentin	GSK-3β
Spindle-like shape	EGF	Fibronectin	Wnt/β-Catenin
Front-back polarity	Angli	Collagen I/III	ΤΑΚ1/ΝΕ-κΒ
Junctions dissociation	AGEs	α-SMA	ILK
Cadherin switch	PDGF	FSP-1	PI3-K
Cytoskeleton reorganization	HIF-1α	MMPs (2-9)	ERK 1/2 MAPK
ECM deposition		PAI-1	JNK 1/2 MAPK
Basement membrane degradation		Podoplanin	
Migratory and invasive activity		CTGF	
Proinflammatory activity			

MCs and B1 cells. B1 cells consist in a subset of B cells that can be distinguished from conventional B (B2) cells by expression of distinct cell-surface markers and antigen receptors that can bind common bacterial epitopes. B1 cells have the potential to produce natural antibodies that provide a first protection to bacterial infections (118). Intestinal leakage or the intraperitoneal delivery of microorganisms lead to rapid activation of B1 cells and promote T cell-independent antibody responses (119).

The chemokine CXCL13, of mesothelial origin, controls the localization of B1 cells into FALCs (120). Another chemokine, CCL19, is produced by other structural components of FALCs called FALCs fibroblast reticular cells (FALCs FRCs) and it is relevant for monocyte recruitment during inflammation. The cross-talk between CCL19 producing FALCs FRCs and inflammatory monocytes promote T cell dependent-B cell

immune responses (121) (**Figure 2A**). Thus, FALCs play a main role both in the regulation of PMN and mononuclear cell recruitment in the first phase of inflammation, as well as in the subsequent induction of the adaptive immunity.

Leukocyte Recruitment During Peritonitis: From Neutrophils to Mononuclear Cells

Infectious peritonitis offers a favorite experimental model to study the interactions between immune system and the peritoneal stroma (122). Infection with Gram positive bacteria such as Staphylococcal spp. or with cell-free components such as LPS or zymosan, mimicking Gram negative or fungal infection, respectively, promotes a first wave of polymorphonuclear neutrophils recruited by chemoattractants of bacterial origin and by chemokines such as CXCL1 and CXCL8 produced mainly by MCs and omental fibroblasts. Neutrophils can use high endothelial venules present in FALCs to enter the peritoneal cavity under the guidance of CXCL1 (120).

Neutrophil influx causes an initial inflammatory response due to the accumulation of neutrophil-secreted proteases and reactive oxygen species. Once they entered the peritoneum, neutrophils undergo **NETosis**, which consists in the release of necrotic cell DNA forming a net of aggregated neutrophils able to trap and sequester microorganisms in FALCs, thus limiting their spreading (123). Interestingly, HMGB1 produced during the inflammatory response promotes NETosis and trap formation through interaction with TLR4 (124) (**Figure 2B**).

The production of CXCL1 and CXCL8 by the peritoneal stroma is enhanced by inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β and to a lesser extent, TNF α (125). MCs stimulated by LPS or IL-1 β

also produce a number of cytokines and chemokines including IL-6, TNF α , CCL2, CCL3, that favor mononuclear cell recruitment and activation (126). The first wave of neutrophils is then replaced by a mononuclear infiltrate.

Neutrophils take part in this process secreting a shed form of IL-6 receptor, IL-6R α . Through a mechanism called **transignaling**, the local increase of IL-6R α promotes an IL-6-mediated neutrophil clearance subsequent to mononuclear cell recruitment (127, 128). Apoptotic neutrophils are phagocytosed by MØs and to a lesser extent by the same MCs (129). Necrotic neutrophils and NETs promote the infiltration of mature MØs recruited also by locally produced chemokines such as CXCL8 and CCL2 (130).

Neutrophil influx and clearance are also regulated by two other cytokines, IL-17 and IFN- γ . IL-17 is secreted mainly by various leukocyte subpopulations, including neutrophils, Th17



FIGURE 2 | (A) PMN recruitment through FALCs during peritonitis. In basal conditions, MCs secrete CXCL13, which attracts B1 cells in FALCs and CSF1, a specific MØ growth factor. Bacterial and fungal infections stimulate the production of CXCL1 and CXCL8, by MCs. Bacterial products, CXCL1 and CXCL8 promote the recruitment of a first wave of PMNs entering the peritoneal cavity through FALCs. PMNs cause an initial inflammatory response secreting inflammatory cytokines (IL-1ß, TNF- α). Afterwards, NETosis helps in sequestering microorganisms in FALCs. (B) NETosis clearance and mononuclear cell recruitment during peritonitis. Bacterial products, as well as IL-1ß, stimulate the production of IL-6, TNF- α , CCL2, CCL3, and CXCL8 by MCs. IL-6Ra shedding by PMNs promotes a peripheral IL-6 response (transignaling). Cytokines and chemokines released during the inflammatory process favor mononuclear recruitment and differentiation. Mononuclear phagocytes differentiate in Macrophages (MØs) and dendritic cells (DCs). Among MØs, M1 subtype is endowed with pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic properties, whereas M2 MØs have an anti-inflammatory activity. Moreover, M2 MØs play a key role in the clearance of neutrophils debris due to scavenger activity.

and $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes and its expression correlates with the duration of the PD treatment and with the extent of peritoneal inflammation and fibrosis (131, 132). IFN- γ production by Th1 lymphocytes and NK cells (see below) contributes with IL-6 in favoring an initial neutrophil recruitment and subsequent clearance (133).

IL-17 promotes CXCL1 production by MCs through expression and activation of the transcription factor Sp1, whereas IFN- γ through STAT1 activation limits Sp1 induced CXCL1 production. Breaking of this homeostatic cross regulation may lead to excessive or ineffective recruitment of neutrophils during peritonitis with subsequent damages in the PM (131).

Inflammation, Scavenging and Antigen Presentation: Monocytes/MØs and Dendritic Cells

Tissue mononuclear phagocytes, comprised mainly of MØs and dendritic cells (DCs), are key tissue-resident components of the peritoneal immune system. Their roles include induction of the inflammatory response, pathogen clearance, tissue repair, and antigen presentation.

MØs are the major resident immune population in the PM. At the same time, monocytes/MØs are the predominant cell types found in dialysis effluent (134, 135).

Resident MØs form the first line of defense against peritoneal infection in peritonitis. Once the inflammatory response is initiated, monocytes follow a first wave of leukocytes composed mainly by PMN neutrophils.

MØs are generally classified into two functional subtypes. Classical active MØs, also called M1 MØs (representative markers: iNOS and CD80) are defined by their pro-inflammatory and cytotoxic properties, while M2 MØs (representative markers: CD163, CD206 and Arg1) are characterized by anti-inflammatory and scavenging properties (136). However, MØ M1 and M2 subtypes should be considered as the extreme points of a continuum of different cellular populations acting in in different physio-pathological contexts (137, 138).

M1 polarization typically involves IFN- γ with a TLR agonist, such as LPS. M1 MØs, through production of IL-1 β and TNF- α , are capable of amplifying the first phase of the inflammatory process and of recruiting other leukocytes into the peritoneum via the creation of a gradient of chemotactic cytokines, such as CXCL8, CCL2 and CCL5. This process is also facilitated by a cytokine driven up-regulation of adhesion molecule expression (ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) on the surface of MCs. At the same time, the generation of M2 MØs, which is sustained by IL-4 and IL-13, plays a role in the resolution of inflammation through the production of soluble anti-inflammatory mediators, and the clearance of debris such as apoptotic or necrotic products, due to their scavenger activity (137).

In the model of peritonitis induced by zymosan, mimicking fungal infection, an infiltration of both M1 and M2 MØs occurs. In this context, MØs are involved in the clearance of debris resulting from neutrophil apoptosis. Both M1 and M2 MØs recognize and endocytose dead cellular debris through apoptosis inhibitor of macrophage (AIM, also called CD5L), a member of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich superfamily (22) (**Figure 3A**).

Experimental evidence analysing samples from PD patients demonstrates that the majority of peritoneal MØs phenotypically and functionally resemble *in vitro* polarized M2 MØs (139, 140).

In this context, a dysregulated M2 MØs response may promote the development of fibrosis and the decrease of functionality of the PM through the production of a number of extracellular factors.

The production of TGF- β 1 by M2 MØs mediates the induction of MMT in MCs and the proliferation and activation of submesothelial fibroblasts, a process leading to ECM production, rearrangement, angiogenesis, and fibrosis. Moreover, MMP9 and CCL18 secretion is increased in both PD effluents and PM biopsies of PD patients (139). MMP9 plays a role in the activation of latent TGF- β 1, whereas CCL18 levels have been associated with poor ultrafiltration capability and with development of EPS (139). M2 MØs may favor a fibrotic response also producing CCL17, which promotes migration, proliferation and collagen production by submesothelial fibroblasts (141).

However, besides M2, some evidence points towards an active role of the M1 subtype in the genesis of peritoneal fibrosis. The inhibition of the protein kinase C beta pathway promotes peritoneal damage and fibrosis *via* M1 MØs polarization in a murine model of PD (142). Also, *in vivo* approaches of MØ chemical deletion followed by reperfusion pointed towards an active role of the M1 subpopulation in the genesis of fibrosis, as suggested also by an *in vitro* study (143, 144).

The presence of MØs in the PM is tightly dependent on a cross talk with MCs. In basal conditions, MØs require and interact with MCs present in FALCs and secreting colony stimulating factor 1 (CSF1), a specific MØ growth factor (145). In inflammatory conditions and during PD, fractalkine (CX3CL1), a chemokine secreted by MCs, recruits and activates MØs expressing CX3CR1 in the peritoneal wall, promoting the fibrotic process. A positive feedback loop is induced where direct interaction with CX3CR1-expressing MØs promotes expression of CX3CL1 and TGF- β 1 by MCs. In turn, TGF- β 1 upregulates CX3CR1 expression in MØs (146).

Besides MØs endowed with pro-inflammatory or scavenger abilities, migrating mononuclear cells may differentiate in DC subsets, characterized by CD1c positivity and different profiles with respect to CD14 positive cells. In particular, CD1c positive cells have upregulated costimulatory molecules, CD80 and CD86, important for antigen presentation and T-cell activation, and CCR7, favoring migration to secondary lymphoid organs such as local lymph nodes where antigen presentation may occur (134). Interestingly, severe and recurrent episodes of peritonitis were associated with significantly higher numbers of peritoneal neutrophils, MØs as well as higher ratio of MØs to DCs than the successfully treated ones (134). The functional role of MØs has been analyzed with pharmacological but not with genetic or immunological approaches. Chemical depletion of MØs using clodronate attenuated peritoneal thickening and suppressed TGF- β 1, VEGF expression and MMT induction in a model of



B Fibrosis induction: focus on Th17/Treg balance



FIGURE 3 | (**A**) Fibrosis induction: focus on MØs. DCs secrete high levels of CCR7 favoring lymphocyte recruitment. Pro-inflammatory M1 MØs secrete CCL2, CCL3 and CXCL8 that are chemoattractant for lymphocytes and monocytes. At the same time, M1 MØs produce inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1ß and TNF-α that enhance the expression of adhesion molecules (V-CAM1/I-CAM1) by MCs promoting leukocyte adhesion. M2 MØs produce anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-10) and lymphocyte chemoattracting chemokines (CCL17). Predominance of M2 MØ response leads to an increased TGF-β1 secretion that induces MMT of MCs with up-regulation of ECM protein production. Moreover, MCs secreting CX3CL1 recruit MØs expressing CX3CR1. Receptor/ligand interaction determines a positive loop that promote, in turn, CX3CL1 and TGF-β1 expression. (**B**) Fibrosis induction: focus on Th17/Treg balance. The production of IL-6 by MØs and MCs during the inflammatory process promotes IL-17 production by the peritoneal stroma which, in combination with IL-23, promotes the differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes. IL-17 promotes IL-18, TGF-β1, VEGF and IL-6 production causing MMT induction and neoangiogenesis. Th17 abundance affects the activity of regulatory T lymphocytes. Treg lineage has an anti-inflammatory activity (due to IL-10 production) and protects the peritoneal damage and fibrosis.

peritoneal fibrosis induced by chlorhexidine gluconate in rats (147). Accordingly, depletion of MØs limited fibrosis in a mouse model of PD fluid exposure (143).

Mastocytes

Mastocytes or mast cells are predominantly localized at sites that have direct contact with the external environment, such as the skin, airways, and intestine, where they function as sentinel cells in host defense and as main inducer of type I hypersensitivity and of the allergic response (148).

While mast cells have been implicated in fibrogenesis, angiogenesis, and the immune response against bacteria in various organs such as kidney and in lung, only a few studies have dealt on the role of mastocytes in peritoneal fibrosis (149, 150).

Mechanistically, mast cells secrete various mediators of inflammation such as histamine, platelet-activating factor, prostaglandins, thromboxane, leukotriene, chymase. Moreover, the secretion of cytokines such as TGF- β 1 and IL-17 directly contributes to peritoneal fibrosis (149, 151, 152)

The number of mast cells was significantly higher in the fibrotic peritoneum of rats with chronic renal failure (CRF rats). Tranilast, an anti-allergic drug with an activity of mast cell stabilizer, was demonstrated to block the progression of peritoneal fibrosis in CRF rats (153).

An interesting study performed on mast cell-deficient rats demonstrated that mast cells promoted the increase of the omental thickness and omental adhesion formation favoring leukocyte recruitment (154). Results in human peritoneal disease are controversial. A first study showed reduced numbers of mast cells in samples from PD patients (155), whereas increased mastocytes numbers have been found in samples from different inflammatory and fibrotic peritoneal diseases, including PD and EPS (156). Thus, although evidence suggests that these cells may amplify the inflammatory response during peritoneal damage, their functional role has not so far been demonstrated.

Natural Killer Cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are a specialized lymphocyte subpopulation that play a significant role during viral infections and in tumor immune surveillance through direct killing of virus infected or tumor cells or by production of cytokines and chemokines. NK cells recirculate throughout the peritoneal cavity and are present in the peritoneal fluid. Moreover, in uninflamed peritoneum, a resident NK cell population isolated in mice was able to secrete IFN- γ , GM-CSF, and TNF- α and endowed with killing ability (157).

During an acute inflammatory process such as peritonitis, NK cells produce inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6. Moreover, through production of IFN- γ and TGF- β 1 these cells may directly orchestrate the fibrotic process.

In other organs, NK cells actively contribute to the genesis of the fibrotic damage. Tubulointerstitial human CD56^{bright} NK cells correlate with loss of kidney function and with induction of fibrosis and chronic kidney disease progression, mechanistically linked to increased NK cell-mediated IFN- γ production (158).

Interestingly, besides its potential in the amplification of the inflammatory response, NK cells appear to have a role in the resolution of inflammation in antigen-dependent peritonitis promoting neutrophil apoptosis (159). Previous results confirm that NK cells are capable of inducing apoptosis of neutrophils (160).

Studies performed in humans are limited to adoptive transfer of activated NK cells in an autologous NK cells setting used in a frame of tumor therapy. It was demonstrated that administration of NK cells in combination with IL-2 in patients with malignancies caused peritoneal fibrosis (161). Thus, although their role is potentially relevant, no definitive information is reported about NK cells in the genesis of peritoneal fibrosis.

T Lymphocytes: A Balance of Mutually Influencing Subpopulations

Besides the components of the innate immunity, the activity of different T lymphocyte subsets is fundamental for the regulation of the inflammatory response in the genesis of peritoneal fibrosis and it could provide molecular targets to control peritoneal damages. The relevance of the adaptive immunity in peritoneal fibrosis is demonstrated by the use of lymphocyte-deficient mice. In RAG-deficient mice, lacking mature T and B lymphocytes, treatment with zymosan induced an exaggerated inflammatory response with increased PMN infiltration (162). Accordingly, the use of another experimental system demonstrated a role of adaptive immunity in limiting PMN and MØ recruitment (163).

More generally, these approaches suggest that a network of mutual interactions occurs between peritoneal stroma, innate and adaptive immunity effectors during the genesis of peritoneal fibrosis. The composition of peritoneal fluid lymphocytes varies with respect to blood lymphocytes. In particular, B lineage comprises only around 2% of the total fluid, and T leukocyte subpopulations are differently represented (164). Moreover, changes in the consistency of T lymphocyte subpopulations occur during peritoneal inflammation and during the practice of PD.

With respect to the balance between CD4⁺ T-helper 1(Th1) and T-helper 2 (Th2) subpopulations, it has been demonstrated that during episodes of acute peritonitis, the immune response is predominantly directed to the induction of Th1 cells (165).

On the other hand, the Th2 subset rapidly expands with the practice of PD (166). The Th1/Th2 ratio could be evaluated by measuring IFN- γ (Th1 subset) and IL-4 (Th2 subset) levels both in circulating and peritoneum-derived Th lymphocytes. In PD patients, the IFN- γ /IL-4 ratio is significantly reduced, indicating a negative effect of bioincompatible fluids towards the Th1 cell subset. Interestingly, this effect could be avoided using more biocompatible fluids containing bicarbonate-buffered and icodextrin, that may reestablish a more physiological Th1/Th2 balance and a reduced peritonitis rate (167).

A recently characterized leukocyte subpopulation, Th17 lymphocytes have been demonstrated as the main driver of peritoneal fibrosis (132). The expression and the activity of this lymphocytic subset is linked to the production of IL-17. Besides Th17, other leukocytes, including CD4+ and $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes, neutrophils, and mast cells may secret this cytokine during exposure to PD fluids or during peritonitis (168).

The strong stimulation of Th17 response during these pathological conditions is due to both exogenous and endogenous factors. Exogenous factors are represented by bacteria and their derivatives entering the peritoneal cavity through PD catheter or *via* intestinal translocation. These bacteria stimulate TLR's response by the peritoneal stroma, which leads to an upregulation of IL-6 levels, promoting IL-17 production and subsequent differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes (169). Similarly to bacterial derivatives, also factors related to PD fluid such as AGEs expressed in conventional lactate-based PD solution with low pH and high GDP contents are able to stimulate the Th17 response (170) (**Figure 3B**).

IL-17 contributes to the host defense against bacteria and fungi (171). It promotes neutrophil recruitment favoring the release by MCs of chemotactic factors specifically attracting neutrophils. Moreover, the IL-17 response favors the secretion of a network of cytokines and chemokines including IL-1 β , IL-6, CCL2 and TGF- β 1. In peritoneum, IL-17 favors through different mechanisms the secretion of VEGF by MCs, promoting angiogenesis (168). Most importantly, repeated intraperitoneal administration of exogenous IL-17 led to increased expression of several fibrosis-related genes, whereas its neutralization with anti-IL-17 alleviated the extent of peritoneal fibrosis (132).

The consistence of Th17 population in the peritoneum directly affects the activity of another T cell subset, regulatory T lymphocytes (Treg) (14). Tregs are suppressors of activated T cell expansion, their activity is anti-inflammatory and favors the

induction of tolerance (172). IL-6, in combination with TGF- β 1, is the main cytokine involved in the helper 17/regulatory T (Th17/Treg) balance. The predominance of IL-6 favors the generation of Th17 lymphocytes, which produce inflammatory cytokines. On the other hand, TGF- β 1 in the absence of IL-6 promotes the Treg lineage, able to maintain peripheral tolerance and produce anti-inflammatory mediators such as IL-10, which has been linked to protection of the peritoneal membrane from inflammatory damage (173).

Interestingly, the plasma membrane receptor CD69 appears to control Th17/Treg balance. The exacerbated peritoneal fibrosis observed in CD69^{-/-} mice could be alleviated by the blockade of IL-17 (174). Mechanistically, it was demonstrated that CD69 directly interacting with Jak3/STAT5 blocks Th17 differentiation (175).

Besides shaping the immune response, these changes may impact MC plasticity: it was demonstrated that IL-17 itself is able to induce EMT in bronchial cells while inducing peritoneal fibrosis *in vivo* (132, 176). In contrast, low levels of IL-6 may promote Treg differentiation, which is associated to high IL-10 expression, leading to the establishment of an anti-inflammatory state and possibly MMT reversal (14, 177–179).

In case of peritoneal dialyzed patients, the predominassnce of Th17 over Treg favors fibrosis development and PM failure instead of Treg-mediated tolerance. Currently, the modulation of the expression of the cytokines involved in Th17/Treg balance through recombinant antibodies or cytokines is an attracting field for the design of new therapies aimed at counteracting peritoneal MMT and fibrosis.

A bridge between the adaptive and the innate arm of the immune system is constituted by Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells. These cells are different from conventional T cells, since they do not react through major histocompatibility complex (MHC) (180). Peritoneal MAITs (pMAITs) provide a marker for systemic inflammation during spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP), since they are configured to respond proinflammatory chemotactic signals sensed by CCR5, CXCR3 and CCR6 (181). pMAITs are a source of IL-17 (102). Clinical data indicated a specific immune activation of pMAIT, driven by CD69 expression and correlated to disease severity (181).

CONCLUSIONS

The cellular and molecular mechanisms described above witness the complexity of the physiopathologic response occurring in the inflamed peritoneum.

A study published almost 25 years ago by Topley et al. identified the relationship between MØs and MCs as a key factor in the response of peritoneum to infections, whose dysregulation was causal to ultrafiltration failure and fibrosis in PD patients (182). At that time, it was already clear that MCs under MØ-driven stimuli may produce a number of extracellular mediators including arachidonic acid derivatives, cytokines and chemokines promoting the amplification of the inflammatory response. Since then, the understanding of cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying has evolved considerably. A relevant discovery has been the characterization of different MØ subpopulations implicated in the secretion of pro-inflammatory mediators, phagocytosis, apoptotic debris removal and scavenging activity. Another major breakthrough has been the identification of the ability of MCs and other cells to undergo deep dedifferentiation processes culminating in the generation of myofibroblasts. Moreover, a relevant concept that has emerged in these years is that the relationship between MØs and MCs is not unidirectional: MCs play an active role in influencing MØ recruitment, survival and differentiation due to the synthesis of extracellular mediators acting specifically on MØs. Last, this dialogue is not limited to MØs and MCs: stromal driven signals such as IL-17, IL-6 and TGF- β 1 shape the Th17/Treg balance, thus impacting the fibrotic response.

Although the fibrotic process has common marks in all the organs, peritoneum fibrosis has specific features due to the anatomic localization and the cellular components forming this organ. The anatomic localization favors the encounter with microorganisms through unique structures (*i.e.* the FALCs) With regard to peritoneal stroma, the characteristic plasticity of MCs, their ability to transdifferentiate and to become indistinguishable from myofibroblasts, makes the difference with respect to other organs, such as the liver, where parenchyma cells (hepatocytes) may give little direct contribution in the genesis of fibrosis.

These new discoveries related to cellular communication and cellular plasticity may have an impact in future therapeutic strategies. Future directions aimed at improving peritoneal viability and thus duration of PD therapy may be focused at further improving PD fluid biocompatibility, as well at using inhibitory monoclonal antibodies, in line with recent advances with therapy of inflammatory/profibrotic diseases. Also specific therapies aimed at supporting MC viability and regulating peritoneal immune system and immune cell/MC interactions may give a contribution. Deepening the analysis of cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying peritoneal fibrosis may shed light on our understanding of how we can preserve the long-term function of the PM as a dialysing organ, but also to treat other forms of peritoneal fibrosis such as post-surgical adhesions or tumor related-peritoneal fibrosis.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MTe wrote the manuscript and composed the figures. FT wrote the manuscript and organized the tables. CM wrote the manuscript. MC wrote the manuscript and composed the figures. MTr critically reviewed the manuscript. ML critically reviewed the manuscript and provided a general scheme of interpretation. RS conceived and wrote the manuscript, and critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

Sapienza University of Rome RG11916B6A9C42C7 to MT. IMPROVE-PD project that has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant

REFERENCES

- Mutsaers SE, Birnie K, Lansley S, Herrick SE, Lim CB, Prele CM. Mesothelial cells in tissue repair and fibrosis. *Front Pharmacol* (2015) 6:113. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2015.00113
- Di Paolo N, Sacchi G. Atlas of peritoneal histology. Perit Dial Int (2000) 20 Suppl 3:S5–96. doi: 10.1177/089686080002003S02
- Zhou Q, Bajo MA, Del Peso G, Yu X, Selgas R. Preventing peritoneal membrane fibrosis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int* (2016) 90 (3):515–24. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.03.040
- Cho Y, Johnson DW. Peritoneal dialysis-related peritonitis: towards improving evidence, practices, and outcomes. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2014) 64:278–89. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.02.025
- Jagirdar RM, Bozikas A, Zarogiannis SG, Bartosova M, Schmitt CP, Liakopoulos V. Encapsulating Peritoneal Sclerosis: Pathophysiology and Current Treatment Options. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20(22):5765. doi: 10.3390/ ijms20225765
- Tseng CC, Chen JB, Wang IK, Liao SC, Cheng BC, Wu AB, et al. Incidence and outcomes of encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis (EPS) and factors associated with severe EPS. *PloS One* (2018) 13(1):e0190079. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0190079
- Danford CJ, Lin SC, Smith MP, Wolf JL. Encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis. World J Gastroenterol (2018) 24:3101–11. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v24.i28.3101
- Liakakos T, Thomakos N, Fine PM, Dervenis C, Young RL. Peritoneal adhesions: etiology, pathophysiology, and clinical significance. Recent advances in prevention and management. *Dig Surg* (2001) 18(4):260–73. doi: 10.1159/000050149
- Ten Broek RP, Issa Y, Van Santbrink EJ, Bouvy ND, Kruitwagen RF, Jeekel J, et al. Burden of adhesions in abdominal and pelvic surgery: systematic review and met-analysis. *BMJ* (2013) 347:f5588. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f5588
- Mutsaers SE, Prele CM, Pengelly S, Herrick SE. Mesothelial cells and peritoneal homeostasis. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(5):1018–24. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2016.09.005
- Sandoval P, Jimenez-Heffernan JA, Rynne-Vidal A, Perez-Lozano ML, Gilsanz A, Ruiz-Carpio V, et al. Carcinoma-associated fibroblasts derive from mesothelial cells via mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in peritoneal metastasis. J Pathol (2013) 231(4):517–31. doi: 10.1002/path.4281
- Rynne-Vidal A, Au-Yeung CL, Jimenez-Heffernan JA, Perez-Lozano ML, Cremades-Jimeno L, Barcena C, et al. Mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition as a possible therapeutic target in peritoneal metastasis of ovarian cancer. J Pathol (2017) 242(2):140–51. doi: 10.1002/path.4889
- Kenny HA, Chiang CY, White EA, Schryver EM, Habis M, Romero IL, et al. Mesothelial cells promote early ovarian cancer metastasis through fibronectin secretion. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:4614–28. doi: 10.1172/ JCI74778
- Liappas G, Gonzalez-Mateo GT, Majano P, Sanchez-Tomero JA, Ruiz-Ortega M, Rodrigues Diez R, et al. T Helper 17/Regulatory T Cell Balance and Experimental Models of Peritoneal Dialysis-Induced Damage. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:416480. doi: 10.1155/2015/416480
- Strippoli R, Moreno-Vicente R, Battistelli C, Cicchini C, Noce V, Amicone L, et al. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying Peritoneal EMT and Fibrosis. *Stem Cells Int* (2016) 2016:3543678. doi: 10.1155/2016/3543678

agreement number 812699 to ML-C. Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation/Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (PID2019-110132RB-I00/AEI/10.13039/501100011033) to ML-C.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr Loredana Cifaldi and Dr Nicoletta Mancianti for critically reviewing this manuscript. Figures were created with BioRender.com.

- Mehrotra R, Devuyst O, Davies SJ, Johnson DW. The Current State of Peritoneal Dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27:3238–52. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2016010112
- Nochaiwong S, Ruengorn C, Koyratkoson K, Thavorn K, Awiphan R, Chaisai C, et al. A Clinical Risk Prediction Tool for Peritonitis-Associated Treatment Failure in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):14797. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-33196-2
- Goodlad C, George S, Sandoval S, Mepham S, Parekh G, Eberl M, et al. Measurement of innate immune response biomarkers in peritoneal dialysis effluent using a rapid diagnostic point-of-care device as a diagnostic indicator of peritonitis. *Kidney Int* (2020) 97:1253–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.kint.2020.01.044
- Aufricht C, Beelen R, Eberl M, Fischbach M, Fraser D, Jorres A, et al. Biomarker research to improve clinical outcomes of peritoneal dialysis: consensus of the European Training and Research in Peritoneal Dialysis (EuTRiPD) network. *Kidney Int* (2017) 92:824–35. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.037
- Pauwels S, De Moor B, Stas K, Magerman K, Gyssens IC, Van Ranst M, et al. Coxsackievirus B1 peritonitis in a patient treated with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis: a case report and brief review of the literature. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2012) 18(10):E431–434. doi: 10.1111/ j.1469-0691.2012.03985.x
- Miles R, Hawley CM, Mcdonald SP, Brown FG, Rosman JB, Wiggins KJ, et al. Predictors and outcomes of fungal peritonitis in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int* (2009) 76(6):622–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.2009.202
- Tomita T, Arai S, Kitada K, Mizuno M, Suzuki Y, Sakata F, et al. Apoptosis inhibitor of macrophage ameliorates fungus-induced peritoneal injury model in mice. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):6450. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-06824-6
- Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell* (2010) 140(6):805–20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022
- Roh JS, Sohn DH. Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns in Inflammatory Diseases. *Immune Netw* (2018) 18(4):e27. doi: 10.4110/in.2018.18.e27
- Colmont CS, Raby AC, Dioszeghy V, Lebouder E, Foster TL, Jones SA, et al. Human peritoneal mesothelial cells respond to bacterial ligands through a specific subset of Toll-like receptors. *Nephrol Dialysis Transplant* (2011) 26:4079–U4614. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr217
- Van Aubel RA, Keestra AM, Krooshoop DJ, Van Eden W, Van Putten JP. Ligand-induced differential cross-regulation of Toll-like receptors 2, 4 and 5 in intestinal epithelial cells. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44(15):3702–14. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2007.04.001
- Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(5):373– 84. doi: 10.1038/ni.1863
- Gewirtz AT, Navas TA, Lyons S, Godowski PJ, Madara JL. Cutting edge: bacterial flagellin activates basolaterally expressed TLR5 to induce epithelial proinflammatory gene expression. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1882–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.1882
- Raby AC, Gonzalez-Mateo GT, Williams A, Topley N, Fraser D, Lopez-Cabrera M, et al. Targeting Toll-like receptors with soluble Toll-like receptor 2 prevents peritoneal dialysis solution-induced fibrosis. *Kidney Int* (2018) 94 (2):346–62. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.03.014
- Wornle M, Sauter M, Kastenmuller K, Ribeiro A, Roeder M, Schmid H, et al. Novel role of toll-like receptor 3, RIG-I and MDA5 in poly (I:C) RNA-

induced mesothelial inflammation. *Mol Cell Biochem* (2009) 322(1-2):193–206. doi: 10.1007/s11010-008-9957-4

- Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, et al. Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science* (2003) 301(5633):640–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1087262
- Doyle S, Vaidya S, O'connell R, Dadgostar H, Dempsey P, Wu T, et al. IRF3 mediates a TLR3/TLR4-specific antiviral gene program. *Immunity* (2002) 17:251–63. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00390-4
- Merkle M, Ribeiro A, Sauter M, Ladurner R, Mussack T, Sitter T, et al. Effect of activation of viral receptors on the gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 in human mesothelial cells. *Matrix Biol* (2010) 29(3):202–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.matbio.2009.12.002
- Tsan MF, Gao B. Endogenous ligands of Toll-like receptors. J Leukoc Biol (2004) 76(3):514–9. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0304127
- Yu L, Wang L, Chen S. Endogenous toll-like receptor ligands and their biological significance. J Cell Mol Med (2010) 14(11):2592–603. doi: 10.1111/ j.1582-4934.2010.01127.x
- Okamura Y, Watari M, Jerud ES, Young DW, Ishizaka ST, Rose J, et al. The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem (2001) 276:10229–33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100099200
- Smiley ST, King JA, Hancock WW. Fibrinogen stimulates macrophage chemokine secretion through toll-like receptor 4. J Immunol (2001) 167 (5):2887–94. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.5.2887
- Vogl T, Tenbrock K, Ludwig S, Leukert N, Ehrhardt C, Van Zoelen MA, et al. Mrp8 and Mrp14 are endogenous activators of Toll-like receptor 4, promoting lethal, endotoxin-induced shock. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1042–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1638
- Croce K, Gao H, Wang Y, Mooroka T, Sakuma M, Shi C, et al. Myeloid-related protein-8/14 is critical for the biological response to vascular injury. *Circulation* (2009) 120:427–36. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.814582
- Midwood K, Sacre S, Piccinini AM, Inglis J, Trebaul A, Chan E, et al. Tenascin-C is an endogenous activator of Toll-like receptor 4 that is essential for maintaining inflammation in arthritic joint disease. *Nat Med* (2009) 15 (7):774–80. doi: 10.1038/nm.1987
- Zhang P, Cox CJ, Alvarez KM, Cunningham MW. Cutting edge: cardiac myosin activates innate immune responses through TLRs. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(1):27–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0800861
- Tang AH, Brunn GJ, Cascalho M, Platt JL. Pivotal advance: endogenous pathway to SIRS, sepsis, and related conditions. *J Leukoc Biol* (2007) 82 (2):282–5. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1206752
- Apetoh L, Ghiringhelli F, Tesniere A, Obeid M, Ortiz C, Criollo A, et al. Tolllike receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:1050–9. doi: 10.1038/ nm1622
- Raby AC, Labeta MO. Preventing Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Fibrosis by Therapeutic Blunting of Peritoneal Toll-Like Receptor Activity. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:1692. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01692
- 45. Linden T, Cohen A, Deppisch R, Kjellstrand P, Wieslander A. 3,4-Dideoxyglucosone-3-ene (3,4-DGE): a cytotoxic glucose degradation product in fluids for peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int* (2002) 62(2):697–703. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00490.x
- Mortier S, Faict D, Schalkwijk CG, Lameire NH, De Vriese AS. Long-term exposure to new peritoneal dialysis solutions: Effects on the peritoneal membrane. *Kidney Int* (2004) 66(3):1257–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00879.x
- Mcintyre CW. Update on peritoneal dialysis solutions. *Kidney Int* (2007) 71 (6):486–90. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002109
- Yung S, Chan TM. Pathophysiological changes to the peritoneal membrane during PD-related peritonitis: the role of mesothelial cells. *Mediators Inflammation* (2012) 2012:484167. doi: 10.1155/2012/484167
- Yang AH, Chen JY, Lin YP, Huang TP, Wu CW. Peritoneal dialysis solution induces apoptosis of mesothelial cells. *Kidney Int* (1997) 51(4):1280–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.175
- Wu J, Xing C, Zhang L, Mao H, Chen X, Liang M, et al. Autophagy promotes fibrosis and apoptosis in the peritoneum during long-term peritoneal dialysis. J Cell Mol Med (2018) 22(2):1190–201. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13393
- Lopez-Cabrera M. Mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells is a key event in the pathophysiology of the peritoneum during peritoneal dialysis. *Adv Med* (2014) 2014:17. doi: 10.1155/2014/473134

- 52. Williams JD, Craig KJ, Topley N, Von Ruhland C, Fallon M, Newman GR, et al. Morphologic changes in the peritoneal membrane of patients with renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2002) 13(2):470–9.
- Davies SJ. Longitudinal relationship between solute transport and ultrafiltration capacity in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int* (2004) 66:2437–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.66021.x
- Davies SJ, Mushahar L, Yu Z, Lambie M. Determinants of peritoneal membrane function over time. *Semin Nephrol* (2011) 31:172–82. doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2011.01.006
- Schmitt CP, Aufricht C. Is there such a thing as biocompatible peritoneal dialysis fluid? *Pediatr Nephrol* (2017) 32(10):1835–43. doi: 10.1007/s00467-016-3461-y
- Dousdampanis P, Musso CG, Trigka K. Icodextrin and peritoneal dialysis: advantages and new applications. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2018) 50:495–500. doi: 10.1007/s11255-017-1647-2
- 57. Cho Y, Johnson DW, Badve SV, Craig JC, Strippoli GF, Wiggins KJ. The impact of neutral-pH peritoneal dialysates with reduced glucose degradation products on clinical outcomes in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Kidney Int* (2013b) 84:969–79. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.190
- 58. Yohanna S, Alkatheeri AM, Brimble SK, Mccormick B, Iansavitchous A, Blake PG, et al. Effect of Neutral-pH, Low-Glucose Degradation Product Peritoneal Dialysis Solutions on Residual Renal Function, Urine Volume, and Ultrafiltration: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol* (2015) 10(8):1380–8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.05410514
- Yanez-Mo M, Lara-Pezzi E, Selgas R, Ramirez-Huesca M, Dominguez-Jimenez C, Jimenez-Heffernan JA, et al. Peritoneal dialysis and epithelialto-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348 (5):403–13. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa020809
- Cho Y, Johnson DW, Badve S, Craig JC, Strippoli GF, Wiggins KJ. Impact of icodextrin on clinical outcomes in peritoneal dialysis: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2013a) 28:1899–907. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gft050
- Li PK, Culleton BF, Ariza A, Do JY, Johnson DW, Sanabria M, et al. Randomized, controlled trial of glucose-sparing peritoneal dialysis in diabetic patients. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24(11):1889–900. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2012100987
- Shockley TR, Martis L, Tranaeus AP. New solutions for peritoneal dialysis in adult and pediatric patients. *Perit Dial Int* (1999) 19 Suppl 2:S429–434. doi: 10.1177/089686089901902S70
- Kopple JD, Bernard D, Messana J, Swartz R, Bergstrom J, Lindholm B, et al. Treatment of malnourished CAPD patients with an amino acid based dialysate. *Kidney Int* (1995) 47(4):1148–57. doi: 10.1038/ki.1995.164
- 64. Vychytil A, Herzog R, Probst P, Ribitsch W, Lhotta K, Machold-Fabrizii V, et al. A randomized controlled trial of alanyl-glutamine supplementation in peritoneal dialysis fluid to assess impact on biomarkers of peritoneal health. *Kidney Int* (2018) 94(6):1227–37. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.08.031
- Bartosova M, Herzog R, Ridinger D, Levai E, Jenei H, Zhang C, et al. Alanyl-Glutamine Restores Tight Junction Organization after Disruption by a Conventional Peritoneal Dialysis Fluid. *Biomolecules* (2020) 10:1–17. doi: 10.3390/biom10081178
- Htay H, Johnson DW, Wiggins KJ, Badve SV, Craig JC, Strippoli GF, et al. Biocompatible dialysis fluids for peritoneal dialysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2018) 10:CD007554. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007554.pub3
- 67. Johnson DW, Brown FG, Clarke M, Boudville N, Elias TJ, Foo MW, et al. The effects of biocompatible compared with standard peritoneal dialysis solutions on peritonitis microbiology, treatment, and outcomes: the balANZ trial. *Perit Dial Int* (2012) 32:497–506. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2012.00052
- 68. Schaefer B, Bartosova M, Macher-Goeppinger S, Sallay P, Voros P, Ranchin B, et al. Neutral pH and low-glucose degradation product dialysis fluids induce major early alterations of the peritoneal membrane in children on peritoneal dialysis. *Kidney Int* (2018) 94(2):419–29. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2018.02.022
- Bartosova M, Schmitt CP. Biocompatible Peritoneal Dialysis: The Target Is Still Way Off. Front Physiol (2018) 9:1853. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01853
- Piccapane F, Bonomini M, Castellano G, Gerbino A, Carmosino M, Svelto M, et al. A Novel Formulation of Glucose-Sparing Peritoneal Dialysis Solutions with l-Carnitine Improves Biocompatibility on Human Mesothelial Cells. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 22(1):1–16. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010123

- Santos A, Lagares D. Matrix Stiffness: the Conductor of Organ Fibrosis. Curr Rheumatol Rep (2018) 20(1):2. doi: 10.1007/s11926-018-0710-z
- Jufri NF, Mohamedali A, Avolio A, Baker MS. Mechanical stretch: physiological and pathological implications for human vascular endothelial cells. *Vasc Cell* (2015) 7:8. doi: 10.1186/s13221-015-0033-z
- Heise RL, Stober V, Cheluvaraju C, Hollingsworth JW, Garantziotis S. Mechanical stretch induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in alveolar epithelia via hyaluronan activation of innate immunity. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:17435–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.137273
- Hoffman BD, Grashoff C, Schwartz MA. Dynamic molecular processes mediate cellular mechanotransduction. *Nature* (2011) 475:316–23. doi: 10.1038/nature10316
- Sandoval P, Jimenez-Heffernan JA, Guerra-Azcona G, Perez-Lozano ML, Rynne-Vidal A, Albar-Vizcaino P, et al. Mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition in the pathogenesis of post-surgical peritoneal adhesions. *J Pathol* (2016) 239:48–59. doi: 10.1002/path.4695
- He Z, Potter R, Li X, Flessner M. Stretch of human mesothelial cells increases cytokine expression. *Adv Perit Dial* (2012) 28:2–9.
- 77. Strippoli R, Sandoval P, Moreno-Vicente R, Rossi L, Battistelli C, Terri M, et al. Caveolin1 and YAP drive mechanically induced mesothelial to mesenchymal transition and fibrosis. *Cell Death Dis* (2020) 11(8):647. doi: 10.1038/s41419-020-02822-1
- Tsai JM, Sinha R, Seita J, Fernhoff N, Christ S, Koopmans T, et al. Surgical adhesions in mice are derived from mesothelial cells and can be targeted by antibodies against mesothelial markers. *Sci Transl Med* (2018) 10(469):1-16. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan6735
- Gulyas M, Hjerpe A. Proteoglycans and WT1 as markers for distinguishing adenocarcinoma, epithelioid mesothelioma, and benign mesothelium. *J Pathol* (2003) 199:479–87. doi: 10.1002/path.1312
- Wilm B, Munoz-Chapuli R. The Role of WT1 in Embryonic Development and Normal Organ Homeostasis. *Methods Mol Biol* (2016) 1467:23–39. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-4023-3_3
- Yang AH, Chen JY, Lin JK. Myofibroblastic conversion of mesothelial cells. *Kidney Int* (2003) 63:1530–9. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.00861.x
- Strippoli R, Loureiro J, Moreno V, Benedicto I, Lozano MLP, Barreiro O, et al. Caveolin-1 deficiency induces a MEK-ERK1/2-Snail-1-dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition and fibrosis during peritoneal dialysis. *EMBO Mol Med* (2015) 7(1):102–23. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201404127
- Namvar S, Woolf AS, Zeef L, Wilm T, Wilm B, Herrick SE. Functional molecules in mesothelial-to-mesenchymal transition revealed by transcriptome analyses. *J Pathol* (2018) 245:491–501. doi: 10.1002/path.5101
- Loureiro J, Schilte M, Aguilera A, Albar-Vizcaino P, Ramirez-Huesca M, Perez-Lozano ML, et al. BMP-7 blocks mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells and prevents peritoneal damage induced by dialysis fluid exposure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2010) 25(4):1098–108. doi: 10.1093/ndt/ gfp618
- Wu YJ, Parker LM, Binder NE, Beckett MA, Sinard JH, Griffiths CT, et al. The mesothelial keratins: a new family of cytoskeletal proteins identified in cultured mesothelial cells and nonkeratinizing epithelia. *Cell* (1982) 31(3 Pt 2):693–703. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(82)90324-5
- Chung-Welch N, Patton WF, Yen-Patton GP, Hechtman HB, Shepro D. Phenotypic comparison between mesothelial and microvascular endothelial cell lineages using conventional endothelial cell markers, cytoskeletal protein markers and in vitro assays of angiogenic potential. *Differentiation* (1989) 42:44–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1432-0436.1989.tb00606.x
- Ito T, Yorioka N, Yamamoto M, Kataoka K, Yamakido M. Effect of glucose on intercellular junctions of cultured human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2000) 11:1969–79.
- Ando T, Jordan P, Wang Y, Jennings MH, Harper MH, Houghton J, et al. Homogeneity of mesothelial cells with lymphatic endothelium: expression of lymphatic endothelial markers by mesothelial cells. *Lymphat Res Biol* (2005) 3:117–25. doi: 10.1089/lrb.2005.3.117
- Yung S, Chan TM. Pathophysiology of the peritoneal membrane during peritoneal dialysis: the role of hyaluronan. J BioMed Biotechnol (2011) 2011:180594. doi: 10.1155/2011/180594
- 90. Aroeira LS, Aguilera A, Selgas R, Ramirez-Huesca M, Perez-Lozano ML, Cirugeda A, et al. Mesenchymal conversion of mesothelial cells as a mechanism responsible for high solute transport rate in peritoneal

dialysis: role of vascular endothelial growth factor. Am J Kidney Dis (2005) 46:938-48. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.08.011

- Strippoli R, Benedicto I, Foronda M, Perez-Lozano ML, Sanchez-Perales S, Lopez-Cabrera M, et al. p38 maintains E-cadherin expression by modulating TAK1-NF-kappa B during epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. J Cell Sci (2010) 123(pt 24):4321–31. doi: 10.1242/jcs.071647
- Leung JC, Chan LY, Tam KY, Tang SC, Lam MF, Cheng AS, et al. Regulation of CCN2/CTGF and related cytokines in cultured peritoneal cells under conditions simulating peritoneal dialysis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2009) 24:458–69. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfn524
- Hong FY, Bao JF, Hao J, Yu Q, Liu J. Methylglyoxal and advanced glycation end-products promote cytokines expression in peritoneal mesothelial cells via MAPK signaling. *Am J Med Sci* (2015) 349:105–9. doi: 10.1097/ MAJ.000000000000394
- Morishita Y, Ookawara S, Hirahara I, Muto S, Nagata D. HIF-1alpha mediates Hypoxia-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Ren Fail* (2016) 38:282–9. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2015.1127741
- Patel P, West-Mays J, Kolb M, Rodrigues JC, Hoff CM, Margetts PJ. Platelet derived growth factor B and epithelial mesenchymal transition of peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Matrix Biol* (2010) 29:97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2009.10.004
- Noh H, Ha H, Yu MR, Kim YO, Kim JH, Lee HB. Angiotensin II mediates high glucose-induced TGF-beta1 and fibronectin upregulation in HPMC through reactive oxygen species. *Perit Dial Int* (2005) 25:38–47. doi: 10.1177/ 089686080502500110
- Yang WS, Kim BS, Lee SK, Park JS, Kim SB. Interleukin-1beta stimulates the production of extracellular matrix in cultured human peritoneal mesothelial cells. *Perit Dial Int* (1999) 19:211–20. doi: 10.1177/089686089901900306
- Offner FA, Feichtinger H, Stadlmann S, Obrist P, Marth C, Klingler P, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta synthesis by human peritoneal mesothelial cells. Induction by interleukin-1. *Am J Pathol* (1996) 148:1679–88.
- Rossi L, Battistelli C, De Turris V, Noce V, Zwergel C, Valente S, et al. HDAC1 inhibition by MS-275 in mesothelial cells limits cellular invasion and promotes MMT reversal. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):8492. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-26319-2
- 100. Ma C, Tarnuzzer RW, Chegini N. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases in mesothelial cells and their regulation by transforming growth factor-beta1. *Wound Repair Regener* (1999) 7(6):477–85. doi: 10.1046/j.1524-475X.1999.00477.x
- 101. Saed GM, Zhang W, Chegini N, Holmdahl L, Diamond MP. Alteration of type I and III collagen expression in human peritoneal mesothelial cells in response to hypoxia and transforming growth factor-beta1. Wound Repair Regener (1999) 7(6):504–10. doi: 10.1046/j.1524-475X.1999.00504.x
- Xiao X, Cai J. Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells: New Insights into Antigen Recognition and Activation. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:1540. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01540
- 103. Boren J, Shryock G, Fergis A, Jeffers A, Owens S, Qin W, et al. Inhibition of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3beta Blocks Mesomesenchymal Transition and Attenuates Streptococcus pneumonia-Mediated Pleural Injury in Mice. Am J Pathol (2017) 187:2461–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.07.007
- 104. Davidson B, Nielsen S, Christensen J, Asschenfeldt P, Berner A, Risberg B, et al. The role of desmin and N-cadherin in effusion cytology: a comparative study using established markers of mesothelial and epithelial cells. *Am J Surg Pathol* (2001) 25:1405–12. doi: 10.1097/00000478-200111000-00008
- 105. Strippoli R, Benedicto I, Perez Lozano ML, Pellinen T, Sandoval P, Lopez-Cabrera M, et al. Inhibition of transforming growth factor-activated kinase 1 (TAK1) blocks and reverses epithelial to mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. *PloS One* (2012) 7:e31492. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031492
- 106. Li CX, Ren YQ, Jia XT, Liang PY, Lou WJ, He LJ, et al. Twist overexpression promoted epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of human peritoneal mesothelial cells under high glucose. *Nephrol Dialysis Transplant* (2012) 27:4119–24. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfs049
- 107. De Santis Puzzonia M, Cozzolino AM, Grassi G, Bisceglia F, Strippoli R, Guarguaglini G, et al. TGFbeta Induces Binucleation/Polyploidization in Hepatocytes through a Src-Dependent Cytokinesis Failure. *PloS One* (2016) 11:e0167158. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167158
- Snitow M, Lu M, Cheng L, Zhou S, Morrisey EE. Ezh2 restricts the smooth muscle lineage during mouse lung mesothelial development. *Development* (2016) 143(20):3733–41. doi: 10.1242/dev.134932

- 109. Ruiz-Carpio V, Sandoval P, Aguilera A, Albar-Vizcaino P, Perez-Lozano ML, Gonzalez-Mateo GT, et al. Genomic reprograming analysis of the Mesothelial to Mesenchymal Transition identifies biomarkers in peritoneal dialysis patients. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:44941. doi: 10.1038/srep44941
- 110. Lambie M, Chess J, Donovan KL, Kim YL, Do JY, Lee HB, et al. Independent effects of systemic and peritoneal inflammation on peritoneal dialysis survival. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2013) 24(12):2071–80. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013030314
- 111. Lua I, Li Y, Pappoe LS, Asahina K. Myofibroblastic Conversion and Regeneration of Mesothelial Cells in Peritoneal and Liver Fibrosis. Am J Pathol (2015) 185(12):3258–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.08.009
- 112. Chen YT, Chang YT, Pan SY, Chou YH, Chang FC, Yeh PY, et al. Lineage tracing reveals distinctive fates for mesothelial cells and submesothelial fibroblasts during peritoneal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol (2014) 25:2847–58. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013101079
- 113. Loureiro J, Aguilera A, Selgas R, Sandoval P, Albar-Vizcaino P, Perez-Lozano ML, et al. Blocking TGF-beta1 protects the peritoneal membrane from dialysate-induced damage. J Am Soc Nephrol (2011) 22:1682–95. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010111197
- 114. Zeisberg EM, Tarnavski O, Zeisberg M, Dorfman AL, Mcmullen JR, Gustafsson E, et al. Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition contributes to cardiac fibrosis. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(8):952–61. doi: 10.1038/nm1613
- 115. Witowski J, Kawka E, Rudolf A, Jorres A. New developments in peritoneal fibroblast biology: implications for inflammation and fibrosis in peritoneal dialysis. *BioMed Res Int* (2015) 2015:134708. doi: 10.1155/2015/134708
- 116. Beelen RH, Oosterling SJ, Van Egmond M, Van Den Born J, Zareie M. Omental milky spots in peritoneal pathophysiology (spots before your eyes). *Perit Dial Int* (2005) 25:30–2. doi: 10.1177/089686080502500107
- 117. Rangel-Moreno J, Moyron-Quiroz JE, Carragher DM, Kusser K, Hartson L, Moquin A, et al. Omental milky spots develop in the absence of lymphoid tissue-inducer cells and support B and T cell responses to peritoneal antigens. *Immunity* (2009) 30(5):731–43. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.03.014
- Mebius RE. Lymphoid organs for peritoneal cavity immune response: milky spots. *Immunity* (2009) 30(5):670–2. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.04.005
- Ansel KM, Harris RB, Cyster JG. CXCL13 is required for B1 cell homing, natural antibody production, and body cavity immunity. *Immunity* (2002) 16:67–76. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00257-6
- 120. Jackson-Jones LH, Smith P, Portman JR, Magalhaes MS, Mylonas KJ, Vermeren MM, et al. Stromal Cells Covering Omental Fat-Associated Lymphoid Clusters Trigger Formation of Neutrophil Aggregates to Capture Peritoneal Contaminants. *Immunity* (2020) 52:700–715 e706. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.03.011
- 121. Perez-Shibayama C, Gil-Cruz C, Cheng HW, Onder L, Printz A, Morbe U, et al. Fibroblastic reticular cells initiate immune responses in visceral adipose tissues and secure peritoneal immunity. *Sci Immunol* (2018) 3(26):1–12. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aar4539
- 122. Laurin LP, Brissette MJ, Lepage S, Cailhier JF. Regulation of experimental peritonitis: a complex orchestration. *Nephron Exp Nephrol* (2012) 120(1): e41–46. doi: 10.1159/000334169
- Buechler MB, Turley SJ. Neutrophils Follow Stromal Omens to Limit Peritoneal Inflammation. *Immunity* (2020) 52:578–80. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2020.03.015
- 124. Tadie JM, Bae HB, Jiang S, Park DW, Bell CP, Yang H, et al. HMGB1 promotes neutrophil extracellular trap formation through interactions with Toll-like receptor 4. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol (2013) 304(5):L342– 349. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00151.2012
- 125. Witowski J, Tayama H, Ksiazek K, Wanic-Kossowska M, Bender TO, Jorres A. Human peritoneal fibroblasts are a potent source of neutrophil-targeting cytokines: a key role of IL-1beta stimulation. *Lab Invest* (2009) 89(4):414–24. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2009.1
- 126. Riese J, Denzel C, Zowe M, Mehler C, Hohenberger W, Haupt W. Secretion of IL-6, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha, and TNFalpha by cultured intact human peritoneum. *Eur Surg Res* (1999) 31(3):281–8. doi: 10.1159/000008704
- 127. Fielding CA, Mcloughlin RM, Mcleod L, Colmont CS, Najdovska M, Grail D, et al. IL-6 regulates neutrophil trafficking during acute inflammation via STAT3. J Immunol (2008) 181:2189–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.3.2189
- Jones SA. Directing transition from innate to acquired immunity: defining a role for IL-6. J Immunol (2005) 175:3463–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.6.3463

- 129. Tirado M, Koss W. Differentiation of mesothelial cells into macrophage phagocytic cells in a patient with clinical sepsis. *Blood* (2018) 132(4):1460. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-07-859991
- 130. Wang J, Kubes P. A Reservoir of Mature Cavity Macrophages that Can Rapidly Invade Visceral Organs to Affect Tissue Repair. *Cell* (2016) 165 (3):668–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.009
- 131. Catar RA, Chen L, Cuff SM, Kift-Morgan A, Eberl M, Kettritz R, et al. Control of neutrophil influx during peritonitis by transcriptional crossregulation of chemokine CXCL1 by IL-17 and IFN-gamma. *J Pathol* (2020) 251:175–86. doi: 10.1002/path.5438
- 132. Rodrigues-Diez R, Aroeira LS, Orejudo M, Bajo MA, Heffernan JJ, Rodrigues-Diez RR, et al. IL-17A is a novel player in dialysis-induced peritoneal damage. *Kidney Int* (2014) 86(2):303–15. doi: 10.1038/ki.2014.33
- 133. Mcloughlin RM, Witowski J, Robson RL, Wilkinson TS, Hurst SM, Williams AS, et al. Interplay between IFN-gamma and IL-6 signaling governs neutrophil trafficking and apoptosis during acute inflammation. J Clin Invest (2003) 112(4):598–607. doi: 10.1172/JCI17129
- 134. Liao CT, Andrews R, Wallace LE, Khan MW, Kift-Morgan A, Topley N, et al. Peritoneal macrophage heterogeneity is associated with different peritoneal dialysis outcomes. *Kidney Int* (2017) 91(5):1088–103. doi: 10.1016/ j.kint.2016.10.030
- 135. Kubicka U, Olszewski WL, Tarnowski W, Bielecki K, Ziolkowska A, Wierzbicki Z. Normal human immune peritoneal cells: subpopulations and functional characteristics. *Scand J Immunol* (1996) 44(2):157–63. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-297.x
- 136. Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(3):787–95. doi: 10.1172/JCI59643
- Murray PJ. Macrophage Polarization. Annu Rev Physiol (2017) 79:541–66. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034339
- Ruytinx P, Proost P, Van Damme J, Struyf S. Chemokine-Induced Macrophage Polarization in Inflammatory Conditions. *Front Immunol* (2018) 9:1930. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01930
- Bellon T, Martinez V, Lucendo B, Del Peso G, Castro MJ, Aroeira LS, et al. Alternative activation of macrophages in human peritoneum: implications for peritoneal fibrosis. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26:2995–3005. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq771
- 140. Lin J, Kong Q, Hao W, Hu W. High glucose contributes to the polarization of peritoneal macrophages to the M2 phenotype in vivo and in vitro. *Mol Med Rep* (2020) 22(1):127–34. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2020.11130
- 141. Chen YT, Hsu H, Lin CC, Pan SY, Liu SY, Wu CF, et al. Inflammatory macrophages switch to CCL17-expressing phenotype and promote peritoneal fibrosis. J Pathol (2020) 250:55–66. doi: 10.1002/path.5350
- 142. Balzer MS, Helmke A, Ackermann M, Casper J, Dong L, Hiss M, et al. Protein kinase C beta deficiency increases glucose-mediated peritoneal damage via M1 macrophage polarization and up-regulation of mesothelial protein kinase C alpha. Nephrol Dial Transplant (2019) 34:947–60. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfy282
- 143. Li Q, Zheng M, Liu Y, Sun W, Shi J, Ni J, et al. A pathogenetic role for M1 macrophages in peritoneal dialysis-associated fibrosis. *Mol Immunol* (2018) 94:131–9. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.12.023
- 144. Shi J, Li Q, Sheng M, Zheng M, Yu M, Zhang L. The Role of TLR4 in M1 Macrophage-Induced Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition of Peritoneal Mesothelial Cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2016) 40(6):1538–48. doi: 10.1159/ 000453204
- 145. Ivanov S, Gallerand A, Gros M, Stunault MI, Merlin J, Vaillant N, et al. Mesothelial cell CSF1 sustains peritoneal macrophage proliferation. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49:2012–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.201948164
- 146. Helmke A, Nordlohne J, Balzer MS, Dong L, Rong S, Hiss M, et al. CX3CL1-CX3CR1 interaction mediates macrophage-mesothelial cross talk and promotes peritoneal fibrosis. *Kidney Int* (2019) 95:1405–17. doi: 10.1016/ j.kint.2018.12.030
- 147. Kushiyama T, Oda T, Yamada M, Higashi K, Yamamoto K, Oshima N, et al. Effects of liposome-encapsulated clodronate on chlorhexidine gluconateinduced peritoneal fibrosis in rats. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26 (10):3143–54. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr068
- 148. Galli SJ, Tsai M. IgE and mast cells in allergic disease. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:693–704. doi: 10.1038/nm.2755
- 149. Gunjigake K, Kinoshita J, Yamaguchi T, Saito H, Fujimori D, Horiike T, et al. Interleukin-17A derived from mast cells contributes to fibrosis in gastric

cancer with peritoneal dissemination. *Gastric Cancer* (2020) 24:31–44 (2021). doi: 10.1007/s10120-020-01092-2

- 150. Wygrecka M, Dahal BK, Kosanovic D, Petersen F, Taborski B, Von Gerlach S, et al. Mast cells and fibroblasts work in concert to aggravate pulmonary fibrosis: role of transmembrane SCF and the PAR-2/PKC-alpha/Raf-1/p44/ 42 signaling pathway. Am J Pathol (2013) 182(6):2094–108. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1334523
- 151. Overed-Sayer C, Rapley L, Mustelin T, Clarke DL. Are mast cells instrumental for fibrotic diseases? *Front Pharmacol* (2013) 4:174. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2013.00174
- 152. Lin AM, Rubin CJ, Khandpur R, Wang JY, Riblett M, Yalavarthi S, et al. Mast cells and neutrophils release IL-17 through extracellular trap formation in psoriasis. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(1):490–500. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100123
- 153. Kazama I, Baba A, Endo Y, Toyama H, Ejima Y, Matsubara M, et al. Mast cell involvement in the progression of peritoneal fibrosis in rats with chronic renal failure. *Nephrol (Carlton)* (2015) 20(9):609–16. doi: 10.1111/nep.12489
- 154. Zareie M, Fabbrini P, Hekking LH, Keuning ED, Ter Wee PM, Beelen RH, et al. Novel role for mast cells in omental tissue remodeling and cell recruitment in experimental peritoneal dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2006) 17(12):3447–57. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2005111173
- 155. Jimenez-Heffernan JA, Bajo MA, Perna C, Del Peso G, Larrubia JR, Gamallo C, et al. Mast cell quantification in normal peritoneum and during peritoneal dialysis treatment. *Arch Pathol Lab Med* (2006) 130:1188–92. doi: 10.5858/2006-130-1188-MCQINP
- 156. Alscher DM, Braun N, Biegger D, Fritz P. Peritoneal mast cells in peritoneal dialysis patients, particularly in encapsulating peritoneal sclerosis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis* (2007) 49:452–61. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2006.11.040
- 157. Gonzaga R, Matzinger P, Perez-Diez A. Resident peritoneal NK cells. J Immunol (2011) 187:6235–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101540
- 158. Law BMP, Wilkinson R, Wang X, Kildey K, Lindner M, Rist MJ, et al. Interferon-gamma production by tubulointerstitial human CD56(bright) natural killer cells contributes to renal fibrosis and chronic kidney disease progression. *Kidney Int* (2017) 92(1):79–88. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.006
- 159. Anuforo OUU, Bjarnarson SP, Jonasdottir HS, Giera M, Hardardottir I, Freysdottir J. Natural killer cells play an essential role in resolution of antigen-induced inflammation in mice. *Mol Immunol* (2018) 93:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.10.019
- 160. Thoren FB, Riise RE, Ousback J, Della Chiesa M, Alsterholm M, Marcenaro E, et al. Human NK Cells induce neutrophil apoptosis via an NKp46- and Fas-dependent mechanism. J Immunol (2012) 188:1668–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102002
- 161. Steis RG, Urba WJ, Vandermolen LA, Bookman MA, Smith JW,2, Clark JW, et al. Intraperitoneal lymphokine-activated killer-cell and interleukin-2 therapy for malignancies limited to the peritoneal cavity. *J Clin Oncol* (1990) 8(10):1618–29. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1990.8.10.1618
- 162. Rajakariar R, Lawrence T, Bystrom J, Hilliard M, Colville-Nash P, Bellingan G, et al. Novel biphasic role for lymphocytes revealed during resolving inflammation. *Blood* (2008) 111(8):4184–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-108936
- 163. Kipari T, Watson S, Houlberg K, Lepage S, Hughes J, Cailhier JF. Lymphocytes modulate peritoneal leukocyte recruitment in peritonitis. *Inflammation Res* (2009) 58(9):553–60. doi: 10.1007/s00011-009-0019-5
- 164. Hartman J, Maassen V, Rieber P, Fricke H. T lymphocytes from normal human peritoneum are phenotypically different from their counterparts in peripheral blood and CD3- lymphocyte subsets contain mRNA for the recombination activating gene RAG-1. *Eur J Immunol* (1995) 25:2626–31. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830250933
- 165. Brauner A, Hylander B, Wretlind B. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1 beta, and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in dialysate and serum from patients on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis (1996) 27:402–8. doi: 10.1016/S0272-6386(96)90364-9
- 166. Yokoyama T, Nitta K, Futatsuyama K, Hayashi T, Honda K, Uchida K, et al. Identification of T helper cell subsets in continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis patients. *Nephron* (2001) 89(2):215–8. doi: 10.1159/000046070
- 167. Libetta C, Esposito P, Sepe V, Guastoni C, Zucchi M, Meloni F, et al. Effects of different peritoneal dialysis fluids on the TH1/TH2 balance. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2011) 22(1):24–31. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2011.0280

- Witowski J, Kamhieh-Milz J, Kawka E, Catar R, Jorres A. IL-17 in Peritoneal Dialysis-Associated Inflammation and Angiogenesis: Conclusions and Perspectives. *Front Physiol* (2018) 9:1694. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01694
- 169. Wang HH, Lee TY, Lin CY. Kinetics and involvement of interleukin-17 in the outcome of peritonitis in nondiabetic patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. J Chin Med Assoc (2011) 74(1):11–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2011.01.002
- 170. Vila Cuenca M, Keuning ED, Talhout W, Paauw NJ, Van Ittersum FJ, Ter Wee PM, et al. Differences in peritoneal response after exposure to low-GDP bicarbonate/lactate-buffered dialysis solution compared to conventional dialysis solution in a uremic mouse model. *Int Urol Nephrol* (2018) 50 (6):1151–61. doi: 10.1007/s11255-018-1872-3
- 171. Gu C, Wu L, Li X. IL-17 family: cytokines, receptors and signaling. *Cytokine* (2013) 64:477–85. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.07.022
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic selftolerance and negative control of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:531–62. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141122
- 173. Sandoval P, Loureiro J, Gonzalez-Mateo G, Perez-Lozano ML, Maldonado-Rodriguez A, Sanchez-Tomero JA, et al. PPAR-gamma agonist rosiglitazone protects peritoneal membrane from dialysis fluid-induced damage. *Lab Invest* (2010) 90(10):1517–32. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2010.111
- 174. Liappas G, Gonzalez-Mateo GT, Sanchez-Diaz R, Lazcano JJ, Lasarte S, Matesanz-Marin A, et al. Immune-Regulatory Molecule CD69 Controls Peritoneal Fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol (2016) 27(12):3561–76. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2015080909
- 175. Martin P, Gomez M, Lamana A, Cruz-Adalia A, Ramirez-Huesca M, Ursa MA, et al. CD69 association with Jak3/Stat5 proteins regulates Th17 cell differentiation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 30(20):4877–89. doi: 10.1128/ MCB.00456-10
- 176. Ji X, Li J, Xu L, Wang W, Luo M, Luo S, et al. IL4 and IL-17A provide a Th2/ Th17-polarized inflammatory milieu in favor of TGF-beta1 to induce bronchial epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2013) 6:1481–92.
- 177. Fielding CA, Jones GW, Mcloughlin RM, Mcleod L, Hammond VJ, Uceda J, et al. Interleukin-6 signaling drives fibrosis in unresolved inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 40:40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.10.022
- 178. Jones GW, Mcloughlin RM, Hammond VJ, Parker CR, Williams JD, Malhotra R, et al. Loss of CD4+ T cell IL-6R expression during inflammation underlines a role for IL-6 trans signaling in the local maintenance of Th17 cells. J Immunol (2010) 184(4):2130–9. doi: 10.4049/ jimmunol.0901528
- 179. Katz S, Zsiros V, Kiss AL. Under inflammatory stimuli mesenteric mesothelial cells transdifferentiate into macrophages and produce proinflammatory cytokine IL-6. *Inflammation Res* (2019) 68:525–8. doi: 10.1007/s00011-019-01247-7
- Godfrey DI, Uldrich AP, Mccluskey J, Rossjohn J, Moody DB. The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16:1114–23. doi: 10.1038/ni.3298
- 181. Ibidapo-Obe O, Stengel S, Kose-Vogel N, Quickert S, Reuken PA, Busch M, et al. Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells Redistribute to the Peritoneal Cavity During Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis and Contribute to Peritoneal Inflammation. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2020) 9:661–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2020.01.003
- Topley N, Mackenzie RK, Williams JD. Macrophages and mesothelial cells in bacterial peritonitis. *Immunobiology* (1996) 195(4-5):563–73. doi: 10.1016/ S0171-2985(96)80022-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Terri, Trionfetti, Montaldo, Cordani, Tripodi, Lopez-Cabrera and Strippoli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

